#### UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

### **FORM 10-K**

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024

or

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from \_\_\_\_\_ to \_\_\_\_\_

Commission File Number 001-40920

### Aeries Technology, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Cayman Islands98-1587626(State or other jurisdiction<br/>of incorporation)(IRS Employer<br/>Identification No.)60 Paya Lebar Road, #08-13<br/>Paya Lebar Square<br/>Singapore409051(Address of principal executive offices)(Zip Code)Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (919) 228-6404<br/>Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A ordinary shares, par value \$0.0001 per share	AERT	The Nasdaq Stock Market
Redeemable warrants, each whole warrant exercisable for	AERTW	The Nasdaq Stock Market
one Class A ordinary share at an exercise price of \$11.50		

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. YES 🗆 NO 🗵

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. YES 🗆 NO 🗵

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES  $\square$  NO  $\boxtimes$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (\$232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to submit such files). YES  $\boxtimes$  NO  $\square$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definition of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer", and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.:

Large accelerated filer		Accelerated filer	
Non-accelerated filer	$\times$	Smaller reporting company	$\times$
		Emerging growth company	X

If an emerging growth company, indicate by the check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.  $\Box$ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C.7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.  $\Box$ 

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements.  $\Box$ 

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to 240.10D-1(b).

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). YES 🗌 NO 🖾

As of September 29, 2023, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value of the registrant's ordinary shares held by non-affiliates of the registrant was \$49.9 million, based on the closing sale price as reported on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

As of September 27, 2024, there were 44,500,426 Class A ordinary shares, \$0.0001 par value and 1 Class V ordinary share, \$0.0001 par value, issued and outstanding.

Documents Incorporated by Reference: None.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	iii
PART I	1
Item 1. Business	1
Item 1A. Risk Factors	14
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments	40
Item 1C. Cybersecurity	40
Item 2. Properties	41
Item 3. Legal Proceedings	41
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures	41
PART II	42
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	42
Item 6.[Reserved]	43
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	44
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	57
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	57
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	57
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures	58
Item 9B. Other Information	60
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections	60
PART III	61
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	61
Item 11. Executive Compensation	70
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters	76
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	78
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services	81
PART IV	82
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules	82
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary	86
SIGNATURES	87

i

#### INTRODUCTORY NOTE

Aeries Technology, Inc. (formerly known as Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp. or "WWAC") was originally incorporated on March 5, 2021 for the purpose of effecting a merger, capital stock exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, reorganization or similar business combination with one or more businesses. On October 22, 2021, WWAC consummated an initial public offering (the "IPO"), after which its securities began trading on The Nasdaq Capital Market ("Nasdaq").

On November 6, 2023 (the "Closing Date"), Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares ("AARK"), consummated the previously announced business combination pursuant to that certain Business Combination Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2023 (as amended, the "Business Combination Agreement"), by and among WWAC, WWAC Amalgamation Sub Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares and a direct wholly owned subsidiary of WWAC ("Amalgamation Sub"), and AARK. Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, Amalgamation Sub and AARK amalgamated and continued as one company, with AARK being the surviving entity, and as a result thereof, Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pte. Ltd., an Indian private company limited by shares ("ATG") became an indirect subsidiary of WWAC (the "Amalgamation" and, together with the other transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, the "Business Combination").

In connection with the Business Combination, the registrant changed its name from Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp. to Aeries Technology, Inc. Following the Closing Date, Aeries Technology, Inc. changed the trading symbols for its Class A ordinary shares and warrants to purchase Class A ordinary shares on Nasdaq from "WWAC" and "WWACW" to "AERT" and "AERTW."

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to "the Company," "Aeries Technology," "Aeries," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Aeries Technology, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

#### MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Information contained in this report concerning the market and the industry in which Aeries competes, including its market position, general expectations of market opportunity and market size, is based on information from various third-party sources, on assumptions made by Aeries based on such sources and Aeries' knowledge of the markets for its services and solutions. Any estimates provided herein involve numerous assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to such information. Third-party sources generally state that the information contained in such source has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable but that there can be no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of such information. The industry in which Aeries operates is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk. As a result, the estimates and market and industry information provided in this report are subject to change based on various factors, including those described in the sections entitled "*Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements*" and "*Risk Factors*" and elsewhere in this report. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we are responsible for the information provided in this report.

### TRADEMARKS

This document contains references to trademarks, trade names and service marks belonging to us or other entities. Solely for convenience, trademarks, trade names and service marks referred to in this report may appear without the the or TM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that the applicable licensor will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, its rights to these trademarks and trade names. We do not intend our use or display of other companies' trade names, trademarks or service marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, any other companies.

#### CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this report may constitute "forward-looking statements" for purposes of the federal securities laws. Our forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our or our management team's expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions or strategies regarding the future. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking statements. The words "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "might," "plan," "possible," "potential," "predict," "project," "should," "would" and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

The forward-looking statements contained in this report are based on current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results and the timing of events to differ materially from the anticipated results or other expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements:

- the market opportunity of Aeries;
- our ability to maintain the listing of the Class A ordinary shares and the warrants on Nasdaq, and the potential liquidity and trading of such securities;
- our ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination, which may be affected by, among other things, competition, our ability to grow and manage growth profitably and retain our key employees;
- our business development efforts to maximize our potential value and to retain and expand our customer base;
- our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;
- our financial performance;
- our ability to continue as a going concern;
- the sufficiency of our existing cash and cash equivalents to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements;
- our success in retaining or recruiting officers, key employees or directors, or any necessary changes to these positions;
- changes in applicable laws or regulations in the United States and foreign jurisdictions;
- our ability to develop and maintain effective internal controls;
- risks related to cybersecurity and data privacy;
- general economic and political conditions, such as the effects of the Russia-Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas conflicts, pandemics such as the COVID-19 outbreak, recessions, interest rates, inflation, local and national elections, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, changes in diplomatic and trade relationships, political instability, acts of war or terrorism and natural disasters; and
- other factors detailed under the section entitled "Risk Factors."

Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of our assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements. Some of these risks and uncertainties may be amplified in the future and there may be additional risks that we currently consider immaterial or which are unknown. It is not possible to predict or identify all such risks. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.



#### PART I

### Item 1. Business

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this section to "we," "us," "our," "Aeries Technology," "Aeries" and "the Company" refer to the business and operations of AARK and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the Business Combination (excluding the associated legacy financial technology and investing business activities) and to Aeries Technology, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, following the consummation of the Business Combination.

#### Overview

Aeries Technology is a global provider of professional and management services and technology consulting, specializing in the establishment and management of dedicated delivery centers known as "Global Capability Centers" ("GCCs") for portfolio companies of private equity firms and mid-market enterprises. Our engagement models are designed to provide a mix of deep vertical specialty, functional expertise, and digital systems and solutions to scale, optimize and transform a client's business operations. By leveraging artificial intelligence ("AI"), implementing process improvements, and recruiting talent in cost-effective geographies, we are positioned to deliver significant cost savings to our clients. With over a decade of experience, we are committed to delivering transformative business solutions that drive operational efficiency, innovation, and strategic growth.

We support and drive our clients' global growth by providing a range of services, including professional advisory services and operations management services, to build and manage GCCs in suitable and cost-effective locations based on client business needs. With a focus towards digital enterprise enablement, these GCCs are designed to act as seamless extensions of the client organization, providing access to top-tier resources. We believe this empowers our clients to remain competitive and nimble and to achieve their goals of enduring cost efficiencies, operational excellence, and value creation, without sacrificing functional control and flexibility.

Our advisory services involve the active participation of senior leadership, recommending strategies and best practices related to operating model design, consultation on various areas, market availability for resources with appropriate skillsets required for specific roles contemplated in the service model, regulatory compliance, optimization of tax structure, and more. Our clients can customize the services based on options we provide, and we subsequently firm up the execution plan with the clients.

A key aspect of our service is our focus on digital transformation. We aim to leverage cutting-edge technologies, including AI, to drive innovation and streamline operations. Our technology services are designed to enhance decision-making, automate processes, and deliver significant business value. We believe this approach through GCC set-up improves operational efficiencies, enabling us to deliver digital transformation services that align with our clients' growth strategies and support their competitiveness in an evolving digital landscape.

Our clients also use our services to manage their organizational operations, including software development, information technology, data analytics, cybersecurity, finance, human resources, customer service and operations. We hire appropriate talent and personnel on our payroll for deployment on client operations. We work with our clients collaboratively to select the appropriate candidates and create functional alignment with the clients' organizations. While our talent becomes an extension of our clients' team, Aeries continues to provide them with the opportunity for promotion, recognition and career path progression, which we believe results in higher employee satisfaction and lower voluntary attrition rates. We manage the regulatory, tax, recruiting, human resources compliance and branding for each of our GCCs.

Our purpose-built business model aims to create a more flexible and cost-effective talent pool for deployment on clients' operations, while fostering innovation through strategic alignment at senior levels and visibility across the organization. The model also aims to insulate our clients from regulatory and tax issues and provides flexibility in scaling teams up or down based on their changing business needs. We are committed to delivering best practices and success factors by leveraging our visibility into successful strategies from multiple companies, addressing many of the deficiencies associated with the traditional outsourcing and offshoring models.

#### **Our History**

In today's digital economy, technology and digital solutions have seen a shift from a traditional outsourcing model to more strategic, value-based services model, pursuing management solutions that are "Purpose-Built" for efficiencies, automation, growth, and business expansion.

Aeries has been innovating new product and service offerings in this shifting marketplace. For the past 12 years since inception, we have catered to the private equity ecosystem's exacting and stringent needs for speed of execution and optimal value-creation solutions, enabling new portfolio companies to strategically transform themselves.

It is from these experiences of implementing a wide gamut of mission critical solutions that we have evolved our "Purpose-Built" model. This innovative product model aims to eliminate the deficiencies of the traditional models of vendor-outsourcing and fully owned offshored subsidiaries, creating a clear and differentiated offering with the potential to disrupt the global outsourcing and offshoring industry.

#### The Outsourcing and Offshoring Industry and Our Addressable Market

The outsourcing and offshoring industry has been evolving with an enhanced focus on digital transformation, and the emphasis has shifted from reducing costs and resource optimization to accessing niche technologies and specialized resources and improving velocity for time to market.

Our current markets are North America, Asia Pacific, and the Middle East, with a primary focus on the United States. Within these regions we are focused on two primary areas, the private equity ecosystem and the mid-market enterprises.

Client organizations seek to capitalize on movement towards digitization through leveraging capabilities around cost-reduction, service automation, efficient work channels coupled with engagement models that are geared towards enabling them to meet current challenges of competition, short business cycles and quicker execution of strategy. Executives of organizations use Aeries' professional and management services for short-term, medium-term, and long-term strategies, and for both organic growth and inorganic events in the company lifecycle. Some of the outcomes that Aeries' professional and management services brings about are:

- 1. Cost savings and reductions;
- 2. Operational efficiencies and effectiveness;
- 3. Specialized centers of excellence;
- 4. Revamping and migrate legacy systems; and
- 5. Geographical expansion and revenue growth.

Companies are looking for vendors who not only have the experience and expertise in providing the right-sized solution in this age of ever shortening business cycles but also serve as a trusted partner with a transparent engagement model to handhold them through their digital transformation journey. Aeries' model is Purpose-Built to provide this experience, expertise and transparent engagement model to accelerate and enhance our clients' businesses.

#### **Our Purpose-Built Model**

We believe the Aeries Purpose-Built model provides an innovative and flexible approach to help organizations manage their talent, technology, and operations delivery requirements. Our initial consulting offerings leverage appropriate strategic recommendations from senior leadership, market availability trends for required skillsets, and appropriate near-shore or offshore locations to offer outsourcing services. With a customized approach, and industry and function-targeted solutions, our clients may experience benefits such as significant cost savings, improved efficiencies in processes, greater compliance, owners, and accountability, enhanced organization agility and momentum to adapt to changes, scalability, and innovation.

Our model is differentiated from traditional outsourcing and offshoring platforms in the following ways:

- 1. Significantly Lower Costs of Operations: Our scale of operations allows us to operate more economically than a native US-based model. The pricing model is simple, transparent, and aims to be cost-efficient. Aeries charges a margin on direct cost such as employee-related costs and passes on all indirect costs such as rent and utilities to the client. While our goal is to provide a minimum of 40% cost savings transition from high cost geographies as part of our contractual terms, some of our clients have experienced over 60% cost savings.
- 2. **Transparency and Visibility:** Our model has a built-in approval system structured for client oversight, enabling continuous cost tracking and cost control. The client has direct visibility of the team structure as well as the employees within each function and can collaborate with the site head on Aeries' side for service quality and delivery levels.
- 3. **Functional Control:** Our teams operate as an extension of our clients' organizational chart, with functional control over operations and dedicated delivery resources by client department heads. This type of engagement model provides our clients with functional control of the processes while avoiding the administrative and regulatory overhead. The Aeries team engages with the client's leadership in a partnership approach to align all functions and resources specific to the client's requirements to build the operations as "One Team."
- 4. Flexibility: Our model is built to adapt to client needs and can scale up or down quickly based on clients' business situation and objectives, without financial penalty. Aeries also provides a "Build-Operate-Transfer" option, allowing clients to buy the dedicated operations from Aeries once it is set up and optimized and the client is ready to take full control of the project and set up its own subsidiary. This provides clients the ease of taking over operations that are already established and running efficiently, thus avoiding the initial hassles of setting up their own captive unit. The transfer also creates a monetization opportunity for us if clients decide to bring their offshored services in-house.
- 5. Engagement and Governance Framework: The Aeries engagement framework facilitates a quick transition and ramp-up time for our clients' business operations. We provide high-quality supervision, administrative and operations support, functional upskilling in local geography together with strategic inputs relevant to client business through the Aeries engagement framework. We also have employees working in senior positions in a client's organization on an interim basis when required. This helps fill in important positions when needed, especially during carveout or acquisition transactions, when Aeries senior management can step in and provide valuable expertise and directional advisory services. Aeries senior management interacts closely with client senior management on strategic matters including organic and inorganic growth, and business expansion opportunities.
- 6. **Operational Excellence:** Aeries' Operational Excellence team, comprising functional experts and advisors, works with clients' functional teams in a consultant mode to develop relevant and effective process improvements, tailored solutions, and benchmarking best practices. This cumulative expertise enables Aeries to provide a focused and result-oriented assessment, recommendation and implementation of technology enabled solutions, process and workflow improvements. These efforts can help clients transition smoothly into a lean and efficient organizational model.

- 7. **Technology:** Our technology teams evaluate opportunities for refining process workflows, automating and identifying areas to incorporate new-age technology tools including Robotics Process Automation ("RPA"), AI and Data Analytics. These teams act as a layer over our core operations management services and provide business process re-engineering and technology enabled transformations.
- 8. **Compliance:** By virtue of the design of our Purpose-Built model, Aeries is accountable and responsible for paying taxes, managing regulatory compliance and associated risks related to assessment and scrutiny, which aims to eliminate compliance-related hassles for clients. Some countries have strict guidelines on the right price to charge for inter-company services (transfer pricing), which can at times lead to prolonged litigation. Our model is structured to address this challenge through an arm's length client-vendor arrangement.

#### **Our Growth Strategies**

We intend to accelerate our growth based on the following multi-pronged approach:

- 1. **Deepen relationships with private equity:** We intend to double down our efforts in the private equity ("PE") ecosystem, a vertical that is close-knit, reputation and trust-based, and highly demanding. We plan to continue to build on our success in the PE community by expanding our network effect and hiring professionals with a pedigree from this industry.
- 2. Accelerate cross sales: We intend to continue to focus on selling value-add solutions and products to existing clients by having a "Vertical Head" concept supported directly by the executive team. These will be solutions and products in the space of AI, robotics, automation, business intelligence and deep analytics, blockchain, cloud migration, business strategic inputs and customized software. We aim to maintain our high levels of customer service and experience across functions, by offering excellent service delivery and top talent.
- 3. Enter and aggressively expand into the mid-market enterprise segment: We intend to accelerate our mid-market enterprise growth by hiring a sales team dedicated to this vertical. This sales team will be based in the United States and have significant relationships and experience selling into mid-market enterprises.
- 4. **New Technology and Innovation:** We intend to accelerate emerging new-age technology products, platforms and tailored scalable solutions, and augment this with tech-based services to expand our depth of services and capabilities
- 5. Grow with aligned partners and alliances: We intend to build alliances with pure-play management consulting firms in the space of management consultancy services, and ecosystem partnerships with leading global technology providers.
- 6. International Expansion: Our current markets are North America, Asia Pacific, and the Middle East, with a primary focus on the United States. We plan to enter new markets such as Europe, Australia and New Zealand in the long-term.
- 7. Grow Inorganically: In addition to our organic growth plan, we have continued to look for opportunities in mergers and acquisitions which could enhance our service areas and broaden our geographical reach.



#### Services and Solutions We Offer

Aeries' offerings encompass consultancy services, operations management services and digital transformation (including solutions, products, platforms and innovation labs), as discussed below.

#### • Consultancy Services

Consultancy services provided to clients include a series of integrated set of activities starting with the involvement of Aeries' senior management team recommending to the client strategies, approaches, and consultation for effective implementation. These are supported by other consulting services such as recruitment, market analysis for the right talent, procurement, cost benefit analysis, information technology services and project management.

#### • Operations Management Services

Our operations management services are geared to cater to clients' specific requirements and act as a catalyst for growth and efficiencies. Using our Purpose-Built model, we leverage our expertise to deploy the appropriate tools that benchmark current performance against the industry standard and efficiently address the gaps, providing real-time insights into process performance. Our services are designed to enhance the talent and processes in functions such as Research and Development, IT, Business Applications, Finance and Accounting, Human Resources, Legal and Compliance, Customer Support, and Operations Support, to deliver the agility and flexibility that businesses need to gain competitive advantage.

#### Digital Transformation

We support our clients in an agile, ever-changing business environment with accelerated solutions to drive changes in client experience, operational processes, and lower their cost structure. With solutions that leverage emerging technology, we help clients in their digital transformation journey to enhance business outcomes, improve operational results and future-proof technology landscapes. The solutions we offer to facilitate digital transformation include:

#### • GenAI LLM Solutions

We leverage Large Language Models ("LLMs") to enhance decision-making, consolidate data, and improve productivity through AI-driven automation. We provide various LLM-based solutions that are designed to be tailored to the specific needs of our clients. For example, we offer specialized finance and accounting solutions that also apply RPA and Intelligent Document Processing ("IDP") to help automate financial tasks, reduce errors, and enhance data analysis.

#### • Cognitive RPA Solutions

We aim to enhance operational capabilities through advanced analytics and process automation. Our RPA solutions are designed to streamline complex financial operations, enhance decision-making with real-time data, and help ensure compliance. Technologies such as Natural Language Processing ("NLP") and Optical Character Recognition ("OCR") are used to help convert unstructured financial documents into actionable workflows and insights.

#### • AI Chatbot Solutions

In the customer service and delivery sector, we seek to automate service management with AI-driven digital platforms, including virtual assistants, AI chatbots, and intelligent call routing. These solutions are designed to streamline business processes, boost efficiency, reduce operational costs, and enhance customer experiences by leveraging advanced analytics and machine learning.

#### • Data Analytics Solutions

Through AI and Data Science, we aim to provide valuable, actionable data insights to improve operations and grow revenue, helping our clients unlock powerful analytics, reduce risks, forecast demand, and make more informed strategic decisions. AI-based predictive analytics enable us to offer insights on client's data trends and behavior, sales pipeline, and marketing, while also providing operational and financial dashboards.

#### Business Applications Accelerators

We provide scalable and customizable implementation, maintenance, audit and automation solutions and services across multiple enterprise business applications systems, including, for example, Enterprise Resource Planning ("ERP"), Customer Relationship Management ("CRM") and Human Capital Management ("HCM") platforms, as well as cross-application integrations and automations. Through these solutions, we aim to help our clients maximize their investments while digitally transforming their operational processes to be lean and efficient. To ensure that our solutions meet our clients' specific business needs, we partner with key enterprise application vendors to bring in best practices as well as preferred commercial terms.

#### Cloud Services

Through our cloud technology services, we advance our clients toward digital transformation of their organization. We start by conducting a thorough cloud-requirements assessment, outlining the appropriate information technology infrastructure and cyber security strategies, assisting in the selection of the appropriate cloud providers for our clients' specific business needs. This approach helps ensure that cloud migrations take place in a smooth, effective and systematic manner, minimizing negative impact to the running business.

#### Products and Platforms Used in Our Services and Solutions

We have developed products and platforms to enhance the services and solutions we provide to our clients. Our key products and platforms include:

- ARIA: ARIA is an AI chatbot platform designed to automate repeatable request and response processes. It uses an NLP engine and in-house AI models, eliminating the need for external services. ARIA continuously improves by integrating more data, increasing coverage and accuracy over time. It can support IT services, resolving issues like customer support queries and software or hardware problems, and can be used as a self-service bot. This platform is used both internally and by clients. It is typically applied in customer support or IT support use cases and can also be deployed by other departments that need to process frequently asked queries.
- Intelligent Process Automation (IPA): IPA is a cognitive RPA that integrates automation and AI-powered bots to understand the complexities of tasks, sift through structured and unstructured data sets, and drive analytics-based process automation. Leveraging Natural Language Processing ("NLP"), Optical Character Recognition ("OCR"), and Machine Learning, cognitive RPA can interpret large volumes of data and enhance productivity, scalability, and efficiency. This platform is used both internally and by clients. It is typically used to automate finance processes and other functional departments needing to identify and automate repetitive tasks.



- Contract 360 (Enhanced Contracts Platform): Contract 360 is a contract lifecycle management platform powered by blockchain for audit and traceability, natural language processing for event extraction and key term management for alerts and notifications, and LLMs for document and contract generation. This platform includes an inbuilt process automation module that customizes contract management workflows to meet unique client needs and help ensure compliance. It is typically used by HR and legal departments for compliance and employee onboarding across various client accounts.
- Aeries Resource Management (ARM): ARM is a natural evolution of our operations management solution. While time and attendance management is the core capability, it also facilitates accounts, projects, and billing teams with features such as differential billing, project-level billing with high granularity, enhanced business intelligence, and ease of use. It is used by all corporate teams of Aeries and some of our clients, customized to their needs.

#### Innovation Labs

To explore new opportunities for better serving our clients, Aeries' Innovation Labs incubates and develops new ideas and creates intellectual property. Our focused products, platforms, and solutions currently in development include those discussed below. These are currently in the incubation phase and are being prepared for client testing. We expect to establish more definitive timelines for commercialization once they are ready for client testing.

- Searchlight.AI: This solution is designed to implement Retrieval-Augmented Generation (RAG) methods to function as a Searchbot that dynamically augments the LLM models through search retrievals, while maintaining a GenAI user experience of AI generated results. This can be used to retrieve information from large unstructured data sets which are dynamically augmented by live web feeds. This capability has been test deployed within custom solutions for various clients, but it is still in development and continues to evolve in functionality.
- CyberDefense: This solution is designed to help clients manage information security risks and protect against cyberattacks, while also enabling automated responses to threats. Focusing on Security Information and Event Management ("SIEM") and Extended Detection and Response (XDR) capabilities, it aims to protect public clouds, private clouds, and on-premise data centers. The platform is planned to provide near real-time threat detection, alerting users to file system changes, IP address usage, and modifications. This platform is currently in the advanced stages of internal prototyping.
- **BuilderGPT:** With the growing adoption of GenAI in organizations, we have been conducting extensive research to develop applications to understand tabular data, image data, and complex documents. This solution aims to allow organizations to quickly develop, run PoCs, and prototype, scaling them to production use cases with little to no coding required. This platform is in the early stages of internal prototyping.

#### **Our Clients**

As of March 31, 2024, Aeries had more than 30 clients spanning across industry segments, including companies in the industries of e-commerce, telecom, security, healthcare, engineering and others. Our top five clients accounted for 50% and 64% of our revenue for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024, and March 31, 2023, respectively. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, we had four clients, each contributing more than 10% of our revenue, which were 16%, 16%, 12% and 11% respectively. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, we had two clients, each contributing more than 10% of our revenue, which were 14% and 12% respectively.

#### Sales and Marketing

At Aeries, our sales and marketing efforts are structured to drive growth and deliver innovative solutions to our clients across various industries and geographies. Our approach includes forming strategic partnerships and alliances with private equity firms and their portfolio companies.

Our business development efforts are targeted towards private equity firms and their portfolio companies. Our business development is supported by an account management team, who are responsible for engaging clients from the early stages and revenue optimization. Both teams are well supported by the business unit heads and vertical heads, equipping them with the necessary resources, reporting and knowledge to effectively address our clients' needs.

In marketing, we employ a digital-first strategy aimed at identifying and accelerating opportunities through the sales pipeline. We position Aeries as a thought leader and trusted partner mainly within Private Equity space, committed to helping our clients navigate their digital transformation journeys. Our marketing efforts focus on enhancing brand visibility, creating demand for our solutions, and establishing Aeries as a leader in delivering technology-driven business outcomes.

Our integrated sales and marketing strategy aims to leverage global expertise tailored to local markets, striving to meet the unique needs of every client. By combining our deep industry knowledge with innovative digital solutions, we work to help our clients achieve their strategic goals and drive business success.

#### Competition

Aeries operates in a highly competitive industry, facing significant competition from both global and regional professional services and consulting firms. Our primary competitors include mid-sized specialized firms that focus on niche markets or specific service offerings. These competitors often emphasize specialized vertical knowledge and close client relationships, which allow them to compete effectively for targeted opportunities within the private equity portfolio firms and mid-segment enterprise markets.

We seek to differentiate ourselves through our approach to building and managing GCCs, our deep understanding of private equity portfolio companies and mid-segment enterprises, and our commitment to leveraging advanced technologies, including AI and other digital transformation solutions.

#### **One Team**

#### **Overview**

As of March 31, 2024, Aeries had approximately 1,700 full-time employees. We also engage temporary staff, including contractors and consultants, to supplement our staffing resources from time to time as needed.

In addition to having client dedicated resources, Aeries has non-client dedicated employees who are domain and functional experts, providing specialized services to clients as needed. These domain experts, such as HR, Talent Acquisition, Project Management Office, Admin, IT, Finance and Compliance and Marketing professionals provide valuable advice and best practices that can help a business stay ahead of the competition, and provide efficiencies. These employees play an instrumental role in evaluating the clients' organization and functions to arrive at the most effective recommendations for cost efficiency, which can lead to operational effectiveness and technology upgrades. These employees are an invaluable asset to Aeries, as their insights and expertise can be used to create strategies for success. We have consistently invested in these non-client dedicated resources to ensure that Aeries is well-equipped to handle any requirements and can provide any specialized high-end consultancy and advisory services that our clients may need.

Furthermore, we strongly believe that culture plays a vital role in employees having a sense of belonging, and we exert ourselves to ensure that the human resources hired for client teams under the "Purpose-Built" model act as a natural extension of their brands. We believe this approach gives us an advantage in the recruitment of highly engaged teammates who produce better results. We are dedicated to fostering a One-Team culture by closely understanding and integrating our clients' human resources practices and company culture, to ensure our employees build active affinity and recognition towards the client brand and corporate culture. Integrated human resources engagements, coordinated with clients' human resources, enable our employees to grow in respective career paths, facilitating the emergence of leaders and ensuring the retention of key talent. We believe this approach yields better synergies and collaboration in delivery and engagement, and helps us achieve some of the highest satisfaction and retention rates in the industry.

#### Culture and Branding Initiatives

We have implemented culture and branding initiatives including:

- client logo prominently displayed in the offices;
- office and workstation set-up, furniture and stationery as per client brand guidelines and colors;
- client human resources policies aligned with Aeries' policies that apply to employees; and
- fun at work sessions, celebrations, rewards and recognitions, which are completely aligned with the client.

We believe these culture and branding initiatives ensure alignment with client culture and facilitate the establishment of strong working relationships. In addition, the work hours of dedicated client resources are aligned with the client requirements in different geographies and can provide 24/7/365 days operations, using both shift-based and the "follow-the-sun model". Aeries' client-dedicated resources are flexible to adapt and cater to diverse cultural sensitivities aligned to the geographies they work with. The relationships are also strengthened by resources traveling to the client location and client teams traveling to their centers in Aeries' offices.

### Attracting and Retaining Talent

The Purpose-Built Model is designed to safeguard quality and availability of talent with desired skillsets to provide our clients with the right-fit talent for their business. We employ diversified sourcing channels to acquire the right skillset, with the client team's active involvement to match the organization's needs. Aeries has a strong in-house recruitment team and is well connected with leading recruitment agencies, facilitating the quick sourcing of talent. Aeries also sources through employee referrals and job portals. Aeries follows an effective and efficient screening process to narrow down candidates within tight timelines, which includes client feedback.

The extensive human resources benefits that we offer to our employees, coupled with the One-Team culture we cultivate by closely understanding and integrating clients' human resource practices and company culture, can promote active affinity and recognition among employees towards the client brand and corporate culture. We believe this approach yields better synergies and collaboration in delivery, and promotes our employees' satisfaction and retention.

#### **Our Commitment to ESG**

Aeries is committed to a holistic approach to sustainability that covers managing risks and opportunities towards Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") parameters. We strive to build a comprehensive framework that goes beyond maximizing profits, and includes key elements around environmental and social impact, as well as how governance structures can be refined to maximize stakeholder well-being. For example, Aeries has adopted environmental, social and governance guidelines which are applicable to our employees, clients, key stakeholders and third-party service providers to the extent possible. The guidelines, as they apply to our operations and all the services in consideration or offered by us, require us to consider the wellbeing and development of our employees in recruitment, retention and development, privacy and security of our clients, managing and influencing the ESG issues in our supply chain, minimizing the environmental impact of our services especially with respect to energy management and water waste management and paper use, and systemic risk management. In addition, Aeries supports local events and charities through financial support and contribution of staff's time as part of our community commitment. We also engage in constructive and continuing stakeholder communications to help us better understand those stakeholders' ESG commitments and strategies so that we can work collaboratively to achieve and improve our ESG commitments in specific operational aspects such as sustainability policy towards client dedicated facilities, IT procurement and other operations.

#### Environmental

Aeries considers the protection of natural resources and reduction of carbon footprint as its responsibility, as we conduct our business operations in a sustainable manner. Aeries implements ESG policies to save resources and energy, hence reducing waste, and controlling pollution.

#### Social

Striving for positive social change has always been at the heart of Aeries' purpose, culture, and work. In this effort, we focus particularly on promoting a positive impact for underrepresented individuals. As a part of giving back to the society, Aeries supports the non-governmental organization ("NGO"), Masoom based in Mumbai. This NGO aids night school students to achieve their full potential through educational and policy support leading to better skills and job opportunities. Aeries has supported this NGO in varying capacities including monetary donation, and donation of books and study material to students at the night schools.

#### Governance

At Aeries, creating a robust governance structure and oversight is in our DNA owing to the Purpose-Built model and the close partnership that we cultivate with our clients. Our code of conduct and core values govern our way of working and help us achieve our vision and goals in accordance with corporate governance practices. Our core values are reviewed periodically to ensure they resonate with the organization's DNA, our most recently unveiled core values include: Collaboration, Accountability, Transparency, Integrity, Innovation and Customer Centricity.

At Aeries, we encourage transparency and encourage employees to bring to notice any violations of the code of conduct. With an open, nonhierarchical culture, we foster an environment where appropriate governance practices are upheld to ensure work ethic, in conjunction with our existing legal or statutory provisions for any wrongdoings. We also have a rigorous cybersecurity framework to protect the information assets of clients and the company from cyberattacks and handle personal information properly and protect the human rights of stakeholders. We are **ISO 27001:2022** and **PCI DSS v3.2.1** certified and compliant to SOC 2 Type 2 certification.

#### **Intellectual Property**

Our intellectual property rights are important to our business. We rely on a combination of intellectual property laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property. We require our employees, independent contractors, vendors, and clients to enter into written confidentiality agreements upon the commencement of their relationships with us. These agreements generally provide that any confidential or proprietary information disclosed or otherwise made available by us will be kept confidential.

We customarily enter into non-disclosure agreements with our clients with respect to the use of their software systems and platforms. Our clients usually own the intellectual property in the software or systems we develop for them. Furthermore, we usually grant a perpetual, worldwide, royalty-free, nonexclusive, transferable, and non-revocable license to our clients to use our pre-existing intellectual property, but only to the extent necessary to use the software or systems we developed for them.

We have invested in research and development, to enhance our domain knowledge and create effective, specialized solutions for our clients. We have developed certain tools, including consulting frameworks and software applications, which we use to deliver digital services to our clients. Some of these tools are still in development. The ideas are currently protected as our confidential information and trade secrets, and we plan to seek appropriate intellectual property protection once development is completed. Our documents or e-books that relate to procedures, products, and strategies, which are used both internally as well as to value add for our clients, bear a "©" symbol indicating copyright ownership. We hold a registered trademark "ATG AERIES," which is registered in India and valid until August 2028.

#### **Government Regulations**

We are subject to a wide range of federal, state, and foreign legal requirements, including those related to data privacy and protection, employment and labor relations, immigration, taxation, anticorruption, import/export controls, trade restrictions, internal and disclosure control obligations, securities regulation, and anti-competition. For example, as a group operating through subsidiaries in multiple jurisdictions, we are subject to foreign exchange control, transfer pricing, and custom laws that regulate the flow of funds between Aeries and its subsidiaries. We are also required to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and other countries' anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws.

Violations of one or more of these diverse legal requirements in the conduct of our business could result in significant fines, other damages, criminal sanctions against us or our officers, prohibitions on doing business, and damage to our reputation. Violations of these regulations or contractual obligations related to regulatory compliance in connection with the performance of customer contracts could also result in liability for significant monetary damages, fines, criminal prosecution, unfavorable publicity, other reputational damage, restrictions on our ability to compete for certain work, and allegations by our customers that we have not performed our contractual obligations.

#### Corporate History, the Business Combination, and the Recent Exchange

The information disclosed in the "Introductory Note" above is incorporated herein by reference.

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, all AARK ordinary shares that were issued and outstanding prior to the closing of the Business Combination remained issued and outstanding following the closing and continued to be held by the sole shareholder of AARK, Mr. Raman Kumar. Additionally, in connection with the Business Combination, Aeries issued a Class V ordinary share to NewGen Advisors and Consultants DWC-LLC (the "Class V Shareholder"), a business associate of Mr. Kumar. The Class V ordinary share has voting rights equal to (1) 26.0% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a single class (subject to a proportionate reduction in voting power in connection with the exchange by Mr. Kumar of AARK ordinary shares for Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement described below) and (2) in certain circumstances as described below, 51.0% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a class; provided, however, that any such proportionate reduction under (1) will not affect the voting rights of the Class V ordinary share in the event of (i) a threatened or actual hostile change of control and/or (ii) the appointment and removal of a director on the board of directors of the Company (the "Board").

Pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, all of the shares of the Amalgamation Sub that were issued and outstanding immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination were converted into a number of newly issued AARK ordinary shares following the closing. The closing of the Business Combination resulted in Aeries owning 38.24% of the economic interests of AARK and Mr. Kumar and the Other ATG Shareholders (defined below) owning the balance of 61.76%. Pursuant to the Business Combination, Aeries has a right to appoint two out of the three directors on the board of directors of AARK and therefore has an ability to control the activities undertaken by AARK in ordinary course of business, resulting in AARK being classified as a subsidiary of Aeries following the closing of the Business Combination. In accordance with principles of Financial Accounting Standards Board's Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations ("ASC 805") and based on the economic interest held by the shareholders post the Business Combination as well as the underlying rights, it was assessed that AARK was the accounting acquirer and WWAC was the accounting acquiree. The Business Combination has been accounted for as reverse recapitalization.



On the Closing Date, Aeries entered into exchange agreements with Mr. Kumar and the shareholders of ATG other than AARK (the "Other ATG Shareholders"), respectively (collectively, the "Exchange Agreements"). Pursuant to the Exchange Agreements, prior to April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, each holder of AARK ordinary shares and ATG ordinary shares may exchange up to 20% of the number of AARK ordinary shares and ATG ordinary shares, as applicable, held by such holder for Class A ordinary shares or cash, in each case as provided in the Exchange Agreements. From and after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, Aeries shall have the right to acquire all of the AARK or ATG ordinary share for Class A ordinary shares or cash. In addition, after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise condition, each shareholder of AARK and ATG ordinary shares shall have the right to require Aeries to provide Class A ordinary shares or cash in exchange for up to all of the AARK or ATG ordinary shares. Each share of AARK may be exchanged for 2,246 Class A ordinary shares and each ATG ordinary share may be exchanged for 14.40 Class A ordinary shares, in each case subject to certain adjustments (collectively, the "Exchanged Shares"). The Exchange Agreements are conditioned on satisfaction of: (a) approval from the Reserve Bank of India ("RBI") and any other regulatory approvals, if required; and (b) at least two of the following conditions: (i) consolidated twelve month EBITDA of all operating entities in which we have direct or indirect shareholding achieves of at least \$6 million; (ii) consolidated twelve month revenue of all entities in which the Company has a direct or indirect shareholding achieves at least \$60 million; (iii) minimum trading volume of (26 weeks average volume will be considered as the benchmark) of 60,000 shares; (iv) achievement of a trading price of at least \$10.00 for 10 or more trading days in a 20-day period; (v) raising of funding of at least \$10 million; or (vi) acquisition of one other business with a value of at least \$5 million. The cash exchange payment may only be elected in the event approval from RBI is not obtained for exchange of shares and provided that Aeries has reasonable cash flow to be able to pay the cash exchange payment and such payment would not be prohibited by any then outstanding debt agreements or arrangements of Aeries.

On March 26, 2024, Aeries determined that the exchange conditions in the Exchange Agreements with respect to Mr. Kumar and one of the Other ATG Shareholders, Bhisham Khare, had been satisfied. On April 5, 2024, Mr. Kumar exchanged an aggregate amount of 9,500 AARK ordinary shares for 21,337,000 Exchanged Shares. Following this exchange by Mr. Kumar, an aggregate of 10,566,347 Exchanged Shares remain to be issued upon exchanges pursuant to both the Exchange Agreements, including 7,740,979 Exchanged Shares for which the exchange conditions have not yet been met.

Following the exchange by Mr. Kumar on April 5, 2024, Aeries' economic interest in AARK increased from 38.24% to 96.91%, while AARK and the Other ATG Shareholders collectively retained 3.09% of the economic interests in AARK.

### Our Status as a Cayman Islands Exempted Company and as a Public Company

We are a Cayman Islands exempted company. Exempted companies are Cayman Islands companies conducting business mainly outside the Cayman Islands and, as such, are exempted from complying with certain provisions of the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands (the "Companies Act"). As an exempted company, we have applied for and received a tax exemption undertaking from the Cayman Islands government that, in accordance with Section 6 of the Tax Concessions Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, for a period of 20 years from the date of the undertaking, no law which is enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any tax to be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations will apply to us or our operations and, in addition, that no tax to be levied on profits, income, gains or appreciations or which is in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax will be payable (i) on or in respect of our shares, debentures or other obligations or (ii) by way of the withholding in whole or in part of a payment of dividend or other distribution of income or capital by us to our shareholders or a payment of principal or interest or other sums due under a debenture or other obligation of us.

We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"). As such, we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not "emerging growth companies" including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act of 2002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the prices of our securities may be more volatile.

In addition, Section 107 of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act") also provides that an "emerging growth company" can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an "emerging growth company" can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We intend to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of the IPO in October 2021, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least \$1.07 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our ordinary shares that are held by non-affiliates equals or exceeds \$700 million as of the end of that year's second fiscal quarter, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than \$1 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period.

Additionally, we are a "smaller reporting company" as defined in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K. Smaller reporting companies may take advantage of certain reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, providing only two years of audited financial statements. We will remain a smaller reporting company as long as (1) the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates is less than \$250 million as of the end of a year's second fiscal quarter, or (2) our annual revenues are less than \$100 million during a completed fiscal year and the market value of our ordinary shares held by non-affiliates is less than \$700 million as of the end of that year's second fiscal quarter.

#### **Corporate Information**

Our principal executive offices are located at 60 Paya Lebar Road, #08-13, Paya Lebar Square, Singapore, and our telephone number at that location is 65 98416625. Our website address is https://aeriestechnology.com/. Information contained on our website is not a part of this report, and the inclusion of our website address in this report is an inactive textual reference only.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

#### **Summary Risk Factors**

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully all of the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this report before making a decision to purchase our securities. If any of the following events occur, our business, financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our securities could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. These risks are more fully described in the section titled "*Risk Factors*" immediately following this risk factors summary. These risks include, among others, the following:

### **Risks Related to Our Industry and Business**

- We operate in a rapidly evolving industry, which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects;
- We face intense competition and the failure to stand out could adversely affect our business;
- We may not be able to successfully execute our business strategies;
- We may be unable to effectively manage our growth or achieve anticipated growth;
- Our business depends on a strong brand, client relationships and corporate reputation, the impairment of which could harm our business;
- Our business is heavily dependent upon our international operations, particularly in India and Mexico, and we are subject to foreign exchange and currency risks that could adversely affect our operations;
- We may face difficulties as we expand our operations into countries in which we have no prior operating experience;
- We may acquire other companies, which could divert resources necessary to sustain our business and may not yield the anticipated benefits;
- Failure to attract, hire, train, and retain key management and sufficient numbers of skilled employees will adversely impact our business;
- We may need additional capital, and a failure by us to raise additional capital on terms favorable to us, or at all, could limit our ability to grow our business or enhance our service offerings;
- We have identified conditions and events that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern;
- We may need to make a cash payment of approximately \$8 million under the Forward Purchase Agreements entered in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, which would reduce cash available for our operations;
- We have significant fixed costs related to lease facilities and our inability to renew our leases on commercially acceptable terms may adversely affect us;



- The loss of a key client could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations;
- Although we have executed auto-renewal contracts with our clients, they have the right to terminate the same, potentially leading to significant revenue loss that may not be easily replaced, and our client contracts may contain restrictive provisions that limit our operational flexibility;
- We have and may continue to experience a long selling and implementation cycle;
- Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to various factors;
- Our cash flows and results of operations have been and may continue to be adversely affected if we are unable to collect on billed and unbilled receivables from clients, particularly in our newly expanded markets such as the Middle East and APAC region;
- Global economic and political conditions could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects;

### Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property, Technology Solutions, Software Usage and Cyber Security

- If we do not continue to innovate and remain at the forefront of emerging technologies and related market trends, we may lose clients and not remain competitive;
- Artificial intelligence and generative artificial intelligence applications present risks and challenges that can impact our business;
- Our business relies heavily on owned and third-party technology and computer systems, which subjects us to various uncertainties;
- If we fail to adequately protect our or our client's intellectual property rights and proprietary information in the United States and abroad, our competitive position could be impaired;

### Risks Related to Regulation, Legislation and Legal Proceedings

• Our global operations expose us to numerous legal and regulatory requirements and failure to comply with such requirements, including unexpected changes to such requirements, could adversely affect our results of operations;

#### **Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities**

- We have not paid and may not pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future;
- An active trading market for our Class A ordinary shares may not develop or be sustained, which may cause our shares to trade at a discount and make it difficult to sell the shares;
- The price of our Class A ordinary shares and warrants may be volatile or decline;
- You may face dilution and potential price depression of our Class A ordinary shares and warrants due to sales and issuances of Class A ordinary shares registered on Form S-1 (333-276173), and additional shares issued through our equity incentive plans, acquisitions, Forward Purchase Agreements, or other means;
- We are an "emerging growth company," and the reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our Class A ordinary shares less attractive to investors;



- We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and failure to remediate these weaknesses and maintain an effective system could adversely affect our financial reporting reliability, investor confidence, and the value of our Class A ordinary shares;
- Certain founders and employees may have interests that conflict with other shareholders and they may sell their shares, or the market perception of such sale may cause the market price of our Class A ordinary shares to decline;
- We are a "controlled company" under the Nasdaq listing standards, and as a result, its shareholders may not have certain corporate protections that are available to shareholders of companies that are not controlled companies;
- Our dual-class ordinary share structure concentrates voting control with the Class V Shareholder during certain extraordinary events provided in our memorandum and articles of association. The Class V Shareholder, a business associate of Mr. Kumar who currently holds approximately 60% of all votes attached to issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and the Class V ordinary share, subject to special voting rights. This concentrated control limits or prevents shareholder influence over corporate matters, including director elections, amendments to our organizational documents, and major transactions requiring shareholder approval, potentially impacting the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares;
- We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, restructuring and impairment or other charges that could have a significant negative effect on our financial condition, results of operations and the share price of our securities.

#### **Risks Related to Our Industry and Business**

#### We operate in a rapidly evolving industry, which makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects.

The professional services and management consultancy industry is competitive and continuously evolving, subject to rapidly changing demands and constant technological developments. As a result, success and performance metrics are difficult to predict and measure in our industry. Because services and technologies are rapidly evolving and each company within the industry can vary greatly in terms of the services it provides, its business model, and its results of operations, it can be difficult to predict how any company's services, including ours, will be received in the market. Neither our past financial performance nor the past financial performance of any other company in the technology services industry is indicative of how our company will fare financially in the future. Our growth is subject to many factors, including our success in implementing our business strategy, which is subject to many risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, any forecasts of market growth we have made or may make in the future should not be taken as indicative of our future growth. Our future profits may vary substantially from those of other companies and those we have achieved in the past, making an investment in our company risky and speculative. If our clients' demand for our services declines as a result of economic conditions, market factors or shifts in the technology industry, our business would suffer and our results of operations and financial condition would be adversely affected.

#### We face intense competition and the failure to stand out could adversely affect our business.

The market for professional services and management consultancy is intensely competitive, highly fragmented and subject to rapid change and evolving industry standards and we expect competition to intensify. Our primary competitors include mid-sized specialized firms that focus on niche markets or specific service offerings. These competitors often emphasize specialized vertical knowledge and close client relationships, which allow them to compete effectively for targeted opportunities within the private equity portfolio firms and mid-segment enterprise markets. Many of our competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and marketing resources and greater name recognition than we do. As a result, they may be able to compete more aggressively on pricing or devote greater resources to develop and promote their professional services and management consultancy offerings. Further, there is a risk that our clients may elect to increase their internal resources to satisfy their services needs as opposed to relying on a third-party service providers, such as us. We expect our industry to undergo consolidation, which may result in increased competition in our target markets from larger firms that may have substantially greater financial, marketing or technical resources, may be able to respond faster to new technologies or processes and changes in client demands. Increased competition could also result in price reductions, reduced operating margins and loss of our market share.

# Our success largely depends on our ability to achieve our business strategies, and our results of operations and financial condition may suffer if we are unable to continually develop and successfully execute our strategies.

While we believe that our strategic plans reflect opportunities that are appropriate and achievable, the execution of our strategy may not result in long-term growth in revenue or profitability due to a number of factors, such as:

- the number, timing, scope and contractual terms of projects in which we are engaged;
- the business decisions of our clients regarding the use of our services;
- the ability to further grow sales of services from existing clients;
- the timing of collection of accounts receivable; and
- general economic conditions.

The failure to continually develop and execute optimally on our business strategies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. To manage the expected domestic and international growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, our reporting systems and procedures, and our utilization of real estate. If we fail to successfully scale our operations and increase productivity, we may be unable to execute our business plan, and such failure could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

### We may be unable to effectively manage our growth or achieve anticipated growth, which could place significant strain on our management personnel, systems and resources.

As we add new delivery sites, introduce new services or enter into new markets, we may face new market, technological and operational risks and challenges with which we are unfamiliar, and we may not be able to mitigate these risks and challenges to successfully grow those services or markets. We may not be able to achieve our anticipated growth or successfully execute large and complex projects, which could materially adversely affect our revenue, results of operations, business and prospects. As our company grows, and we are required to add more employees and infrastructure to support our growth, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain our corporate culture. If we fail to maintain a culture that fosters career development, innovation, creativity and teamwork, we could experience difficulty in hiring and retaining the trained professionals. Failure to manage growth effectively could have a material adverse effect on the quality of the execution of our engagements, our ability to attract and retain the trained professionals and our business, results of operations and financial condition.

#### We may be unable to maintain adequate resource utilization rates and productivity levels, which may adversely impact our profitability.

Our profitability and the cost of providing our services are affected by our utilization rates of our employees in our delivery locations. If we are not able to maintain appropriate utilization rates for our employees involved in delivery of our services, our profit margin and our profitability may suffer. Our revenue could also suffer if we misjudge demand patterns and do not recruit sufficient employees to satisfy demand. Employee shortages could prevent us from completing our contractual commitments in a timely manner and cause us to lose contracts or clients.

# Our business depends on a strong brand, client relationships and corporate reputation and the impairment of the brand could adversely impact our business.

We believe the brand name, client relationships and our reputation are important corporate assets that help distinguish our services from those of our competitors and also contribute to our efforts to recruit and retain talented professionals. However, our corporate reputation is susceptible to damage by actions or statements made by current or former employees or clients, competitors, vendors and adversaries in legal proceedings, as well as members of the investment community and the media. There is a risk that negative information about our company, even if based on false information or misunderstanding, could adversely affect our business. Damage to our reputation could reduce the value and effectiveness of our brand name and could reduce investor confidence in us and adversely affect our operating results.



# Our business is heavily dependent upon our international operations, particularly in India and Mexico, and any disruption to those operations would adversely affect us.

Our business and future growth depend largely on continued demand for our services performed in India and Mexico. Various factors, such as changes in the central or state governments in these jurisdictions, could trigger significant changes in economic liberalization and deregulation policies and disrupt business and economic conditions in these jurisdictions generally and our business in particular. Our business and our international operations may also be affected by actual or threatened trade war or tariffs or other trade controls. If we are unable to continue to leverage the skills and experience of our international workforce, particularly in India and Mexico, we may be unable to provide our solutions at an attractive price and our business could be materially and negatively impacted.

# We are subject to foreign exchange and currency risks that could adversely affect our operations, and our ability to mitigate our foreign exchange risk may be limited.

A majority of our revenues are in U.S. Dollars and our costs are primarily in local currencies, including Indian Rupee and Mexican Peso. An appreciation of these local currencies against the U.S. Dollar would cause a net adverse impact to our profitability. Because our financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and revenues are primarily generated in U.S. dollars, any significant unhedged fluctuations in the currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the currencies of countries in which we incur costs in local currencies will affect our results of operations and financial statements. This may also affect the comparability of our financial results from period to period, as we convert our subsidiaries' statements of financial position into U.S. dollars from local currencies at the period-end exchange rate, and income and cash flow statements at average exchange rates for the year. For example, our functional currency is the Indian rupee for all Indian subsidiaries. Changes in the Indian rupee's exchange rate specifically can result in earnings volatility and potentially have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

### We may face difficulties and be subject to increased business and economic risks as we expand our operations into countries in which we have no prior operating experience which could impact our results of operations.

We expect to continue to expand our international operations in order to maintain an appropriate cost structure and meet our clients' needs, which may include opening sites in new jurisdictions and providing our services and solutions in additional languages. It may involve expanding into less developed countries, which may have less political, social or economic stability and less developed infrastructure and legal systems. As we expand our business into new countries, we may encounter economic, regulatory, personnel, technological and other difficulties that increase our expenses or delay our ability to start up our operations or become profitable in such countries. This may affect our relationships with our clients and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. In addition, our ability to manage our business and conduct our operations internationally requires considerable management attention and resources and is subject to the particular challenges of supporting a rapidly growing business in an environment of multiple languages, cultures, customs, legal and regulatory systems, and commercial markets. Operating internationally subjects us to new risks and may increase risks that we currently face.

# We may acquire other companies in pursuit of growth or may make dispositions or investments, any of which may divert our management's attention, result in dilution to our shareholders and consume resources that are necessary to sustain our business; and these efforts can be complex and subject to various risks, which may impact our ability to successfully integrate and realize the anticipated benefits.

As part of our business strategy, we regularly review potential strategic transactions, including potential acquisitions, dispositions, consolidations, joint ventures, investments or similar transactions. Negotiating these transactions can be time-consuming, difficult and expensive, and our ability to complete these transactions may be subject to conditions or approvals that are beyond our control, including anti-takeover and antitrust laws in various jurisdictions. Consequently, these transactions, even if undertaken and announced, may not close.



An acquisition, investment or new business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. In particular, we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies, services, products, personnel or operations of acquired companies. Moreover, the anticipated benefits of any merger, acquisition, investment or similar partnership may not be realized or we may be exposed to unknown liabilities, including litigation against the companies we may acquire, for example from failure to identify all of the significant risks or liabilities associated with the target business. These integration activities are complex and time-consuming, and we may encounter unexpected difficulties or incur unexpected costs. Any of these risks could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

#### We are dependent on members of our senior management team and other key employees.

Our future success heavily depends upon the continued services of our senior management team, particularly Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, our Chief Executive Officer, and other key employees. We currently do not maintain key man life insurance for any of the members of our senior management team or other key employees. We have employment agreements and consultancy contracts with our key employees. If one or more of our senior executives or key employees are unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, it could disrupt our business operations, and we may not be able to replace them easily, on a timely basis or at all. In addition, competition for senior executives and key employees in our industry is intense, and we may be unable to retain our senior executives and key employees, in which case our business may be severely disrupted. If any of our senior management team or key employees joins a competitor or forms a competing company, we may lose clients, suppliers, know-how and information technology professionals and staff members to them. Any non-competition, non-solicitation or non-disclosure agreements we have with our senior executives or key employees might not provide effective protection to us in light of legal uncertainties associated with the enforceability of such agreements.

#### Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

## We may fail to attract, hire, train and retain sufficient numbers of skilled employees in a timely fashion at our sites to support our operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our business relies on large numbers of trained and skilled employees at our sites, and our success depends to a significant extent on our ability to attract, hire, train and retain skilled employees. The outsourcing industry as well as the technology industry generally experience high employee turnover. Increased competition for skilled employees, in our industry or otherwise, particularly in tight labor markets, could have an adverse effect on our business. Additionally, a significant increase in the turnover rate among trained employees could increase our costs and decrease our operating profit margins and could have an adverse effect on our ability to complete existing contracts in a timely manner, meet client objectives and expand our business.

Our failure to attract, train and retain personnel with the experience and skills necessary to fulfil the needs of our existing and future clients or to assimilate new employees successfully into our operations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

In particular, competition for qualified employees, particularly in the United States, India and Mexico, remains high and we expect such competition to continue. In many locations in which we operate, there is a limited pool of employees who have the skills and training needed to do our work. If our business continues to grow, the number of people we will need to hire will increase. Significant competition for employees could have an adverse effect on our ability to expand our business and service our clients, as well as cause us to incur greater personnel expenses and training costs.

## Our failure to detect and deter criminal or fraudulent activities or other misconduct by our employees could result in loss of trust from our clients and negative publicity, which would have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Because we have access to our clients' sensitive and confidential information in the ordinary course of our business, our employees could engage in criminal, fraudulent or other conduct prohibited by applicable law, client contracts or internal policy. Remote and hybrid work arrangements for many of our employees reduces our ability to monitor employee conduct and has elevated the risk of our employees engaging in such conduct undetected by us. Although we terminate employees when our investigations establish misconduct and have implemented measures designed to identify and deter such misconduct, such as fraud prevention training, there can be no assurance that such measures will prevent or detect further employee misconduct. If our employees use their access to our and our clients' systems as a conduit for criminal activity or other misconduct, our clients and their customers may not consider our services and solutions safe and trustworthy, and we could receive negative press coverage or other public attention as a result. Such loss of trust and negative publicity could cause our existing clients to terminate or reduce the scope of their dealings with us and harm our ability to attract new clients, which would have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Further, we may be subject to claims of liability by our clients or their customers based on the misconduct or malfeasance of our employees, and our insurance policies may not cover all potential claims to which we are exposed or indemnify us for all liability.

# We may need additional capital, and a failure by us to raise additional capital on terms favorable to us, or at all, could limit our ability to grow our business or enhance our service offerings.

We may require additional cash resources due to changed business conditions or other future developments, including any investments or acquisitions we may decide to pursue. If these resources are insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity, debt or equity-linked securities, such as convertible debt, draw down on our credit facility or obtain another credit facility. The sale of additional equity or equity-linked securities could result in dilution to our shareholders. Any new equity or equity-linked securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our Class A ordinary shares. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased debt service obligations and could require us to agree to operating and financing covenants that would restrict our operations. If we seek to access additional capital or increase our borrowings, there can be no assurance that debt, equity or equity-linked financing may be available to us on favorable terms, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly impaired, and our business, results of operations and financial condition may be harmed.

### We have identified conditions and events that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

The shareholders' equity as at March 31, 2024 has a deficit of \$1.9 million. This may raise a substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date when these financial statements are available to be filed with the SEC. As a result of this, the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report have been prepared on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recovery of the recorded assets or the classification of the liabilities that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

We have historically financed our operations and expansions with cash generated from operations, a revolving credit facility from Kotak Mahindra Bank, and loans from related parties. As at March 31, 2024 we had a balance of \$2.1 million in cash and cash equivalents and also generated overall positive cash flow for the year ended March 31, 2024. While we expect to have sufficient cash from the operations, cash reserves and debt capacity for the next 12 months and for the foreseeable future to finance our operations, growth and expansion plans, our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon, among other things, successfully executing our mitigation plan, which includes, (i) raising additional funds from existing or new credit facilities, and (ii) raising funds through our existing Forward Purchase Agreements ("FPAs") or private placements. We have undertaken several initiatives, including conducting a private placement of our Class A ordinary shares in April 2024 raising approximately \$5 million in gross proceeds. Additionally, we are in ongoing negotiations with relevant parties to potentially restructure certain of our current liabilities into equity or long-term liabilities. There is no guarantee that these measures will achieve the desired objectives, and there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional funding on acceptable terms, if at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital through future equity offerings, the ownership interest of existing shareholders will be diluted, which may be significant. We cannot guarantee that sufficient additional funding will be available or that such funding, if obtained, will be on terms satisfactory to us. If we are unable to continue as a going concern, we may liquidate our assets and may receive less than the value at which those assets are carried on our audited financial statements, and it is likely that investors will lose all or a part of their investment. It is possible that future SEC reports we may file may contain statements expressing doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. If we seek additional financing to fund our business activities in the future and there remains uncertainty about our ability to continue as a going concern, investors or other financing sources may be unwilling to provide funding to us on commercially favorable terms, if at all.

#### Our operating results may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to various factors.

Our operating results may vary significantly from one quarter to the next and our business may be impacted by factors such as client loss, the timing of new contracts and of new service or solution offerings, termination of existing contracts, variations in the volume of business from clients resulting from changes in our clients' operations, the business decisions of our clients regarding the use of our solutions, start-up costs, delays or difficulties in expanding our operating sites and infrastructure, delays or difficulties in recruiting, changes to our revenue mix or to our pricing structure or that of our competitors, inaccurate estimates of resources and time required to complete ongoing projects, currency fluctuation and seasonal changes in the operations of our clients. The financial benefit of gaining a new client may not be recognized at the intended time due to delays in the implementation of our solutions or negatively impacted due to an increase in the start-up costs. These factors may cause differences in revenues and income among the various quarters of any financial year, which means that the individual guarters of a year may not be predictive of our financial results in any other period.

### Our cash flows and results of operations have been and may continue to be adversely affected if we are unable to collect on billed and unbilled receivables from clients, particularly in our newly expanded markets such as the Middle East and APAC region.

Our business depends on our ability to effectively invoice and successfully obtain payment from our clients for the amounts they owe us for the work performed. Despite our evaluation of the financial condition of our clients, actual losses on client receivables could differ from those that we currently anticipate and, as a result, we may need to adjust our provisions. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, our total account receivables increased from approximately \$13.4 million to approximately \$23.7 million. This rise in receivables has heightened the risk of non-collection, leading us to record an allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately \$1.3 million, compared to nil in the previous year. The increase in allowance reflects our assessment of the collectability of receivables, especially in newly entered markets where payment behaviors are less predictable.

Macroeconomic conditions may limit access to the credit markets for our clients, resulting in financial difficulties for them which may result in their insolvency or bankruptcy. During weak economic periods, there is an increased risk that our clients will file for bankruptcy protection, which may harm our revenue, profitability, and results of operations. We also face risks from international clients that file for bankruptcy protection in foreign jurisdictions, particularly given that the application of foreign bankruptcy laws may be more difficult to predict. In addition, we may determine that the cost of pursuing any creditor claim outweighs the recovery potential of such claim. Therefore, we might experience delays in the collection of our client receivables, which would adversely affect our results of operations.

The risk of not being able to collect on our receivables has been heightened as we expand into new international markets, due to variations in legal frameworks, regulatory systems, and enforcement procedures. This uncertainty can be exacerbated by cultural differences and varying business practices, which can affect negotiations, communications, and dispute resolution. In certain regions, such as the Middle East and APAC region, where we have seen higher receivable balances, these challenges are amplified, making collections more difficult and protracted.

We are taking additional measures to collect all of our existing accounts receivables in the international markets. If we are unable to effectively collect receivables, particularly in our newly expanded international markets, our cash flow and financial condition may continue to be adversely affected.

### We may be required to make a cash payment or issue additional Class A ordinary shares in respect of approximately 4 million Class A ordinary shares to the investors with whom we entered into Forward Purchase Agreements in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, which would reduce the amount of cash available to us to fund our operations or dilute the percentage ownership held by the investors.

On and around November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, we entered into Forward Purchase Agreements (the "Forward Purchase Agreements" or "FPA") with certain investors (the "FPA holders"), pursuant to which we agreed to make a cash payment in respect of up to approximately 4 million Class A ordinary shares then held by the FPA holders (subject to certain conditions set forth in the Forward Purchase Agreements) (the "FPA Shares"), at the end of the contract period of one year (the "Maturity Date"). Pursuant to the terms of the Forward Purchase Agreements, each FPA holder further agreed not to redeem any of our Class A ordinary shares owned by it at such time.

If the FPA holders hold some or all of the approximately 4 million Forward Purchase Agreement shares on the Maturity Date, then we will be required to make a cash payment of \$2.00 per FPA Share then held, or issue additional Class A ordinary shares to such FPA holders at a price of \$2.50 per share. If we are required to make any such payments, the amount of cash on hand to fund our operations would be reduced accordingly, which could adversely affect our ability to make necessary investments, and, therefore, could affect our results of operations. If we are required to issue additional Class A ordinary shares in respect of the FPA Shares, the ownership percentage held by our investors will be diluted.

### Our sites operate on leasehold property, and our inability to renew our leases on commercially acceptable terms or at all may adversely affect our results of operations.

Our sites operate on leasehold property. Our leases are subject to renewal and we may be unable to renew such leases on commercially acceptable terms or at all, which may have an adverse impact on our operations. In addition, in the event of non-renewal of our leases, we may be unable to locate suitable replacement properties for our sites or we may experience delays in relocation that could lead to a disruption in our operations.

#### We have significant fixed costs related to lease facilities.

We have made and continue to make significant contractual commitments related to our leased facilities. These expenses will have a significant impact on our fixed costs, and if we are unable to grow our business and revenue proportionately, our operating results may be negatively affected.

### Our business is dependent on key clients, and the loss of a key client could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from a small number of key clients who generally retain us across multiple service offerings. Our top five clients accounted for 49.8% and 63.8% of our revenue for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024, and March 31, 2023, respectively. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, we had four clients, each contributing more than 10% of our revenue, which were 16%, 16%, 12% and 11% respectively. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, we had two clients, each contributing more than 10% of our revenue, which were 14% and 12% respectively. The loss of all or a portion of our business with, or the failure to retain a significant amount of business with, any of our key clients could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our ability to maintain, increase and collect revenue from our top clients depends in part on the financial condition of those clients. Further, our reliance on any individual client for a significant portion of our revenue may give that client a certain degree of pricing leverage against us when negotiating contracts and terms of service and solutions.

# We have and may continue to experience a long selling and implementation cycle with respect to certain projects that require us to make significant resource commitments prior to realizing revenue for our services.

Before committing to use our services, potential clients may require us to expend substantial time and resources educating them on the value of our services and our ability to meet their requirements. Therefore, our selling cycle is subject to many risks and delays over which we have little or no control, including our clients' decision to choose alternatives to our services. Our current and future clients may not be willing or able to invest the time and resources necessary to implement our services, and we may fail to close sales with potential clients to which we have devoted significant time and resources. If our sales cycle unexpectedly lengthens for one or more projects, it would negatively affect the timing of our revenue and hinder our revenue growth.

### Pricing pressure may reduce our revenue or gross profits and adversely affect our financial results.

The prices for our services and solutions may decline for a variety of reasons, including pricing pressures from our competitors, pricing leverage from clients, anticipation of the introduction of new solutions by our competitors, or promotional programs offered by us or our competitors. We may face increased pricing pressure from our key clients as we grow the existing services and solutions we provide to our key clients or expand our business with them by cross-selling new services and solutions. In addition, competition continues to increase in the markets in which we operate, and we expect competition to further increase in the future. If we are unable to maintain our pricing due to competitive pressures or other factors, our margins will be reduced and our gross profits, business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

## Although we have executed auto-renewal contracts with our clients, they have the right to terminate the same, potentially leading to significant revenue loss that may not be easily replaced, and our client contracts may contain restrictive provisions that limit our operational flexibility.

Although we have executed auto-renewal service agreements with our clients, the clients may choose to terminate or not renew such agreements. In the event our clients terminate the agreements without cause or not renew the agreement, adequate notice period (ranging from 90 days to 180 days as negotiated) needs to be provided by the client. Additionally, a termination fee component (based on commercial margin) is payable by the clients in the event of such termination without cause or non-renewal. However, despite the notice period and termination fee, early terminations or non-renewals could still negatively impact our revenue streams, especially if a significant client is involved. The sudden loss of a major client could create a revenue gap that may be difficult to fill in the short term, leading to reduced cash flow and profitability. These agreements often form the basis of our recurring revenue, and any disruption could affect our ability to forecast revenue and meet financial projections.

Our ability to maintain continuing relationships with our major clients and successfully obtain payment for our services and solutions is essential to the growth and profitability of our business. The termination or non-renewal of agreements could negatively affect our financial condition and may require increased investments in client acquisition, raising marketing and operational costs. A significant reduction in revenue from terminated contracts could also limit our ability to invest in innovation and expansion, potentially hindering our growth.

Additionally, certain of our client contracts contain provisions that restrict us from utilizing personnel assigned to one client for other clients. These restrictions could limit our operational flexibility and ability to optimize resource allocation, potentially impacting our efficiency and scalability. Additionally, breaches of these provisions could result in contractual penalties, legal liabilities, and reputational damage.

#### The consolidation or corporate actions of our clients may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our clients may engage in certain corporate actions such as potential mergers, consolidations, divestment, disposal of assets or joint ventures or similar transactions, some of which may be material. Any of these client actions may result into change of ownership of our clients, potentially leading to the termination of our services. This could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

#### Some of our client contracts could be unprofitable, which could adversely impact our business.

We perform our services primarily under cost plus and time-and-materials contracts (where materials costs consist of travel and other indirect expenses). We charge out the services performed by our employees under these contracts at monthly rates that are agreed at the time at which the contract is entered. The rates and other pricing terms negotiated with our clients are highly dependent on our internal forecasts of our operating costs and predictions of increases in those costs influenced by wage inflation and other marketplace factors, as well as the volume of work provided by the client. Our predictions are based on limited data and could turn out to be inaccurate, resulting in contracts that may not be profitable.

In addition to our cost plus and time-and-materials contracts, we undertake some engagements on a fixed-price basis and also provide managed services in certain cases. Moreover, some of our client contracts do not have minimum volume requirements, and the profitability of each client contract or work order may fluctuate, sometimes significantly, throughout various stages of the program.



# If our current insurance coverage is or becomes insufficient to protect against losses incurred, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We provide services and solutions that are integral to our clients' businesses. If we were to default in the provision of any contractually agreedupon services or solutions, our clients could suffer significant damages and make claims against us for those damages. Any defects or errors or failure to meet clients' expectations in the performance of our contracts could result in claims for substantial damages against us. Our contracts generally limit our liability for damages that arise from negligent acts, error, mistakes or omissions in rendering services to our clients. However, we cannot be sure that these contractual provisions will protect us from liability for damages in the event we are sued. In addition, certain liabilities, such as claims of third parties for intellectual property infringement and breaches of data protection and security requirements, for which we may be required to indemnify our clients, could be substantial. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us in amounts greater than those covered by our current insurance policies could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We currently carry cyber and errors and omissions liability coverage in an amount we consider appropriate for all of the services we provide. To the extent client damages are deemed recoverable against us in amounts substantially in excess of our insurance coverage, or if our claims for insurance coverage are denied by our insurance carriers, there could be a material adverse effect on our revenue, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Although we maintain professional liability insurance, commercial general and property insurance, business interruption insurance, workers' compensation coverage, and umbrella insurance for certain of our operations, along with other insurances we consider applicable to our business operations, our insurance coverage does not insure against all risks in our operations or all claims we may receive. Damage claims from clients or third parties brought against us or claims that we initiate due to a data security breach, the disruption of our business, litigation, or natural disasters, may not be covered by our insurance, may exceed the limits of our insurance coverage, and may result in substantial costs and diversion of resources even if insured. Some types of insurance are not available on reasonable terms or at all in some countries in which we operate, and we cannot insure against damage to our reputation. The assertion of one or more large claims against us, whether or not successful and whether or not insured, could materially adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

### Global economic and political conditions could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Our results of operations may vary based on the impact of changes in the global economy and political environment on us and our clients. The technology services industry is particularly sensitive to the economic environment and tends to decline during general economic downturns. Unfavorable economic conditions would adversely affect the demand for some of our clients' products and services and therefore could cause a decline in the demand for our services and solutions. Our business growth largely depends on continued demand for our services and solutions from clients in the U.S. and other countries that we may target in the future. In addition, our clients may be particularly susceptible to economic downturns. If the U.S. economy further weakens or slows, or a negative or an uncertain political climate persists, whether due to inflation, interest rates, global conflict, a pandemic, or otherwise, pricing for our services and solutions may be depressed and our clients may reduce or postpone their spending significantly. Lower demand for our services and solutions and price pressure from our clients could negatively affect our revenues and profitability.

# Natural events, health pandemics or epidemics and other acts of violence involving any of the countries in which we or our clients have operations could adversely affect our operations.

Natural events (such as floods, tsunamis and earthquakes), health pandemics or epidemics, wars, widespread civil unrest, terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, such as the invasion of Ukraine by Russia or the Israel-Hamas war, could result in significant disruptions to our business. In particular, the escalation of the Israel-Hamas war may affect areas where we currently operate or expect to conduct business, creating additional risks for our operations and clients. Such events could adversely affect global economies, worldwide financial markets and our clients' levels of business activity and could potentially lead to economic recession, which could impact our clients' purchasing decisions and reduce demand for our services and solutions and, consequently, adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Any disaster or series of disasters, particularly in areas where we have a concentration of sites, such as India or Mexico, could significantly disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.



#### Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property, Technology Solutions, Software Usage and Cyber Security

# If we do not continue to innovate and remain at the forefront of emerging technologies and related market trends, we may lose clients and not remain competitive.

Our success depends on delivering innovative solutions that leverage emerging technologies and emerging market trends to drive increased revenue. Technological advances and innovation are constant in the technology services industry. As a result, we must continue to invest significant resources to stay abreast of technology developments so that we may continue to deliver solutions that our clients will wish to purchase. If we are unable to anticipate technology developments, enhance our existing services and solutions or develop and introduce new services and solutions to keep pace with such changes and meet changing client needs, we may lose clients and our revenue and results of operations could suffer. Our efforts to develop new products and platforms to enhance our services and solutions may incur substantial costs and may not be successful. Our competitors may be able to offer professional and management services and technology consultancy that are, or that are perceived to be, substantially similar or better than those we offer. This may force us to reduce our rates and to expend significant resources in order to remain competitive, which we may be unable to do profitably or at all. Because many of our clients and potential clients regularly contract with other professional and management services and technology consultancy providers, these competitive pressures may be more acute than in other industries.

### In order to offer innovative services and solutions, we may incur capital expenditures in service development, technology and communications infrastructure, which may not necessarily maintain our competitiveness.

In order to offer innovative services and solutions, we anticipate that it will be necessary to continue to invest in service development, technology and communications infrastructure to ensure reliability and maintain our competitiveness. This is likely to result in capital expenditures for maintenance as well as growth as we continue to grow our business. There can be no assurance that any of our information systems will be adequate to meet the emerging market or the client's future needs or that we will be able to incorporate new technology to enhance and develop our existing solutions. Moreover, investments in technology, including future investments in upgrades and enhancements to hardware or software, may not necessarily maintain our competitiveness. Our future success will also depend in part on our ability to anticipate and develop information technology solutions that keep pace with evolving industry standards and changing client demands.

#### AI and generative AI applications present risks and challenges that can impact our business.

While we integrate AI into our solutions to enhance efficiency and effectiveness, rapid advancements in AI technologies pose a risk. These advancements may enable AI to match or surpass the benefits offered by our current AI-integrated services, potentially proving more cost-effective and capable of automating complex tasks and improving decision-making. The emergence of alternative technologies, including AI innovations from competitors, could present superior performance or innovative features that attract clients away from our offerings. Such developments could significantly impact our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results unpredictably. Our efforts to adapt to changes in AI technology may not prove adequate to maintain our competitive position.

Furthermore, issues in the use of AI, combined with an uncertain regulatory environment, may result in reputational harm, liability, or other adverse consequences to our business operations. As with many technological innovations, AI and generative AI present risks and challenges that could impact our business. In addition to our own use of AI and generative AI, our vendors may integrate these tools into their offerings without adequate disclosure to us. Providers of these tools may not be able to comply with existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards for privacy and data protection, potentially impairing our or our vendors' ability to maintain satisfactory service levels and customer experiences. If we, our vendors or third-party partners experience an actual or perceived breach or privacy or security incident involving AI or generative AI, it could lead to the loss of valuable intellectual property and confidential information. Such incidents could also harm our reputation and public perception of our security measures. Moreover, malicious actors worldwide increasingly employ sophisticated AI techniques to illegally obtain and misuse personal information, confidential data, and intellectual property. Any of these scenarios could result in reputational damage, loss of valuable assets, and adverse impacts on our business.



#### Our business relies heavily on owned and third-party technology and computer systems, which subjects us to various uncertainties.

We rely heavily on sophisticated and specialized communications and computer technology coupled with third-party telecommunications and bandwidth providers to provide high-quality and reliable real-time solutions. We also rely on the data services provided by local communication companies in the countries in which we operate. Our operations, therefore, depend on the proper functioning of our and third parties' equipment and systems, including hardware and software.

Any disruptions in the delivery of our services due to the failure of our systems, hardware or software, whether provided and maintained by third parties or our in-house teams, or due to interruptions in our data services or those of third parties that adversely affect the quality or reliability (or perceived quality or reliability) of our solutions, may result in reduction in revenue. These types of interruptions or failures could also adversely impact our timekeeping, scheduling, and workforce management applications. The occurrence of any such interruption or unplanned investment could materially adversely affect our business, financial positions, operating results and prospects.

We may have inadequate insurance coverage or insurance limits to compensate for losses from a major interruption, and remediation may be costly and have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. Any extended interruption or degradation in our technologies or systems could significantly curtail our ability to conduct our business and generate revenue.

# Others could claim that we infringe, violate, or misappropriate their intellectual property rights, which may result in substantial costs, diversion of resources and management attention and harm to our reputation.

We may be subject to claims that our services and solutions infringe, misappropriate, or violate the intellectual property rights of third parties. Any such claims, whether or not they have merit or are successful, may result in substantial costs, divert management attention and other resources, harm our reputation and prevent us from offering our solutions to clients. In our contracts, we agree to indemnify our clients for expenses and liabilities resulting from third parties claiming our solutions infringe, misappropriate, or violate their intellectual property rights. In some instances, the amount of these indemnity obligations may be greater than the revenues we receive from the client under the applicable contract. A successful infringement claim against us could materially and adversely affect our business.

We also license software from third parties. Other parties may claim that our use of such licensed software infringes their intellectual property rights. Although we seek to secure indemnification protection from our software vendors to protect us against such claims, it is possible that such vendors may not honor those obligations or that we may have a costly dispute.

## If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary information in the United States and abroad, our competitive position could be impaired and we may lose valuable assets, experience reduced revenues and incur costly litigation to protect our rights.

We believe that our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our intellectual property rights and proprietary information, including trade secrets. We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including trademarks, copyright, trade secrets, contractual restrictions and technical measures to establish and protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary information. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary information. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary information may provide only limited protection and may not now or in the future provide us with a competitive advantage. Furthermore, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our technology and use information that we regard as proprietary to create products and services that compete with our solutions, which may cause us to lose market share or render us unable to operate our business profitably.

We enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and enter into confidentiality agreements with our directors, advisory board members and with the parties with whom we have strategic relationships and business alliances, as well as our clients. We also enter into confidentiality agreements with third parties that receive access to our proprietary or confidential information. No assurance can be given that these agreements will be effective in controlling access to or the distribution of our proprietary information. Further, these agreements will not prevent potential competitors from independently developing technologies that may be substantially equivalent or superior to ours. We may not be successful in defending against any claim by our current or former employees or independent contractors challenging our exclusive rights over the use of works those employees or independent contractors created, or their requesting additional compensation for our use of such works.

While our contracts with our clients provide that we retain the ownership rights to our pre-existing proprietary intellectual property, in some cases we may assign to clients intellectual property rights in and to some aspects of the work product developed specifically for these clients in connection with these projects. If we assign intellectual property rights to clients that may be more broadly useful in our business, that would limit or prevent our ability to use such intellectual property rights in our solutions.

We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, including to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation could be costly, time consuming and distracting to management. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation that we may enter into to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights, could make it more expensive for us to do business and adversely affect our operating results by delaying further sales or the implementation of our technologies, impairing the functionality of our solutions, delaying introductions of new features or applications or injuring our reputation.

### Our solutions use open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more applicable open source licenses could adversely affect our business, subject us to litigation, and create potential liability.

Some of our solutions use software made available under open source licenses, and we expect to continue to incorporate open source software in our solutions in the future. Open source software is typically freely available, but is licensed under various requirements that bind the licensee. While the use of open source software may reduce development costs and speed up the development process, it may also present certain risks, that may be greater than those associated with the use of third-party commercial software. We cannot guarantee we comply with all obligations under these licenses. Any non-compliance claim by the owner of the copyright could require us to incur significant expenses defending against such allegations, may be subject to the payment of damages, enjoined from further use of the software, require us to comply with conditions of the license (which may include releasing the source code of our proprietary software to third parties without charge), or force us to devote additional resources to re-engineer all or a portion of our solutions to avoid using the open source software. Any of these events could create liability for us, damage our reputation, and have an adverse effect on our revenue, and operations.

# We use third-party software, hardware and SaaS technologies from third parties that may be difficult to replace or that may cause errors or defects in, or failures of, the services or solutions we provide.

We rely on software and hardware from various third parties to deliver our services and solutions, as well as hosted SaaS applications from third parties. If any of these software, hardware or SaaS applications become unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms, it could result in delays in the provisioning of our services until equivalent technology is either developed or obtained and integrated, which could increase our expenses or otherwise harm our business. In addition, any errors or defects in or failures of this third-party software, hardware or SaaS applications could result in errors or defects in or failures of our services and solutions, which could harm our business and be costly to correct.

# Unauthorized or improper disclosure of personal or other sensitive information, or security breaches and incidents, could result in liability and harm our reputation, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Our clients provide data and systems that our employees use to provide services to those clients. Internal or external attacks on either our or our clients' technology infrastructure, data, equipment, or systems could disrupt the normal operations of our and our clients' businesses. While we believe we take reasonable measures to protect the security of, and against unauthorized or other improper access to, our technology infrastructure, data, equipment, and systems, including with respect to personal and proprietary information, it is possible that our security controls and practices may not prevent unauthorized or other improper access to our infrastructure and underlying personal or proprietary information. In addition, we rely on systems provided by third parties, which may also suffer security breaches or incidents. Any unauthorized access, acquisition, use, or destruction of data we collect, store, process or transmit could expose us to significant liability under our contracts, as well as to regulatory actions, litigation, investigations, remediation obligations, and reputational damage, which could adversely affect our business.

#### **Risks Related to Regulation, Legislation and Legal Proceedings**

### Changes in laws and regulations related to the Internet or the Internet infrastructure may diminish the demand for our services, and could have a negative impact on our business.

The future success of our business depends upon the continued use of the Internet as a primary medium for commerce, communication and business applications. Federal, state or foreign government bodies or agencies have in the past adopted, and may in the future adopt, laws or regulations affecting the use of the Internet as a commercial medium. Changes in these laws or regulations could adversely affect the demand for our services or require us to modify our solutions in order to comply with these changes. In addition, government agencies or private organizations may begin to impose taxes, fees or other charges for accessing the Internet or commerce conducted via the Internet. These laws or charges could limit the growth of internet-related commerce or communications generally, resulting in reductions in the dewald for technology services such as ours. In addition, the use of the Internet as a business tool could be adversely affected due to delays in the development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands of Internet activity, security, reliability, cost, ease of use, accessibility, and quality of service. The performance of the Internet and its acceptance as a business tool have been adversely affected by "ransomware," "viruses," "worms," "malware," "phishing attacks," "data breaches" and similar malicious programs, behavior and events. If the use of the Internet is adversely affected by these or any other issues, demand for our services and solutions could suffer.

#### Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. federal and state as well as foreign laws and regulations, including those regarding privacy, data protection and data security, and we or our clients may be subject to regulations related to the handling and transfer of certain types of personal data as well as sensitive and confidential information. Any failure to comply with applicable privacy and data security laws and regulations could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We and our clients are subject to privacy, data protection and data security-related laws and regulations that impose obligations in connection with the collection, use, storage, transfer, dissemination, security, and/or other processing of personal information. Such privacy, data protection and information security-related laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations, and may be inconsistent among countries and jurisdictions in which we operate, or conflict with other rules.

In the United States, a number of other states have passed comprehensive new privacy laws and other jurisdictions have proposed new laws that would impose privacy and data security obligations. Such proposed legislation, if enacted, may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of resources in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in business practices and policies. The existence of privacy and security laws in different states may make our compliance obligations more complex and costly and may increase the likelihood that we may be subject to enforcement actions or otherwise incur liability for noncompliance. In addition, many countries outside of the United States have enacted comprehensive privacy and data protection laws and other jurisdictions are considering such laws.



Globally, governments and agencies have adopted and could in the future adopt, modify, apply or enforce laws, policies, regulations, and standards covering user privacy and data security. New regulation or legislative actions regarding data privacy and security (together with applicable industry standards) may increase the costs of doing business and could have a material adverse impact on our operations and cash flows. We expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations and industry standards relating to privacy, data protection, marketing, consumer communications and information security in the United States, the European Union and other jurisdictions, and we cannot determine the impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business. Future laws, regulations, standards and other obligations or any changed interpretation of existing laws or regulations could impair our ability to develop and market new services and maintain and grow our client base and increase revenue.

Compliance with U.S. and foreign privacy, data protection and data security laws and regulations is a rigorous and time-intensive process and could require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contracts, restrict our ability to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cases, impact our ability to operate in certain jurisdictions. If our privacy or data security measures fail to comply with current or future laws, regulations, policies, legal obligations or industry standards, we may be subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, fines or other liabilities, as well as negative publicity and a potential loss of business. Any failure or perceived failure (including as a result of deficiencies in our policies, procedures, or measures relating to privacy, data protection, marketing, or client communications) by us to comply with laws, regulations, policies, legal or contractual obligations, industry standards, or regulatory guidance relating to privacy or data security, may result in governmental investigations and enforcement actions, litigation, fines and penalties or adverse publicity, and could cause our clients and partners to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business.

# We are subject to laws and regulations in the United States and other countries in which we operate, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA") and other anti-corruption laws, as well as export control laws, import and customs laws, trade and economic sanctions laws. Compliance with these laws requires significant resources and non-compliance may result in civil or criminal penalties and other remedial measures.

Our operations are subject to anti-corruption laws, the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. §201, the U.S. Travel Act, and other anti-corruption laws that apply in countries where we do business. The FCPA and these other laws generally prohibit us and our employees and intermediaries from authorizing, promising, offering, or providing, directly or indirectly, improper or prohibited payments, or anything else of value, to government officials or other persons to obtain or retain business or gain some other business advantage. We may also be liable for failing to prevent a person associated with us from committing a bribery offense. We operate in a number of jurisdictions that pose a high risk of potential FCPA violations. In addition, we cannot predict the nature, scope or effect of future regulatory requirements to which our international operations might be subject or the manner in which existing laws might be administered or interpreted.

We are also subject to other laws and regulations governing our international operations, including regulations administered by the governments of the United States, applicable export control regulations, economic sanctions and embargoes on certain countries and persons, anti-money laundering laws, import and customs requirements and currency exchange regulations, collectively referred to as the trade control laws. We may not be completely effective in ensuring our compliance with all such applicable laws, which could result in our being subject to criminal and civil penalties, disgorgement and other sanctions and remedial measures, and legal expenses. Likewise, any investigation of any potential violations of such laws by United States or other countries' authorities could also have an adverse impact on our reputation, our business, results of operations and financial condition.

#### Litigation or legal proceedings could expose us to significant liabilities and have a negative impact on our reputation or business.

From time to time, we have been and may be party to various claims and litigation proceedings, including class actions. Although we are not currently party to any litigation that we consider material, actual outcomes or losses may differ materially from our assessments and estimates.

Even when these claims are not meritorious, defending these claims may divert our management's attention, and may result in significant expenses. The results of litigation and other legal proceedings are inherently uncertain, and adverse judgments may result in adverse monetary damages, penalties or injunctive relief against us, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position. Any claims or litigation, even if fully indemnified or insured, could damage our reputation and make it more difficult to compete effectively or to obtain adequate insurance in the future.

#### We may be subject to liability claims if we breach our contracts and our insurance may be inadequate to cover our losses.

We are subject to numerous obligations in our contracts with our clients. Despite the procedures, systems and internal controls we have implemented to comply with our contracts, we may breach these commitments, whether through a weakness in these procedures, systems and internal controls, negligence or the willful misconduct of an employee or contractor. While we maintain insurance for certain potential liabilities, such insurance does not cover all types and amounts of potential liabilities and is subject to various exclusions as well as caps on amounts recoverable. Even if we believe a claim is covered by insurance, insurers may dispute our entitlement to recovery for a variety of potential reasons, which may affect the timing and, if the insurers prevail, the amount of our recovery. Further, our insurance may not cover all claims made against us and defending a suit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management's attention. In addition, such insurance may not be available to us in the future on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

# From time to time, some of our employees spend significant amounts of time at our clients' sites, often in foreign jurisdictions, which exposes us to certain risks.

Some of our projects require a portion of the work to be undertaken at our clients' facilities, which are often located outside of our employees' country of residence. The ability of our employees to work in locations around the world may depend on their ability to obtain the required visas and work permits, and this process can be lengthy and difficult. Immigration laws are subject to legislative change, as well as to variations in standards of application and enforcement due to political forces, economic conditions and international travel, which may be adversely affected by regional or global circumstances or travel restrictions also affects our employees' ability to work in foreign jurisdictions. In addition, we may become subject to taxation in jurisdictions where we would not otherwise be so subject as a result of the amount of time that our employees spend in any such jurisdiction in any given year. There can be no assurance that we will successfully monitor and comply with the various local requirements in the jurisdictions where our employees may be located in.

# Our business operations and financial condition could be adversely affected by negative publicity about offshore outsourcing or anti-outsourcing legislation in the countries in which our clients operate.

Concerns that offshore outsourcing has resulted in a loss of jobs and sensitive technologies and information to foreign countries have led to negative publicity concerning outsourcing in some countries and may lead to anti-outsourcing legislation. Current or prospective clients may elect to perform in-house services that we offer, or may be discouraged from transferring these services to offshore providers. As a result, our ability to compete effectively with competitors that operate primarily out of facilities located inside these countries could be harmed.



# Because we are incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, you may face difficulties in protecting your interests, and your ability to protect your rights through the U.S. Federal courts may be limited.

We are an exempted company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands and many of our directors and executive officers reside outside the United States. A substantial portion of our assets and the assets of many of these persons are also located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon us, or our directors or officers, or enforce judgments obtained in the United States courts against us, or our directors or officers, including judgments predicated solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our memorandum and articles of association, the Companies Act (as the same may be supplemented or amended from time to time) and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take action against the directors, actions by minority shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors to us under Cayman Islands law are to a large extent governed by the common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as from English common law, the decisions of whose courts are of persuasive authority, but are not binding on a court in the Cayman Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands law are different from what they would be under statutes or judicial precedent in some jurisdictions in the United States. In particular, the Cayman Islands has a different body of securities laws as compared to the United States, such as Delaware, may have more fulsome and judicially interpreted bodies of corporate law. In addition, Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to initiate a shareholders derivative action in a Federal court of the United States.

We have been advised by our Cayman Islands legal counsel that the courts of the Cayman Islands are unlikely (1) to recognize or enforce against us judgments of courts of the United States predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or any state; and (2) in original actions brought in the Cayman Islands, to impose liabilities against us predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or any state, so far as the liabilities imposed by those provisions are penal in nature. In those circumstances, although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the United States, the courts of the Cayman Islands will recognize and enforce a foreign money judgment of a foreign court of competent jurisdiction without retrial on the merits based on the principle that a judgment of a competent foreign judgment to be enforced in the Cayman Islands, such judgment must be final and conclusive and for a liquidated sum, and must not be in respect of taxes or a fine or penalty, inconsistent with a Cayman Islands judgment in respect of the same matter, impeachable on the grounds of fraud or obtained in a manner, or be of a kind the enforcement of which is, contrary to natural justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands (awards of punitive or multiple damages may well be held to be contrary to public policy). A Cayman Islands Court may stay enforcement proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought elsewhere.

As a result of all of the above, public shareholders may have more difficulty in protecting their interests in the face of actions taken by management, members of the board of directors or controlling shareholders than they would as public shareholders of a United States company.

# Changes and uncertainties in the tax system in the countries in which we have operations, could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions. Our consolidated effective income tax rate could be materially adversely affected by several factors, including: changing tax laws, regulations and treaties, or the interpretation thereof; tax policy initiatives and reforms under consideration; the practices of tax authorities in jurisdictions in which we operate; and the resolution of issues arising from tax audits or examinations and any related interest or penalties. Such changes may include (but are not limited to) the taxation of operating income, investment income, dividends received or (in the specific context of withholding tax) dividends paid.

We are unable to predict what tax reforms may be proposed or enacted in the future or what effect such changes would have on our business, but such changes, to the extent they are brought into tax legislation, regulations, policies or practices in jurisdictions in which we operate, could increase the estimated tax liability that we have expensed to date and paid or accrued on our balance sheets, and otherwise affect our financial position, future results of operations, cash flows in a particular period and overall or effective tax rates in the future in countries where we have operations, reduce post-tax returns to our shareholders and increase the complexity, burden and cost of tax compliance.

## Tax authorities may disagree with our historical and future tax positions and conclusions regarding certain tax positions, or may apply existing rules in an arbitrary or unforeseen manner, resulting in unanticipated costs, taxes or non-realization of expected benefits.

We conduct business globally and file income tax returns in multiple jurisdictions. Consequently, we are subject to tax laws, treaties, and regulations in the countries in which we operate, and these laws and treaties are subject to interpretation. We have taken, and will continue to take, tax positions based on our interpretation of such tax laws. However, tax authorities may disagree with certain tax positions we have taken, which could result in increased tax liabilities. Similarly, a tax authority could assert that we are subject to tax in a jurisdiction where we believe we have not established a taxable connection, which assertion, if successful, could increase our expected tax liability in one or more jurisdictions. If we are assessed with additional taxes, this may result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Contesting tax assessments by applicable taxing authorities may be lengthy and costly and if we were unsuccessful in disputing such assessments, if applicable, the implications could increase our anticipated effective tax rate, where applicable, or result in other liabilities.

## We believe that we were a passive foreign investment company ("PFIC") for prior taxable years and we may be a PFIC in future taxable years, which could result in adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders.

Under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), we will be a PFIC, for any taxable year in which (i) 75% or more of our gross income consists of passive income or (ii) 50% or more of the average quarterly value of our assets consists of assets that produce, or are held for the production of, passive income. For the purposes of these tests, passive income includes dividends, interest, gains from the sale or exchange of investment property and certain rents and royalties. In addition, for purposes of the above calculations, a non-U.S. corporation that directly or indirectly owns at least 25% by value of the shares of another corporation is treated as holding and receiving directly its proportionate share of assets and income of such corporation. If we are a PFIC for any taxable year (or portion thereof) that is included in the holding period of a U.S. Holder (as defined below), then such U.S. Holder may be subject to adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences and additional reporting requirements. A "U.S. Holder" is a holder that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is a beneficial owner of Class A ordinary shares or warrants and that is: (1) an individual citizen or resident of the United States; (2) a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) that is created or organized (or treated as created or organized) in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia; (3) an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or (4) a trust if either (A) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust, or (B) the trust has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a "United States person" (as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code, a "U.S. person").

Due to the nature of our business prior to the Business Combination and the timing of the Business Combination, we believe that we were a PFIC in prior taxable years. However, based on the nature of our business after the Business Combination, our financial statements, and our expectations about the nature and amount of our income, assets and activities following the Business Combination, we do not expect to be a PFIC for our taxable year ending March 31, 2025. Our actual PFIC status for any taxable year, however, will not be determinable until after the end of such taxable year and the determination of whether we are a PFIC is a fact-intensive determination applying principles and methodologies that in some circumstances are unclear and subject to varying interpretation. Accordingly, there can be no assurances with respect to our status as a PFIC for our current taxable year or any subsequent taxable year. Moreover, if we determine we are a PFIC for any taxable year, we will endeavor to provide to a U.S. Holder such information as the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") may require, including a PFIC Annual Information Statement in order to enable the U.S. Holder to make and maintain a "qualified electing fund" election, but there can be no assurance that we will timely provide such required information, and such election would likely be unavailable with respect to our warrants in all cases. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers regarding the possible application of the PFIC rules.

# The IRS or the Income Tax Department, Department of Revenue, Ministry of Finance, Government of India, including without limitation, any court, tribunal or other authority, in each case that is competent to impose or adjudicate tax in the Republic of India (the "Indian Taxation Authority") may disagree regarding the tax treatment of the Business Combination and the other transactions that were undertaken in connection with the Business Combination, which could have a material adverse effect on the market price of our Class A ordinary shares.

Neither we nor any of AARK or ATG intends to or has sought any rulings from the IRS or the Indian Tax Authority regarding the tax consequences of the Business Combination and the other transactions that were undertaken in connection with the Business Combination. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the IRS or Indian Tax Authority will not assert, or that a court of competent jurisdiction will not sustain, a position contrary to the intended tax treatment. Any such determination could subject our shareholders to adverse tax consequences that would be different from those described in the proxy statement contained in the registration statement on Form S-4 and previously filed in connection with the Business Combination and have a material adverse effect on our business and the market price of our Class A ordinary shares.



#### **Risks Related to Ownership of Our Securities**

#### If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or publish negative reports about our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A ordinary shares will depend, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts or the content that they publish about us. If our financial performance fails to meet analyst estimates or one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Class A ordinary shares or change their opinion of our Class A ordinary shares, our share price would likely decline.

#### We have not and may not pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our shares. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of the business, and therefore, do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends on our Class A ordinary shares for the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors after considering our business prospects, results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and availability, debt repayment obligations, capital expenditure needs, contractual restrictions, covenants in the agreements governing current and future indebtedness, industry trends, the provisions of Cayman Islands law affecting the payment of dividends and distributions to shareholders and any other factors or considerations the board of directors deems relevant. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their Class A ordinary shares after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investments.

### An active trading market for our Class A ordinary shares may not develop or be sustained, which may cause our shares to trade at a discount and make it difficult to sell the shares.

We have experienced substantial redemptions from our public shareholders in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. We cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in our company will lead to the development of, or sustain, an active trading market for our Class A ordinary shares or how liquid that market might be. An active public market for our Class A ordinary shares may not develop or be sustained, which would make it difficult for you to sell your Class A ordinary shares at a price that is attractive to you, or at all. The market price of our Class A ordinary shares may decline below the current price.

#### The price of our Class A ordinary shares and warrants may be volatile or decline.

The price of our Class A ordinary shares and our warrants may fluctuate or decline due to a variety of factors, including:

- changes in the industries in which we and our clients operate;
- developments involving our competitors;
- changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;
- variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general;
- actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;
- publication of research reports by securities analysts about us, our competitors or our industry;
- the public's reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC");

- actions by shareholders, including the sale by any of our principal shareholders of any of their shares of our Class A ordinary shares;
- additions and departures of key personnel;
- litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;
- changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of equity and equity-linked securities or the incurrence of additional debt;
- the volume of shares of our Class A ordinary shares available for public sale;
- general economic and political conditions, such as the effects of the Russia-Ukraine conflict, pandemics such as the COVID-19 outbreak, recessions, interest rates, inflation, local and national elections, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, changes in diplomatic and trade relationships, political instability, acts of war or terrorism and natural disasters; and
- other risk factors listed in this section "Risk Factors."

In addition, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of listed companies. Broad market and industry factors may significantly impact the market price of our Class A ordinary shares and warrants, regardless of our actual operating performance. In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market prices of a particular company's securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against that company. Securities litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and divert our management's attention and resources from our business. Any of the factors listed above could materially and adversely affect your investment in our securities, and our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for them. In such circumstances, the trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.

### If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet any guidance that we provide to the public, the market price of our Class A ordinary shares may decline.

We may, but are not obligated to, provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results for future periods. Any such guidance will be comprised of forward-looking statements subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this report and in our other public filings and public statements. Our actual results may not always be in line with or exceed any guidance we have provided, especially in times of economic uncertainty. If operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any guidance we provide or the expectations of investment analysts, or if we reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our Class A ordinary shares may decline.

## We are an "emerging growth company" and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our Class A ordinary shares less attractive to investors.

We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not "emerging growth companies" including, but not limited to, the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, and, if we qualify as a foreign private issuer in the future, we will not be required to provide detailed compensation disclosures or file proxy statements. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A ordinary shares less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A ordinary shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A ordinary shares and our Class A ordinary share price may be more volatile.



## We are a "controlled company" within the meaning of Nasdaq listing rules and, as a result, qualify for exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements. Our shareholders may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to such requirements.

The Class V Shareholder has voting rights equal to 51% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a class in connection with the appointment or removal of directors. As a result, as long as the Class V ordinary share remains outstanding, we will be a "controlled company" under the Nasdaq listing rules. As a controlled company, we will be exempt from certain corporate governance requirements, including those that would otherwise require our board of directors to have a majority of independent directors and require that we either establish compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees, each comprised entirely of independent directors, or otherwise ensure that the compensation of our executive officers and nominees of directors are determined or recommended to our board of directors by independent members of our board of directors. Although we have not relied on these exemptions following the Closing, if we do determine to rely on one or more of these exemptions in the future, our shareholders will not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all of the Nasdaq corporate governance requirements.

We have a dual class ordinary share structure that has the effect of concentrating voting control with the Class V Shareholder with regard to certain extraordinary events described in our memorandum and articles of association. Additionally, the Class V Shareholder is a business associate of Mr. Kumar, who currently holds approximately 60% of all votes attached to the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and the Class V ordinary share, subject to the special voting right of the Class V ordinary share. This concentrated control will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transactions requiring shareholder approval, and that may adversely affect the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares.

We have a dual class ordinary share structure and the Class V Shareholder holds the Class V ordinary share. In accordance with our memorandum and articles of association, such Class V ordinary share has no economic rights, but has voting rights equal to (1) 26.0% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a single class (subject to a proportionate reduction in voting power in connection with the exchange by Mr. Kumar of AARK ordinary shares for Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement); provided, however, that such proportionate reduction will not affect the voting rights of the Class V ordinary share in the event of (i) a threatened or actual hostile change of control and/or (ii) the appointment and removal of a director on our board of directors (collectively, the "Extraordinary Events"), and (2) in the event of the Extraordinary Events, 51% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a class.

On April 5, 2024, Mr. Kumar exchanged an aggregate amount of 9,500 AARK ordinary shares for 21,337,000 Exchanged Shares. Immediately following this exchange, Mr. Kumar's beneficial ownership percentage of Class A ordinary shares remained at 73.8%, while his voting power increased to 72.0% of all votes attached to the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and the Class V ordinary share, subject to the special voting rights of the Class V ordinary share regarding the Extraordinary Events. As a result of and immediately following this exchange, and in accordance with our memorandum and articles of association, the number of votes represented by the sole Class V ordinary share was reduced from 51.0% to 1.3% of all votes attached to the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and the Class V ordinary share in the event of the Extraordinary Events.

The Class V Shareholder is owned by a business associate of Mr. Kumar. Mr. Kumar does not have control over the Class V Shareholder, and the Class V Shareholder will not receive any compensation in connection with its ownership of the Class V ordinary share. Although the Class V Shareholder is not required by contract or otherwise to vote in a manner that is beneficial to Mr. Kumar and may vote the Class V Ordinary Share in its sole discretion, given the business relationship between the Class V Shareholder and Mr. Kumar, Mr. Kumar believes that the Class V Shareholder could protect the interests of Mr. Kumar from extraordinary events, such as a hostile takeover or board contest, prior to the exchange of all ordinary shares of AARK by Mr. Kumar

The concentrated control described above may limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions requiring shareholder approval. In addition, this concentrated control may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our shares that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our shareholders. As a result, such concentrated control may adversely affect the market price of our Class A ordinary shares.

## We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are not able to remediate the material weakness and otherwise maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, the reliability of our financial reporting, investor confidence in us and the value of our Class A ordinary shares could be adversely affected.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal controls. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we evaluate and determine the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting and provide a management report on internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis.

We have identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting that are primarily attributable to improper segregation of duties, inadequate processes for timely recording of significant events and material transactions and inadequate design and implementation of information and communication policies and procedures and monitoring activities. On December 11, 2023, the Company concluded that it should restate certain of its previously issued carve-out consolidated financial statements of AARK and subsidiaries to correct the misreporting of basic and diluted earnings per share and number of issued and paid-up common stock, resulting from one of the material weaknesses described below. The restated financial statements were incorporated into the condensed consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023, which were included in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed on February 20, 2024.

While management is working to remediate the material weaknesses, there is no assurance that these remediation efforts, when economically feasible and sustainable, will successfully remediate the identified material weaknesses. If we are unable to establish and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, the reliability of our financial reporting, investor confidence in us and the value of our Class A ordinary shares could be materially and adversely affected and the Company could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Effective process and controls over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable and timely financial reports and are designed to reasonably detect and prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. For as long as we are a "smaller reporting company" under the U.S. securities laws, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. An independent assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting could detect problems that our management's assessment might not. Undetected material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting could lead to financial statement restatements and require us to incur the expense of remediation.

Moreover, we do not expect that process and controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The failure of our control systems to prevent error or fraud could materially adversely impact us.

#### We incur increased costs as a result of being a public company.

As a public company, we face significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company prior to the completion of the Business Combination, particularly after we are no longer an "emerging growth company" as defined under the JOBS Act. In addition, new and changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations promulgated and to be promulgated thereunder, as well as under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the JOBS Act, have created uncertainty for public companies and increased costs and time that boards of directors and management must devote to complying with these rules and regulations. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and related rules of the SEC and the Nasdaq Stock Market regulate corporate governance practices of public companies. Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased and will continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and can lead to a diversion of management time and attention from sales-generating activities. For example, we are required to adopt new internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures. In addition, we incur additional expenses associated with our SEC reporting requirements and increased compensation for our management team. We cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we will continue to incur as a public company or the specific timing of such costs.

## There can be no assurance that we will be able to comply with the continued listing standards of Nasdaq, and if we fail to maintain compliance with the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, our Class A ordinary shares could be delisted, negatively impacting their price, liquidity, and our ability to access the capital markets.

Our Class A ordinary shares are currently listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "AERT." On July 31, 2024 and September 5, 2024, we received notifications from Nasdaq indicating that as a result of the untimely filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, we were not in compliance with the requirements for continued listing under Listing Rule 5250(c)(1) (the "Listing Rule"), which requires listed companies to timely file all required periodic reports with the SEC. In accordance with the notifications, we have until September 30, 2024 to submit a plan of compliance to Nasdaq addressing how we intend to regain compliance with Nasdaq's listing rules, and Nasdaq has the discretion to grant us up to 180 calendar days from the due date of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, or January 13, 2025, to regain compliance. We have filed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024; however, we have not yet filed our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024. We plan to submit a compliance plan with Nasdaq by September 30, 2024 if we are not able to file the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024 by that time.

In addition to Listing Rule 5250(c)(1), the listing standards of Nasdaq require that a company maintain a minimum stock price of \$1.00 and meet standards related to minimum stockholder's equity, minimum market value of publicly held shares, and various additional requirements to qualify for continued listing. If Nasdaq delists our securities for failing to meet the Listing Rule 5250(c)(1) or any of the other standards, we and our shareholders could face significant negative consequences, including:

- Limited availability of market quotations for our securities.
- A determination that the Class A ordinary shares are "penny stock," requiring brokers to adhere to more stringent rules, possibly reducing trading activity in the secondary market.
- A limited amount of analyst coverage, if any.
- A decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Delisting from Nasdaq could also result in other negative consequences, such as the potential loss of confidence by suppliers, customers, and employees, the loss of institutional investor interest, and fewer business development opportunities.

## You may be diluted, and the market price of our Class A ordinary shares and warrants may be depressed, by sales and issuances of Class A ordinary shares registered on the Company's registration statement on Form S-1 (333-276173), as well as any additional Class A ordinary shares issued in connection with our equity incentive plans, acquisitions, the Forward Purchase Agreements or otherwise.

As of the date of this report, we had 455,499,574 Class A ordinary shares authorized but unissued. Our memorandum and articles of association authorizes us to issue shares and options, rights, warrants and appreciation rights relating to the shares for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our Board in its sole discretion, whether in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. Pursuant to the Exchange Agreements, from and after April 1, 2024, Mr. Kumar and the Other ATG Shareholders have the right, subject to the satisfaction of certain exercise conditions set forth in their respective Exchange Agreements, to elect to exchange their respective interests in Aeries and AARK for our Class A ordinary shares, which may dilute the percentage ownership of our shareholders. The Exchange Agreements are conditioned on satisfaction of: (a) approval from the Reserve Bank of India and any other regulatory approvals, if required; and (b) at least two of the following conditions: (i) consolidated twelve month revenue of all operating entities in which we have direct or indirect shareholding achieves of at least \$6 million; (ii) consolidated twelve month revenue of all entities in which the Company has a direct or indirect shareholding achieves at least \$60 million; (iii) minimum trading volume of (26 weeks average volume will be considered as the benchmark) of 60,000 shares; (iv) achievement of a trading price of at least \$10.00 for 10 or more trading days in a 20-day period; (v) raising of funding of at least \$10 million; or (vi) acquisition of one other business with a value of at least \$5 million. On March 26, 2024, the Company determined that the exercise conditions in the Exchange Agreements with respect to Mr. Kumar and one of the Other ATG Shareholder, Bhisham Khare, had been satisfied. On April 5, 2024, Mr. Kumar exchanged an aggregate amount of 9,500 AARK ordinary shares for 21,337,000 Exchange Conditions have not yet been met.

In a registration statement on Form S-1 declared effective on May 15, 2024, we have registered (A) (i) up to 10,566,347 Exchanged Shares, and (ii) up to 21,027,801 Class A ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of the (a) 11,499,991 redeemable warrants to purchase Class A ordinary shares (the "Public Warrants") that were issued by WWAC as part of the units in its IPO, and (b) 9,527,810 redeemable warrants (the "Private Placement Warrants") to purchase Class A ordinary shares originally issued to Worldwide Webb Acquisition Sponsor, LLC in a private placement that closed simultaneously with the consummation of the IPO; and (B) the resale from time to time by the selling securityholders (as defined in the prospectus) of (i) an aggregate of up to 54,917,027 Class A ordinary shares, and (ii) up to 9,527,810 Private Placement Warrants. We have reserved certain Class A ordinary shares (subject to certain adjustments) for issuance under our 2023 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and may adopt other equity incentive plans in the future. Moreover, we may issue Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the Forward Purchase Agreements. Any Class A ordinary shares that we issue, including those registered issuable pursuant to the prospectus, the Exchange Agreements, our equity incentive plans, or the Forward Purchase Agreements, may dilute the percentage ownership held by the investors.

In the future, we may issue additional Class A ordinary shares, or securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Class A ordinary shares, in connection with generating additional capital, future acquisitions, repayment of outstanding indebtedness, or for other reasons. The market price of shares of our Class A ordinary shares could decline as a result of substantial sales of Class A ordinary shares, particularly by our significant shareholders, a large number of Class A ordinary shares becoming available for sale or the perception in the market that holders of a large number of shares intend to sell their shares. If one or more of these shareholders were to sell a substantial portion of the shares they hold, it could cause the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares to decline.

## Certain founders and certain employees may have interests that conflict with other shareholders and they may sell their shares, or the market perception of such sale may cause the market price of our Class A ordinary shares to decline.

Certain founders including Mr. Kumar and the Other ATG Shareholders have equity ownership in our company, which could give them certain amount of personal wealth. Likewise, we have certain employees whose equity awards are fully vested, and who will be unrestricted in their ability to sell our Class A ordinary shares in the open market following expiration or waiver of any applicable lock-up or other restrictions, with the exception of the resale of shares held by affiliates under Rule 144 under the Securities Act. These persons may have an economic interest in their ownership of our shares that conflicts with other shareholders, because they may be motivated to sell their shares to obtain cash rather than investing into the growth of the business and the potential higher price of our Class A ordinary shares in the long-term. The risk that our founder and employees may sell Class A ordinary shares in the open market may be made more acute as we do not anticipate paying dividends for the foreseeable future, meaning open market sales may be their only means of generating liquidity from their ownership of our securities. As a result, sales of our Class A ordinary shares by our founder and employees in the open market or the perception that such sales could occur may negatively impact the market price of our Class A ordinary shares.

In the future, we may also issue our securities in connection with investments or acquisitions. The amount of ordinary shares issued in connection with an investment or acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then outstanding shares. As restrictions on resale end, the market price of our shares could drop significantly if the holders of these restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them.

## Your unexpired warrants may be redeemed prior to their exercise at a time that is disadvantageous to you, thereby significantly diminishing the value of your warrants.

We will have the ability to redeem outstanding warrants at any time once they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, at a price of \$0.01 per warrant provided that the last reported sales price of the underlying Class A ordinary shares equals or exceeds \$18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30 trading-day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders and provided certain other conditions are met. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws. As a result, we may redeem the Public Warrants as set forth above even if the holders are otherwise unable to exercise the warrants. Redemption of the outstanding warrants could force you (i) to exercise your warrants and pay the exercise price therefor at a time when it may be disadvantageous for you to do so, (ii) to sell your warrants at the then-current market price when you might otherwise wish to hold your warrants or (iii) to accept the nominal redemption price which, at the time the outstanding warrants are called for redemption, we expect would be substantially less than the market value of your warrants. As of the date of this report, there were 11,499,991 Public Warrants outstanding. None of the Private Placement Warrants will be redeemable by us except under certain circumstances. See "Description of Shares—Redeemable Warrants—Public Warrants" and "Description of Shares—Redeemable Warrants.

In addition, we may redeem your warrants after they become exercisable for a number of Class A ordinary shares determined based on the redemption date and the fair market value of the Class A ordinary shares. Any such redemption may have similar consequences to a cash redemption described above. In addition, such redemption may occur at a time when the warrants are "out-of-the-money," in which case you would lose any potential embedded value from a subsequent increase in the value of the Class A ordinary shares had your warrants remained outstanding.

We have no obligation to notify holders of the warrants that the warrants have become eligible for redemption. However, in the event we elect to redeem the warrants, it will fix a date for the redemption and, pursuant to the terms of the warrant agreement dated October 19, 2021, by and between WWAC and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent (the "Warrant Agreement"), mail a notice of redemption by first class mail, with postage prepaid, not less than 30 days prior to the redemption date to the registered holders of the warrants. Under the terms of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants may be exercised for cash at any time after notice of redemption has been given by us.

#### The warrants may never be in the money, and may expire worthless.

The exercise price of the warrants is \$11.50 per share. If the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares is less than \$11.50 per share, we believe holders of the warrants will be unlikely to exercise the warrants. It is unlikely warrant holders will exercise their warrants unless the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares is in excess of the exercise price. There is no guarantee that the warrants will be in the money following the time they become exercisable and prior to their expiration, and as such, the warrants may expire worthless and we may receive no proceeds from the exercise of the warrants. As a result, we do not expect to be able to rely on proceeds from the exercise of the warrants to fund our operations, which could adversely affect our ability to make necessary investments and, therefore, could affect our results of operations.

## We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, restructuring and impairment or other charges that could have a significant negative effect on our financial condition, results of operations and the share price of our securities.

We cannot assure you that the due diligence conducted in relation to AARK and WWAC in connection with the Business Combination has identified all material issues or risks associated with Aeries, its business or the industry in which it competes. As a result of these factors, we may incur additional costs and expenses and we may be forced to later write-down or write-off assets, restructure our operations, or incur impairment or other charges that could result in us reporting losses. Even if our due diligence has identified certain risks, unexpected risks may arise and previously known risks may materialize in a manner not consistent with our preliminary risk analysis. If any of these risks materialize, this could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations and could contribute to negative market perceptions about our securities. Accordingly, our securityholders could suffer a reduction in the value of their shares and warrants. Such securityholders are unlikely to have a remedy for such reduction in value.

#### Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

#### Item 1C. Cyber Security

#### **Risk Management and Strategy**

The Company's risk management program includes governance through the cybersecurity committee, consisting of senior executive management team along with legal and other key holders. Our Enterprise Risk Management lead is tasked with integrating any cybersecurity risk considerations into overall risk management strategy. Risk management includes regular risk assessments to identify internal and external risks and to evaluate the magnitude of harm that could arise out of such risks. Further, risk management may utilize third party service providers where complementary and supplementary to the Company's overall business strategy. Lastly, risk management includes training and education over the continuously evolving landscape of cybersecurity threats. We engage external parties, including consultants, independent privacy assessors, computer security firms, training service providers and risk management and governance experts, to enhance our cybersecurity oversight. For example, we have engaged an outside consulting firm with expertise in the field to help us assess our systems, monitor risk and implement best practices and to support the internal audit of our cyber security programs and we regularly consult with industry groups on emerging industry trends. In addition, as part of our overall risk mitigation strategy, we maintain cyber insurance coverage. Our cybersecurity policies, standards and procedures include cyber and data breach response plans, which are periodically assessed against the ISO 27001, National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework (NIST CSF), and other relevant standards.

#### Material effects of cybersecurity threats

Although cybersecurity risks have the potential to affect the business, financial condition, and results of operations, we do not believe that risks from attacks, including results from any previous cybersecurity incidents or threats, have materially affected or likely to materially affect our strategy, operations or financial condition. However, no matter how well controls or designed or how well cybersecurity risk management procedures are implemented, there can be no full assurance given that risk remains of an incident that could cause material harm to the business. See "Our business relies heavily on owned and third-party technology and computer systems, which subjects us to various uncertainties" in the section entitled "Risk Factors".

#### **Governance and Management**

Our board of directors addresses our cybersecurity risk management as part of its general oversight function. As part of the Board's oversight, the Board will receive a report at least annually from our cybersecurity committee, covering updates on our cybersecurity risks and threats, the status of projects intended to strengthen our information security systems, assessments of the cybersecurity program, and the emerging threat landscape.

Our cybersecurity committee plays an active role by meeting periodically to review the status of the Company's cyber security program and roadmap for new cybersecurity risk management initiatives. The committee oversees cybersecurity risk management by evaluating whether management has robust cybersecurity policies and procedures, regularly assessing and monitoring cybersecurity risks, and receiving regular reports on the Company's cybersecurity posture. The Cybersecurity Committee holds monthly review meetings, to discuss the status of the Company's Cybersecurity posture, plans and projects underway, and to discuss any changes in existing policies and procedures.

Our cybersecurity risk management processes are devised, implemented and assessed quarterly by our Cybersecurity lead, Enterprise Risk Management lead and Head of IT Strategy and Solutions. Our leads have extensive experience in cybersecurity and information technology, and based on their careers, have a deep understanding of our information technology and business needs. Our leads report to the cybersecurity committee monthly regarding emerging risks and the overall cybersecurity environment and immediately when a cybersecurity incident occurs. Our IT heads and Cybersecurity lead closely monitor cybersecurity risks, including our practices and procedures against the cybersecurity environment, including the operation of our incident response plan. Our cybersecurity program is designed to ensure the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and systems as well as to ensure timely identification of and response to any incidents. This design is geared toward supporting our business objectives and the needs of our valued customers, employees, and other stakeholders. We strongly believe that cybersecurity is a collective responsibility that extends to every employee, and we prioritize it as an ongoing objective. To increase our employees' awareness of cyber threats, we provide education and share best practices through a security awareness training program. This includes receiving quarterly exercises, cyber-event simulations, training programs and incorporating our Technology Acceptable Use Policy into onboarding and training materials.

#### Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate office is located at Paville House, Prabhadevi, Mumbai, India. Our global delivery centers are in Mumbai, Bengaluru, Hyderabad, Pune and Mexico (Guadalajara).

#### **Global Centers Synopsis**

Location	Centers
Hyderabad	2
Bengaluru	4
Mumbai	3
Pune	1
Mexico (Guadalajara)	2

In addition to the above, Aeries has its headquarters in Singapore, a Sales and Marketing office in Raleigh, USA and other offices in Abu Dhabi, UAE, San Jose, USA and Salt Lake City, USA.

Aeries has a distinct approach towards setting up of its facilities. Aeries' delivery centers have the look-and-feel of our clients' offices to make it a seamless extension. Aeries Facilities team engages with client facility and marketing team at the time of office set-up for branding activities. Aeries has a well-structured methodology for quick office and operations set-up with strong local connections and strategic business partners. The offices are designed keeping in mind advance technology integration, physical and surveillance security requirements, workforce space management and compliance policies to identify and implement cost-effective Capex and Opex models.

#### Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may be involved in various proceedings and litigation, claims and other legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims, lawsuits, and other proceedings may involve highly complex issues that are subject to substantial uncertainties, and could result in damages, fines, penalties, nonmonetary sanctions, or relief. Management is not currently aware of any material pending legal proceedings, except for ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, in which we or any of our subsidiaries are involved, or where our property is subject to such proceedings.

#### Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

#### PART II

#### Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

#### **Market Information.**

Our Class A ordinary shares and warrants are traded on Nasdaq under the symbols "AERT" and "AERTW," respectively. Prior to the Business Combination, WWAC's units, Class A ordinary shares and warrants were listed on Nasdaq under the symbols "WWACU," "WWAC" and "WWACW," respectively.

#### Holders

As at September 27, 2024 there were 44,500,426 Class A ordinary shares issued and outstanding, held by approximately 49 holders of record and 21,027,801 warrants outstanding held by 4 holder of record. The actual number of shareholders of our Class A ordinary shares and the actual number of holders of our warrants is greater than the number of record holders and includes holders of our Class A ordinary shares or warrants whose Class A ordinary shares or warrants are held in street name by brokers and other nominees.

#### Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our shares. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of the business, and therefore, do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends on our Class A ordinary shares in the foreseeable future. Any future determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors after considering our business prospects, results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements and availability, debt repayment obligations, capital expenditure needs, contractual restrictions, covenants in the agreements governing current and future indebtedness, industry trends, the provisions of Cayman Islands law and any other applicable law affecting the payment of dividends and distributions to stockholders and any other factors or considerations the board of directors deems relevant.

#### Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information required by this item with respect to our equity compensation plans, please see Item 11 of this report.

#### Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings

The following list sets forth information as to all of our securities sold since the beginning of last fiscal year that were not registered under the Securities Act.

#### Private Placements in Connection with the Business Combination

As part of the Business Combination and upon the closing, 5,638,530 of our newly issued Class A ordinary shares were issued to Innovo Consultancy DMCC ("Innovo"), a company incorporated in Dubai, the United Arab Emirates ("UAE") and controlled by Mr. Kumar.

Pursuant to those certain Non-Redemption Agreements entered into on or about March 31, 2023, October 9, 2023, November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, we issued an aggregate of 2,677,227 of Class A ordinary shares to the holders who elected not to redeem their shares pursuant to the Non-Redemption Agreements.

On November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, we entered into Forward Purchase Agreements with certain investors for an OTC Equity Prepaid Forward Transaction. In connection with the Forward Purchase Agreements, we entered into the Subscription Agreements with the FPA holders, pursuant to which, subject to certain limitations contained therein, each FPA holder agreed to purchase from us that number of Class A ordinary shares up to the Maximum Number of Shares (as set forth in the applicable Forward Purchase Agreement) for a purchase price per share equal to the redemption price of \$10.69, less the number of Class A ordinary shares the FPA holder purchased through the open market or via redemption reversals (the "Recycled Shares"). The aggregate number of shares purchased by the FPA holders pursuant to the Subscription Agreements and the Forward Purchase Agreements (other than the Recycled Shares) was 3,711,667.

All of these transactions were exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated under transactions not involving any public offering.

#### Exchange of AARK Shares

On March 26, 2024, the Company determined that the exercise conditions in the Exchange Agreements with respect to Mr. Kumar and one of the Other ATG Shareholders, Bhisham Khare, had been satisfied. On April 5, 2024, Mr. Kumar exchanged an aggregate amount of 9,500 AARK ordinary shares for 21,337,000 Exchanged Shares. The issuance of 21,337,000 Exchanged Shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement to Mr. Kumar has been conducted in reliance on an exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

#### **Recent Private Placement**

On April 8, 2024, the Company entered into a Share Subscription Agreement with an institutional accredited investor, pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell an aggregate of 2,261,778 newly issued Class A ordinary shares at a purchase price of \$2.21 per share; provided, that the issuance of delivery of the shares thereunder shall be subject to a 4.99% beneficial ownership limitation as describe in the agreement, as elected by the investor. At the closing of the private placement, the Company received net proceeds of approximately \$4.68 million, after deducting a 6.5% commission paid to a placement agent. The issuance of the shares to the investor pursuant to the Share Subscription Agreement has been conducted in reliance on an exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

#### **Issuance of Adjustment Shares**

In December 2023, the Company settled vendor balances amounting to \$0.9 million owed to certain vendors by issuing 361,338 Class A ordinary shares. If the VWAP of the Class A ordinary shares over the three trading days immediately preceding the agreement date is higher than the VWAP over the three trading days immediately preceding the six-month anniversary from the agreement date, additional Class A ordinary shares of the Company would need to be issued for the difference (the "Adjustment Shares"). Following the six-month anniversary, the Company issued 54,074 Adjustment Shares to the vendors, in reliance on an exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

#### **Issuance of Vendor Shares**

In September 2024, the Company issued 78,947 Class A ordinary shares and 48,618 Class A ordinary shares, each valued on the relevant dates of the respective agreements, to two separate vendors, as compensation for their respective services. These issuance were made in reliance on an exemption from registration provided by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.

#### Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None

#### Item 6. [Reserved]



#### Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

In addition to historical information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements regarding our expectations for future performance, liquidity and capital resources that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in or implied by any forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause such differences include those identified below and those described under "Risk Factors" and "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements," and elsewhere in this report. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this section to "we," "us," "our," "Aeries" and "the Company" refer to the business and operations of AARK and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the Business Combination (excluding the associated legacy financial technology and investing business activities) and to Aeries Technology, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, following the consummation of the Business Combination.

#### Overview

Aeries Technology is a global provider of professional and management services and technology consulting, specializing in the establishment and management of dedicated delivery centers known as "Global Capability Centers" ("GCCs") for portfolio companies of private equity firms and mid-market enterprises. Our engagement models are designed to provide a mix of deep vertical specialty, functional expertise, and digital systems and solutions to scale, optimize and transform a client's business operations. By leveraging AI, implementing process improvements, and recruiting talent in cost-effective geographies, we are positioned to deliver significant cost savings to our clients. With over a decade of experience, we are committed to delivering transformative business solutions that drive operational efficiency, innovation, and strategic growth.

We support and drive our clients' global growth by providing a range of services, including professional advisory services and operations management services, to build and manage GCCs in suitable and cost-effective locations based on client business needs. With a focus towards digital enterprise enablement, these GCCs are designed to act as seamless extensions of the client organization, providing access to top-tier resources. We believe this empowers our clients to remain competitive and nimble and to achieve their goals of enduring cost efficiencies, operational excellence, and value creation, without sacrificing functional control and flexibility.

Our advisory services involve the active participation of senior leadership, recommending strategies and best practices related to operating model design, consultation on various areas, market availability for resources with appropriate skillsets required for specific roles contemplated in the service model, regulatory compliance, optimization of tax structure, and more. Our clients can customize the services based on options we provide, and we subsequently firm up the execution plan with the clients.

A key aspect of our service is our focus on digital transformation. We aim to leverage cutting-edge technologies, including AI, to drive innovation and streamline operations. Our technology services are designed to enhance decision-making, automate processes, and deliver significant business value. We believe this approach through GCC set-up improves operational efficiencies, enabling us to deliver digital transformation services that align with our clients' growth strategies and support their competitiveness in an evolving digital landscape.

Our clients also use our services to manage their organizational operations, including software development, information technology, data analytics, cybersecurity, finance, human resources, customer service and operations. We hire appropriate talent and personnel on our payroll for deployment on client operations. We work with our clients collaboratively to select the appropriate candidates and create functional alignment with the clients' organizations. While our talent becomes an extension of our clients' team, Aeries continues to provide them with the opportunity for promotion, recognition and career path progression, which we believe results in higher employee satisfaction and lower voluntary attrition rates. We manage the regulatory, tax, recruiting, human resources compliance and branding for each of our GCCs.

Our purpose-built business model aims to create a more flexible and cost-effective talent pool for deployment on clients' operations, while fostering innovation through strategic alignment at senior levels and visibility across the organization. The model also aims to insulate our clients from regulatory and tax issues and provides flexibility in scaling teams up or down based on their changing business needs. We are committed to delivering best practices and success factors by leveraging our visibility into successful strategies from multiple companies, addressing many of the deficiencies associated with the traditional outsourcing and offshoring models.

As of March 31, 2024, Aeries had more than 30 clients spanning across industry segments, including companies in the industries of e-commerce, telecom, security, healthcare, engineering and others.

#### Business Combination, and the Recent Exchange

The information disclosed under "Corporate History, the Business Combination, and the Recent Exchange" in Item 1 "Business" above is incorporated herein by reference.

#### Private Placements Around the Closing Date of the Business Combination

Pursuant to those certain Non-Redemption Agreements entered into on or about March 31, 2023, October 9, 2023, November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, we issued an aggregate of 2,677,227 of Class A ordinary shares to the holders who elected not to redeem their shares pursuant to the Non-Redemption Agreements.

On November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, we entered into Forward Purchase Agreements with certain investors for an OTC Equity Prepaid Forward Transaction. In connection with the Forward Purchase Agreements, we entered into the Subscription Agreements with the FPA holders, pursuant to which, subject to certain limitations contained therein, each FPA holder agreed to purchase from us that number of Class A ordinary shares up to the Maximum Number of Shares (as set forth in the applicable Forward Purchase Agreement) for a purchase price per share equal to the redemption price of \$10.69, less the number of Class A ordinary shares the FPA holder purchased through the open market or via redemption reversals (the "Recycled Shares"). The aggregate number of shares purchased by the FPA holders pursuant to the Subscription Agreements and the Forward Purchase Agreements (other than the Recycled Shares) was 3,711,667. The FPA holders may sell the FPA Shares during the term of the applicable Forward Purchase Agreements. If the FPA holders hold some or all of the FPA Shares at the end of the one-year term, then we will be required to make a cash payment of \$2.00 per FPA Share then held, or issue additional Class A ordinary shares to such FPA holders at a price of \$2.50 per share, at the election of the FPA holders.

#### **Recent Private Placement**

On April 8, 2024, we entered into a Share Subscription Agreement with an institutional accredited investor, pursuant to which we agreed to sell an aggregate of 2,261,778 newly issued Class A ordinary shares at a purchase price of \$2.21 per share; provided, that the issuance of delivery of the shares thereunder shall be subject to a 4.99% beneficial ownership limitation as describe in the agreement, as elected by the investor. At the closing of the private placement, we received net proceeds of approximately \$4.68 million, after deducting a 6.5% commission paid to a placement agent. We have used, and intend to continue using, the net proceeds for general corporate and working capital purposes.

#### Key Factors Affecting Performance and Comparability

#### Market Opportunity

Our current markets are North America, Asia Pacific, and the Middle East, with a primary focus on the United States. Within these regions we are focused on two primary areas, the private equity ecosystem and the mid-market enterprises.

Companies are looking for service providers who not only have the experience and expertise in providing the right-sized solution in this age of ever shortening business cycles but also a trusted partner with a transparent engagement model to lead the customers through the digital transformation journey. Aeries' model is purpose-built to provide this experience and expertise through a transparent engagement model to accelerate and enhance our clients' businesses.

#### Private Markets

As private market investing evolves and the landscape of venture-backed and late-stage private growth companies transform, our service offerings will adapt accordingly to align with the shifting dynamics of potential investors and portfolio companies seeking our expertise. While periods of macroeconomic growth in the United States, particularly in private equity markets, typically foster an upsurge in overall investment activity, any economic slowdowns, downturns, or volatility in the broader market and private equity landscape could potentially dampen this growth momentum.

#### Macro-economic headwinds

Our operational performance is influenced by prevailing economic conditions, including macroeconomic conditions, the overall inflationary climate, and business sentiment. During the year ended March 31, 2024, there was persistent economic and geopolitical uncertainty in many markets around the world, including concerns over wage inflation, the potential of decelerating global economic growth, and increased volatility in foreign currency exchange rates. These factors have impacted and may continue to impact our business operations.

#### Customer Retention and Early Termination of Long-Term Contracts

Maintaining long-term customer relationships is important to our business, as a significant portion of our revenue is derived from these contracts. Although we have auto-renewal service agreements with clients, they may choose to terminate or not renew, in which case they must provide a notice period, typically ranging from 90 to 180 days, and pay a termination fee based on the commercial margin if termination occurs without cause. There is an increasing likelihood that clients may choose to terminate our service agreements after we have established and operated delivery centers for them, as it becomes more feasible and cost-efficient for them to take over. While the above-described contractual provisions provide some financial protection, the termination fee may not fully offset the long-term revenue loss, and replacing clients can be challenging due to the lengthy customer acquisition cycle. To mitigate this risk, we focus on maintaining strong relationships, expanding our customer base, diversifying service offerings, and delivering high-quality service to encourage renewals or alternative service arrangements when terminations occur. Our operational results and financial condition may still be negatively affected if multiple key customers terminate their agreements around the same time, as replacing this revenue can take time.

#### Income Taxes

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands and have operations in India, Mexico, Singapore, the UAE and the United States. Our effective tax rate has historically varied and will continue to vary from year to year based on several factors: the tax rate in the jurisdiction of our organization, the geographical sources of our earnings and the tax rates in those countries, the tax relief and incentives available to us, the financing and tax planning strategies employed by us, changes in tax laws or the interpretation thereof, and movements in our tax reserves, if any.

Currently, the Company is liable to pay income tax in India, Mexico, Singapore, the UAE and the United States. In India, the Company has chosen to pay taxes according to the newly introduced tax regime in 2019 while forgoing some exemptions and deductions. Consequently, the Company calculates its consolidated provision for income taxes based on the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are recognized on the tax consequences of temporary differences by applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable in future years to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities, as determined under tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. These deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which these temporary differences are anticipated to be settled or recovered. If there is evidence that indicates some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods, the deferred tax assets are recorded net of a valuation allowance. The Company evaluates uncertain tax positions to determine if they are likely to be sustained upon examination, and a liability is recorded when such uncertainties fail to meet the "more likely than not" threshold.



#### Financing Costs

We regularly evaluate our variable and fixed-rate debt obligations. We have historically used short and long-term debt to finance our working capital requirements, capital expenditures and other investments. In May 2023, Aeries amended its revolving credit facility with Kotak Mahindra Bank ("Amended Credit Facility"), whereby the total borrowing capacity was increased to \$3.8 million (at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024). The revolving facility is available for Aeries' operational requirements. The interest rate is equal to the 6 months Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate ("MCLR") plus a margin of 0.80% and 1.20 % as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Aeries is required to pay interest on the outstanding balance of the credit facility at this financing cost basis, calculated based on the actual number of days for which the funds are utilized. Any changes in the prevailing MCLR rates and the interest rate charged by the bank will affect the financing cost basis and the overall cost of borrowing.

Additionally, Aeries has an outstanding unsecured loan from a director of ATG, Mr. Vaibhav Rao, amounting to \$0.8 million at an interest rate of 10% per annum. The principal amount of the loan was outstanding in entirety as of and for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company also has an outstanding four-year vehicle loan of \$0.1 million (at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024) at an interest rate of 10.75% per annum.

Refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements titled "Short-term borrowings" and "Long-term debt" included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information on our indebtedness.

For information about the risks we face, see "Risk Factors."

#### **Results of Operations**

#### Overview

The Company has one operating segment and presents and discusses revenues by client location. The Company believes this disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of our revenues and cash flows are affected by industry, market and other economic factors.

The following table shows the disaggregation of the Company's revenues by major client location. Substantially all of the revenue in our North America region relates to business with clients in the United States.

	 Year l Marc		
	 2024 2023		2023
	 (In the	usand	s)
North America	\$ 56,958	\$	48,204
Asia Pacific and Other	15,551		4,895
Total revenue	\$ 72,509	\$	53,099

Our revenues were primarily earned in U.S. dollars. Our costs were primarily incurred in Indian rupees, U.S. dollars and Mexican pesos. We bear a substantial portion of the risk of inflation and fluctuations in currency exchange rates, and therefore our operating results could be negatively affected by adverse changes in inflation rates and foreign currency exchange rates.

#### Comparison of the Year Ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023

The following table presents selected financial data for the year ended March 31, 2024, and 2023 (in thousands, except percentages):

	Year Ended March 31,						
		2024		2023	\$	Change	% Change
Revenues, net	\$	72,509	\$	53,099	\$	19,410	37%
Cost of Revenue		50,868		39,442		11,426	29%
Gross Profit		21,641		13,657		7,984	58%
Gross Profit Margin		30%	•	26%	•	4%	
Operating expenses							
Selling, general & administrative expenses		18,654		11,326		7,328	65%
Total operating expenses		18,654		11,326		7,328	65%
Income from operations		2,987		2,331		656	28%
Other income / (expense)							
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities		16,167		-		16,167	100%
Interest income		275		191		84	44%
Interest expense		(462)		(185)		(277)	150%
Other income, net		160		429		(269)	(63)%
Total other income / (expense), net		16,140		435		15,705	3,610%
Income / (loss) before income taxes		19,127		2,766		16,361	592%
Income tax expenses		(1,871)		(1,060)		(811)	77%
Net income	\$	17,256	\$	1,706	\$	15,550	911%
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests		202		260		(58)	(22)%
Less: Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests		1,397		-		1,397	100%
Net income attributable to the shareholders' of Aeries Technology, Inc.	\$	15,657	\$	1,446	\$	14,211	983%

#### Revenue, net

Revenue, net for the year ended March 31, 2024 was \$72.5 million, a \$19.4 million or a 37% increase compared to revenue, net of \$53.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2023. This change is attributable to a \$18.3 million increase in revenues generated due to addition of new clients and a net \$1.1 million increase in revenues resulting from the ramp-up of our existing clients.

#### Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for the year ended March 31, 2024 was \$50.9 million, a \$11.4 million or a 29% increase compared to cost of revenue of \$39.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2023. The primary drivers of the increase include \$6.9 million attributed to higher compensation and benefit expenses, reflecting an expansion in client-serving headcount to support revenue growth. Additionally, \$3.7 million increase in fees of external consultants and \$0.9 million increase in rent and professional charges. These cost increases were partially offset by \$0.7 million decrease in recruitment-related expenses.

#### Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended March 31, 2024 was \$21.6 million, a \$8.0 million or a 58% increase compared to gross profit of \$13.7 million for the year ended March 31, 2023. This increase was primarily driven by a \$19.4 million increase in revenue, resulting from heightened demand for services from new and existing clients. The revenue growth was primarily offset by a \$11.4 million increase in cost of revenue, largely due to higher compensation expenses and other costs related to contract fulfillment.

#### Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit margin for the year ended March 31, 2024, was 30%, an increase of 413 basis points compared to gross profit margin of 26% for the year ended March 31, 2023. The improvement is primarily attributed to higher business volumes from the project-based consulting business, which typically generates higher margins due to fixed hourly rate billing.

#### Selling, general and administrative

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended March 31, 2024, were \$18.7 million, a \$7.3 million and 65% increase, compared to selling and administrative expenses of \$11.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2023. The increase was due to \$3.2 million increase in legal and professional expenses due to business combination related expenses, \$1.1 million of expected credit loss expense, and \$3.9 million increase in operations costs, largely attributable to expanded support headcount, higher travel expenses and additional legal and professional expenses. These increases were partially offset by a \$2.2 million reduction in ESOP-related expenses following the completion of the vesting period.

#### Total other income, net

Total other income, net for the year ended March 31, 2024, was \$16.1 million, a \$15.7 million and 3,610% increase, compared to other income, net of \$0.4 million for the year ended March 31, 2023. The increase was primarily driven by a \$16.2 million increase resulting due to change in fair value of derivative liabilities, partially offset by a reduction in exchange gains recorded in the year ended March 31, 2023.

#### Income tax expense

Provision from income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2024, was \$1.9 million, an increase of \$0.8 million and 77% increase compared to provision of income taxes of \$1.1 million for the year ended March 31, 2023. The increase was primarily due to the significant rise in pre-tax income and higher non-deductible expenses during the year.

#### **Non-GAAP Financial Measures**

We use non-GAAP financial information and believe it is useful to investors as it provides additional information to facilitate comparisons of historical operating results, identify trends in our underlying operating results and provide additional insight and transparency on how we evaluate the business. We use non-GAAP financial measures to budget, make operating and strategic decisions, and evaluate our performance. We have detailed the non-GAAP adjustments that we make in our non-GAAP definitions below. The adjustments generally fall within the categories of non-cash items, other than costs related to the Business Combination. We believe the non-GAAP measures presented herein should always be considered along with, and not as a substitute for or superior to, the related US GAAP financial measures. We have provided the reconciliations between the US GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures below, and we also discuss our underlying US GAAP results throughout the *Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations* section. The non-GAAP financial measures we present may differ from similarly captioned measures presented by other companies. Investors are encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable US GAAP financial measures, and not to rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

#### Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income from operations before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, further adjusted to exclude stock-based compensation, business combination-related costs, and changes in fair value of derivative liabilities. Adjusted EBITDA is a key performance indicator that we use to evaluate our operating performance and in making financial, operating, and planning decisions.

We define Adjusted EBITDA margin as Adjusted EBITDA divided by revenue for the reporting period.

We believe these non-GAAP measures are useful insight to investors by offering a clearer view of Aeries' operating performance. This information is frequently utilized by securities analysts and other stakeholders as a measure of financial information and debt service capabilities, and it has been used by our management for internal reporting and planning procedures, including aspects of our consolidated operating budget and capital expenditures.

The following table provides a reconciliation from net income (US GAAP measure) to Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin (Non-GAAP measures) for the year ended March 31, 2024, and 2023 (in thousands):

		Year Ended March 31,		
	2024		2023	
Net income	\$ 17,25	6 \$	1,706	
Income tax expense	1,87	1	1,060	
Interest income	(27	5)	(191)	
Interest expenses	46	2	185	
Depreciation and amortization	1,35	2	1,172	
EBITDA	\$ 20,66	6 \$	3,932	
Adjustments				
(+) Stock-based compensation	1,62	6	3,805	
(+) Business Combination related costs	3,06	7	946	
(+) Change in fair value of derivative liabilities	(16,16	7)	-	
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 9,19	2 \$	8,683	
(/) Revenue	72,50	9	53,099	
Adjusted EBITDA Margin	12.	7%	16.4%	

Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin include that these measures do not reflect (i) our cash expenditures or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments or foreign exchange gain/loss, (ii) changes in, or cash requirements for, working capital, (iii) significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our outstanding debt, (iv) payments made or future requirements for income taxes, (v) cash requirements for future replacement or payment in depreciated or amortized assets, (vi) stock based compensation costs, (vii) Business Combination related costs, and (viii) change in fair value of derivative liabilities.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation one year after the date these financial statements are issued and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. As of March 31, 2024, the shareholders' equity had a deficit of \$1.9 million. This may raise substantial doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date when these financial statements are available to be filed with the SEC.

The Company acquired approximately \$8.7 million in cash shortly following the closing of the Business Combination, and as of March 31, 2024, it had \$2.1 million in cash and cash equivalent. The outflow of cash since the closing is primarily attributed to payments of transaction expenses related to the Business Combination. In addition, pursuant to the FPAs entered in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, at the end of the contract period of one year under the FPAs, we may be required to pay the maturity consideration (approximately up to \$8 million in cash or a number of Class A ordinary shares valued at \$2.50 per share, at the option of the FPA holders) in respect of the FPA Shares held by the FPA holders. We may not have sufficient cash from operations or cash reserves to pay the maturity consideration in the event the FPA holders elect to receive the maturity consideration in cash. Therefore, we may need to rely on our available debt capacity to pay some or all of the maturity consideration. Payment of the maturity consideration in cash would reduce the amount of cash on hand or available debt capacity to fund our operations, which could adversely affect our ability to make necessary investments, and, therefore, could affect our results of operations.

Our working capital needs are primarily to finance our payroll and other administrative and information technology expenses in advance of the receipt of accounts receivable, as well as increased expenses due to being a public reporting company. Our primary capital requirements include expanding existing operations to support our growth, financing acquisitions and enhancing capabilities, including building certain digital solutions.

The Company has historically financed its operations and expansions with cash generated from operations, the revolving credit facility from Kotak Mahindra Bank, and loans from related parties. As of March 31, 2024, the Company had \$2.1 million in cash and cash equivalents, and the Company also generated overall positive cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024. Management expects to have sufficient cash from the operations, cash reserves and debt capacity for the next 12 months and for the foreseeable future to finance our operations, our growth and expansion plans. In addition, we may attempt to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financing. In April 2024, we received net proceeds of \$4.68 million by selling 2,261,778 newly issued Class A ordinary shares in a private placement at a purchase price of \$2.21 per share. We are in ongoing negotiations with relevant parties to potentially restructure certain of our current liabilities into equity or long-term liabilities. However, there is no guarantee that these measures will achieve the desired objectives, and these is no assurance that we may raise additional financing on terms acceptable to us or at all.

#### Cash Flow for the Year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023

The following table presents net cash provided by operating activities, investing activities and financing activities for the year ended March 31, 2024, and 2023 (in thousands):

	Year Ended March 31,					
		2024		2023	<b>\$</b> Change	% Change
Cash at the beginning of period	\$	1,131	\$	351	\$ 780	222%
Net cash provided by operating activities		(4,299)		2,111	(6,410)	(304)%
Net cash used in investing activities		(1,740)		(1,557)	(183)	12%
Net cash provided by financing activities		7,056		252	6,804	2,700%
Effects of exchange rates on cash		(64)		(26)	(38)	146%
Cash at the end of period	\$	2,084	\$	1,131	\$ 953	<u>84</u> %

#### **Operating** Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended March 31, 2024, decreased by \$6.4 million compared to the prior year. The decline was primarily driven by an increase of accounts receivable by \$5.6 million.

The Net income for the year ended March 31, 2024, increased by \$15.6 million as compared to the prior year, which was offset mainly due to adjustment of \$14.8 million decrease due to the change in fair value of the FPA put option liability and \$1.4 million decrease due to the change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities for the year ended March 31, 2024.



#### **Investing** Activities

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended March 31, 2024, was \$1.7 million, of which \$1.5 million was used for the purchase of property and equipment and \$2.3 million was used for the issuance of loans to affiliates, offset by \$2.1 million generated from loan repayments received from affiliates.

Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended March 31, 2023, was \$1.6 million, of which \$1.6 million was used for the purchase of property and equipment and \$0.8 million was used for the issuance of loans to affiliates, offset by \$0.8 million generated from loan repayments received from affiliates.

#### **Financing** Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended March 31, 2024, was \$7.1 million, primarily from proceeds from the Business Combination of \$8.7 million, the net proceeds from short-term debt of \$2.6 million and proceeds from long-term debt of \$0.9 million; offset by the repayment of long-term debt of \$0.4 million, payment of deferred transaction costs of \$2.3 million, payment of promissory note liability of \$1.5 million, payment of finance lease obligation of \$0.4 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended March 31, 2023, was \$0.3 million, primarily from net proceeds from short term borrowings of \$1.2 million, proceeds from long-term debt of \$0.4 million; partially offset by payment of deferred transaction costs of \$0.8 million, payment of finance lease obligations of \$0.4 million and repayment of long-term debt of \$0.2 million.

#### **Off-balance Sheet Arrangements**

As of March 31, 2024 and currently, we do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements.

#### **New Accounting Pronouncements**

See "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies", in the notes to the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

#### **Application of Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates**

#### General

The following is a summary of the basis of preparation and significant accounting policies which have been applied in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. A full description of significant accounting policies is provided in our consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Management Estimates**

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Our critical accounting policies are those that materially affect our consolidated financial statements and involve difficult, subjective or complex judgments by management. A thorough understanding of these critical accounting policies is essential when reviewing our consolidated financial statements. We believe that the critical accounting policies listed below involve the most difficult management decisions because they require the use of significant estimates and assumptions as described above. Please see Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for the complete list of significant accounting policies and estimates.

#### Forward Purchase Agreement

On November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, WWAC entered into Forward Purchase Agreements (the "FPAs") with Sandia Investment Management LP, Sea Otter Trading, LLC, YA II PN, Ltd and Meteora Capital Partners, LP (collectively known as "FPA holders") for an OTC Equity Prepaid Forward Transaction. Subscription Agreements (the "Subscription Agreements") were also executed alongside the FPA for subscription of the underlying FPA shares by the FPA holders either through a new issuance or purchase of shares from existing holders ("Recycled Shares"). The FPAs and Subscription Agreements have been accounted for separately as discussed subsequently.

The FPAs stipulate a new issuance of 3,711,667 Class A ordinary shares to the FPA holders at the redemption price (i.e., \$10.69 per share) and purchase of 288,333 Recycled Shares through redemption reversals. The amount to be received by the Company from the FPA holders on such issuance of approximately 3,711,667 shares is held with the FPA holders as prepaid with respect to the forward transaction. Pursuant to the FPA, the Company was obligated to pay a prepayment amount of \$42.8 million which was settled as below:

- \$39.7 million against the consideration receivable by the Company for a new issuance of class A ordinary shares to the FPA holders; and
- \$3.1 million representing the cash paid by the Company to the FPA holders to fund the purchase price of the Recycled Shares.

At the end of the contract period of one year, for each unsold share held by the FPA holders, the Company is obligated to pay the FPA holders an amount of \$2 in cash or a variable number of the Company's Class A ordinary shares in order to provide a return of \$2.5 per FPA share determined based on the 30-day VWAP of the Company's Class A ordinary shares ("Maturity Consideration"). The FPA holders have the option to select the form of Maturity Consideration.

The Optional Termination Right held by the FPA holders economically results in the prepaid forward contract being akin to a written put option with the purchaser's right to sell all or a portion of the 4,000,000 Class A ordinary shares to the Company. The Company is entitled over the 12-month maturity period to either a return of the prepayment or the underlying shares, which the FPA holders will determine at their sole discretion depending on the movement in the Company's share price.

The FPAs consist of two freestanding financial instruments that are accounted for as follows:

- The total prepayment of \$42.8 million ("Prepayment Amount") which includes a net cash outflow of \$3.1 million as discussed above. The Prepayment Amount has been accounted for as a reduction to equity to reflect the substance of the overall arrangement as a net repurchase of the Recycled Shares and sale of newly issued shares to the FPA holders pursuant to a subscription agreement without receipt of the underlying consideration of \$39.7 million.
- 2) The "FPA Put Option" includes both the in-substance written put option and the expected Maturity Consideration. The FPA Put Option is a derivative instrument that the Company has recorded as a liability and measured at fair value in accordance with ASC 480-10. The instrument is subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date, with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The initial fair value of the FPA put option liability at the Closing Date was \$25.0 million, and the fair value as on March 31, 2024 was \$42.3 million, which is reported as a FPA put option liability in our consolidated balance sheet. The change in the fair value of the FPA put option liability of \$17.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been recorded to change in fair value of forward purchase agreement put option liability in the Company's consolidated statements of operations.

#### Derivative Financial Instruments and FPA Put Option Liability

The Company accounts for the warrants in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40 under which the Instruments (as defined below) do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. The Company accounts for the FPA put option liability as a financial liability in accordance with the guidance in ASC 480-10. Warrants and FPA are collectively referred as the "Instruments". The Instruments are subjected to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in the Company's consolidated statement of operations. See Note 18 for further discussion of the pertinent terms of the warrants and Note 20 for further discussion of the methodology used to determine the value of the Instruments.

In December 2023, the Company settled vendor balances amounting to \$0.9 million owed to certain vendors by issuing 361,338 Class A ordinary shares. If the VWAP of the Class A ordinary shares over the three trading days immediately preceding the agreement date is higher than the VWAP over the three trading days immediately preceding the six-month anniversary from the agreement date, additional Class A ordinary shares of the Company would need to be issued for the difference. This represents a derivative financial instrument written by the Company which has been accounted for in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40 including subsequent re-measurement at fair value with the changes being recognized in Company's consolidated statement of operations.

For derivative financial instruments that are accounted for as liabilities, the derivative instrument is initially recorded at its fair value at inception and is then re-valued at each reporting date, with changes in the fair value reported in the statements of operations. The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is evaluated at the end of each reporting period. Derivative liabilities are classified in the consolidated balance sheets as current or noncurrent based on whether or not net-cash settlement or conversion of the instrument could be required within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

#### Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value should maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value.

Hierarchical levels which are directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to the valuation of these assets or liabilities are as follows:

Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 – Inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly. Such prices may be based upon quoted prices for identical or comparable securities in active markets or inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and reflect management's best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.

A financial instrument's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

#### Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Except for the warrants and FPA as described above, the fair value of the Company's assets and liabilities, which qualify as financial instruments under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures," approximates the carrying amounts represented in the consolidated balance sheets.

#### **Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest**

Redeemable noncontrolling interest represents the portion of equity in a subsidiary that is not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Such redeemable noncontrolling interest include exchange agreements with a call and a put option where the minority interest investors' respective ordinary shares in AARK and ATG will be exchanged for Class A ordinary shares based on the exchange ratio as set out in the Exchange agreements. The exchange is subject to certain exchange conditions and cash redemption features which are outside of the Company's control. The redeemable noncontrolling interest has initially been measured at the proportionate share in the net assets of the subsidiaries in accordance with ASC 805-40-30-3. Subsequently, the carrying value is adjusted with an allocation of the subsidiaries' earnings based on ownership interest. Noncontrolling interest that has redemption features outside the Company's control is accounted for as redeemable noncontrolling interest and is recorded as mezzanine equity and is reported between liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficit) in the consolidated balance sheets.

#### Accounts receivable, net

The Company records a receivable when an unconditional right to consideration exists, such that only the passage of time is required before payment of consideration is due. Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. If revenue recognized on a contract exceeds the billings, then the Company records an unbilled receivable for that excess amount, which is included as part of accounts receivable, net in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Prior to the Company's adoption of ASU 2016-13, Topic 326 Financial Instruments – Credit Losses ("Topic 326"), the accounts receivable balance was reduced by an allowance for doubtful accounts that was determined based on the Company's assessment of the collectability of customer accounts. Under Topic 326, accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowance for credit losses. The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses based on a combination of factors. In establishing any required allowance, management considers historical losses adjusted for current market conditions, the current receivables aging, current payment terms and expectations of forward-looking loss estimates. Allowance for credit losses was \$1.2 million as of March 31, 2024 and allowance for doubtful accounts was \$0 as of March 31, 2023, and is classified within "Accounts Receivable, net" in the consolidated balance sheets. See "Recent accounting pronouncements adopted" section below for information pertaining to the adoption of Topic 326.

The following tables provides details of the Company's allowance for credit losses (in thousands):

	Ma	r Ended arch 31, 2024
Opening balance as of March 31, 2023	\$	0
Transition period adjustment on accounts receivables (through retained earnings) pursuant to ASC 326		149
Adjusted balance as of April 1, 2023	\$	149
Additions charged to cost and expense		1,538
Write-off charged against the allowance		(424)
Closing balance as of March 31, 2024	\$	1,263

#### **Revenue** recognition

We account for revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (ASC 606). A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of account in ASC 606. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods or providing services. The contract transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. All of our material sources of revenue are derived from contracts with customers. Refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional information regarding our revenue recognition policy.

#### Internal Use Software Costs

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to internal use software acquired, modified, or developed related to the Company's platform. These capitalized costs are primarily related to salaries and other personnel costs. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once the application development stage has been reached, internal and external costs, if direct and incremental, are capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalization ceases upon completion of all substantial testing. Maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred. Refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional information regarding this policy.

#### **Employee Benefit Plan**

The Company provides for a gratuity obligation through a defined benefit retirement plan (the "Gratuity Plan") covering eligible employees in India under Payments of Gratuity Act, 1972. The cost of providing benefits under this plan is determined based on actuarial valuation at each year end. Actuarial valuation is carried out for gratuity using the projected unit credit method. The Company reviews its assumptions on an annual basis and makes modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when it is appropriate to do so. Refer to Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report for additional information regarding this policy.

#### Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide this information.

#### Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

This information appears following Item 15 of this annual report and is included herein by reference.

#### Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On August 11, 2024, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company approved the dismissal of, and dismissed, KNAV CPA LLP ("KNAV") as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm. KNAV was the independent registered public accounting firm of the Company since February 1, 2024. Prior to the completion of the Company's business combination with AARK, KNAV had been the independent registered public accounting firm of AARK since 2022.

KNAV's report on AARK's carve-out consolidated financial statements, as of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 (as restated) (the "AARK Financial Statements") did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or accounting principle, except that the report of KNAV on the AARK Financial Statements contained an explanatory paragraph which noted that the AARK Financial Statements have been restated to correct certain misstatements.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024 and the subsequent interim period, there were no "disagreements" (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) between the Company and KNAV on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of KNAV, would have caused KNAV to make reference to the subject matter of such disagreements in their reports on the Company's consolidated financial statements for such fiscal periods except with respect to the below.

In connection with the audit of the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, KNAV advised the Company of its need to expand the scope of the procedures related to revenue recognition for certain contracts in the Middle East and APAC region. During the course of considering the request of KNAV, the Company determined that its revenue arrangements (and the accounting for those arrangements) require greater auditing resources to attest in a timely manner. As a result of this determination, the Company decided that it needed to engage an independent accountant that is located close to the Company's accounting operations, in India, and therefore is more readily accessible to the Company than is KNAV. Accordingly, the Company's Audit Committee determined to engage Manohar Chowdhry & Associates ("MCA"), as its principal independent accountant.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024 and the subsequent interim period, there were no "reportable events" as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K, except as set forth above and below.

As previously disclosed in Item 4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023, the Company concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2023 due to certain material weaknesses that are primarily attributable to improper segregation of duties, inadequate processes for timely recording of significant events and material transactions, and inadequate design and implementation of information and communication policies, procedures and monitoring activities. The subject matters of this reportable event were discussed by the Audit Committee with KNAV.

On August 11, 2024, the Audit Committee appointed MCA as the successor independent registered public accounting firm. MCA will serve as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2024 and the subsequent interim period, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf consulted MCA regarding: (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company's consolidated financial statements, and neither a written report nor oral advice was provided to the Company that was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any accounting, auditing, or financial reporting issue, or (ii) any matter that was either the subject of a "disagreement," as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.



#### Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

#### **Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures**

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of March 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below.

#### Management's Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

As required by SEC rules and regulations implementing of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of our company,
- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors, and
- provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company's annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024. In making these assessments, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control— Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of March 31, 2024, due to the material weaknesses described below.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of internal controls from our independent registered public accounting firm due to our status as an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act.

#### Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

On December 11, 2023, the Company concluded that it should restate certain of its previously issued carve-out consolidated financial statements of AARK and subsidiaries to correct the misreporting of basic and diluted earnings per share and number of issued and paid-up common stock, resulting from one of the material weaknesses described below.

In connection with this restatement, our management identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting that are primarily attributable to improper segregation of duties, inadequate processes for timely recording of significant events and material transactions, and inadequate design and implementation of information and communication policies, procedures, and monitoring activities.

#### **Remediation Plan**

In light of these facts, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has implemented processes and controls and other post-closing procedures, and has concluded that, notwithstanding the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described above, the consolidated financial statements for the periods covered by and included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in conformity with US GAAP.

To address our material weaknesses, we are improving our processes of reviewing financial statements, increasing our communication with thirdparty service providers and implementing additional procedures to ensure that the review of the Company's financial statements is supported by sufficient documentation to determine accuracy. As part of this effort, the Company has engaged an outside consultant to assist with the development and implementation of the necessary internal controls and reporting procedures. We will not be able to fully remediate these material weaknesses until these steps have been completed and the controls have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time.

#### **Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls**

While management is working to remediate the material weaknesses, there is no assurance that these remediation efforts, when economically feasible and sustainable, will successfully remediate the identified material weaknesses. If we are unable to establish and maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, the reliability of our financial reporting, investor confidence in us and the value of our Class A ordinary shares could be materially and adversely affected and the Company could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Effective process and controls over financial reporting is necessary for us to provide reliable and timely financial reports and are designed to reasonably detect and prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. For as long as we are a "smaller reporting company" under the U.S. securities laws, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404. An independent assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting could lead to financial statement restatements and require us to incur the expense of remediation.

Moreover, we do not expect that process and controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system's objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. The failure of our control systems to prevent error or fraud could materially adversely impact us.

#### Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In light of the material weaknesses described above, we are taking the actions described above to remediate such material weaknesses. Except as described above, there was not any change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### Item 9B. Other Information.

None of the Company's directors or officers adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement during the Company's fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024, as such terms are defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

#### Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not applicable.

#### PART III

#### Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The following sets forth certain information, as of September 27, 2024, concerning the persons who serve as directors and executive officers of ATI.

Name	Age	Title
Executive Officers		
Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	56	Chief Executive Officer and Director
Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair	53	Chief Financial Officer
Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan Nambiar	57	Chief Technology Officer
Bhisham (Ajay) Khare	47	Chief Revenue Officer & Chief Operating Officer – Americas
Daniel S. Webb	39	Chief Investment Officer and Director
Narayan Shetkar	48	Chief Strategy Officer
Non-Employee Directors		
Venu Raman Kumar	63	Director and Chairman of the Board
Alok Kochhar	67	Director
Biswajit Dasgupta	58	Director
Nina B. Shapiro	76	Director
Ramesh Venkataraman	58	Director

#### **Executive Officers**

**Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery** has served as Chief Executive Officer and a director of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023, and as Chief Executive Officer of ATG since co-founding ATG in 2012. Mr. Panikassery is responsible for planning and executing the strategic direction and ongoing operations for the company. With experience across multiple industries, Mr. Panikassery has set up and operationalized unique business improvement and enhancement solutions for clients under tailored and differentiated engagement models.

Prior to joining ATG, Mr. Panikassery was the global controller of CBay Systems (later M\*Modal Inc.). He played an instrumental role in some of the key acquisitions such as MedQuist, Spheris and Multimodal. He also assisted with planning and executing the integration and synergy realizing strategies. Prior to that, he was a senior partner at one of India's oldest accounting firms where he specialized in audit, mergers and acquisitions, advisory services and corporate structuring for large clients in technology, business process outsourcing, banking and financial services. He was also responsible for setting up new practice areas.

In March 2021, Mr. Panikassery successfully led and closed an acquisition of a carve-out from Nuance Communications Inc. (now renamed as DeliverHealth Solutions (DHS)) which is a world leading healthcare outsourcing services and platform business.

Mr. Panikassery is a member of the Managing Committee of ASSOCHAM, India's oldest Chamber of Commerce, and Co-Chairman of India's National Council for Business Facilitation and Global Competitiveness.

We believe that Mr. Panikassery's extensive experience in launching and growing businesses, leading M&A transactions, and his deep knowledge of our company qualifies him to serve on our Board.

*Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair* has served as our Chief Financial Officer since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023. Mr. Nair was an executive at McLaren Technology Acquisition Corporation (NASDAQ: MLAI) from February 2021 to March 2023, most recently serving as their Chief Financial Officer. In that position, he played a leadership role in their NASDAQ initial public offering in November 2021. Prior to joining McLaren Technology Acquisition Corporation, Mr. Nair formulated the AI and Machine Learning strategy and created the AI/ML roadmap for Credit One Bank, a large credit card issuer in the United States from July 2019 to June 2020. In addition to his corporate roles, Mr. Nair was a consultant to GE Capital, Prudential Investment Management and other Fortune 500 companies, focusing on finance, risk management and technology from December 2004 to January 2010. Mr. Nair is currently a nominee for the Board of Directors of Fintech Eco System Development Corp (NASDAQ: FEXD) for their contemplated business combination with Afinoz. Mr. Nair earned his MBA from Columbia Business School, New York, and completed his post-graduate diploma in Management from IIM Bangalore and Bachelor of Technology (Hons) from Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur.

Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan Nambiar has served as Chief Technology Officer of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023, and of ATG since 2015. Mr. Nambiar is responsible for providing technology direction and overseeing all technology related operations for the company, including global research & development, information technology and customer support operations for clients, as well as driving Aeries incubated portfolio of products.

Mr. Nambiar is a technology leader with extensive industry experience building enterprise, cloud & mobility products across diverse verticals. He is passionate about building world class software products for real world solutions using cutting edge technology innovations.

In March 2021, Mr. Nambiar was part of the team that closed an acquisition of a carve-out from Nuance Communications Inc. (now renamed as DeliverHealth Solutions (DHS)) which is a world leading Healthcare outsourcing services and platform Business. Mr. Nambiar served an interim Chief Technology Officer role post-carve out during the first year of operations to facilitate stand-up activities for Nuance Communications Inc.

Prior to joining ATG, Mr. Nambiar was Chief Technology Officer at CBay Systems (later M\*Modal Inc.), a leading voice recognition and healthcare documentation technology company. At CBay, he was responsible for global technology vision, product engineering roadmap, technical support and infrastructure management. Prior to CBay, he was instrumental in setting up Avaya's India Offshore Development Centre for their customer relationship management, interactive voice response, Predictive Dialers and Unified Messaging products through a dedicated offshore vendor model that was later acquired by Avaya. He also worked in the storage management industry at Legato Systems (later EMC) in multiple global locations and across various product engineering roles.

**Bhisham** (Ajay) Khare has served as Chief Revenue Officer and Chief Operating Officer for the Americas division of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023, and of ATG since 2015. Mr. Khare is responsible for our US operations including client management, business development, front-end communication, transition and business operations. He also works closely with private equities and their portfolio companies in defining global delivery solutions & strategies.

Mr. Khare is a successful executive with experience in business operations, strategic planning, & client relationship. He has a diverse background with deep knowledge of all aspects of the life cycle of organizations including start-up, funding, early-stage planning, implementation, mergers and acquisitions, private equity driven deals and integrations.

Mr. Khare's past experience includes founding WhiteSpace Health, a startup with focus on healthcare data analytics and business intelligence. From 2012 until 2015, he was the Vice President of Strategic Operations for M\*Modal, a healthcare technology company, and was instrumental in new product launch for revenue cycle management, profit and loss for clinical documentation business with \$250 million revenue, and managing cost initiative for delivery organization. From 2007 until 2012, Mr. Khare managed worldwide operations for CBay systems and was part of the team that acquired MedQuist & Spheris in private equity funded deals.



*Daniel S. Webb* has served as Chief Investment Officer and a director of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023. Prior to the Business Combination, from March 2021 to November 2023, he served as WWAC's Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and a director. From August 2017 to March 2021, Mr. Webb was an investment banker at Bank of America. From March 2013 to August 2017 and from March 2010 to June 2012, he served as an investment banker at Citi. From June 2012 to March 2013 he served as a private equity investor at HarbourVest Partners. As an investment banker and private equity investor, Mr. Webb worked on transactions totaling approximately \$40 billion in transaction value for disruptive Internet companies. In his career as an investment banker at Bank of America and Citi, he advised leading technology companies on their initial public offerings such as Snap, Carvana, Pinterest, Delivery Hero, Arista Networks, Freescale Semiconductor, Fiverr, Grubhub, Cardlytics, Revolve, SurveyMonkey, Zulily, and Trivago. He also helped raise public and private capital for leading technology companies such as Microsoft, Pinterest, Costar, Thrasio, Fiverr, Fanatics, Grubhub, Cardlytics, Overstock, MakeMyTrip, Purple, GSV Capital, Paytm, Integral Ad Science, and Thrillist. In addition, he advised on one of the largest Internet acquisitions in history, Just Eat Takeaway's acquisition of Grubhub as well as other transactions such as Credit Karma's sale to Intuit, Cardlytics' acquisition of Dosh, Bonobos' sale to Walmart, Reachlocal's sale to Gannett, and Aristocrat Leisure's acquisition of Plarium. Mr. Webb previously worked in private equity at HarbourVest Partners where he directed investments in Lightower Fiber Networks, Sidera Networks, and Confie Seguros. Mr. Webb holds a Master of Accountancy and Bachelor of Science in Accounting from Brigham Young University.

We believe that Mr. Webb's extensive experience in advising on M&A transactions and raising public and private capital qualifies him to serve on our Board.

*Narayan Shetkar* has served as Chief Strategy Officer of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023, and of ATG since 2021. Mr. Shetkar is responsible for supporting and executing the Company's inorganic growth strategy and corporate development initiatives including mergers and acquisitions, investments, divestments, business combinations and structuring. Mr. Shetkar has previously served senior roles in management consulting, corporate banking and investment banking organizations including InCredMAPE Advisory, Centrum Capital and Deloitte. He has successfully closed multiple corporate transactions across mergers and acquisitions, private equity and structured financing. He is a chartered accountant from India and received a master's degree in commerce from the University of Mumbai.

#### **Non-Employee Directors**

*Venu Raman Kumar* has served as non-executive Chairman of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023, and of ATG since co-founding ATG in 2012. Mr. Kumar is a successful tech entrepreneur and private equity investor. He is the founder and former Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of M\*Modal Inc., a leading voice recognition, healthcare document technology company that he developed from a start-up until it was sold to One Equity Partners in 2012.

Since then, he has actively invested in several ventures across India, Middle East and USA. He is also a limited partner in three large international private equity funds. He is on the board of THub, one of India's most successful tech incubators and accelerators. Mr. Kumar was the winner of the Ernst and Young's Entrepreneur of the Year 2007 award for Maryland, USA, and was also honored with Maryland International Leadership Award by the World Trade Centre Institute in the same year. He was appointed as Chairman of Global Entrepreneur Network India at the Global Entrepreneurs Summit in 2017.

In addition to serving as the non-executive Chairman of Aeries, Mr. Kumar's latest venture, CASHe, is a fin-tech platform lending to millennials in India using AI, big data analytics and blockchain technology.

We believe that Mr. Kumar's extensive experience as a successful tech entrepreneur and private equity investor, along with his active leadership roles in various ventures and prestigious organizations globally, qualify him to serve as our Chairman of the Board.

*Alok Kochhar* has served as a director of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023. Mr. Kochhar brings with him his long-standing financial experience. He had a long career spanning over three decades with Bank of America, wherein he developed holistic knowledge of financial environments, regulatory frameworks, and market challenges across the region. Mr. Kochhar today is a senior advisor at Boston Consulting Group and continues to advise, guide and mentor several technology and financial services organizations. Mr. Kochhar holds an MBA from the Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad and a degree in chemical engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi.

Mr. Kochhar's extensive financial expertise, combined with his deep understanding of financial and consulting domains, qualify him to serve on our Board.

*Biswajit Dasgupta* has served as a director of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023. Mr. Dasgupta is a partner at JRC Corporate Consulting and Senior Advisor at Arthur D. Little. Mr. Dasgupta served as the Chief Investment Officer and Head of Global Markets at Emirates Investment Bank, a Board Director of EIB Enhanced Liquidity Fund, Executive Director of Treasury at Abu Dhabi Investment Company. He has an extensive experience in treasury, institutional banking, corporate banking, investment sales, product development and debt capital markets. Mr. Dasgupta is a chartered accountant from India and a received a Bachelor of Commerce from Sri Ram College of Commerce. He also holds certifications in Fintech from Harvard University and Financial Markets from ACI FMA.

Mr. Dasgupta's extensive experience in consulting, investment and finance qualifies him to serve on our Board.

*Nina B. Shapiro* has served as a director of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023. Ms. Shapiro has over 30 years of international experience in project finance and business development. She held senior leadership and operating positions at the World Bank and its private sector arm, the International Finance Corporation ("IFC"), including as the World Bank Director of the Project Finance and Guarantee Department, and as VP Finance and Treasurer of the IFC. In these roles, she worked extensively with senior government and banking officials and with the private sector to develop major infrastructure, financial and manufacturing projects, as well as to open domestic capital markets such as China, Brazil and the UAE. Since retiring from the World Bank in 2011, Ms. Shapiro has taken on a full-time role as a corporate and advisory board member. Ms. Shapiro holds a bachelor's degree from Smith College and a Master of Business Administration from Harvard Business School.

Ms. Shapiro's extensive experience in project finance and business development, along with her leadership roles in international financial organizations, qualify her to serve on our Board.

**Ramesh Venkataraman** has served as a director of Aeries since the consummation of the Business Combination in November 2023. Mr. Venkataraman has over 32 years of experience in private equity investing and management consulting in the technology, telecom, software, industrial, financial services industries across both developed and emerging markets. Until 2007, he has been a partner with Mckinsey & Company in the US, UK, and India, where he led the firm's technology and telecom practice in Asia. Since then, he has been a private equity investor and investment advisor focused on Europe, Asia and The Middle East. From 2007 to 2010 he was a managing director with Bridgepoint in London where he lead the technology buyout sector. From 2011 to 2012 and since 2016, Mr. Venkataraman has been the founder and managing partner at Avest, an investment platform advising a UAE sovereign wealth fund on its direct private equity investments and portfolio of business holdings. Between 2012 and 2016, Mr. Venkataraman held the private equity business of Avest's joint venture with Samena Capital and was a member of Samena's board of directors. Mr. Venkataraman holds a bachelor's degree in electronics and communication engineering from the Indian Institute of Technology - Kharagpur, a Master of Philosophy in International Relations from Oxford University, and a MPA in Economics and Public Policy from Princeton University.

Mr. Venkataraman's extensive experience in management consulting, investment and board advisory across diverse industries qualifies him to serve on our Board.

#### Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between any of our directors and executive officers.

#### **Board Composition**

The primary responsibilities of the Board are to provide oversight, strategic guidance, counseling and direction to the Company's management. When considering whether directors and director nominees have the experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, taken as a whole, to enable the Board to satisfy its oversight responsibilities effectively in light of its business and structure, the Board is expected to focus primarily on each person's background and experience as reflected in the information discussed in each of the directors' individual biographies set forth above in order to provide an appropriate mix of experience and skills relevant to the size and nature of its business. The Board is divided into the following three classes, with members of each class serving staggered three-year terms:

- Class I, consisting of Alok Kochhar, Biswajit Dasgupta and Nina B. Shapiro, whose terms will expire at the Company's first annual meeting of shareholders to be held after the consummation of the Business Combination;
- Class II, consisting of Daniel S. Webb and Ramesh Venkataraman, whose term will expire at the Company's second annual meeting of shareholders to be held after the consummation of the Business Combination; and
- Class III, consisting of Venu Raman Kumar and Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, whose term will expire at the Company's third annual meeting of shareholders to be held after the consummation of the Business Combination.

At each annual meeting of shareholders to be held after the initial classification, the successors to directors whose terms are then expiring will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting following their election and until their successors are duly elected and qualified. This classification of the Board may have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in the Company's control or management. The Company's directors may be removed by a special resolution requiring at least 75% of the votes cast by the holders of the issued ordinary shares, present in person or represented by proxy at the shareholder meeting, and entitled to vote on such matter.

#### **Director Independence**

Nasdaq listing standards generally require that a majority of the Board be independent. As a controlled company, we are largely exempt from such requirements. An "independent director" is defined generally as a person other than an officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries or any other individual having a relationship with the Company which, in the opinion of the Board, could interfere with the director's exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The Board determined that each of the directors on the Board other than Venu Raman Kumar, Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery and Daniel S. Webb qualify as independent directors, and the Board consists of a majority of "independent directors," in compliance with the SEC and Nasdaq listing rules relating to director independence requirements. In addition, we are subject to the rules of the SEC and Nasdaq relating to the membership, qualifications, and operations of the audit committee, as discussed below.

#### **Board Leadership Structure**

The Board determined that it should maintain the flexibility to select the Chairperson of the Board and adjust its board leadership structure based on circumstances existing from time to time and based on criteria that are in the Company's best interests and the best interests of its shareholders, including the composition, skills, diversity and experience of the board and its members, specific challenges faced by the Company or the industry in which it operates and governance efficiency. Currently, the Board has separated the roles of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairperson, which are held by Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery and Venu Raman Kumar, respectively.

#### Board Role in Risk Oversight

One of the key functions of the Board is informed and involved oversight of Company's risk management process related to the Company and its business. This oversight function is administered directly through the Board as a whole, as well as through various standing committees of the Board that address risks inherent in their respective areas of oversight. In particular, the Board is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure and the Company's audit committee has the responsibility to consider and discuss the Company's accounting, reporting, financial practices, including the integrity of its financial statements, the surveillance of administrative and financial controls, including major financial risk exposures, and the steps its management will take to monitor and control such exposures, including guidelines and policies to govern the process by which risk assessment and management is undertaken. The audit committee also monitors compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The compensation committee assesses and monitors whether the Company's compensation plans, policies and programs comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements. The nominating and corporate governance committee monitors the effectiveness of the Company's governance practices and procedures. In addition, the Board will receive periodic detailed operating performance reviews from management.

#### **Controlled Company Exemption**

The Class V Shareholder has voting rights equal to 51% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a class in connection with the appointment or removal of directors. As a result, Aeries is deemed a "controlled company" within the meaning of the Nasdaq's corporate governance standards. Under these corporate governance standards, a company of which more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held by an individual, a group or another company is a "controlled company" and may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance standards, including the requirements to have: (i) a board of directors composed of a majority of independent directors; (ii) a compensation committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities; (iii) a nominating and corporate governance ecommittee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter addressing the committee's purpose and responsibilities; until the Class V ordinary share is automatically forfeited and cancelled upon the exchange of all AARK ordinary shares held by Mr. Kumar, Aeries may utilize these exemptions. While we do not intend to rely on these exemptions, if we determine to do so in the future, shareholders of Aeries may not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to all of these corporate governance requirements. If Aeries ceases to be a "controlled company" and its shares continue to be listed on Nasdaq, Aeries will be required to comply with these standards and, depending on the Board's independence determination with respect to its then-current directors, Aeries may be required to add additional directors to its board in order to achieve such compliance within the applicable transition periods.

#### Committees of the Board

The Company has an audit committee, a compensation committee, and a nominating and corporate governance committee, each of which have the composition and responsibilities described below. The Company's board of directors may from time to time establish other committees. Members will serve on these committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by the board of directors of the Company. Each committee operates under a charter approved by the board of directors of the Company. Copies of each charter are posted on the *Investor Relations – Corporate Governance* section of our website at *https://www.aeriestechnology.com*. Our website and the information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is not deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and is not considered part of, this report.

The Company's president and chief executive officer and other executive officers regularly report to the non-executive directors and the audit committee to ensure effective and efficient oversight of our activities and to assist in proper risk management and the ongoing evaluation of management controls. We believe that the leadership structure of the Company's board of directors will provide appropriate risk oversight of the Company's activities.

#### Audit Committee

The Company's audit committee is comprised of Alok Kochhar, Biswajit Dasgupta and Nina B. Shapiro. Nina B. Shapiro is the chairperson of the audit committee. Alok Kochhar, Biswajit Dasgupta and Nina B. Shapiro each meet the requirements for independence and financial literacy under the current Nasdaq listing standards and SEC rules and regulations, including Rule 10A-3. In addition, Alok Kochhar, Biswajit Dasgupta and Nina B. Shapiro each qualify as an "audit committee financial expert" as defined in applicable SEC rules.

The audit committee's responsibilities include, among other things:

- (1) appointing, compensating, retaining, evaluating, terminating and overseeing the Company's independent registered public accounting firm;
- (2) reviewing the adequacy of the Company's system of internal controls and the disclosure regarding such system of internal controls contained in the Company's periodic filings;
- (3) pre-approving all audit and permitted non-audit services and related engagement fees and terms for services provided by the Company's independent auditors;
- (4) reviewing with the Company's independent auditors their independence from management;
- (5) reviewing, recommending and discussing various aspects of the financial statements and reporting of the financial statements with management and the Company's independent auditors; and
- (6) establishing procedures for the confidential anonymous submission of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal controls or auditing matters.

#### Compensation Committee

The Company's compensation committee is comprised of Alok Kochhar and Nina B. Shapiro. Alok Kochhar is the chairperson of the compensation committee. The composition of the compensation committee meets the requirements for independence under current Nasdaq listing standards and SEC rules and regulations. Each member of the committee is a non-employee director, as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

The compensation committee's responsibilities include, among other things:

- (1) setting the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer and reviewing and approving or making recommendation to the Board regarding the compensation of the other executive officers of the Company;
- (2) reviewing on a periodic basis and making recommendations to the Board regarding director compensation;
- (3) reviewing and approving or making recommendation to the Board regarding the Company's cash and equity-based benefit plans and administering the Company's plans according to the plan; and
- (4) Reviewing and approving, or making recommendations to the Board regarding, the Company's cash and equity-based benefit plans, and administering the Company's plans in accordance with their terms.

The charter also provides that the compensation committee may, in its sole discretion, retain or obtain the advice of a compensation consultant, legal counsel or other adviser and is directly responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of any such adviser. However, before engaging or receiving advice from a compensation consultant, external legal counsel or any other adviser, the compensation committee will consider the independence of each such adviser, including the factors required by Nasdaq and the SEC.

## Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and corporate governance committee is comprised of Alok Kochhar, Biswajit Dasgupta and Ramesh Venkataraman. Biswajit Dasgupta is the chairperson of the nominating and corporate governance committee. The composition of the nominating and corporate governance committee meets the requirements for independence under current Nasdaq listing standards and SEC rules and regulations.

The nominating and corporate governance committee's responsibilities include, among other thing:

- (1) identifying, evaluating and making recommendations to the Board regarding nominees for election to the board of directors and its committees;
- (2) developing and making recommendations to the Board regarding corporate governance guidelines and matters;
- (3) overseeing the Company's corporate governance practices; and
- (4) overseeing the evaluation of the Board and individual directors.

## **Shareholder Director Nominees**

Nominations of persons for election to the Board at any annual general meeting of shareholders may be made by or at the direction of the Board or by certain shareholders of the Company.

In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a shareholder, such shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the Company at the Company's principal executive offices at 60 Paya Lebar Road, #08-13, Paya Lebar Square, Singapore. To be timely, a shareholder's notice must have been received not less than 120 calendar days before the date of the Company's proxy statement released to shareholders in connection with the previous year's annual general meeting or, if the Company did not hold an annual general meeting the previous year, or if the date of the current year's annual general meeting has been changed by more than 30 days from the date of the previous year's annual general meeting, then the deadline shall be set by the Board with such deadline being a reasonable time before the Company begins to print and send its related proxy materials.

In addition, a shareholder shall also comply with all of the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth herein.

## **Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation**

None of the members of the compensation committee is or has been at any time one of Aeries' officers or employees, or has ever had any relationship requiring disclosure by the Company under Item 404 of Regulation S-K. None of Aeries' executive officers currently serves, or in the past fiscal year has served, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee (or other board of directors committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of Aeries' Board or compensation committee.

The board of directors of the Company adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is available on the *Investor Relations – Corporate Governance* section of our website at https://aeriestechnology.com/. In addition, we post on the Corporate Governance section of our website all disclosures that are required by law or Nasdaq listing standards any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. The reference to our website address in this report does not include or incorporate by reference the information on our website into this report.

## **Delinquent Section 16 Reports**

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers, directors, and beneficial owners of more than 10% of our equity securities to timely file certain reports regarding ownership of and transactions in our securities with the SEC. Copies of the required filings must also be furnished to us. Section 16(a) compliance was required during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. To our knowledge, during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our officers, directors and greater than 10% beneficial owners were complied with, except for the following late filings: (1) a Form 4 required to be filed by World Webb Acquisition Sponsor, LLC to report the forfeiture of Class B ordinary shares, the conversion of Class B ordinary shares to Class A ordinary shares, and the distribution of private placement warrants and Class A ordinary shares to its members (the "Sponsor Distribution"), in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, which was filed on November 13, 2023; (2) a Form 4 required to be filed by Kumar Venue Raman to report his acquisition of Class A ordinary shares in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, which was filed on November 13, 2023; and (3) a Form 4 required to be filed by Kumar Venue Raman to report his acquisition of Class A ordinary shares in connection with the closing of the Business Combination, which was filed on November 15, 2023;

#### Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Executive Officers

Cayman Islands law does not limit the extent to which a company's memorandum and articles of association may provide for indemnification of directors and executive officers, except to the extent any such provision may be held by the Cayman Islands courts to be contrary to public policy, such as to provide indemnification against willful default, fraud or the consequences of committing a crime. Our memorandum and articles of association provide for indemnification of our directors and executive officers to the maximum extent permitted by law, including for any liability incurred in their capacities as such, except through their own actual fraud, willful neglect, or willful default. We entered into agreements with our directors and executive officers to provide for in our memorandum and articles of association. We have also purchased a policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance that insures our directors and executive officers against the cost of defense, settlement or payment of a judgment in some circumstances and insures us against our obligations to indemnify our directors and executive officers.

## Item 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following is a discussion and analysis of compensation arrangements of our named executive officers. As an "emerging growth company" as defined in the JOBS Act, we are not required to include a Compensation Discussion and Analysis section and have elected to comply with the scaled back disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies.

Throughout this section, unless otherwise noted, "we," the "Company," "us," "our" and similar terms refer to ATG and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, and to Aeries and its subsidiaries after the Business Combination.

## **Aeries Executive Compensation**

Our named executive officers ("NEOs") for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 and their respective positions with Aeries were as follows:

- Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, our Chief Executive Officer
- Bhisham (Ajay) Khare, our Chief Revenue Officer & Chief Operating Officer Americas
- Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan, our Chief Technology Officer

## **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table provides information regarding the compensation provided to our NEOs for the past two fiscal years ended on March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

	<b>Fiscal year</b>				Option		All other	
Name and Principal Position	Ended	5	Salary <sup>(1)</sup>	Bonus <sup>(2)</sup>	Awards <sup>(3)</sup>	con	pensation <sup>(5)</sup>	Total
Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	March 31, 2024	\$	423,705	 -	 -	\$	2,108	\$ 425,813
Chief Executive Officer	March 31, 2023	\$	279,191	\$ 902,074	\$ 5,510,800	\$	3,723	\$ 6,695,787
Bhisham (Ajay) Khare	March 31, 2024	\$	305,758	-	-	\$	-	\$ 305,758
CRO & COO - US Operations	March 31, 2023	\$	240,000	\$ 271,000	-		-	\$ 511,000
Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan	March 31, 2024							
Nambiar		\$	191,257	-	-	\$	$25,000^{(4)}$	\$ 216,257
Chief Technology Officer	March 31, 2023	\$	137,459	\$ 96,000	-		-	\$ 233,459

(1) The amounts in this column reflect the base salary paid to the named executive officers for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "Salary" column, totaling USD 423,705, includes payments made to Mr. Panikassery from April 1, 2023 to November 5, 2023, amounting to INR 13,437,495 equivalent to U.S. dollars of 161,898 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 83 per USD, and from November 6, 2023 to March 31, 2024 amounting to USD 261,807.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "Salary" column, totaling USD 279,191, includes payments made to Mr. Panikassery for the fiscal year 2023, amounting to INR 22,500,000 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 80.59 per USD.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "Salary" column, totaling USD 191,257, includes payments made to Mr. Nambiar from April 1, 2023 to November 5, 2023, amounting to INR 5,782,303 equivalent to U.S. dollars of 69,666 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 83 per USD, and from November 6, 2023 to March 31, 2024 amounting to USD 121,591.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "Salary" column, totaling USD 137,459, includes payments made to Mr. Nambiar for the fiscal year 2023, amounting to INR 11,077,830 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 80.59 per USD.

(2) The amounts in this column represent the amount of discretionary bonus payments earned by each named executive officers in respect of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023. No bonus is expected to be issued with respect to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "Bonus" column, totaling USD 902,074, includes payments made to Mr. Panikassery for the fiscal year 2023, amounting to INR 72,698,107 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 80.59 per USD.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "Bonus" column, totaling USD 96,000, includes payments made to Mr. Nambiar for the fiscal year 2023, amounting to INR 7,736,640 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 80.59 per USD.

- (3) The amounts in this column represent the aggregate grant fair value of option awards granted to each named executive officer in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, computed in accordance with ASC Topic 718. See Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value.
- 4) The amount represents a one-time relocation allowance provided to Mr. Nambiar to relocate from India to the United States.
- (5) The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "All other compensation" column, totaling USD 2,108, includes payments made to Mr. Panikassery for the fiscal year 2024, amounting to INR 175,000 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 83 per USD.

The U.S. dollar amount shown in the "All other compensation" column, totaling USD 3,723, includes payments made to Mr. Panikassery for the fiscal year 2023, amounting to INR 300,000 converted using a currency conversion rate of INR 80.59 per USD.

## Narrative Disclosure to Summary Compensation Table

#### Annual Base Salary

The compensation of our named executive officers is generally determined and approved by the compensation committee and board of directors. The base salaries of each of the named executive officers for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024 are listed below.

Name	20	scal Year 24 Base Salary
Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	\$	423,705
Bhisham (Ajay) Khare	\$	305,758
Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan Nambiar	\$	191,257

#### Annual Performance-Based Bonus Opportunity

From time to time, our board of directors or compensation committee may approve cash bonuses for our executive officers based on certain company performance or as otherwise determined appropriate. The bonus amounts for Mr. Panikassery, Mr. Khare and Mr. Nambiar for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were determined based on their compensation arrangements with ATG or its subsidiaries prior to the Business Combination. These arrangements included Mr. Panikassery's consultancy services agreement, which provided for an incentive in the form of an annual bonus and event-based special bonuses contingent upon the completion of M&A transactions; Mr. Khare's employment offer letter, which provided for an annual bonus determined at the employer's discretion based on certain financial metrics of the business (5% of the net profit after tax, free cash flows and future requirements of funds); and Mr. Nambiar's employment letter, which provided for an annual bonus determined at the discretion of the employer. For additional information regarding the bonus arrangements with our named executive officers for fiscal years ending March 31, 2025 and beyond, please see the sections below titled "*—Executive Employment Agreements*."

#### Equity-Based Incentive Awards

Aeries' equity-based incentive awards are designed to align our interests and those of our shareholders with those of our employees and consultants, including its executive officers. The board of directors or the compensation committee is responsible for approving equity grants. The Company intends to attract, retain and motivate key talents working with the Company, by way of rewarding their high performance and motivate them to contribute to the overall corporate growth and profitability. Additional grants may occur periodically in order to specifically incentivize executives with respect to achieving certain corporate goals or to reward executives for exceptional performance. Aeries may grant equity awards at such times as its board of directors or compensation committee determines appropriate.

Prior to the closing of the Business Combination, ATG had two stock option plans, ATG Management Stock Option Plan 2019, as amended, and ATG Employees Stock Option Plan 2020, as amended. Under the ATG Management Stock Option Plan 2019, as amended, 177,345 options were granted to Mr. Panikassery on September 27, 2019, 59,110 options were granted to Mr. Nambiar on September 27, 2019 and 59,110 options were granted to Mr. Khare on April 1, 2020. Under the ATG Employees Stock Option Plan 2020, as amended, 59,900 options were granted to Mr. Panikassery on July 22, 2022.

Upon the closing of the Business Combination, the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan became effective. The board of directors of the Company approved the Plan on March 11, 2023, subject to approval by the shareholders. The Plan was approved by the Company's shareholders on November 2, 2023 and the Plan became effective upon the consummation of the Business Combination. The maximum number of our Class A ordinary shares that may be issued under the Plan may not exceed 9,031,027 of our Class A ordinary shares, subject to certain adjustments set forth in the Plan.

For additional information regarding the equity awards held by our named executive officers as of March 31, 2024, please see the section below entitled "-Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End."



## **Other Compensation and Employee Benefits**

All of our named executive officers are eligible to participate in Aeries' employee benefit plans, including gratuity, leave encashment, health insurance (including group Mediclaim policy, group term life and personal accident policy), its Employee Provident Fund, Employee Pension Scheme, Employee State Insurance as required by Indian law, and for the U.S.-based employees, medical insurance plan, on the same basis as all of our other employees. We generally do not provide perquisites or personal benefits to the named executive officers.

Aeries maintains a 401(k) plan that provides eligible U.S. employees with an opportunity to save for retirement on a tax advantaged basis. Mr. Khare participates in the 401(k) plan. Eligible employees are able to defer eligible compensation up to certain Internal Revenue Code limits, which are updated annually. Aeries has the ability to make matching and discretionary contributions to the 401(k) plan. Currently, Aeries makes a 4% safe harbor contribution on behalf of its employees to the 401(k) plan.

None of our named executive officers participated in, or earned any benefits under, a nonqualified deferred compensation plan sponsored by Aeries during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. Our board of directors may elect to provide our officers and other employees with nonqualified defined contribution or other nonqualified deferred compensation benefits in the future if it determines that doing so is in Aeries' best interests.

#### **Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End**

The following illustrates outstanding equity incentive awards held by the named executive officers as of March 31, 2024. All equity awards held by our named executive officers as of March 31, 2024 were fully vested.

## **OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END**

	<b>Option Awards</b>						Stock Awards				
	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Unearned Options	Ex	ption sercise Price	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested	Valu Sha Uni Sto Th Ha N	rket ie of ares or ts of ock nat ive ot	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Number of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested	Equity Incentive Plan Awards: Market or Payout Value of Unearned Shares, Units or Other Rights That Have Not Vested
Name (a)	(b)	(c)	(#) (d)	(	\$) (e)	(f)	(#) (g)	(\$)	(h)	(#) (i)	(\$) (j)
Sudhir Appukuttan	177,345 <sup>(1)</sup>	0	0	\$	0.12	30-Oct-25					
Panikassery	59,900 <sup>(2)</sup>	0	0	\$	0.12	21-July-28	0	\$	0	0	0
Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan Nambiar	59,110 <sup>(3)</sup>	0	0	\$	0.12	30-Oct-25	0	\$	0	0	0
Bhisham (Ajay) Khare	59,110 <sup>(4)</sup>	0	0	\$	0.12	30-Mar-26	0	\$	0	0	0

(1)The amount in this column reflects the options granted on September 27, 2019 and vested on October 31, 2020 with an exercise price of \$0.12 under ATG Management Stock Option Plan, 2019, as amended.

(2)The amount in this column reflects the options granted on July 22, 2022 and vested on July 22, 2023 with an exercise price of \$0.12 under the ATG Employees Stock Option Plan 2020, as amended.

(3) The amount in this column reflects the options granted on September 27, 2019 and vested on October 31, 2020 with an exercise price of \$0.12 under ATG Management Stock Option Plan, 2019, as amended.

(4) The amount in this column reflects the options granted on April 1, 2020 and vested on March 31, 2021 with an exercise price of \$0.12 under ATG Management Stock Option Plan, 2019, as amended.



## Executive Employment Agreements; Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Each of our named executive officers is party to an employment agreement, the material terms of which are summarized below.

#### Employment Agreement with Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery

On November 6, 2023, AARK entered into an Employment Agreement with Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery (the "Panikassery Employment Agreement"), effective as of that date. On February 16, 2024, the Panikassery Employment Agreement was assigned to Aeries. Effective June 1, 2024, the Panikassery Employment Agreement was assigned from Aeries to its subsidiary, Aeries Technology Middle East Ltd., and amended and restated to reflect that Mr. Panikassery's employment will be subject to the laws of the UAE, where Mr. Panikassery is a resident.

Under the Panikassery Employment Agreement, Mr. Panikassery's initial annual salary is \$650,000. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, Mr. Panikassery is entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as described in his consulting agreement with the Company or its subsidiary in effect immediately prior to November 6, 2023. Commencing with the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025, Mr. Panikassery will be eligible to receive a target bonus of up to 300% of his base salary based on achieving certain performance criteria which shall be determined by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of Aeries. Under the Panikassery Employment Agreement, as amended, Mr. Panikassery is eligible to receive an initial, fully vested option grant under the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") to purchase 5,151,005 shares at an exercise price equal to the par value per share. The initial option was granted on June 8, 2024. In addition, in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, Mr. Panikassery is eligible to receive a second option grant to purchase up to 1,500,000 shares, which option would have an exercise price of not less than the grant date fair market value of the underlying shares and be subject to service- and performance-based vesting conditions.

If Aeries terminates Mr. Panikassery's employment without "cause" or if he terminates his employment for "good reason" (each as defined in the Panikassery Employment Agreement), then, in addition to any accrued amounts or benefits, Mr. Panikassery will be eligible to receive an amount equal to 18 months of his annual salary, an amount equivalent to his annual benefits and an amount equal to the bonus received during the immediate preceding two years, which amount shall be payable in equal installments (less applicable withholdings and deductions) over a period of 12 months following the termination date.

The Panikassery Employment Agreement contains certain restrictive covenants that apply during and after Mr. Panikassery's employment, including a non-solicitation agreement and an agreement to not disclose confidential information for a two-year period following his termination of employment for any reason. It also includes a non-competition agreement for a one-year period.

## **Employment Agreement with Bhisham Khare**

On November 6, 2023, Aeries Solutions entered into an Employment Agreement with Bhisham (Ajay) Khare (the "Khare Employment Agreement"), which was amended on June 12, 2024, to clarify the terms of Mr. Khare's annual incentive opportunity and the form and terms of the equity award which Mr. Khare is eligible to receive under the Plan.

Under the Khare Employment Agreement, Mr. Khare's initial base salary is \$400,000. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, Mr. Khare is entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as described in his employment agreement with the Company or its subsidiary in effect immediately prior to November 6, 2023. Commencing with the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025, Mr. Khare will be eligible to receive a target bonus of up to 200% of his base salary based on achieving certain performance criteria which shall be determined by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of Aeries.

Under the Khare Employment Agreement, as amended, Mr. Khare is eligible to receive a fully vested restricted share unit award under the Plan for a total of 2,471,360 shares, which award was granted on May 22, 2024.

If Mr. Khare's employment is terminated without "cause" or if he terminates his employment for "good reason" (each as defined in the Khare Employment Agreement), then Mr. Khare will be eligible to receive an amount equal to 18 months of his base salary, an amount equivalent to his annual benefits and an amount equal to the bonus received during the immediate preceding two years, which amount shall be payable in equal installments (less applicable withholdings and deductions) over a period of 12 months following the termination date.

The Khare Employment Agreement contains certain restrictive covenants that apply during and after Mr. Khare's employment, including a nonsolicitation agreement and an agreement to not disclose confidential information for a two-year period following his termination of employment for any reason. The Khare Employment Agreement also includes a non-competition agreement for a one-year period.

## **Employment Agreement with Unnikrishnan Nambiar**

On November 6, 2023, Aeries Solutions entered into an Employment Agreement with Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan Nambiar (the "Nambiar Employment Agreement"), which was amended on June 12, 2024, to clarify the terms of Mr. Nambiar's annual incentive opportunity and the form and terms of the equity award which Mr. Nambiar is eligible to receive under the Plan.

Under the Nambiar Employment Agreement, Mr. Nambiar's initial base salary is \$300,000. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, Mr. Nambiar is entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as described in his employment agreement with the Company or its subsidiary in effect immediately prior to November 6, 2023. Commencing with the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025, Mr. Nambiar will be eligible to receive a target bonus of up to 200% of his base salary based on achieving certain performance criteria which shall be determined by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee of Aeries.

Under the Nambiar Employment Agreement, as amended, Mr. Nambiar is also eligible for to receive an initial, fully vested restricted share unit award for 660,847 shares, which award was granted on May 22, 2024. In addition, subject to stockholder approval of an amendment to the Plan, Mr. Nambiar is eligible to receive an option grant to purchase 400,000 shares, which option will have an exercise price of not less than the grant date fair market value of the underlying shares and be subject to service- and performance-based vesting conditions.

If Mr. Nambiar's employment is terminated without "cause" or if he terminates his employment for "good reason" (each as defined in the Nambiar Employment Agreement), then, in addition to any accrued amounts or benefits, Mr. Nambiar will be entitled to receive any Aeries Solutions Accrued Amounts and an amount equal to 18 months of his base salary, an amount equivalent to his annual benefits and an amount equal to the bonus received during the immediate preceding two years, which amount shall be payable in equal installments (less applicable withholdings and deductions) over a period of 12 months following the termination date.

The Nambiar Employment Agreement contains certain restrictive covenants that apply during and after Mr. Nambiar's employment, including an agreement to not disclose confidential information.



#### **Director Compensation Table**

The following table provides information regarding the compensation provided to our directors for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, excluding the executive director whose compensation has been disclosed above in the Summary Compensation Table.

Name (a)	Fees arned or paid in cash (\$) (b)	Stock awards (\$) (c)	Option awards (\$) (d)	Non-equity incentive plan compensation (\$) (e)	Nonqualified deferred compensation earnings (\$) (f)	All other compensation (\$) (g)	Total (\$) (h)
Venu Raman Kumar	\$ 262,226	-	-	-	-	-	\$ 262,226
Alok Kochhar	\$ 20,171	-	-	-	-	-	\$ 20,171
Biswajit Dasgupta	\$ 20,171	-	-	-	-	-	\$ 20,171
Nina B. Shapiro	\$ 20,171	-	-	-	-	-	\$ 20,171
Ramesh Venkataraman	\$ 20,171	-	-	-	-	-	\$ 20,171
Daniel W. Webb	\$ 1	-	-	-	-	-	1

## **Aeries Director Agreements**

#### Director Agreement with Chairman

On November 6, 2023, Aeries entered into a director service agreement with Mr. Kumar (the "Kumar Director Agreement"). Under the agreement, Mr. Kumar will serve as Chairman of Board and non-executive Chairman of the Company during his directorship. Aeries will pay Mr. Kumar an annual fee of \$650,000 for director services. Commencing with the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, Mr. Kumar is entitled to an annual bonus opportunity, the amount of which shall be determined by the Board, up to 300% of Mr. Kumar's annual fee. Additionally, Mr. Kumar is eligible for a grant of options equal to those granted to the Company's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to the Plan. Mr. Kumar agreed to confidentiality and intellectual property protection provisions as part of the agreement.

## Director Agreements with Executive Directors

On November 6, 2023, Aeries entered into a director service agreement with each of Mr. Panikassery and Mr. Webb (each, an "Executive Director"). Under each agreement, Aeries will pay the Executive Director an annual fee of \$1 for director services. The Executive Director agreed to confidentiality and intellectual property protection provisions as part of the agreement.

## Director Agreements with Non-Executive Directors

On November 6, 2023, Aeries entered into a director service agreement with Mr. Kochhar, Mr. Dasgupta, Ms. Shapiro and Mr. Venkataraman (each, a "Non-Executive Director"). Under the agreement, Aeries will pay the Non-Executive Director an annual fee of \$50,000 for director services. Additionally, the Non-Executive Director is eligible for a grant of up to 75,000 restricted share units pursuant to the Plan. The Non-Executive Director agreed to confidentiality and intellectual property protection provisions as part of the agreement.



## Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters.

The following table sets forth beneficial ownership of Class A ordinary shares as of September 27, 2024 by:

- each person known by Aeries to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of Aeries' outstanding ordinary shares;
- each of Aeries' current directors and named executive officers;
- all of Aeries' current directors and executive officers as a group; and
- the Class V Shareholder.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC, which generally provide that a person has beneficial ownership of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power over that security. Under those rules, beneficial ownership includes securities that the individual or entity has the right to acquire, such as through the exercise of options, within 60 days of September 27, 2024, the most recent practicable date prior to the date of this report. Shares subject to options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of September 27, 2024 are considered outstanding and beneficially owned by the person holding such options for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as noted by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, based on the information provided to Aeries, Aeries believes that the persons and entities named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them.

	Number of Class A ordinary shares Beneficially Owned	% of Class A ordinary shares Beneficially Owned	Voting % in Aeries <sup>(1)</sup>
Name and Address of Beneficial Owners			
Five percent holders:			
Venu Raman Kumar <sup>(2)</sup>	28,098,530	61.6%	59.8%
Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	5,151,005	11.6%	11.4
Class V Shareholder			
Meet Atul Doshi <sup>(3)</sup>	-	-	1.3%
Executive Officers and Directors <sup>(4)</sup>			
Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	5,151,005	11.6%	11.4
Unnikrishnan (Unni) Balakrishnan Nambiar <sup>(5)</sup>	660,847	1.5%	-
Bhisham (Ajay) Khare <sup>(6)</sup>	4,173,728	8.6%	-
Daniel S. Webb <sup>(7)</sup>	1,307,815	2.9%	1.2%
Narayan Shetkar	-	-	-
Venu Raman Kumar <sup>(2)</sup>	28,098,530	61.6%	59.8%
Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair	-	-	-
Alok Kochhar	-	-	-
Biswajit Dasgupta	-	-	-
Nina B. Shapiro	-	-	-
Ramesh Venkataraman	-	-	-
All named executive officers and directors (11 individuals)	39,391,925	76.9%	72.5%



- (1) We have a dual class ordinary share structure. As of the September 27, 2024, there are 44,500,426 Class A ordinary shares and 1 Class V ordinary share outstanding. In accordance with our Memorandum and Articles of Association, such the V ordinary share has no economic rights, but has voting rights equal to (1) 26.0% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a single class (subject to a proportionate reduction in voting power in connection with the exchange by Mr. Kumar of AARK ordinary shares for Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement); *provided, however*, that such proportionate reduction will not affect the voting rights of the Class V ordinary share in the event of (i) a threatened or actual hostile change of control and/or (ii) the appointment and removal of a director on our board of directors, and (2) in these circumstances, including the threat of a hostile change of control of Aeries, 51% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a class.
- (2) Includes (i) 5,638,530 Class A ordinary shares held directly by Innovo Consultancy DMCC, which is wholly owned by Mr. Kumar, (ii) 21,337,000 Class A ordinary shares held directly by Mr. Kumar, and (iii) the right to acquire up to 1,123,000 Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement. The business address of Innovo Consultancy DMCC is Unit No: 1874, DMCC Business Centre, Level No 1, Jewellery & Gemplex 3, PO Box 62693, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.
- (3) Meet Atul Doshi is the sole beneficial owner of and has dispositive voting power of the Class V ordinary share held of record by NewGen Advisors and Consultants DWC-LLC. The Class V Shareholder is owned by a business associate of Mr. Kumar. Mr. Kumar does not have control over the Class V Shareholder, and the Class V Shareholder will not receive any compensation in connection with its ownership of the Class V ordinary share. Although the Class V Shareholder is not required by contract or otherwise to vote in a manner that is beneficial to Mr. Kumar and may vote the Class V Ordinary Share in its sole discretion, given the business relationship between the Class V Shareholder and Mr. Kumar, Mr. Kumar believes that the Class V Shareholder could protect the interests of Mr. Kumar from extraordinary events, such as a hostile takeover or board contest, prior to the exchange of all ordinary shares of AARK by Mr. Kumar. The business address of the Class V Shareholder is 707 Al Baha, Al Mankhoot, Dubai, UAE.
- (4) Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each of the directors and officers is 60 Paya Lebar Road, #08-13 Paya Lebar Square, Singapore.
- (5) Includes vested restricted stock units to receive 660,847 Class A ordinary share to be settled in a number of substantially equal monthly installments between August 15, 2024 and March 15, 2025.
- (6) Includes (i) the right to acquire up to 1,702,368 Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement, of which 851,184 Class A ordinary shares are issuable pursuant to the exercise of exchange rights by the ESOP Trust, for which the reporting person is a beneficiary, and assumes distribution of the underlying shares by the Aeries Employee Stock Option Trust to Mr. Khare prior to an exchange for Class A ordinary shares, and (ii) vested restricted stock units to receive 2,471,360 Class A ordinary shares to be settled in a number of substantially equal monthly installments between August 15, 2024 and March 15, 2025.
- (7) Includes (i) 560,000 Class A ordinary shares, and (ii) vested restricted stock units to receive 747,815 Class A ordinary share to be settled in a number of substantially equal monthly installments between August 15, 2024 and March 15, 2025.

## Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

## **Policies and Procedures for Related Party Transactions**

The Company has adopted a related person transactions policy effective upon the consummation of the Business Combination. The policy provides that executive officers, directors, nominees for directors, holders of more than 5% of any class of the Company's voting securities, and any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons, will not be permitted to enter into a related person transaction with the Company without the prior consent of the audit committee, or other independent members of the Company's board of directors in the event it is inappropriate for the audit committee to review such transaction due to a conflict of interest. Any request for the Company to enter into a transaction with an executive officer, director, nominee for director, significant shareholder, or any of their immediate family members, in which the amount involved exceeds or is expected to exceed \$120,000, must first be presented to the audit committee for review, consideration, and approval. In approving or rejecting the proposed transactions, the audit committee will take into account all of the relevant facts and circumstances available.

## **Aeries Related Party Transactions**

This section does not include any equity and other compensation, termination, change in control and other similar arrangements, which are described under "Executive Compensation."

#### Agreements and Transactions with Entities owned or controlled by, or related to, the Majority Shareholder

Mr. Kumar, our majority shareholder and Chairman of the Board, and the son of Mr. Kumar, Mr. Vaibhav Rao, are principal shareholders or otherwise control the following entities, amongst others.

- Aeries Technology Products and Strategies Private Limited ("ATPSPL");
- Ralak Consulting LLP;
- Aark II Pte Ltd ("Aark II");
- TSLC Pte Ltd ("TSLC");
- Innovo Consultancy DMCC;

The following entities are related parties to Mr. Kumar:

- Aeries Financial Technologies Private Ltd ("AFT");
- Bhanix Finance and Investment Ltd;

These entities have transactions or agreements with the Company and its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the "group," as discussed below.

## Intercompany Deposits to ATPSPL and AFT

In the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the group has provided intercompany deposits ("ICDs") in one or more tranches to ATPSPL to meet its working capital requirements. The ICDs have a term of three years from the date of disbursement of the ICDs with an interest rate ranging between 12 to 13% per annum payable by ATPSPL and an interest rate ranging between 15% to 17% payable by AFT to the group. The total outstanding balances of the ICDs were \$0.7 million and \$0.4 million for the period ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

## Intercompany Deposits from ATPSPL

In the year ended March 31, 2024, the group has received ICDs in one or more tranches from ATPSPL to meet its working capital requirements. The ICDs have a term of three years from the date of disbursement of the ICDs with an interest rate ranging between 12 to 13% per annum payable to ATPSPL by the group. The outstanding balance of the ICDs was \$0.5 million for the period ended March 31, 2024.

#### Loan from Mr. Vaibhav Rao

The group has received a loan in one or more tranches from Mr. Vaibhav Rao to meet its business requirements. The loan carries an interest rate of 10% per annum payable to Mr. Vaibhav Rao by the group. The outstanding balances of the loan were \$0.8 million and \$0.8 million for the periods ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

## Management Consultancy Services provided to Aark II and TSLC

In the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, ATG has provided management consulting services to Aark II under a Master Services Agreement ("MSA"), dated June 21, 2021 and to TSLC under another MSA dated July 12, 2021, in the aggregate amount of \$3.3 million and \$2.2 million, respectively. The MSAs provided for management consulting services in the areas of Finance and Accounts, Business Application support and IT support. The MSAs include an auto-renewal term and continue until either party decides to terminate them as per the terms of the respective MSAs. The outstanding balances of the accounts receivables as of March 31, 2024 were \$0.6 million for Aark II and \$0.1 million for TSLC, and as of March 31, 2023 were \$1.1 million for Aark II and \$0.3 million for TSLC.

## Consulting Agreement with Ralak Consulting LLP

ATG entered into a Consultancy Service Agreement with Ralak Consulting LLP on April 1, 2022 to avail of consulting services from Ralak Consulting LLP, including implementation services in business restructuring, risk management, feasibility studies, and mergers and acquisitions. The aggregate amount of the advisory services received during the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 was \$0.4 million each.

## Cost Sharing Arrangements with AFT and Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited

For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the group entered into cost sharing arrangements with Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited and Bhanix Finance and Investment Limited under separate facility Agreements, each dated April 1, 2020, in the aggregate amount of \$0.3 million and \$0.3 million, respectively. The cost sharing arrangements include services in the areas of office management, IT and operations. The agreements have a 36-month term with automatic renewals after the original term.

#### Investments

The group invested in 349,173 Series-A Cumulative Redeemable Preference Securities ("Series-A CRPS") of AFT on October 29, 2018. The Series-A CRPS carry a cumulative dividend rate of 0.001% per year and have a term of 19 years from the date of investment. The carrying value of this investment as on March 31, 2024 was \$0.9 million.

The group invested in 4,500,000 Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares ("CRPS") of ATPSPL. The CRPS carry a cumulative dividend of 10% per annum. 3,500,000 CRPS can be redeemed any time before 19 years form the date of issue i.e., June 27, 2017 by giving a 30-day redemption request and 1,000,000 CRPS can be redeemed any time before 20 year from the date of issue i.e. April 6, 2016 by giving a 30-day redemption request. The carrying value of this investment as of March 31, 2024 was \$0.8 million.

## Corporate Guarantee provided to Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited

The group had an outstanding guarantee of approximately \$2.4 million as on March 31 2023, which pertained to a fund-based and non-fund based revolving credit facility availed by an affiliate, Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited, from Kotak Mahindra Bank. The corporate guarantee required the group to make payment in the event the borrower fails to perform any of its obligations under the credit facilities. The said guarantee was terminated on June 1, 2023.

#### Private Placement in Connection with the Business Combination

As part of the Business Combination and upon the closing, 5,638,530 of our newly issued Class A ordinary shares were issued to Innovo Consultancy DMCC, a company incorporated in Dubai, UAE and controlled by Mr. Kumar.

#### **Exchange** Agreements

On the Closing Date, Aeries entered into exchange agreements with Mr. Kumar and the Other ATG Shareholders, respectively. Pursuant to the Exchange Agreements, prior to April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, each holder of AARK ordinary shares and ATG ordinary shares may exchange up to 20% of the number of AARK ordinary shares and ATG ordinary shares, as applicable, held by such holder for Class A ordinary shares or cash, in each case as provided in the Exchange Agreements. From and after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, Aeries shall have the right to acquire all of the AARK or ATG ordinary share for Class A ordinary shares or cash. In addition, after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise condition, each shareholder of AARK and ATG ordinary shares shall have the right to require Aeries to provide Class A ordinary shares or cash in exchange for up to all of the AARK or ATG ordinary shares. Each share of AARK may be exchanged for 2,246 Class A ordinary shares and each ATG ordinary share may be exchanged for 14.40 Class A ordinary shares, in each case subject to certain adjustments. The Exchange Agreements are conditioned on satisfaction of: (a) approval from the RBI and any other regulatory approvals, if required; and (b) at least two of the following conditions: (i) consolidated twelve month EBITDA of all operating entities in which we have direct or indirect shareholding achieves of at least \$6 million; (ii) consolidated twelve month revenue of all entities in which the Company has a direct or indirect shareholding achieves at least \$60 million; (iii) minimum trading volume of (26 weeks average volume will be considered as the benchmark) of 60,000 shares; (iv) achievement of a trading price of at least \$10.00 for 10 or more trading days in a 20-day period; (v) raising of funding of at least \$10 million; or (vi) acquisition of one other business with a value of at least \$5 million. The cash exchange payment may only be elected in the event approval from RBI is not obtained for exchange of shares and provided that Aeries has reasonable cash flow to be able to pay the cash exchange payment and such payment would not be prohibited by any then outstanding debt agreements or arrangements of Aeries.

#### **Exchange of AARK Shares**

On March 26, 2024, the Company determined that the exercise conditions in the Exchange Agreements with respect to Mr. Kumar and one of the Other ATG Shareholders, Bhisham Khare, had been satisfied. On April 5, 2024, Mr. Kumar exchanged an aggregate amount of 9,500 AARK ordinary shares for 21,337,000 Exchanged Shares.

#### Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

On August 11, 2024, the Audit Committee appointed MCA as the successor independent registered public accounting firm. MCA will serve as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

The following is a summary of fees paid or to be paid to MCA for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company's financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Audit Fees – Audit fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our year-end financial statements and services that are normally provided by MCA in connection with regulatory filings. The aggregate fees billed by MCA for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled \$60,000. These amounts include interim procedures and audit fees, as well as attendance at audit committee meetings.

Audit-Related Fees – Audit-related services consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported under "Audit Fees" above. These services include attest services that are not required by statute or regulation and consultations concerning financial accounting and reporting standards. We did not pay MCA for audit related fees for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Tax Fees – Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services relating to tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice. We did not pay MCA for tax fees for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

All Other Fees – All other fees consist of fees billed for all other services. We did not pay MCA for other services for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

#### **Pre-Approval Policy**

On a going-forward basis, our audit committee has and will pre-approve all auditing services and permitted non-audit services to be performed for us by our auditors, including the fees and terms thereof (subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit services described in the Exchange Act which are approved by the audit committee prior to the completion of the audit).

## Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements: See "Index to Financial Statements" at page F-1.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules. All schedules are omitted for the reason that the information is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto or that they are not required or are not applicable.

(c) Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit No.	Description
2.1†	Business Combination Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2023, by and among Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp., WWAC Amalgamation
	Sub Pte. Ltd. and Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed
	with the SEC on March 13, 2023).
2.2	Amendment No. 1 to Business Combination Agreement, dated June 30, 2023, by and among Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp., WWAC
	Amalgamation Sub Pte. Ltd. and Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's current report on
	Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 5, 2023).
2.3	Amendment No. 2 to Business Combination Agreement, dated October 9, 2023, by and among Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp.,
	WWAC Amalgamation Sub Pte. Ltd. and Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's current
	report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 10, 2023).
2.4	Amendment No. 3 to Business Combination Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2023, by and among Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp.,
	WWAC Amalgamation Sub Pte. Ltd. and Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's current
	report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 30, 2023).
3.1	Amended & Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of Aeries Technology, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
	Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023)
4.1	Specimen Class A Ordinary Share Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-
	<u>1 filed with the SEC on October 13, 2021)</u>
4.2	Warrant Agreement, dated October 22, 2021, between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 2021).
4.3	Specimen Warrant Certificate (included in Exhibit 4.2 herein).
4.4*	Description of the Company's securities.
10.1	Letter Agreement, dated October 22, 2021, among the Company, its officers and directors and Worldwide Webb Acquisition Sponsor LLC
10.0	(incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 2021).
10.2	Letter Agreement Amendment, April 10, 2023 among the Company, its officers and directors and Worldwide Webb Acquisition Sponsor
10.2	LLC (incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 12, 2023).
10.3	Letter Agreement Amendment, dated as of October 26, 2023 (incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's current report
10.4	on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 30, 2023).
10.4	Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 22, 2021, among the Company and certain security holders named therein (incorporated by
	reference to the Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 25, 2021).

10.5	Registration Rights Agreement Amendment, dated as of October 26, 2023 among the Company and certain security holders named therein
	(incorporated by reference to the Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 30, 2023).
10.6	Form of Investment Agreement among the Registrant, Worldwide Webb Acquisition Sponsor LLC and the anchor investors (incorporated
	by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1 filed with the SEC on October 13, 2021).
10.7	Form of Investment Agreement Amendment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed
	with the SEC on April 12, 2023).
10.8	Form of Investment Agreement Amendment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed
	with the SEC on October 30, 2023).
10.9	Form of Non-Redemption Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with
	<u>the SEC on April 3, 2023).</u>
10.10	Form of Non-Redemption Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with
	<u>the SEC on October 11, 2023).</u>
10.11	Share Purchase Agreement dated March 20, 2020 by and between Aeries Technology Products and Strategies Private Limited, Aeries
	Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited and Stratus Technologies Private Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
	10.15 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on October 11, 2023).
10.12	Share Purchase Agreement dated March 20, 2020, by and between Aeries Technology Products and Strategies Private Limited, Aeries
	Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited and Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.10.11	10.16 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on October 11, 2023).
10.13#+	Consultancy Services Agreements, dated April 1, 2020 and April 1, 2022, by and between Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators
	Private Limited and Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's registration statement on
10.14#	Form S-4 filed with the SEC on October 11, 2023). Employment Letter dated July 1, 2015 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Bhisham Khare (incorporated by reference to
10.14#	Exhibit 10.24 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on October 11, 2023).
10.15#	Employment Letter dated June 1, 2022, by and between ATG Business Solutions Private Limited and Unnikrishnan Nambiar (incorporated
10.15#	by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on October 11, 2023).
10.16#	Employment Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. and Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery
10.10#	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 30, 2023).
10.17#+*	Employment Contract, dated June 13, 2024, by and between Aeries Technology Middle East Ltd and Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery.
10.18#	Employment Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Bhisham Khare (incorporated by
	reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 30, 2023).
10.19#*	Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated June 12, 2024 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Bhisham Khare.
10.20#	Employment Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 30, 2023).
10.21#*	Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated June 12, 2024 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Rajeev Gopala
	Krishna Nair.
10.22#	Employment Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Unnikrishnan Balakrishnan
	Nambiar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 30,
	<u>2023).</u>
10.23#*	Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated June 12, 2024 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Unnikrishnan
	Balakrishnan.

10.24#	Employment Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Daniel Webb (incorporated by
	reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 30, 2023).
10.25#*	Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated June 12, 2024 by and between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc. and Daniel Webb.
10.26#	Employment Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. and Narayan Shetkar (incorporated by
	reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on November 30, 2023).
10.27#*	Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated June 18, 2024, by and between ATG Business Solutions Private Limited and Narayan
	<u>Shetkar.</u>
10.28#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Biswajit Dasgupta (incorporated by reference to
	Exhibit 10.39 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.29#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Nina B. Shapiro (incorporated by reference to
10.20//	Exhibit 10.40 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.30#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Alok Kochhar (incorporated by reference to
10.21//	Exhibit 10.41 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.31#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Venu Raman Kumar (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.32#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery (incorporated by
10.32#	reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.33#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Ramesh Venkataraman (incorporated by
10.55#	reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.34#	Board of Directors Agreement dated November 6, 2023 by and between the Company and Daniel S. Webb (incorporated by reference to
10.5 11	Exhibit 10.44 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on May 3, 2024).
10.35 +	Credit Agreement dated May 26, 2023 by and between ATG Business Solutions Private Limited and Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited
	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on October 11, 2023).
10.36	Loan Agreement dated July 10, 2015 and amended on April 18, 2020, by and between ATG Business Solutions Private Limited and Mr.
	Vaibhav Rao (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Company's registration statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on
	<u>October 11, 2023).</u>
10.37	Exchange Agreement by and among Aeries Technology, Inc., Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited and certain
	security holders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
	<u>on November 13, 2023).</u>
10.38	Exchange Agreement by and among Aeries Technology, Inc., Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. and certain security holders named therein
10.00	(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023)
10.39	Form of Forward Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with
10.40	the SEC on November 3, 2023).
10.40	Form of Forward Purchase Agreement Amendment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's current report on Form 8- K filed with the SEC on November 6, 2023).
10.41	Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the
10.41	SEC on November 6, 2023).
10.42	Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Registrant and its officers and directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.12	10.30 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023)
10.43	Form of Non-Redemption Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with
10.10	the SEC on November 3, 2023).

10.44	Share Subscription Agreement, dated April 8, 2024, by and between Aeries Technology Inc. and Oyster Bay Fund Limited (incorporated by
	reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 12, 2024).
10.43#	Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Company's current report on Form 8-
	K filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023).
10.44#	Amendment No. 1 to the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-
	K filed with the SEC on June 11, 2024).
10.45#*	Form of Restricted Shares Unit Award Agreement under the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.46#*	Form of Restricted Shares Award Agreement under the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.47#*	Form of Nonstatutory Share Option Agreement under the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan.
10.48#*	Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan.
14.1	Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K
	filed with the SEC on November 13, 2023).
16.1	Letter from Marcum LLP to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, dated as of February 9, 2024 (incorporated by reference to
	Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 7, 2024).
16.2	Letter from KNAV CPA LLP to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, dated as of August 15, 2024 (incorporated by reference to
	Exhibit 16.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 15, 2024).
21.1*	List of Subsidiaries of Aeries Technology, Inc.
23.1*	Consent of Manohar Chowdhry & Associates, independent registered accounting firm.
31.1*	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*	Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15(d)-14(a), as adopted Pursuant to
	Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1**	Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
	<u>Act of 2002.</u>
32.2**	Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
	<u>Act of 2002.</u>
97.1*	Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy.
101.INS*	Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
	within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104*	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
+ Cartain a	f the sublicity and eshedules to this sublicit have been emitted in accordance with Description S V Item $601(h)(2)$ . The Descirtment estrates to

Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). The Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

\* Filed herewith.

\*\* Furnished herewith.

+ Certain identified information has been excluded from this exhibit because the Company does not believe it is material and is the type that the Company customarily treats as private and confidential. Redacted information is indicated by "[\*\*\*]".

# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.

Not applicable.

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this annual report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Singapore, on the 27th day of September, 2024.

AERIES TECHNOLOGY INC.

By:	/s/	Sudhir	Appuk	uttan	Panikassery

Name: Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery

Title: Chief Executive Officer

## POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair or Venu Raman Kumar his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-infact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Name	Position	Date
/s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	Chief Executive Officer and Director	September 27, 2024
/s/ Daniel S. Webb Daniel S. Webb	Chief Investment Officer & Director	September 27, 2024
/s/ Venu Raman Kumar Venu Raman Kumar	Chairman & Director	September 27, 2024
/s/ Alok Kochhar Alok Kochhar	Director	September 27, 2024
/s/ Biswajit Dasgupta Biswajit Dasgupta	Director	September 27, 2024
/s/ Nina B. Shapiro Nina B. Shapiro	Director	September 27, 2024
/s/ Ramesh Venkataraman Ramesh Venkataraman	Director	September 27, 2024

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC.

# INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-2
Financial Statements:	
Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2024 and 2023	F-5
Statements of Operations for the Year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023	F-6
Statements of Changes in Temporary Equity and Shareholders' Deficit for the Year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023	F-8
Statements of Cash Flows for the Year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023	F-10
Notes to Financial Statements	F-11 to F-51

## **REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM**

# To the shareholders and the board of directors of Aeries Technology, Inc.

## **Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements**

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated balance sheets of Aeries Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the related Consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive Income, stockholders' equity and Consolidated cash flows, for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "Consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the Consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the Consolidated financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the Consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

## **Basis for Opinion**

These Consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's Consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

## **Critical Audit Matters**

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

## **Revenue Recognition**

## Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company derives revenues from contracts for management consultancy services, which entail providing customized and integrated advisory and operational management services, each of which constitute a separate performance obligation. These contracts have different terms based on the scope, performance obligations and complexity of the engagement, which frequently requires the Company to make judgments and estimates in recognizing revenues.



The Company's advisory services entail the provision of strategic consulting services at the onset and during the contractual term and are billed on a timeand materials basis. Operational management services entail provision of tailored offshoring services in respect of customers' business operations and are billed on a cost-plus basis. Revenue on cost-plus arrangements is recognized to the extent of costs incurred, plus the contractually agreed-upon margin earned. The Company's performance obligations are satisfied over time and since contractual billings correspond with the value provided to a customer, the Company recognizes revenue in the amount of consideration for which it has the right to invoice using the as-invoiced practical expedient. If there is an uncertainty about the receipt of payment for the services, revenue is recognized to the extent that a significant reversal of revenue would not be probable.

As contracts with customers involve management's judgment in (1) identifying exact cost which are to be billed to the customer, and (2) whether time recorded and billed to the customer are appropriate, revenue recognition from these judgments were identified as a critical audit matter and required a higher extent of audit effort.

## How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the (1) identifying exact cost which are to be billed to the customer, and (2) whether time recorded and billed to the customer are appropriate included the following, among others:

We selected a sample of contracts with customers and performed the following procedures;

- obtained and read contract documents for each selection, including master service agreements, and other documents that were part of the agreement.
- Identified significant terms and deliverables in the contract to assess management's conclusions regarding the (i) identification of exact cost incurred for a Particular Project and (ii) whether revenue for time and material-based Projects are duly approved.
- We have tested the mathematical accuracy of management's calculations of cost for the purpose of invoicing the customers.

## Valuation of Accounts receivable

## Critical Audit Matter Description

The collectability of the Company's aged Accounts Receivable and the valuation of allowance for impairment of Accounts Receivable is a Critical Audit Matter due to the judgement involved in assessing the recoverability. The Account Receivable as at March 31, 2024 is USD 23,757 thousand [March 31, 2023: USD 13,416 thousand] and the Company recorded allowance for doubtful receivable of USD 1,263 thousand [March 31, 2023: USD Nil] as at March 31, 2024.

## How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

In view of the significance of the matter, we applied the following audit procedures in this area, among others, to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence:

- We evaluated and tested the Company's processes for Accounts Receivable, including the credit control, collection and provisioning processes.
- We evaluated the management view point and estimates used to determine the allowance for bad and doubtful debts.
- We have reviewed the ageing, tested the validity of the receivables, the subsequent collections of Accounts Receivable, the past payment and credit history of the customer, disputes (if any) with customers and based on discussion with the Company's management (information and explanation provided by them) and evidences collected, we understood and evaluated the reason for delay in realisation of the receivables and possibility of realisation of the aged receivables.



- Where there were indicators that Accounts Receivable were unlikely to be collected, we assessed the adequacy of allowance for impairment of Accounts Receivable.
- We tested the sufficiency of the allowance for bad and doubtful debts charged in the Statement of Income for the year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

Manohar Chowdhry & Associates Chartered Accountants

We are serving as the Company's auditor for the first year

Chennai, India September 27, 2024

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share and per share data)

		As of March 31,				
		2024		2023		
			(	Restated)		
ASSETS						
Current assets:						
Cash and cash equivalents	\$		\$	1,131		
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of \$1,263 and \$0, as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively		23,757		13,416		
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, net of allowance of \$1 and \$0, as of March 31, 2024 and March 31,		<				
2023, respectively		6,995		4,117		
Deferred transaction costs		-		1,921		
Total current assets	\$	32,836	\$	20,585		
Property and equipment, net		3,579		3,125		
Operating right-of-use assets		7,318		5,627		
Deferred tax assets		1,933		1,237		
Long-term investments, net of allowance of \$126 and \$0, as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively		1,612		1,564		
Other assets, net of allowance of \$1 and \$0, as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively		2,129		2,259		
Total assets	\$	49,407	\$	34,397		
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY						
(DEFICIT)						
Current liabilities:						
Accounts payable	\$	6,616	\$	2,474		
Accrued compensation and related benefits, current		3,119		2,823		
Operating lease liabilities, current		2,080		1,648		
Short-term borrowings		6,778		1,376		
Forward purchase agreement put option liability		10,244		-		
Other current liabilities		9,288		4,201		
Total current liabilities	\$	38,125	\$	12,522		
Long term debt		1,440		969		
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent		5,615		4,261		
Derivative warrant liabilities		1,367		-		
Deferred tax liabilities		92		168		
Other liabilities		3,948		3,008		
Total liabilities	\$	50,587	\$	20,928		
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)						
Redeemable noncontrolling interest		734		_		
		/34		-		
Shareholders' equity (deficit)						
Preference shares, \$0.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding		-		-		
Class A ordinary shares, \$0.0001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 15,619,004 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2024		2				
Common stock, no par value; 10,000 shares issued and paid-up as of March 31, 2024, no share issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2023		_		_		
Class V ordinary shares, \$0.0001 par value; 1 share authorized, issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2024		-				
Net shareholders' investment and additional paid-in capital		-		7,221		
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(574)		(1,349)		
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings		(11,668)		6,318		
Total Aeries Technology, Inc. shareholders' equity (deficit)	\$	(12,240)	\$	12,190		
Noncontrolling interest	<u> </u>	10,326	-	1,279		
Total shareholders' equity (deficit)	_	(1,914)	-	13,469		
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest and shareholders' equity (deficit)	\$	49,407	\$	34,397		
quity (dener)	Ψ	77,407	ψ	54,577		

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

## AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (in thousands, except share and per share data)

	ear Ended Iarch 31, 2024	Year Ended March 31, 2023	
		(Restated	,
Revenue, net	\$ 72,509	\$ 53,	,099
Cost of revenue	 50,868	39,	,442
Gross profit	21,641	13,	,657
Operating expenses			
Selling, general & administrative expenses	 18,654	11,	,326
Total operating expenses	 18,654	11,	,326
Income from operations	2,987	2,	,331
Other income/ (expense)			
Change in fair value of forward purchase agreement put option liability	14,765		-
Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities	1,402		-
Interest income	275		191
Interest expense	(462)		(185)
Other income/(expense), net	 160		429
Total other income/(expense), net	 16,140		435
Income before income taxes	19,127	2,	,766
Income tax expense	 (1,871)	(1,	,060)
Net income	\$ 17,256	\$ 1,	,706
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests	 202		260
Less: Net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests	1,397		-
Net income attributable to shareholders' of Aeries Technology, Inc.	\$ 15,657	<b>\$</b> 1,	,446
Weighted average shares outstanding of Class A ordinary shares, basic and diluted <sup>(1)</sup>	15,532,382		
Basic net income per Class A ordinary share <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 0.91		
Diluted net income per Class A ordinary share <sup>(1)</sup>	\$ 0.91		

(1) For the year ended March 31, 2024, net income per Class A ordinary share and weighted average Class A ordinary shares outstanding is representative of the period from November 6, 2023 through March 31, 2024, the period following the Business Combination, as defined in Note 1. For more information refer to Note 21.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

## AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024 (in thousands)

		Year Ended March 31, 2024		ear Ended Iarch 31, 2023 Restated)
Net income	\$	17,256	\$	1,706
Other comprehensive income / (loss), net of tax				
Foreign currency translation adjustments		(185)		(709)
Unrecognized actuarial gain / (loss) on employee benefit plan obligations		12		(117)
Total other comprehensive income / (loss), net of tax	_	(173)		(826)
Comprehensive income, net of tax	\$	17,083	\$	880
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests	\$	180	\$	139
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests	\$	1,407	\$	-
Total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders' of Aeries Technology, Inc.	\$	15,496	\$	741

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTEREST AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024

	<b>Redeemable</b> noncontrolling	Ordinary Class			ry Shares_ ass V	in a	Net areholders' avestment and dditional paid-in		ccumulated deficit) retained	Accumulated other comprehensive	Total Aeries Technology, Inc. shareholders' equity	Noncontrolling		Total reholders' equity
DI (4 11	interest	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amount		capital		Earnings	loss	(deficit)	interest	_(	deficit)
Balance as at April 1, 2023	s -	10,000	<b>s</b> -	_	s -	\$	7,221	\$	6,318	\$ (1,349)	\$ 12,190	\$ 1,279	\$	13,469
Transition period adjustment pursuant to ASC 326, net of tax	<u> </u>		<u> </u>		÷	÷		•	(190)	- (23013)	(190)	(33)	-	(223)
Adjusted Balance as of April 1, 2023		10,000	_			_	7,221		6,128	(1,349)	12,000	1,246		13,246
Stock-based								_					_	
compensation Net changes in net	-	-	-	-	-		1,626		-	-	1,626	-		1,626
stockholders'	-	-	-	-	-		(10)		-	-	(10)	-		(10)
Share in Pre-Merger net												105		
income Share in Pre-Merger	-	-	-	-	-		-		1,479	-	1,479	137		1,616
other comprehensive income	-	-	-	-	-		-		-	(169)	(169)	(22)		(191)
Impact of reverse														
recapitalization (Refer note 1)	9,581	15,247,666	2	1	0		(38,492)		(4,701)	936	(42,255)	(1,354)		(43,609)
Settlement of accounts	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	10,217,000			Ŭ		(30,172)		(1,701)	,50	(12,200)	(1,001)		(13,007)
payable through		261 220					002				002			002
issuance of shares Net income for the	-	361,338	-	-	-		903		-	-	903	-		903
period post Business Combination upto redeemable noncontrolling														
interest reclass	1,391	-	-	-	-		-		12,484	-	12,484	-		12,484
Other comprehensive loss post Business Combination upto redeemable noncontrolling									, -		, -			, -
interest reclass	10	-	-	-	-		-		-	7	7	-		7
Reclassification of redeemable noncontrolling interest to														
noncontrolling interest	(10,254)	-	-	-	-		-		-	-	-	10,254		10,254
Net income for the period post Business Combination post redeemable noncontrolling												., .		
interest reclass	6	-	-	-	-		-		1,694	-	1,694	65		1,759
Other comprehensive loss post Business Combination post redeemable noncontrolling interest reclass									.,	1	1			,
Reclassification of	-	-	-	-	-		-		-	1	1	-		1
negative additional														
paid-in capital						_	28,752	_	(28,752)				_	-
Balance as at March 31, 2024	<u>\$ 734</u>	15,619,004	<u>\$ 2</u>	<u> </u>	<u>\$0</u>	\$		\$	(11,668)	<u>\$ (574)</u>	<u>\$ (12,240</u> )	<u>\$ 10,326</u>	\$	(1,914)

# FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 (in thousands, except share and per share data)

	Redeemable noncontrolling interest		ry Shares ss A Amount		ry Shares Iss V Amount	Net shareholder investment and additional paid-in capital		(Accumulated deficit) retained Earnings	Accumulated other comprehensive loss	Total Aeries Technology, Inc. shareholders' equity (deficit)	Noncontrolling interest	share eq	`otal holders' quity eficit)
Balance as at April 1, 2022	s -	10,000	\$ 0		<b>s</b> -	\$ 3,32	8	\$ 4,872	\$ (644)	\$ 7,556	\$ 1,140	¢	8,696
Net income for the period		.,	÷ •	-	φ - -	\$ 3,32	-	1,446	3 (0 <del>11</del> ) -	1,446	260	φ	1,706
Other comprehensive loss	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	(705)		(121)		(826)
Stock-based compensation	-	-	-	-	-	3,80	)5	-	-	3,805	-		3,805
Net changes in net stockholders' investment Balance as at March 31, 2023	<u>-</u> <u>s</u>		<u>-</u> <u>\$ 0</u>	<u> </u>	<u>-</u> <u>\$</u>	8 <u>\$ 7,22</u>	88 21	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	88 <u>\$ 12,190</u>	<u> </u>	<u>\$</u>	88 <b>13,469</b>

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

		For year o Marc	endeo	
		2024		2023
Cash flows from operating activities	<b>^</b>	1 - 6 - 6	<b>^</b>	
Net income	\$	17,256	\$	1,706
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) / income to net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities:		1 252		1 1 7 2
Depreciation and amortization expense		1,352		1,172
Stock-based compensation expense		1,626		3,805
Deferred tax (benefit) / expenses Accrued income from long-term investments		(718)		(161)
Provision for expected credit loss		(196) 1,098		(130)
Gain on lease termination		(13)		(25)
Sundry balances written back		(13)		
Unrealized exchange (gain) / loss		(48)		(36)
Impairment in value of investments		(20)		24
Loss on sale of property and equipment		12		54
Change in fair value of forward purchase agreement put option liability		(14,765)		54
Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabilities		(14,703)		-
Loss on issuance of shares against accounts payable		48		-
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Accounts receivable		(11,741)		(6,123)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		(340)		(1,199)
Operating right-of-use assets		(1,839)		(6,113)
Other assets		312		(801)
Accounts payable		(568)		1,020
Accrued compensation and related benefits, current		323		898
Other current liabilities		2,378		838
Operating lease liabilities		1,953		6,425
Other liabilities		999		751
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities		(4,299)		2,111
Cash flows from investing activities				
Acquisition of property and equipment		(1,520)		(1,600)
Sale of property and equipment		11		12
Issuance of loans to affiliates		(2,325)		(813)
Payments received for loans to affiliates		2,094		844
Net cash used in investing activities		(1,740)		(1,557)
Cash flows from financing activities				
Net proceeds from short term borrowings		2,545		1,184
Payment of promissory note liability		(1,500)		1,101
Payment of insurance financing liability		(448)		-
Proceeds from long-term debt		882		368
Repayment of long-term debt		(391)		(229)
Payment of finance lease obligations		(391)		(390)
Payment of deferred transaction costs		(2,297)		(769)
Net changes in net shareholders' investment		(10)		88
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and forward purchase agreement in connection with Business				00
Combination, net Net cash provided by financing activities		8,666 <b>7,056</b>		252
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents		(64)	_	(26)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		(64) <b>953</b>		(26) 780
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year				
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year	\$	<u>1,131</u> 2,084	\$	<u>351</u> 1,131
Supplemental each flow disclosure:				
Supplemental cash flow disclosure: Cash paid for interest	\$	465	\$	273
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds	\$	1,008	\$	1,229
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:				
Unpaid deferred transaction costs included in accounts payable and other current liabilities	\$	663	\$	1,189
Equipment acquired under finance lease obligations	\$	313	э \$	1,189
Property and equipment purchase included in accounts payable	3 \$	41	\$	25
Settlement of accounts payable through issuance of Class A ordinary shares to vendors	\$	855	\$	- 25
Assumption of net liabilities from Business Combination	\$	38,994	\$	-
-		,		

## AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in thousands, except share and per share data)

## Note 1 - Nature of Operations

Aeries Technology, Inc. (formerly Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp. ("WWAC"), formed in the Cayman Islands on March 5, 2021) and its subsidiaries, excluding the fintech and investing business activities, is herein referred to as the "Company", "ATI", the "registrant", "us," "we" and "our" in these consolidated financial statements. Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiaries ("AARK"), excluding the fintech and investing business activities, is herein referred to as the "Carve-out Entity". The Company is a global provider of professional and management services and technology consulting, specializing in the establishment and management of dedicated delivery centers known as "Global Capability Centers" ("GCCs") for portfolio companies of private equity firms and mid-market enterprises. Our engagement models are designed to provide a mix of deep vertical specialty, functional expertise, and digital systems and solutions to scale, optimize and transform a client's business operations. The Company has subsidiaries in India, Mexico, Singapore, UAE and the United States.

## **Change in Fiscal Year**

On November 6, 2023, the Company's Board of Directors approved a change in the Company's fiscal year end from December 31 to March 31. The Company's latest fiscal year ran from April 1, 2023, through March 31, 2024.

#### **Demerger and Business Combination**

On March 11, 2023, WWAC entered into the Business Combination Agreement (the "Merger Agreement," and the transactions contemplated therein, the "Business Combination"), with WWAC Amalgamation Sub Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WWAC ("Amalgamation Sub"), and Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. a Singapore private company limited by shares ("AARK") (together with WWAC and Amalgamation Sub, the "Parties" and individually, a "Party").

AARK was engaged in management consulting, fintech and investing business. However, only the management consulting business was subject to the Merger Agreement and therefore in connection with the Business Combination, AARK entered into a Demerger Agreement with Aarx Singapore Pte. Ltd. and their respective shareholders on March 25, 2023 to spin off the fintech business which was a part of AARK but not subject to the Merger Agreement. Subsequently, the AARK Board of Directors ratified two resolutions on May 24, 2023. These resolutions effectively spun off the investing business which was part of AARK but not subject to the Merger Agreement. These transactions will collectively be referred to as "Demerger Transactions".

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, all AARK ordinary shares that were issued and outstanding prior to the effective time of the Business Combination remained issued and outstanding following the Business Combination and continued to be held by the Sole Shareholder (as defined below) of AARK. The Company issued a Class V ordinary share to NewGen Advisors and Consultants DWC-LLC ("NewGen"). NewGen is a business associate of Mr. Raman Kumar ("Sole Shareholder"). NewGen has agreed to hold the Class V ordinary share to protect the interest of the Sole Shareholder, in the event of certain events, including a hostile takeover or the appointment or removal of directors at ATI level. While the Class V ordinary share does not carry any direct economic rights, it does carry voting rights equal to 26% which will ratchet up to 51% voting rights upon occurrence of extraordinary events at the ATI level. All of the shares of Amalgamation Sub that were issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Business Combination were converted into a number of newly issued AARK ordinary shares. In accordance with principles of Financial Accounting Standards Board's Accounting Standards Codification Topic 805, Business Combinations ("ASC 805") and based on the economic interest held by the shareholders post the Business Combination as well as the underlying rights, it was assessed that AARK is the accounting acquirer and WWAC is the accounting acquiree. The Business Combination closed on November 6, 2023 ("Closing Date") and resulted in ATI owning 38.24% of the issued and outstanding shares of AARK and therefore has an ability to control the activities undertaken by AARK in ordinary course of business, resulting in AARK being classified as a subsidiary of ATI. Finally, the Business Combination has been accounted for as reverse recapitalization. Refer to the section *"Reverse Recapitalization"* below for details.

## **Reverse Recapitalization**

As mentioned above – *Demerger and Business Combination*, the Business Combination was closed on November 6, 2023 and has been accounted for as a reverse recapitalization because AARK has been determined to be the accounting acquirer under ASC 805 based on the evaluation of the following facts and circumstances taken into consideration:

- The Sole Shareholder, who controlled AARK prior to the Business Combination, will retain a majority of the outstanding shares of ATI after giving effect to the Exchange Agreements. The Exchange Agreements are further discussed in Note 22;
- AARK has the ability to elect a majority of the members of ATI's governing body;
- AARK's executive team makes up the executive team of ATI;
- AARK represents an operating entity (group) with operating assets, revenues, and earnings significantly larger than WWAC.

Under a reverse recapitalization, while WWAC was the legal acquirer, it has been treated as the "acquired" company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of pre-combination AARK issuing stock for the net assets of WWAC, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of WWAC have been stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination are those of pre-combination AARK and relate to the management consulting business.

Immediately following the Business Combination, there were 15,257,666 Class A ordinary shares outstanding with a par value of \$0.0001 per share. Additionally, there were 9,527,810 Private Placement Warrants (defined below) and 11,499,991 Public Warrants (defined below) outstanding with a right to purchase 21,027,801 Class A ordinary shares.

Upon closing of the Business Combination, the total number of ATI's Class A ordinary shares issued and outstanding was 15,257,666. Further, certain Class A ordinary shareholders entered into non-redemption agreements executed on November 3, 2023 and November 5, 2023, to reverse redemptions for an aggregate of 1,652,892 Class A ordinary shares while waiving their right to receive any "Bonus Shares" issued under the Merger Agreement. In connection with the closing, holders of 2,697,052 Class A ordinary shares of WWAC were redeemed at a price per share of approximately \$10.69. AARK incurred approximately \$3,697 in transaction costs relating to the Business Combination and recorded those costs against additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheet.

The number of Class A ordinary shares issued and outstanding immediately following the consummation of the Business Combination were:

Public Shareholders (Redeemable Class A ordinary shares), including Bonus Shares <sup>(1)</sup>	3,157,469
Shares held by Worldwide Webb Acquisition Sponsor, LLC (the "Sponsor") and other initial holders <sup>(2)(3)</sup>	2,750,000
Shares held by Innovo Consultancy DMCC <sup>(4)</sup>	5,638,530
Shares held by FPA Holders <sup>(5)</sup>	3,711,667
Total <sup>(6)</sup>	15,257,666

(1) Includes 87,133 Bonus Shares issued to the Company's public shareholders and 1,024,335 "Extension Shares" issued to certain holders of Class A ordinary shares (the "Holders") in accordance with the Non-Redemption Agreement entered into between WWAC, the Sponsor, and the Holders of Class A ordinary shares. Also includes 288,333 shares purchased by the Forward Purchase Agreement holders in the open market or via redemption reversals prior to the consummation of the Business Combination.

- (2) Includes 1,500,000 Class A ordinary shares issued to the Sponsor and 1,250,000 Class A ordinary shares issued to certain anchor investors upon conversion of Class B ordinary shares concurrently with the consummation of the Business Combination. 3,000,000 Class B ordinary shares were forfeited by the Sponsor upon the consummation of the Business Combination.
- (3) Does not include (i) 1,500,000 Class B ordinary shares forfeited upon the consummation of the Business Combination, or (ii) 1,500,000 Class B ordinary shares forfeited pursuant to a Support Agreement with the Sponsor.
- (4) Includes (i) 3,000,000 Class A Shares reissued against 3,000,000 Class B Shares forfeited by the Sponsor upon consummation of the Business Combination as per (2) above, and (ii) 2,638,530 remaining Bonus Shares issued to Innovo.
- (5) Represents a new issuance of Class A ordinary shares to the Forward Purchase Agreement holders in accordance with the Forward Purchase Agreement.
- (6) Does not include 10,000 AARK ordinary shares and 655,788 ordinary shares of Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited that represent noncontrolling interest in AARK. These shares will be exchangeable (together with the proportionate reduction in the voting power of the Class V ordinary share, and in the case of the exchange of all AARK ordinary shares, the forfeiture and cancellation of the Class V ordinary share) into shares in ATI in connection with the Exchange Agreements, which is further discussed in Note 19.

The following table reconciles the elements of the Business Combination to the change in net shareholders' investment and additional paid-in capital on the consolidated statement of changes in redeemable noncontrolling interest and shareholders' equity (deficit) for the year ended March 31, 2024:

Schedule of cash and net liabilities assumed pursuant to Business Combination	Amount
Balance in Company trust account	40,402
Less: Outflow on account of redemption payments	(18,795)
Less: Prepayment for recycle share under forward purchase agreement	(3,083)
Less: Payments under Non-redemption agreements	(9,672)
Less: Payment to Continental Stock Transfer for services provided in relation to the Business Combination	(186)
Net cash acquired in Business Combination	8,666
Less: Assumed net liabilities of ATI on Closing Date <sup>(1)</sup>	(38,994)
Less: Pre-combination transaction costs	(3,697)
Less: Transferred to Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest ("NCI") pursuant to Business Combination	(4,465)
Less: Par value of Class A ordinary shares issued	(2)
Net charge to Additional paid-in-capital as a result of the Business Combination reported in Shareholders' equity (deficit)	(38,492)

(1) Includes liability pursuant to warrants and Forward Purchase Agreements. Refer Note 20 for details

As a result of the Business Combination, the Company's Class A ordinary shares trades under the ticker symbol "AERT" and its public warrants (the "Public Warrants") trade under the ticker symbol "AERTW" on the Nasdaq Stock Market. Prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company's Class A ordinary shares were traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol "WWAC."

## Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

#### **Basis of Preparation**

The Company's accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP") and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). These consolidated financial statements are audited and, in our opinion, include all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments and accruals necessary for a fair presentation of our consolidated balance sheets, operating results, statement of changes in redeemable noncontrolling interest and stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for the periods presented. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP have been omitted in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. The results for the year ended March 31, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future periods.

The consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2023 included herein was derived from the audited consolidated carve-out financial statements (restated) of Aark Singapore Pte Ltd. and its subsidiaries as of that date. As such, the information included herein should be read in conjunction with the consolidated carve-out financial statements and accompanying notes of AARK as of and for the year ended March 31, 2023, filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 2 to Current Report on Form 8-K originally filed on November 13, 2023 as amended on November 30, 2023 and December 13, 2023, which provides a more complete discussion of the Company's accounting policies and certain other information. There have been no changes in accounting policies during the year ended March 31, 2024 from those disclosed in the annual consolidated carve-out financial statements and related notes for the year ended March 31, 2023, except for those described below and also as described in "Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements" below.

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

#### Periods prior to demerger transactions

These consolidated financial statements were extracted from the accounting records of AARK on a carve-out basis prior to May 24, 2023, including comparative period ended March 31, 2023, i.e., these consolidated financial statements exclude the financial results of the fintech and investing businesses that are unrelated to the merger with WWAC pursuant to the Merger Agreement. The consolidated financial statements have been derived from the historical accounting records of Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pvt Ltd., its subsidiaries ("ATGBA") and controlled trust. Only those assets and liabilities that are specifically identifiable to the management consultancy business activities are included in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The Company's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income consist of all the revenue and expenses of the management consultancy business activities, excluding allocations of certain expenses of the excluded fintech and investing business activities. These allocations were based on methodologies that management believes to be reasonable; however, amounts derecognized by the Carve-out Entity are not necessarily representative of the amounts that would have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements had the excluded businesses operated independently of the Carve-out Entity.

The consolidated financial statements for the period prior to the Demerger Transactions exclude the following: (a) cash and cash equivalents that were utilized solely to fund activities undertaken by the investing business of AARK, (b) long-term debt and related interest payable/expense that were solely related to financing of the fintech and investing businesses, (c) amounts due from related parties related to the fintech and investing businesses, (d) investments made by the investing business, (e) trade and other receivables of the fintech business, and (f) revenue, cost of sales, other income, advisory fees, bank charges and withholding taxes attributable to the fintech and investing businesses and allocations of certain expenses of the excluded businesses; these allocations were based on methodologies that management believes to be reasonable; however, amounts derecognized by AARK are not necessarily representative of the amounts that would have been reflected in the consolidated financial statements had the excluded businesses operated independently of AARK.



Differences between allocations in the consolidated statements of operations and consolidated balance sheets are reflected in equity as a part of "Net shareholders' investment and additional paid-in-capital" in the consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity interest not owned by the Company and are recorded for consolidated entities in which the Company owns less than 100% of the interests. Changes in a parent's ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling interest are accounted for as equity transactions.

#### Periods after the Demerger Transactions

Beginning May 25, 2023 and for the year ended March 31, 2024, following the demerger of the fintech and investing businesses, the consolidated financial statements of ATI have been prepared from the financial records of Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pvt Ltd. ("ATGBA"), its subsidiaries and controlled trust on a consolidated basis.

## **Emerging Growth Company**

The Company is an "emerging growth company," as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act"), and it may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the Company's consolidated financial statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

## **Going Concern**

In accordance with ASC Subtopic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern ("ASC 205-40"), the Company has the responsibility to evaluate whether conditions and/or events raise substantial doubt about its ability to meet its obligations as they become due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the going concern basis of accounting, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The going concern basis of presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation one year after the date these financial statements are issued and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

For the year ended March 31, 2024, the Company has reported negative operating cash flow. The shareholders' equity as at March 31, 2024 also has a deficit of \$(1,914). These factors may raise a doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date when these financial statements are available to be filed with the SEC. As at March 31, 2024 the Company had a balance of \$2,084 in cash and cash equivalents and also generated overall positive cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2024.

The Company has historically financed its operations and expansions with cash generated from operations, a revolving credit facility from Kotak Mahindra Bank, and loans from related parties. Management expects to have sufficient cash from the operations, cash reserves and debt capacity for the next 12 months and for the foreseeable future to finance our operations, our growth, expansion plans.

The Company has generated operating profits in current and preceding year. The Company's ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon, among other things, the mitigation plan to (i) raise additional funds from existing or new credit facilities (ii) receive funds through Forward Purchase Agreements (FPAs) or Private Placements. The Company has undertaken multiple initiatives i.e. (i) restructure the current liabilities into equity or long-term liabilities, and (ii) execute term sheets for infusion of additional cash totalling around \$5 million in gross proceeds. The Company is hopeful of accomplishing its objectives through these measures in the anticipated time frame and also expects that the funds available through the above-mentioned arrangements will be sufficient to alleviate the doubts about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recovery of the recorded assets or the classification of the liabilities that might be necessary if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

# **Use of Estimates**

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition, allowance for credit losses, stock-based compensation, fair valuation of Forward Purchase Agreements ("FPAs") put option liabilities and private warrant liabilities, useful lives of property and equipment, accounting for income taxes, determination of incremental borrowing rates used for operating lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, obligations related to employee benefits and carve-out of financial statements, including the allocation of assets, liabilities and expenses. Management believes that the estimates and judgments upon which it relies, are reasonable based upon information available to the Company at the time that these estimates and judgments were made. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

# **Segment Reporting**

The Company operates as one operating segment. The Company's chief operating decision maker is its chief executive officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for the purposes of making operating decisions, assessing financial performance and allocating resources.



## **Forward Purchase Agreements**

On November 3, 2023, and November 5, 2023, WWAC entered into Forward Purchase Agreements (the "FPAs") with Sandia Investment Management LP, Sea Otter Trading, LLC, YA II PN, Ltd and Meteora Capital Partners, LP (collectively, the "FPA holders") for an over-the-counter ("OTC") Equity Prepaid Forward Transaction. A Subscription Agreement (the "Subscription Agreement") was also executed alongside each FPA for subscription of the underlying FPA shares by the FPA holders either through a new issuance or purchase of shares from existing holders ("Recycled Shares"). The FPAs and Subscription Agreements have been accounted for separately as discussed subsequently.

The FPAs stipulate a new issuance of 3,711,667 Class A ordinary shares to the FPA holders at the redemption price (i.e., \$10.69 per share) and, purchase of 288,333 Recycled Shares through redemption reversals. The amount to be received by ATI from the FPA holders on such issuance of around 3,711,667, shares, are held with the FPA holders as prepaid with respect to the forward transaction. Pursuant to the FPA, ATI was obligated to pay a prepayment amount of \$42,760 which was settled as below:

- \$39,678 against the consideration receivable by ATI for a new issuance of class A ordinary shares to the FPA holders; and
- \$3,083 representing the cash paid by ATI to the FPA holders to fund the purchase price of the Recycled Shares.

At the end of the contract period of one year, for each unsold share held by the FPA holders, ATI is obligated to pay FPA holders an amount of \$2 in cash or a variable number of ATI's Class A ordinary shares in order to provide a return of \$2.5 per FPA share determined based on the 30-day volume weighted average price ("VWAP") of ATI's Class A ordinary shares ("Maturity Consideration"). The FPA holders have the option to select the form of Maturity Consideration.

The Optional Termination Right held by the FPA holders economically results in the prepaid forward contract being akin to a written put option with the Purchaser's right to sell all or a portion of the 4,000,000 common shares to ATI. ATI is entitled over the 12-month maturity period to either a return of the prepayment or the underlying shares, which the FPA holders will determine at their sole discretion depending on the movement in ATI's stock price.

The FPAs consist of two freestanding financial instruments that are accounted for as follows:

- The total prepayment of \$42,760 ("Prepayment Amount") which includes a net cash outflow of \$3,083 as discussed above. The Prepayment Amount has been accounted for as a reduction to equity to reflect the substance of the overall arrangement as a net repurchase of the Recycled Shares and sale of newly issued shares to the FPA holders pursuant to a subscription agreement without receipt of the underlying consideration of \$39,678.
- 2) The "FPA Put Option" includes both the in-substance written put option and the expected Maturity Consideration. The FPA Put Option is a derivative instrument that the Company has recorded as a liability and measured at fair value in accordance with ASC 480-10. The instrument is subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date, with changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The initial fair value of the FPA put option liability at the Closing Date was \$25,009, and the fair value as on March 31, 2024 was \$10,244, which is reported as a FPA put option liability in our consolidated balance sheet. The change in the fair value of the FPA put option liability of \$14,765 for the year ended March 31, 2024 has been recorded to change in fair value of forward purchase agreement put option liability in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. See Note 20.

# **Derivative Financial Instruments and FPA Put Option Liability**

The Company accounts for the Warrants (defined below) in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40 under which the Instruments (as defined below) do not meet the criteria for equity treatment and must be recorded as liabilities. The Company accounts for the FPA put option liability as a financial liability in accordance with the guidance in ASC 480-10. Warrants and FPA are collectively referred as the "Instruments". The Instruments are subjected to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in the Company's consolidated statement of operations. See Note 18 for further discussion of the pertinent terms of the Warrants and Note 20 for further discussion of the methodology used to determine the value of the instruments.

In December 2023, the Company settled vendor balances amounting to \$855 owed to certain vendors by issuing 361,338 Class A ordinary shares. If the VWAP of the Class A ordinary shares over the three trading days immediately preceding the agreement date is higher than the VWAP over the three trading days immediately preceding the six-month anniversary from the agreement date, additional Class A ordinary shares of ATI would need to be issued for the difference. This represents a derivative financial instrument written by the Company which has been accounted for in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40 including subsequent re-measurement at fair value with the changes being recognized in Company's consolidated statement of operations.

For derivative financial instruments that are accounted for as liabilities, the derivative instrument is initially recorded at its fair value at inception and is then re-valued at each reporting date, with changes in the fair value reported in the statements of operations. The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as liabilities or as equity, is evaluated at the end of each reporting period. Derivative liabilities are classified in the consolidated balance sheets as current or noncurrent based on whether or not net-cash settlement or conversion of the instrument could be required within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

#### **Fair Value Measurements**

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value should maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value.

Hierarchical levels which are directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to the valuation of these assets or liabilities are as follows:

Level 1 - Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 – Inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly. Such prices may be based upon quoted prices for identical or comparable securities in active markets or inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and reflect management's best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.

A financial instrument's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

#### **Fair Value of Financial Instruments**

Except for the Warrants and FPAs as described above, the fair value of the Company's assets and liabilities, which qualify as financial instruments under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures," approximates the carrying amounts represented in the consolidated balance sheets.

# **Concentration of Credit Risk**

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, loans to affiliates, and investments. The Company holds cash at financial institutions that the Company believes are high credit quality financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure with any one bank and conducts ongoing evaluations of the creditworthiness of the banks with which it does business. As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, there were one and four customers, respectively, that represented 10% or greater of the Company's accounts receivable balance. The Company expects limited credit risk arising from its long-term investments as these primarily entail investments in the Company's affiliates that have a credit rating that is above the minimum allowable credit rating defined in the Company's investment policy. As a part of its risk management process, the Company limits its credit risk with respect to long-term investments by performing periodic evaluations of the credit standing of counterparties to its investments.

In respect of the Company's revenue, there were two and four customers that each accounted for more than 10% of total revenue for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The following table shows the amount of revenue derived from each customer exceeding 10% of the Company's revenue during the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023:

	Year End March 3	
	2024	2023
Customer 1	14%	16%
Customer 2	12%	16%
Customer 3	n/a	12%
Customer 4	n/a	11%

#### Accounts receivable, net

The Company records a receivable when an unconditional right to consideration exists, such that only the passage of time is required before payment of consideration is due. Timing of revenue recognizion may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. If revenue recognized on a contract exceeds the billings, then the Company records an unbilled receivable for that excess amount, which is included as part of accounts receivable, net in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Prior to the Company's adoption of ASU 2016-13, Topic 326 Financial Instruments – Credit Losses ("Topic 326"), the accounts receivable balance was reduced by an allowance for doubtful accounts that was determined based on the Company's assessment of the collectability of customer accounts. Under Topic 326, accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount, net of allowance for credit losses. The Company regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance for credit losses based on a combination of factors. In establishing any required allowance, management considers historical losses adjusted for current market conditions, the current receivables aging, current payment terms and expectations of forward-looking loss estimates. Allowance for credit losses was \$1,263 as of March 31, 2024 and allowance for doubtful accounts was \$0 as of March 31, 2023, and is classified within "Accounts Receivable, net" in the consolidated balance sheets. See "Recent accounting pronouncements adopted" section below for information pertaining to the adoption of Topic 326.

The following tables provides details of the Company's allowance for credit losses:

	_	Year Endo March 31	
	2	024	2023
Opening balance as of March 31, 2023	\$	- \$	-
Transition period adjustment on accounts receivables (through retained earnings) pursuant to ASC 326		149	-
Adjusted balance as of April 1, 2023	\$	149 \$	-
Additions charged to cost and expense		1,538	-
Write-off charged against the allowance		(424)	-
Closing balance as of March 31, 2024	\$	1,263 \$	

## **Long-Term Investments**

The Company's long-term investments consist of debt and non-marketable equity investments in privately held companies in which the Company does not have a controlling interest or significant influence, which have maturities in excess of one year and the Company does not intend to sell.

Debt investments of mandatorily redeemable preference shares, which are classified as held-to-maturity since the Company has the intent and contractual ability to hold these securities to maturity. These investments are reported at amortized cost and are subject to an ongoing impairment evaluation. Income from these investments is recorded in "Interest income" in the consolidated statements of operations.

Under Topic 326, expected credit losses are recorded and reduced from the amortized cost of the held-to-maturity securities. Expected credit losses for long-term investments are calculated using a probability of default method. Credit losses are recorded within "Selling, general & administrative expenses" in the consolidated statements of operations when an event or circumstance indicates a decline in value has occurred. Allowance for credit losses was \$126 as of March 31, 2024. See "Recent accounting pronouncements adopted" section below for information pertaining to the adoption of ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments.

The following tables provides details of the Company's allowance for credit losses:

		Year End March 3	
	20	024	2023
Opening balance as of March 31, 2023	\$	- \$	-
Transition period adjustment on long term investments (through retained earnings) pursuant to ASC 326		126	-
Adjusted balance as of April 1, 2023	\$	126 \$	-
Additions charged to change in provision for credit losses		-	-
Closing balance as of March 31, 2024	\$	126 \$	

The Company includes these long-term investments in "Long-term investments" on the consolidated balance sheets.

#### **Revenue Recognition**

The Company determines revenue recognition through the application of the following five step model in accordance with ASC 606: (1) identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer; (2) identification of the performance obligations in a contract; (3) determination of the transaction price; (4) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognition of revenue when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied.



# Nature of Services

The Company derives revenues from contracts for management consultancy services, which entail providing customized and integrated advisory and operational management services, each of which constitute a separate performance obligation. These contracts have different terms based on the scope, performance obligations and complexity of the engagement, which frequently requires the Company to make judgments and estimates in recognizing revenues.

The Company's advisory services entail the provision of strategic consulting services at the onset and during the contractual term and are billed on a timeand materials basis. Operational management services entail provision of tailored offshoring services in respect of customers' business operations and are billed on a cost-plus basis. Revenue on time and material arrangements is recognized based on the actual hours performed at the contracted billable rates for services provided, plus costs incurred on behalf of the customer. Revenue on cost-plus arrangements is recognized to the extent of costs incurred, plus the contractually agreed-upon margin earned. The Company's performance obligations are satisfied over time and since contractual billings correspond with the value provided to a customer, the Company recognizes revenue in the amount of consideration for which it has the right to invoice using the asinvoiced practical expedient. If there is an uncertainty about the receipt of payment for the services, revenue is recognized to the extent that a significant reversal of revenue would not be probable.

If there is an uncertainty about the receipt of payment for the services, revenue recognition is deferred until the uncertainty is sufficiently resolved. The Company applies a practical expedient and does not assess the existence of a significant financing component if the period between transfer of the service to a customer and when the customer pays for that service is one year or less.

All revenues earned from contracts are presented net of discounts, allowances, and applicable taxes. Reimbursements of out-of-pocket expenses received from customers have been included as part of revenues.

#### Unbilled Receivables

Unbilled receivables represent balances recognized as revenue that have not been billed to the customer.

# **Cost of Revenue**

Cost of revenue primarily consists of personnel-related costs directly associated with the Company's professional services, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, the costs of contracted third-party partners, travel expenses, depreciation related to the Company's infrastructure and equipment dedicated for customer use, and other overhead.

# Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses include compensation for executive management, sales and marketing employees, advertising costs, finance administration and human resources, facility costs, personnel-related expenses directly associated with the Company's IT staff, bad debt expenses, professional service fees, depreciation, and other general overhead costs to support the Company's operations.

#### **Deferred Transaction Costs**

Deferred transaction costs, which consist of direct incremental legal, consulting and accounting fees related to the Business Combination, are capitalized. On November 6, 2023, \$3,697 of deferred transaction costs were recorded against additional paid-in capital upon the consummation of the Business Combination. The Company had recorded \$0 and \$1,921 of deferred transaction costs on the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

# **Stock-Based Compensation**

In 2020, Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pvt Ltd. established a controlled trust called the Aeries Employee Stock Option Trust ("ESOP Trust"). The ESOP Trust purchased shares of Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pvt Ltd. from funds borrowed from the entity. The entity's Board of Directors recommends to the ESOP Trust certain employees, officers and key management personnel, to whom the ESOP Trust will be required to grant shares from its holdings at the exercise price. Such shares granted to employees are subject to the vesting conditions of the plans described below.

The Company measures compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. Stock-based awards include stock options with service-based and/or performance-based vesting conditions. For awards that vest based on continued service, stock-based compensation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. For awards with performance-based vesting conditions, stock-based compensation expense is recognized using an accelerated attribution method from the time it is deemed probable that the vesting condition will be met through the time the service-based vesting condition has been achieved. The Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance condition at each reporting date.

The fair value of employee stock options are determined using the Black-Scholes Merton ("BSM") model using various inputs, including estimates of expected volatility, term, risk-free rate, and future dividends. The Company recognizes compensation costs on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the employee which is generally the option vesting term. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

*Fair Value of Common Stock* – Given the absence of a public trading market for shares of ATGBA, the Company considers numerous objective and subjective factors to determine the fair value of common stock at each meeting at which awards are approved. These factors include, but are not limited to, contemporaneous valuations of common stock performed by an independent valuation specialist; developments in the Company's business and stage of development; the Company's operational and financial performance and condition; current condition of capital markets and the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as sale of the Company; and the lack of marketability of the Company's common stock.

*Dividend Yield* – The Company bases the assumed dividend yield on its expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, the expected dividend yield used is zero.

*Expected Volatility* – The volatility is derived from the average historical stock volatilities of a peer group of public companies that the Company considers to be comparable to its business over a period equivalent to the expected term of the share-based grants. The peer group is periodically re-evaluated to properly align to the changes and developments of the Company's business.

*Risk-free Interest Rate* – The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates on U.S. Treasury bonds whose maturity period is appropriate for the term of the options.

Expected Term – The Company calculates the expected term using the simplified method based on the options vesting term and contractual terms as the Company did not have sufficient relevant historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and post-vesting employment termination behavior.

# **Income Taxes**

The Company records income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to apply to taxable income for the years in which those tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. The Company nets the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities from temporary differences arising from a particular tax-paying component of the Company within the same tax jurisdiction and presents the net asset or liability as long term. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are provided when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. We have elected to account for the tax effects of the global intangible low tax Income provision as a current period expense.

The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax positions if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. Although the Company believes that it has adequately reserved for uncertain tax positions, the Company can provide no assurance that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be materially different. The Company makes adjustment to these reserves when facts and circumstances change, such as the closing of a tax audit or the refinement of an estimate. To the extent that the final outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will affect the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made and could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

The Company elects to record interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the consolidated statements of operations as a component of provision for income taxes.

# Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of changes, net of taxes, in the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments and actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans.

# Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of the Company's cash and bank balances. The Company considers cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

# **Property and Equipment**

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, subject to review of impairment. Expenditures for replacements and improvements are capitalized, whereas the costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to earnings as incurred. Property and equipment include assets that the Company owns and finance lease arrangements. Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Software and computer equipment	3-6 years
Office equipment	5 years
Furniture and fixtures	10 years
Vehicle	8-10 years
Internal-use software	5 years
Leasehold improvements	Shorter of lease term or estimated useful life

# **Internal Use Software Costs**

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to internal use software acquired, modified, or developed related to the Company's platform. These capitalized costs are primarily related to salaries and other personnel costs. Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once the application development stage has been reached, internal and external costs, if direct and incremental, are capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalization ceases upon completion of all substantial testing. Maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred. For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company capitalized \$663 and \$568, respectively, of technology development costs. The amortization expense is recorded in "Cost of revenue" and "Selling, general and administrative expenses" on the consolidated statements of operations.

Software costs that are expensed are recorded in "Selling, general and administrative expenses" on the consolidated statements of operations.

# **Impairment of Long-Lived Assets**

The Company periodically reviews the carrying amounts of long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The Company measures the recoverability of these assets by comparing the carrying amount of each asset to the future undiscounted cash flows we expect the asset to generate. If any of these assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized equals the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. In addition, we periodically evaluate the estimated remaining useful lives of long-lived assets to determine whether events or changes in circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of depreciation or amortization. No impairment charges have been recorded during the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

#### Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. The Company's assessment is based on whether: (1) the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, (2) the Company obtains the right to substantially all the economic benefit from the use of the asset throughout the term of the contract, and (3) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

Leases are classified as either finance leases or operating leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if any one of the following criteria are met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the asset by the end of the lease term, (2) the lease contains an option to purchase the asset that is reasonably certain to be exercised, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining useful life of the asset or (4) the present value of the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the asset, (5) the lease dasset is so specialized that the asset will have little to no value at the end of the lease term. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not meet any one of the above criteria. Assets acquired under finance leases are recorded in property and equipment, net.

Lease liabilities are recognized at the present value of the fixed lease payments, reduced by landlord incentives using a discount rate based on similarly secured borrowings available to us. Lease assets are recognized based on the initial present value of the fixed lease payments, reduced by landlord incentives, plus any direct costs from executing the leases. Lease assets are tested for impairment in the same manner as long-lived assets used in operations. Leasehold improvements are capitalized at cost and amortized over the lesser of their expected useful life or the lease term.

Upon the adoption of ASC 842, the Company elected the package of practical expedients to not (i) reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain a lease, (ii) reassess historical lease classifications for existing leases, and (iii) reassess initial direct costs for existing leases.

The Company also elected the practical expedient to account for lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. Accordingly, the Company shall include non-lease components with lease payments for the purpose of calculating lease assets and liabilities to the extent that they are fixed. Non-lease components that are not fixed are expensed as incurred as variable lease payments. The Company does not record leases on the consolidated balance sheet that have a term of 12 months or less at the lease commencement date.

Costs associated with operating lease assets are recognized on a straight-line basis within "Cost of revenue" and "Selling, general and administrative" expenses over the term of the lease. Finance lease assets are amortized within operating expenses on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. The interest component of a finance lease is included in interest expense and recognized using the effective interest method over the lease term.

## **Commitments and Contingencies**

Certain conditions may exist as of the date the consolidated financial statements are issued, which may result in a loss to the Company but which will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. The Company assesses such contingent liabilities, and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment. The Company monitors the arrangements that are subject to guarantees in order to identify if the obligor who is responsible for making the payments fails to do so. If the Company determines it is probable that a loss has occurred, then any such estimable loss would be recognized under those guarantees. The methodology used to estimate potential loss related to guarantees considers the guarantee amount and a variety of factors, which include, depending on the counterparty, latest financial position of counterparty, actual defaults, historical defaults, and other economic conditions. Management does not believe, based upon information available at this time, that these matters will not material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, there is no assurance that such matters will not materially and adversely affect the Company's business, financial position, and results of operations or cash flows.

## **Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation**

The Company's consolidated financial statements are reported in U.S. dollars. The functional currency of the Company is the U.S. dollars. The functional currency for the Company's subsidiaries organized in India, Mexico and the United States are their respective local currencies. The Company translates the assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. Dollar functional currency subsidiaries into U.S. Dollars using exchange rates in effect at the end of each period. Amounts classified in stockholder's equity are translated at historical exchange rates. Revenues and expenses for these subsidiaries are translated using rates that approximate those in effect during the period. Gains and losses from these translations are recognized in cumulative translation adjustment included in "Accumulated other comprehensive loss" on the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company remeasures monetary assets and liabilities that are not denominated in the functional currency at exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary items denominated in foreign currency remaining unsettled at the end of the year are translated at the closing rates as of the last day of the year. Gains and losses from these remeasurements are recognized within "Other income (expense), net" in the consolidated statements of operations and were \$21 and \$391 for the years ending March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

# **Employee Benefit Plan**

Defined Contribution Plan: This comprises of contributions to the employees' provident fund for employees in India, which is a defined contribution plan set up in accordance with local labor and tax laws and 401(k) savings and supplemental retirement plans for employees in the United States. Both the employee and the employer make monthly contributions to the plan at a predetermined rate of the employees' basic salary. The Company's monthly contributions to all of these plans are charged to the consolidated statement of operations in the year they are incurred and there are no further obligations under these plans beyond those monthly contributions. The obligation is recognized in other, which is included in "Other current liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company contributed \$796 and \$642 towards both of these defined contribution plans during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. This balance is recognized in either "Cost of revenue" or "Selling, general, and administrative expenses", on an employee-by-employee basis.

*Defined Benefit Plan:* The Company provides for a gratuity obligation through a defined benefit retirement plan (the "Gratuity Plan") covering eligible employees in India under Payments of Gratuity Act, 1972. The plan provides for lump sum payment to vested employees at retirement, death, incapacitation, or termination of employment, of an amount equivalent to 15 days (15 days / 26 days) of salary payable to the respective employee for each completed year of service, with a maximum limit prescribed per employee. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the entire gratuity plan of the Company was unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under this plan is determined based on actuarial valuation at each year end. Actuarial valuation is carried out for gratuity using the projected unit credit method. These costs primarily represent the increase in the actuarial present value of the obligation for pension benefits based on employee service during the year and the interest on this obligation in respect of employee service in previous years. The obligation is included in "Accrued compensation and related benefits, current" while the long-term portion is included in "Other liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in fair value of the obligation are recorded in "Other comprehensive loss" in the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income and generally amortized over the average remaining service period of the active employees expected to receive benefits under the plan.

*Compensated Absences:* The Company recognizes its liabilities for compensated absences dependent on whether the obligation is attributable to employee services already rendered, relates to rights that vest or accumulate and payment is probable and estimable. The obligation is included in "Accrued compensation and related benefits, current" while the long-term portion is included in "Other liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company's total obligation with respect to compensated absences was \$2,537 and \$1,910 for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

## Net income per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common and potential dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. The Company has not considered the effect of the Warrants sold in its initial public offering (the "Initial Public Offering") and private placement to purchase ATI ordinary shares, and impact of FPA put option liability in the calculation of diluted net earnings per share, since the instruments are not dilutive.

# **Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted**

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses ("Topic 326"): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. Topic 326 requires measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets measured at amortized cost as well as certain off balance sheet commitments (loan commitments, standby letters of credit, financial guarantees, and other similar instruments). The Company had an off-balance sheet guarantee at the April 1, 2023 adoption date (see Note 17 – Commitment and Contingencies). The expected credit loss for this guarantee was estimated using the probability of default method. The Company adopted ASU 2016-13 on April 1, 2023 using a modified retrospective approach. Results for reporting periods beginning April 1, 2023 are presented under Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 326 while prior period amounts continue to be reported in accordance with previously applicable US GAAP.

The adoption of ASU 2016-13 resulted in an after-tax cumulative-effect reduction to opening retained earnings and noncontrolling interest of \$223 as of April 1, 2023. The following table summarizes the impact of the Company's adoption of ASU 2016-13:

	As Reported March 31, 2023	Impact of Adoption	Balance as of April 1, 2023
Accumulated retained earnings (deficit)	6,318	(190)	6,128
Noncontrolling interests	1,279	(33)	1,246
Accounts receivable, net	13,416	(149)	13,267
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	4,117	-	4,117
Other current liabilities	4,201	21	4,222
Other assets	2,259	(1)	2,258
Long-term investments	1,564	(126)	1,438
Deferred tax asset	1,237	75	1,312

Expense related to credit losses is classified within "Selling, general & administrative expenses" in the consolidated statements of operations.

#### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements not yet Adopted**

In August 2020, the FASB issued a new standard (ASU 2020-06) to reduce the complexity of accounting for convertible debt and other equity-linked instruments. For certain convertible debt instruments with a cash conversion feature, the changes are a trade-off between simplifications in the accounting model (no separation of an "equity" component to impute a market interest rate, and simpler analysis of embedded equity features) and a potentially adverse impact to diluted EPS by requiring the use of the if-converted method. The new standard will also impact other financial instruments commonly issued by both public and private companies. For example, the separation model for beneficial conversion features is eliminated simplifying the analysis for issuers of convertible debt and convertible preferred stock. Also, certain specific requirements to achieve equity classification and/ or qualify for the derivative scope exception for contracts indexed to an entity's own equity are removed, enabling more freestanding instruments and embedded features to avoid mark-to-market accounting. The new standard is effective for companies that are SEC filers (except for Smaller Reporting Companies) for fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2021 and interim periods within that year, and two years later for other companies. Companies can early adopt the standard at the start of a fiscal year beginning after December 15, 2020. The standard can either be adopted on a modified retrospective or a full retrospective basis. The Company is currently reviewing the issued standard and does not believe it will materially impact the Company.

In October 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-06, Disclosure Improvements: Codification Amendments in Response to the SEC's Disclosure Update and Simplification Initiative, which amends the disclosure or presentation requirements related to various subtopics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (the "Codification"). The effective date for each amendment will be the date on which the SEC's removal of that related disclosure from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K becomes effective, with early adoption prohibited. If by June 30, 2027, the SEC has not removed the applicable requirement from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K, the pending content of the related amendment will be removed from the Codification and will not become effective for any entity. The Company is in the process of evaluating the Impact of the amendments this ASU will have on the financial statements and related disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires public entities to disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold on an annual basis. ASU 2023-09 is effective for the Company for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2025. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the update.

In March 2024, FASB issued ASU No. 2024-01, Compensation-Stock Compensation ("ASC Topic 718") Scope Application of Profits Interests and Similar Awards was issued to address diversity in practice in determining whether profits interests and similar awards should be accounted for in accordance with Topic 718 or Topic 710. The update doesn't change the scope for either Topic 718 or Topic 710; however, it provides implementation guidance and examples to assist entities in determining if profits interests or similar awards are within the scope of Topic 718. The ASU will be effective for annual periods beginning from April 1, 2025, including interim periods within those years. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on its unaudited consolidated financial statements.

The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the updates.

### Note 3 - Restatement of Previously Issued Carve-out Consolidated Financial Statements

In connection with the preparation of the Company's previously issued carve-out consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2023, the Company's management identified certain errors. The identified errors as described below resulted in a) an overstatement of the net income attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., an understatement of net income attributable to noncontrolling interest and an overstatement of basic and diluted earnings per share, and b) an understatement of number of issued and paid-up common stock, and resultant overstatement of basic and diluted earnings per share. The Company's carve-out consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 has been restated in accordance with ASC 250, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.

#### a) an overstatement of the net income attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., an understatement of net income attributable to noncontrolling interest and an overstatement of basic and diluted earnings per share ("Restatement no. 1")

#### Net income attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd./ noncontrolling interest

The Company previously considered treasury shares of its subsidiary, in the calculation of the Company's controlling shareholding and corresponding noncontrolling interest. However, it was subsequently determined that as these shares are not issued yet and available for issuance, they should be excluded from the calculations of share count for accounting purposes. The change resulted in a decrease in the allocation of net income to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. and a corresponding increase in the allocation of net income to noncontrolling interest. This resultant change is reflected in the following tables, which summarize the effect of the restatement on the affected financial statement line items within the previously reported carve-out consolidated financial statement for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

	Re Ma	reviously ported urch 31, 2023	 atement ustment	Res	Adjusted – statement no. 1 arch 31, 2023
Carve-out Consolidated Balance Sheet					
Net stockholder's investment and additional paid-in capital	\$	7,311	\$ (90)	\$	7,221
Retained earnings		6,454	(136)		6,318
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(1,385)	36		(1,349)
Total Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. stockholder's equity	\$	12,380	\$ (190)	\$	12,190
Noncontrolling interest		1,089	190		1,279
Total stockholder's equity	\$	13,469	\$ -	\$	13,469
Total liabilities and stockholder's equity	\$	34,397	\$ -	\$	34,397
Carve-out Consolidated Statement of Operations					
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest	\$	221	\$ 39	\$	260
Net income attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd.	\$	1,485	\$ (39)	\$	1,446
Carve-out Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income					
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest	\$	118	\$ 21	\$	139
Total comprehensive income attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd.	\$	762	\$ (21)	\$	741

#### Earnings per share

The Company previously excluded the impact of subsidiary's vested stock options exercisable for little to no cost for purpose of calculation of basic EPS and also excluded the dilutive impact of vested and unvested stock options of the subsidiary for purpose of calculation of dilutive EPS. The inclusion of these shares in computing the subsidiary's earnings per share data resulted in a decrease in the consolidated basic and diluted EPS calculations for the years ended March 31, 2023. The following table summarizes the effect of the restatement on the affected financial statement line items within the previously reported carve-out consolidated financial statement for the years ended March 31, 2023.

	R	Previously eported arch 31, 2023	statement ljustment	Re	Adjusted – estatement no. 1 Iarch 31, 2023
Earnings per share attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. common stockholders					
Basic	\$	148,422	\$ (22,926)	\$	125,496
Diluted	\$	148,422	\$ (23,057)	\$	125,365
Weighted average common shares outstanding					
Basic		10	-		10
Diluted		10	-		10

 an understatement of number of issued and paid-up common stock, and resultant overstatement of basic and diluted earnings per share ("Restatement no. 2")

The Company had approved a stock split of its issued and paid-up common stock at a ratio of 1,000-for-1 effective June 14, 2023 ('Stock Split'), i.e., subsequent to the latest reported balance sheet but before the release of the carve-out consolidated financial statements. Whilst the total paid up value did not undergo a change; the number of shares, having no par value underwent a change pursuant to the stock split. The Company previously excluded the impact of Stock Split, which is described below.

#### Number of issued and paid-up common stock

The Stock Split resulted in conversion of 10 pre-split shares of common stock to 10,000 shares of common stock. Consequently, the total issued and paidup capital of the Company did not undergo a change. As per ASC 505 Equity, Stock Split must be given retroactive effect in the carve-out consolidated balance sheet. As a result of the Stock Split, the Company's shares and per share data as reflected in the carve-out consolidated financial statements were retroactively restated as if the transaction occurred at the beginning of the earliest periods presented.

# Earnings per share

Impact of Stock Split was previously excluded for the purpose of calculation of basic and diluted EPS. As per ASC 260 Earnings per share, if the number of common shares outstanding increases as a result of a stock split, the computations of basic and diluted EPS shall be adjusted retroactively for all periods presented. Accordingly, the inclusion of this Stock Split in computing the earnings per share resulted in a decrease in the basic and diluted EPS calculations for the years ended March 31, 2023. The following table summarizes the effect of the restatement on the affected financial statements line items within the previously reported carve-out consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2023.

	rep Res	As previously reported per Restatement no. 1 March 31, 2023		Restatement Adjustment		Adjusted – estatement no. 2 March 31, 2023
Earnings per share attributable to Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd. common stockholders						
Basic	\$	125,496	\$	(125,371)	\$	125
Diluted	\$	125,365	\$	(125,240)	\$	125
Weighted average common shares outstanding						
Basic		10		9,990		10,000
Diluted		10		9,990		10,000

# Note 4 - Prepaids Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaids and other current assets consists of the following:

	 As Marc	of ch 31,	
	2024		2023
Advance non-income taxes <sup>[1]</sup>	\$ 4,179	\$	3,371
Prepaid expenses	878		405
Advance to vendors	728		119
Security deposits	424		29
Other	786		193
	\$ 6,995	\$	4,117

[1] Advance non-income taxes consist of tax credits owed to the Company that were levied from taxing authorities.

# Note 5 - Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following:

	 As of March 31,			
	2024		2023	
Software and computer equipment <sup>[1]</sup>	\$ 5,009	\$	3,481	
Leasehold improvements <sup>[1]</sup>	1,095		854	
Office equipment <sup>[1]</sup>	528		450	
Internal-use software under development	769		875	
Furniture and fixtures <sup>[1]</sup>	110		130	
Vehicles	247		250	
Property and equipment, gross	\$ 7,758	\$	6,040	
Accumulated depreciation and amortization <sup>[1]</sup>	(4,179)		(2,915)	
Property and equipment, net	\$ 3,579	\$	3,125	

[1] Property and equipment held under finance lease arrangements amounted to \$443 and \$542 as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Accumulated depreciation for property and equipment held under finance lease arrangements was \$1,127 and \$971 as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. Depreciation expense in respect to these assets was \$401 and \$386 for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.



During the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company sold property and equipment for the sale proceeds of \$11 and \$12, respectively. As a result of the sale, the Company recorded a loss of \$12 and \$54 in the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

For the year ended March 31, 2024, and 2023 depreciation and amortization expense was \$1,352 and \$1,172, respectively.

# Note 6 - Long-Term Investments

#### Common Stock

The Company holds 6,927 shares of common stock of Boston Systems Private Limited (previously known as Empays Payment Systems India Private Ltd). During the year ended March 31, 2023 the Company fully impaired this investment and recorded an impairment charge of \$7. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the carrying value of this investment was \$0.

# 10% Cumulative Redeemable Preference Securities

The Company holds 4,500,000 cumulative redeemable preference securities ("CRPS") of a common control affiliate, Aeries Technology Products and Strategies Private Ltd. The CRPS carry a cumulative dividend of 10% per annum. 3,500,000 CRPS can be redeemed any time before 19 years from the date of issue i.e. June 27, 2017 by giving a 30-day redemption request and 1,000,000 CRPS can be redeemed any time before 20 years from the date of issue i.e. April 7, 2016 by giving a 30-day redemption request. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, these CRPS held by the Company were classified as a held-to-maturity investment and recorded at amortized cost of \$798 and \$761, respectively.

# 0.001% Series-A Redeemable Preference Securities

The Company holds 349,173 Series-A cumulative redeemable preference securities (Series-A RPS) of a common control affiliate, Aeries Financial Technologies Private Ltd. and was recorded as a held-to-maturity investment at amortized cost. The Series-A RPS carries a dividend of 0.001 % per annum. Series-A RPS can be redeemed after 19 years from the date of original issuance with an annualized internal rate of return of 18%. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, these Series-A RPS held by the Company were classified as a held-to-maturity investment and recorded at amortized cost of \$814 and \$803, respectively.

A reconciliation from amortized cost basis to net carrying amount is provided below for the Company's held-to-maturity investments:

	As Marc	of h 31,	,	
	 2024		2023	
Held-to-maturity investments, amortized cost basis (net off expected credit losses)	\$ 815	\$	955	
Interest earned on investments	797		609	
Held-to-maturity investments, net carrying amount	\$ 1,612	\$	1,564	

# Note 7 - Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consists of the following:

		As Marc	of ch 31	,	
	2024			2023	
Taxes payable	\$	3,584	\$	2,257	
Finance lease obligations, current		294		308	
Accrued expenses		4,892		1,319	
Deferred revenue		261		193	
Other		257		124	
	\$	9,288	\$	4,201	

		As of March 31,		
	2024	2024 2023		
Short-term borrowings	\$ 6,765	\$	1,364	
Current portion of vehicle loan	13		12	
	\$ 6,778	\$	1,376	

In May 2023, the Company amended its revolving credit facility ("Amended Credit Facility"), whereby the total borrowing capacity was increased from INR 160,000 (or approximately \$1,919 at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024) to INR 320,000 (or approximately \$3,838 at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024), with Kotak Mahindra Bank. The revolving facility is available for the Company's operational requirements. The funded drawdown amount under the Company's revolving facility as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, is \$3,802 and \$1,364 respectively. The corresponding interest rate at each of these dates was six months Marginal Cost of Funds based Lending Rate plus a margin of 0.80% and 1.20%, respectively.

Prior to the closing date, ATI modified the terms of payment owed to Shearman & Sterling LLP, a multinational law firm providing legal consultancy services to ATI. This resulted in the total amount owed by ATI to Shearman & Sterling LLP reducing from \$4.8 million of accounts payable to \$4 million of promissory note, payable in four equal tranches. Subsequently, the promissory note was amended upon payment of \$1.5 million, wherein the balance \$2.5 million was promised to be paid in two equal tranches. \$2.5 million owed to Sherman & Sterling LLP has been disclosed as short-term debt, as ATI has an unconditional obligation to settle it within twelve months from March 31, 2024.

After the Closing Date, ATI obtained an insurance policy for its directors and senior officers with maximum coverage of \$5,000. The total premium payable in relation to this was \$880 out of which \$176 was paid upfront and balance \$704 is payable in ten equal monthly instalments of \$73. The arrangement represents a financing transaction where the premium payable has been deferred. The interest rate under the arrangement is 9.2 % per annum. The cumulative interest payable throughout the tenure under the arrangement amounts to \$30 and the same would be recognized as part of the interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations. During the year ended March 31, 2024, the interest expense so recognized was \$22. The balance premium payable as at March 31, 2024 is \$432 and has been disclosed as a current liability since ATI has an unconditional obligation to settle it by September 2024.

For additional information on the vehicle loan see Note 9 - Long-term debt.

## Note 9 - Long-term debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

		As of March 31,			
	2024			2023	
Loan from the director of ATGBA	\$	834	\$	845	
Loan from an affiliate		498		-	
Non-current portion of vehicle loan		108		124	
	\$	1,440	\$	969	

For additional information on the loan from the director of ATGBA, Mr. Vaibhav Rao, to a subsidiary company and loan from an affiliate, see Note 14 – Related Party Transactions - point (g) and (d), respectively.

#### Vehicle loan

On December 7, 2022, the Company entered into a vehicle loan, secured by the vehicle, for INR 11,450 (or approximately \$137 at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024) at 10.75% from Mercedes-Benz Financial Services India Pvt. Ltd. The Company is required to repay the loan in 48 monthly instalments beginning January 4, 2023.

As of March 31, 2024, the future maturities of debt by fiscal year are as follows:

2025	\$ 13
2026	849
2027	591
Total future maturities of debt	\$ 1,453

# Note 10 - Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following:

	As of March 31,			
	2024		2023	
Accrued compensation and related benefits	\$ 3,777	\$	2,764	
Finance lease obligations, non-current	162		235	
Other	9		9	
	\$ 3,948	\$	3,008	

# Note 11 - Revenue

## Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company presents and discusses revenues by customer location. The Company believes this disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of our revenues and cash flows are affected by industry, market and other economic factors.

The following table shows the disaggregation of the Company's revenues by major customer location. Revenues are attributed to geographic regions based upon billed client location. Substantially all of the revenue in our North America region relates to operations in the United States.

	Year Ended March 31,		
	 2024 2023		2023
North America	\$ 56,958	\$	48,204
Asia Pacific and Other	15,551		4,895
Total revenue	\$ 72,509	\$	53,099

#### **Contract balances**

Contract assets comprise amounts where the Company's right to bill is contingent on something other than the passage of time. As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the Company's contract assets were \$255 and \$0, respectively, and were recorded within "Prepaid expenses and other current assets", net of allowance for credit losses, on the consolidated balance sheets.

Contract liabilities, or deferred revenue, comprise amounts collected from the Company's customers for revenues not yet earned and amounts which are anticipated to be recorded as revenues when services are performed. The amount of revenue recognized for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 that was included in deferred revenue at the beginning of each period was \$193 and \$228, respectively.

As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 the Company's deferred revenue was \$261 and \$193, respectively, and was recorded within "Other current liabilities" on the consolidated balance sheets. There was no deferred revenue classified as non-current as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

#### **Contract Acquisition Costs**

Direct and incremental costs incurred for acquiring contracts, such as sales commissions are contract acquisition costs and thereby classified under "Other current assets" and "Other assets" in the consolidated balance sheets. Such costs are amortized over the expected duration of the relationship with customers and recorded under Selling and marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

# Note 12 - Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Company has employee benefit plans in the form of certain statutory and other programs covering its employees.

# **Defined Benefit Plan - Gratuity**

The Company's subsidiaries in India have defined benefit plans comprising of gratuity under Payments of Gratuity Act, 1972 covering eligible employees in India. The present value of the defined benefit obligations and other long-term employee benefits is determined based on actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. The rate used to discount defined benefit obligation is determined by reference to market yields at the balance sheet date on Indian government bonds for the estimated term of obligations.

Actuarial gains or losses arising on account of experience adjustment and the effect of changes in actuarial assumptions are initially recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, and the unrecognized actuarial loss is amortized to the consolidated statements of operations over the average remaining service period of the active employees expected to receive benefits under the plan.

The following table provides the status of the defined benefit plans and the amounts recognized in the Company's consolidated financial statements based on actuarial valuations carried out for the periods ending March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively:

	Year Ended March 31,			
	 2024		2023	
Changes in employee benefit plan obligations	 _			
Projected benefit obligation at the beginning of the year	\$ 1,357	\$	908	
Interest cost	98		52	
Service cost	449		338	
Actuarial gains	68		218	
Benefits paid directly by employers	(47)		(78)	
Effect of exchange rate fluctuation	(19)		(81)	
Projected employee benefit plan at the end of the year	\$ 1,906	\$	1,357	
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets				
Recorded in accrued compensation and related benefits, current	(203)		(120)	
Recorded in other liabilities	(1,701)		(1,237)	
Total project benefit obligation	\$ (1,904)	\$	(1,357)	

The change in defined benefit obligation for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 is largely due to changes in actuarial assumptions pertaining to demographics and financial assumptions.

Amounts included in the accumulated other comprehensive income as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

	 Year Ended March 31,		
	 2024 20		
Net actuarial loss	\$ 501	\$	516
Deferred tax benefit	(126)		(129)
Total	\$ 375	\$	387

Changes in "Other comprehensive income/ (loss)" during the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

		Year Ended March 31,		
	202	24	2023	
Net actuarial loss / (gain)	\$	68	\$ 218	
Amortization of net actuarial (gain)		(85)	(62)	
Deferred tax expense / (benefit)		5	(39)	
Unrecognized actuarial loss / (gain) on employee benefit plan obligations	\$	(12)	\$ 117	

Net defined benefit plan costs for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 include the following components:

		Year Ended March 31,			
	202	2024		2023	
Service costs	\$	449	\$	338	
Interest costs		98		52	
Amortization of net actuarial loss		85		62	
Net defined benefit plan costs	\$	632	\$	452	

#### Assumptions

The Company uses the Projected Unit Credit Method to measure liabilities and interest costs for defined benefit obligations. Under this method, accrued benefit amount is projected to calculate future expected cashflows, which is in turn discounted back at applicable discount rate assumption to arrive at present value of benefit obligation.

The rate used to discount benefit obligations (both funded and unfunded) is determined by reference to market yields on government bonds at the balance sheet date. The currency and term of the government bonds should be consistent with the currency and estimated term of the benefit obligations.

The weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations of the defined benefit plans as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 are presented below:

	Year End March 3	
	2024	2023
Discount rate per annum	8.28%	7.31%
Rate of compensation increase per annum	10.00%	10.00%
Rate of employee turnover per annum	20.00%	20.00%

The table below shows the expected benefit plan payments to the current employees of the plan based on the employee's past service up to the valuation date plus employee's future service up to the date of payment:

Expected benefit payments during	As of March 31, 2024
Year 1	203
Year 2	278
Year 3	376
Year 4	524
Year 5	634
Year 6 to Year 10	3,053

The Company's expected benefit plan payments are based on the same assumptions that were used to measure the Company's benefit obligations as of March 31, 2023.

# Note 13 - Income Taxes

The Company's income tax expense majorly pertains to the Indian jurisdiction. Income before income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, are as follows:

	Year Ended March 31,		
	 2024 2023		2023
United States	\$ (309)	\$	267
India	3,095		2,508
Cayman Islands	13,330		-
UAE	(25)		-
Singapore	2,957		(64)
Mexico	79		55
Total	\$ 19,127	\$	2,766

Provision for income taxes for the year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, consisted of the following:

	Year I Marc	
	 2024	2023
Current tax provision	\$ 2,589	\$ 1,221
Deferred tax benefit	(718)	(161)
Provision for Income Taxes	\$ 1,871	\$ 1,060

Income tax expense for the years ended March 31, 2024 and, 2023 is allocated as follows:

	Year I Marc	
	2024	2023
Income from operations	\$ 1,871	\$ 1,060
Other comprehensive income		
Defined benefit plan	4	(39)
Total	\$ 1,875	\$ 1,021

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes, with the amount computed by applying the income tax rate for the Company to income before provision for income taxes for year ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, is as follows:

		Year Ended March 31,		
	20	2024		
Income before income tax expense	\$	19,127 \$	\$ 2,766	
Income tax expense at tax rates applicable to the Company (i.e., 17%)		-	470	
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:				
Non-deductible expenses		383	241	
Non-taxable income		-	-	
Reversal of deferred tax asset / liability		7	36	
Valuation allowance		-	36	
Tax of earlier year		221	9	
True up /down		78	89	
Loss / (income) taxed at different tax rate		2	(3)	
Adjustments for change in rates due to different tax jurisdiction		1,254	223	
Set off against brought forward losses		(60)	(60)	
GILTI inclusion		42	27	
Others		(56)	(8)	
Provision for income tax	\$	1,871 \$	\$ 1,060	
Effective tax rate		9.78%	38.33%	

Significant components of the Company's deferred taxes as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, are as follows:

				As of Ma	arch 31,			
		202	4		2023			
	India	Singapore	USA	Mexico	India	Singapore	USA	Mexico
Deferred tax assets:								
Property and equipment	271	-	-	1	231	-	-	-
Gratuity	479	-	-	-	341	-	-	-
Deferred rent liability	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Compensated absences	660	-	-	-	481	-	-	-
Expenses allowed on payment basis / upon deposit of withholding taxes under section 43B / 40(a)(ia) of								
Indian Income Tax Act, 1961	-	-	-	-	12	-	-	-
Net operating losses	30	-	-	-	34	35	-	-
Finance lease	-	-	-	-	137	-	-	-
Intangible assets under development	4	-	-	-	4	-	-	-
Provision for expenses	288	61	37	90	122	-	-	-
Operating lease liabilities	1,879	-	-	-	1,487	-	-	-
Others	76	-	-	-	15	-	-	-
Deferred tax asset before valuation allowance	3,687	61	37	91	2,864	35		
Valuation Allowance			-	-	(158)	(35)		-
Deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance	3,687	61	37	91	2,706	-		

	As of March 31,								
		202	4		2023				
	India	Singapore	USA	Mexico	India	Singapore	USA	Mexico	
Deferred tax liabilities:									
Investments	(139)	-	-	-	(136)	-	-	-	
Property and equipment	-	-	(3)	-	(29)	-	(2)	-	
Operating right-of-use assets	(1,784)	-	-	-	(1,416)	-	-	-	
Others	(33)	-	-	(76)	(54)	-	-	-	
Deferred tax liability	(1,956)	-	(3)	(76)	(1,635)	-	(2)	-	
Net deferred tax asset (liability)	1,731	61	34	15	1,071		(2)		

		s of ·ch 31,
Classified as	2024	2023
Deferred tax assets non-current	\$ 1,933	\$ 1,237
Deferred tax liabilities non-current	92	168
	\$ 1,841	\$ 1,069

## Net operating loss

The Company has carry forward losses of \$40 and \$79 in the Indian jurisdiction, which will get expired in financial years 2028-29 and 2029-30, respectively.

With certain immaterial exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local or other U.S. income tax examinations by taxing authorities for years prior to 2021. The Company's subsidiaries in India are open to examination by relevant taxing authorities for tax years beginning on or after April 1, 2014. The Company regularly reviews the likelihood of additional tax assessments and adjusts its unrecognized tax benefits as additional information or events require.

# Unrecognized tax benefits

The Company recognizes financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more-likely-than-not sustain the position following an audit. As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the Company does not have any unrecognized tax benefits with a significant impact on its consolidated financial statements.

The Company's major tax jurisdictions are Singapore, India, the United States, and Mexico. Generally accepted accounting principles requires the Company's management to evaluate tax positions taken by the Company and recognize a tax liability for any uncertain positions that more likely than not would not be sustained upon examination by the Internal Revenue System (the "IRS") or a foreign jurisdiction taxing authority. The Company is subject to routine audits by tax authorities.

Income tax has not been recognized on the excess of the amount for financial reporting over the tax basis of investments in foreign subsidiaries that is indefinitely reinvested outside the United States. This amount becomes taxable upon a repatriation of assets from the subsidiary or a sale or liquidation of the subsidiary. The amount of such temporary differences totalled approximately \$6,883, with an income tax impact of approximately \$409 as of March 31, 2024.

# Note 14 - Related Party Transactions

Name of the related party	Relationship
Aark II Pte Limited	Affiliate entity
Aarx Singapore Pte Ltd	Affiliate entity
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited ("ATPSPL")	Affiliate entity
Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited	Affiliate entity
Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited	Affiliate entity
Ralak Consulting LLP	Affiliate entity
TSLC Pte Limited	Affiliate entity
Nuegen Pte Ltd	Affiliate entity
Venu Raman Kumar	Chairman of ATI's Board and controlling shareholder
Vaibhav Rao	Members of immediate families of Venu Raman Kumar
Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery	Key managerial personnel

Summary of significant transactions and balances due to and from related parties are as follows:

	Year en March	
	2024	2023
Cost sharing arrangements		
Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited (b)	187	160
Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited (b)	115	187
Corporate guarantee commission		
Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited	2	12
Corporate guarantee expense		
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (j)	2	15
Interest expense		
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (d)	30	1
Mr. Vaibhav Rao (g)	84	86
Interest income		
Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited (f), (h)	166	107
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (e), (h)	99	84
Legal and professional fees paid		
Ralak Consulting LLP (c)	424	380
Management consultancy service		
Aark II Pte Limited (a)	3,176	2,002
TSLC Pte Limited (a)	119	159
Office management and support services expense		
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (i)	94	36

		As of March 31,	
	2024		2023
Accounts payable			
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (i)	\$	9 \$	29
Accounts receivable			
Aark II Pte Limited (a)	62	9	1,084
Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited (b)	1	1	9
Bhanix Finance And Investment Limited (b)	1	7	86
TSLC Pte Limited (a)	12	8	259
Interest payable (classified under other current liabilities)			
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (d)		-	1
Interest receivable (classified under prepaid expenses and other current assets)			
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (e)		-	57
Investment in 0.001% Series-A Redeemable preference share			
Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited (h)	93	9	803
Investment in 10% Cumulative redeemable preference shares			
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (h)	79	2	761
Loan from Members of immediate families of Venu Raman Kumar			
Mr. Vaibhav Rao (g)	83	4	845
Loans from affiliates			
Aeries Technology Products and Strategies Private Limited (d)	49	8	-
Loans to affiliates (classified under other assets)			
Aeries Financial Technologies Private Limited (f)	10	5	106
Aeries Technology Products And Strategies Private Limited (e)	55	8	335

(a) The Company provided management consulting services to Aark II Pte Ltd under an agreement dated June 21, 2021 and its amendments thereof and to TSLC Pte Ltd under an agreement dated July 12, 2021.

(b) The Company was in a cost sharing arrangement with Aeries Financial Technologies Private Ltd and Bhanix Finance and Investment Ltd under separate agreements dated April 1, 2020. The cost sharing arrangement included costs in the areas of office management, IT and operations. The agreements are for a 36-month term with auto renewals after the original term.

(c) The Company availed consulting services including implementation services in business restructuring, risk management, feasibility studies, mergers & acquisitions etc. from Ralak Consulting LLP vide agreement dated April 01, 2022.

(d) The Company incurred interest expense in relation to loans taken from ATPSPL, which were borrowed to meet working capital requirements. The loans were for a 3-year term and were issued at an interest rate of 12% per annum.

(e) The Company received interest income in relation to loans given to affiliates to support their working capital requirements. The loans were for a 3-year term and issued at an interest rate of 12% per annum.

(f) The Company received interest income in relation to loans given to affiliates to support their working capital requirements. The loans were for a 3-year term and issued at an interest rate of 15-17% per annum.

(g) The Company obtained a loan at 10% interest rate from Vaibhav Rao for business purposes. The agreement shall remain valid until the principal amount along with interest is fully repaid. The principal amount of the loan was outstanding in entirety as of the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

(h) This amount represents investments in affiliates. The Company earned interest income on its investments in affiliates.

(i) The Company availed management consulting services from ATPSPL under agreements dated March 20, 2020 and April 1, 2021.

(j) ATPSPL gave corporate guarantee of INR 240,000 (or approximately \$2,879 at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024) on behalf of the Company towards the revolving credit facility availed. ATPSPL charges a corporate guarantee commission of 0.5% on the total corporate guarantee given. The guarantee was withdrawn during the year ended March 31, 2024.

The Company has also executed two Exchange Agreements: (1) with AARK and Mr. Raman Kumar ("Sole Shareholder") in his capacity as a shareholder' of AARK; and (2) with ATGBA and Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, Mr. Ajay Khare, and Mr. Unnikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar, key managerial personnel of ATGBA in their capacity as shareholders' of ATGBA (together referred to as "counterparties"). Under the Exchange Agreements, the counterparties would have a right to exchange the shares held by them in AARK/ ATGBA against shares of ATI or cash subject to the conditions specified in the Exchange Agreement. Refer Note 17 for details. Additionally, pursuant to the Business Combination, 5,638,530 Class A ordinary shares have been issued to Innovo Consultancy DMCC, which is wholly owned by Sole Shareholder.

#### Note 15 - Stock-Based Compensation

#### Aeries Employees Stock Option Plan, 2020

On August 1, 2020, ATGBA's board of directors approved and executed the Aeries Employees Stock Option Plan ("ESOP"), which was subsequently amended on July 22, 2022. Under ESOP, the Company has authorized to grant up to 59,900 options to eligible employees in one or more tranches. The Company granted 59,900 options to eligible employees during the year ended March 31, 2023.

The options issued under the ESOP generally are subject to service conditions. The service condition is typically one year. The stock-based compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income using the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period.

The following table summarizes the ESOP stock option activity for the year ended March 31, 2024:

	Shares	Weighted average exercise price	Weighted- average remaining contractual term (in years)	0	gregate 1sic value
Options outstanding at March 31, 2023	59,900	\$ -	-	\$	-
Options granted	-	\$ -	-	\$	-
Options exercised	-	-	-		-
Options canceled, forfeited or expired	-	-	-		-
Options outstanding at March 31, 2024	59,900	\$ 0.12	4.32	\$	2,425
Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2024	59,900	\$ 0.12	4.32	\$	2,425

#### **Aeries Management Stock Option Plan, 2019**

On September 23, 2019, ATGBA's board of directors approved and executed the Aeries Management Stock Option Plan 2019 ("MSOP"), which was subsequently amended on December 31, 2022. Under MSOP, ATGBA has authorized to grant up to 295,565 options to eligible employees in one or more tranches.

The options issued under the MSOP generally are subject to both service and performance conditions. The service condition is typically one year, and the performance conditions are based on the consolidated revenue and adjusted profit before tax of Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pvt Ltd. The stock-based compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income using the straight-line attribution method over the requisite service period if it is probable that the performance target will be achieved.

The following table summarizes the MSOP stock option activity for the year ended March 31, 2024:

	Shares	Weighted average exercise price	Weighted- average remaining contractual term (in years)	Aggregate intrinsic value
Options outstanding at March 31, 2023	295,565	\$		\$ -
Options granted	-			-
Options exercised	-			-
Options canceled, forfeited or expired	-			-
Options outstanding at March 31, 2024	295,565	\$ 0.12	2 1.67	\$ 11,964
Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2024	295,565	\$ 0.12	2 1.67	\$ 11,964

The Company uses the BSM option-pricing model to determine the grant-date fair value of stock options. The determination of the fair value of stock options on the grant date is affected by the estimated underlying common stock price, as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rates, and expected dividends. The grant date fair value of the Company's stock options granted to employees were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

	2022
	Grants
Expected term	3.5 years
Expected volatility	40.80%
Risk free interest rate	3.01%
Annual dividend yield	0.00%

During the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of \$1,626 and \$3,805 within "Selling, general & administrative expenses" in the Consolidated statements of operations, respectively.

There were no amounts capitalized as part of internal-use software under development for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

As of March 31, 2024, there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation cost. As of March 31, 2023, the total remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation cost was \$1,706.

# Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan

The board of directors of ATI approved the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan") on March 11, 2023, subject to approval by ATI's shareholders'. The Plan was approved by ATI's shareholders, on November 2, 2023 and the Plan became effective upon the consummation of the Business Combination. The maximum number of ATI Class A ordinary shares that may be issued under the Plan may not exceed 9,031,027 ATI Class A ordinary shares, subject to certain adjustments set forth in the Plan. No awards had been granted under this Plan as of March 31, 2024.

# Note 16 - Leases

The Company has operating and finance leases for real estate, computer equipment, and furniture and fixtures. Assets acquired under finance leases are recorded in "Property and equipment, net" in the carve-out consolidated balance sheets and were \$443 and \$542 as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively. Accumulated depreciation associated with finance lease assets was \$1,127 and \$971 as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, respectively.

Lease cost recognized in our carve-out consolidated statements of operations is summarized as follows:

		Year Ended March 31,		
	20	2024		
Finance lease cost:				
Amortization of lease assets (Nota a)	\$	398	386	
Interest on lease liabilities(Nota b)		70	65	
Operating lease cost (Nota a)		2,795	2,273	
Short-term and variable lease cost (Nota a)		-	8	
Total lease cost	\$	3,263	2,732	

a) Included in "cost of revenue" and "selling, general and administrative expenses" in the Consolidated carve-out Statement of comprehensive Income.

b) Included in "interest income (expense), net" in the Consolidated carve-out Statement of comprehensive Income.

Cash flows arising from lease transactions were as follows:

	Year Ended March 31,		
	2024	2023	
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:	 		
Operating cash flows from operating leases	\$ 2,681	2,162	
Operating cash flows from finance leases	\$ 70	65	
Financing cash flows from finance leases	\$ 391	390	

Other information about lease amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is summarized as follows:

	Year En March 3	
	2024	2023
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years):		
Operating lease	3.71	3.9
Finance lease	1.67	1.85
Weighted-average discount rate:		
Operating lease	10.70%	10.65%
Finance lease	12.60%	10.56%



# As of March 31, 2024, the Company's lease liabilities were as follows:

	Operat	Operating		Finance		Fotal
Gross lease liabilities	\$	9,248	\$	494	\$	9,742
Less: imputed interest		1,553		38		1,591
Present value of lease liabilities		7,695		456		8,151
Less: current portion of lease liabilities		2,080		294		2,374
Total long-term lease liabilities	\$	5,615	\$	162	\$	5,777

Future minimum annual lease payments under the Company's operating and finance leases as of March 31, 2024 are as follows:

	Ор	Operating		Finance	
2025	\$	2,743	\$	324	
2026		2,423		155	
2027		1,944		15	
2028		1,419		-	
2029		719		-	
Thereafter		-			
Total lease payments	\$	9,248	\$	494	
Less: Imputed interest		1,553		38	
Total	\$	7,695	\$	456	

#### Note 17 - Commitments and Contingencies

# **Corporate Guarantees**

The Company has an outstanding guarantee of nil and INR 200,000 (or approximately \$2,399 at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2024, and approximately \$2,433 at the exchange rate in effect on March 31, 2023) as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which pertains to a fund-based and non-fund based revolving credit facility availed by an affiliate, Bhanix Finance and Investment Ltd ("the borrower"), from Kotak Mahindra Bank. The corporate guarantee requires the Company to make payment in the event the borrower fails to perform any of its obligations under the credit facilities. The guarantee was withdrawn with effect from June 1, 2023, and the bank communicated the withdrawal on August 23, 2023. Subsequent to the withdrawal, the amount for expected credit loss recognized were reversed in entirety. Pursuant to the arrangement, beginning April 1, 2021, the Company charged a fee of 0.5% of the guarantee outstanding. In the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded a guarantee fee income of \$2 and \$12 within "Other income, net" in the consolidated statements of operations.

# **Indemnification obligations**

In the normal course of business, the Company is a party to a variety of agreements under which it may be obligated to indemnify the other party for certain matters. These obligations typically arise in contracts where the Company customarily agrees to hold the other party harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants for certain matters, infringement of third-party intellectual property rights, data privacy violations, and certain tortious conduct in the course of providing services. The duration of these indemnifications varies, and in certain cases, is indefinite.

The Company is unable to reasonably estimate the maximum potential amount of future payments under these or similar agreements due to the unique facts and circumstances of each agreement and the fact that certain indemnifications provide for no limitation to the maximum potential future payments under the indemnification. Management is not aware of any such matters that would have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

#### Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company may be involved in proceedings and litigation, claims and other legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these claims, lawsuits, and other proceedings may involve highly complex issues that are subject to substantial uncertainties, and could result in damages, fines, penalties, nonmonetary sanctions, or relief. Management is not currently aware of any material pending legal proceedings, except for ordinary routine litigation incidental to the business, in which we or any of our subsidiaries are involved, or where our property is subject to such proceedings.

#### **Exchange Agreements**

Upon the consummation of the Business Combination, the holders of AARK ordinary shares and ATGBA ordinary shares each entered into the Exchange Agreements. Pursuant to the Exchange Agreements, from and after the date of the Exchange Agreements and prior to April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, each holder of AARK ordinary shares and ATGBA ordinary shares may exchange up to 20% of the number of AARK ordinary shares and ATGBA ordinary shares may exchange up to 20% of the number of AARK ordinary shares and ATGBA ordinary shares. From and after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, the Company or cash, in each case as provided in the Exchange Agreements. From and after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise conditions, the Company shall have the right to acquire all of the AARK or ATGBA ordinary Share for Class A ordinary shares or cash. In addition, after April 1, 2024 and subject to certain exercise condition, each shareholder of ATGBA and AARK ordinary shares shall have the right to require the Company to provide Class A ordinary shares or cash in exchange for up to all of the AARK or ATGBA ordinary share. Each share of AARK may be exchanged for 2,246 Class A ordinary shares the Company and each ATGBA ordinary share may be exchanged for 14.40 Class A ordinary shares of the Company, in each case subject to certain adjustments. The cash exchange payment may only be elected in the event approval from the Reserve Bank of India ("RBI") is not obtained for exchange of shares and provided that the Company has reasonable cash flow to be able to pay the cash exchange payment and such payment would not be prohibited by any then outstanding debt agreements or arrangements of the Company.

#### Class A ordinary shares issuance to certain vendors

As set out in the section on *Derivative Financial Instruments and FPA Put Option Liability* under Note 2, in December 2023 ATI settled the amounts owed to certain vendors by issuance of Class A ordinary shares. If the VWAP of the Class A ordinary shares over the three trading days immediately preceding the agreement date is higher than the VWAP over the three trading days immediately preceding the six-month anniversary from the agreement date, ATI would need to issue additional Class A ordinary shares for the difference. This represents a derivative financial instrument, fair value of which as at March 31, 2024 has been assessed to be insignificant. Refer Note 20 for details on Fair Value Measurements.

# Note 18 - Warrant Liabilities

On October 22, 2021, pursuant to the consummation of the Initial Public Offering (IPO), the Company issued 11,499,991 Public Warrants. Simultaneously with the closing of the IPO, WWAC issued 8,900,000 warrants in a private placement (the "Private Placement Warrants"), at a purchase price of \$1.00 per Private Placement Warrant, which included 900,000 Units as a result of the underwriter's full exercise of its option to purchase up to 900,000 additional warrants, at a purchase price of \$1.00 per Private Placement Warrant. On November 6, 2023, WWAC issued 627,810 other Private Placement Warrants to the Sponsor pursuant to the conversion of a promissory note payable to the Sponsor. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the Company assumed 11,499,991 Public Warrants and 9,527,810 Private Placement Warrants (collectively the "Warrants").

The Company accounted for the Warrants in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC 815-40 given that certain provisions within the warrant agreement either preclude the warrants from being considered indexed to the ATI's own stock or the fixed-for-fixed option criteria are not met. On this basis the Public and Private Placement Warrants are classified as a liability and are measured at fair value. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date. With each such re-measurement, the warrant liability will be adjusted to fair value, with the change in fair value recognized in the Company's consolidated statement of operations.

Each whole Warrant entitles the holder thereof to purchase one Class A ordinary share of the Company, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Ordinary Shares"), for \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as described herein. Only whole Warrants are exercisable. A holder of the Warrants will not be able to exercise any fraction of a Warrant. The Warrants will expire at 5:00 p.m. New York City time on November 6, 2028, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. On the exercise of any Warrant, the Warrant exercise price will be paid directly to us.

The Company may redeem the outstanding Warrants:

- in whole and not in part;
- at a price of \$0.01 per Public Warrant;
- upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice of redemption to each Warrant holder; and
- if, and only if, the last reported sales price of the Class A ordinary shares for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on third trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of redemption to the Warrant holders (the "Reference Value") equals or exceeds \$18.00 per Ordinary Share (as adjusted); provided that the Private Placement Warrants will not be redeemable by the Company under this provision so long as they are held by the initial purchasers of the Private Placement Warrants or their permitted transferees.

The Company may also redeem the outstanding Warrants:

- in whole and not in part;
- at \$0.10 per warrant
- upon a minimum of 30 days' prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares based on the redemption date and the fair market value of the Class A ordinary shares;
- if, and only if, the Reference Value equals or exceeds \$10.00 per Ordinary Share (as adjusted); provided that if the Reference Value equals or exceeds \$18.00 per Ordinary Share (as adjusted), the Private Placement Warrants will not be redeemable by the Company under this provision so long as they are held by the initial purchasers of the Private Placement Warrants or their permitted transferees.

No fractional Class A ordinary shares will be issued upon redemption. If, upon redemption, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share, the Company will round down to the nearest whole number of the number of Class A ordinary shares to be issued to the holder.

# Note 19 - Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest and Shareholders' Equity (Deficit)

The consolidated statements of changes in Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest and Shareholders' Equity (Deficit) reflect the reverse recapitalization and Business Combination as mentioned in Note 1, on Demerger and Business Combination, and Reverse Recapitalization. As AARK was deemed to be the acquirer in the Business Combination, all periods prior to the completion of the Business Combination reflect the balances and activity of AARK. The consolidated balances as of March 31, 2023 from the audited financial statements of AARK as of that date, share activity (Class A ordinary shares) and per share amounts in the consolidated statement of change in shareholders' equity (deficit) were not retroactively adjusted given that the exchange of all the shares held by the owners of AARK as contemplated under the Exchange agreements as set out in Note 17 has not been completed.

#### **Preference shares**

The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of preference shares, par value \$0.0001 per share, with such designations, voting and other rights and preferences as may be determined from time to time by the Company's board of directors. As of March 31, 2024, there were no shares of preference shares issued or outstanding.

# **Class A ordinary shares**

The Company is authorized to issue 500,000,000 Class A ordinary shares with a par value of \$0.0001 per share. As of March 31, 2024, there were 15,619,004 Class A ordinary shares issued and outstanding, including 4,000,000 Class A ordinary shares subject to the FPAs. Each Class A ordinary share carries one vote and entitles the shareholders' to ratable rights in dividends and distributions as well as in the event of liquidation.

## **Class V ordinary shares**

The Company is authorized to issue 1 Class V ordinary share with a par value of \$0.0001 per share. As of March 31, 2024, there was 1 Class V ordinary share issued and outstanding. The Class V share does not carry any direct economic rights in dividends and other distributions or in an event of liquidation. It does carry voting rights equal to 26% which will ratchet up to 51% voting rights upon occurrence of "extraordinary events" at the ATI level.

# **Common stock**

Pre-combination AARK had only one class of ordinary shares having no par value. Holders of ordinary shares were entitled to one vote per share held. As of June 14, 2023 (immediately prior to the effective date of a stock split), there were 10 ordinary shares outstanding, and the number of ordinary shares outstanding after a stock split was 10,000. As a result of stock split, AARK's shares were retroactively restated as if the transaction occurred at the beginning of the earliest periods presented. Consequently, as of April 1, 2023 and 2022, the AARK's ordinary shares consisted of 10,000 shares, all of which were issued and fully paid. Upon the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of AARK, ordinary shares had no preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights.

# Redeemable noncontrolling interest

As of March 31, 2024, the prior investor of AARK owned 61.76% of the ordinary shares of AARK, and the prior investors of ATGBA owned 14.69% of the ordinary shares of ATGBA. The prior investors of AARK and ATGBA have the right to exchange their AARK /ATGBA ordinary shares for Class A ordinary shares of the Company based on the exchange ratio as set out in the Exchange Agreements, details of which are set out in Note 17 or cash proceeds based on the VWAP for each of the five consecutive trading days ending on the exchange date, but only if the approval from the Reserve Bank of India or other regulatory approvals are not obtained and subject to other conditions specified in the Exchange Agreement. The exchange is also subject to certain other specified conditions being met, including achieving certain financial and stock price milestones. Given that this is not solely in control of ATI, the noncontrolling interests have been accounted for in accordance with ASC 480-10-S99-1. The redeemable noncontrolling interest has initially been measured at the proportionate share in the net assets of AARK and its subsidiaries in accordance with ASC 805-40-30-3. The cash redemption is not considered to be probable on March 31, 2024 because the specified conditions in relation to EBITDA and revenue have already been met and the RBI and / or applicable regulatory approvals are expected to be received. On this basis the redeemable noncontrolling interest has subsequently been measured by attributing the net income/ loss of AARK pursuant to ASC 810-10. On March 26, 2024, the audit committee of the board of directors of the Company determined that the exercise conditions in the Exchange Agreements with respect to Mr. Kumar and one of the Exchanging Aeries Holders, Bhisham Khare, had been satisfied.

#### Note 20 - Fair Value Measurements

As of March 31, 2024, the Company had financial instruments which were measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). Significant changes in the inputs could result in a significant change in the fair value measurements. See each respective footnote for information on the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of financial instruments.

The following tables present information about the Company's liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, including the fair value hierarchy of the valuation techniques that the Company utilized to determine such fair value.

Summary of Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

March 31, 2024	Level 1		Level 1 Level 2		Level 2	Level 3		Total
Liabilities:								
Forward Purchase Agreement put option liability	\$	-	\$	-	\$	10,244	\$ 10,244	
Public Warrants		747		-		-	747	
Private Placement Warrants		-		-		620	620	
Total liabilities	\$	747	\$		\$	10,864	\$ 11,611	
March 31, 2023	]	Level 1		Level 2		Level 3	Total	
Liabilities:	_							
Forward Purchase Agreement put option liability	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -	
Public Warrants		-		-		-	-	
Private Placement Warrants		-		-		-	-	
Total liabilities	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -	

The initial fair value of the FPA put option liability at the Closing Date was \$25,009, which is reported as a forward purchase agreement put option liability in our consolidated balance sheet. The change in the fair value of the forward purchase agreement put option liability of \$14,765 has been recorded to change in fair value of forward purchase agreement put option liability for the year ended March 31, 2024, in the Company's consolidated statements of operations. The forward purchase agreement put option liability was classified as a current liability, as its liquidation is reasonably expected to use or require current assets or the creation of current liabilities. See also Notes 2 and 18. The estimated fair value of the forward purchase agreement put option liability was calculated using a Monte Carlo model and used significant assumptions including the risk-free rate and volatility. The change in fair value of the forward purchase agreement put option liability driven by a decrease in the price per share of the Company.

The valuation of the forward purchase agreement put option liability was made using the following assumptions as of March 31, 2024:

	_	Year Ended March 31,		
		2024 2024		
Weighted Average Fair Value		10,244		
Expected Term (Years)		0.60	0.60	
Risk free Interest Rate		5.10%	5.10%	
Volatility		39.0%	39.0%	
Reference Price for one share of Class A common stock	\$	10.69	2.21	
Probability (Weight) - No Dilutive Offering Reset / With Dilutive Offering Reset due to PIPE transaction*		5%	95%	
Fair Value of Forward Purchase Agreement Put Option Liability [in thousands]	\$	40,880	8,631	
Stock price at measurement date	\$	2.6	2.6	

\*Note: The private placement announced and completed on April 8, 2024 (estimated probability of 95% as of March 31, 2024). Quoted share price of common stock of the Company when PIPE (Private Investment in Public Entity) transaction took place was \$2.21 approx.

Given that the Public Warrants have a listed price available, the Company classified them as Level 1. The Company has classified the privately placed warrants within Level 3 of the hierarchy as the fair value derived using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which uses a combination of observable (Level 2) and unobservable (Level 3) inputs. There were no transfers between fair value levels during the year ended March 31, 2024.

The valuation of the liability for the Private Placement Warrants was made using the following assumptions as of March 31, 2024:

Term (years)	4.61
Risk-free interest rate	5.10%
Volatility	33.0%
Stock price at measurement date	\$ 2.6

The following table presents a summary of the changes in the fair value of Derivative Liabilities:

	Forward Purchase Agreement Put Option Liability		Public Warrant Liability		Warrant Placement		Total
Fair value at April 1, 2023	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$ -
Warrants and Forward Purchase Agreement put option liability acquired as part							
of Business Combination as at November 6, 2023		25,009		1,513		1,256	27,778
Change in fair value (gain) / loss		(14,765)		(766)		(636)	(16,167)
Fair value as of March 31, 2024	\$	10,244	\$	747	\$	620	\$ 11,611

Based on the expected VWAP as at inception as well as March 31, 2024 it is not expected that ATI would be required to issue additional Class A ordinary shares to certain vendors. On this basis, Fair value of the derivative financial instrument representing ATI's obligation to issue additional Class A ordinary shares has been determined to be insignificant on initial recognition as well as at March 31, 2024 and accordingly the quantitative disclosures in relation to the fair value have not been provided.

## Note 21 - Net income per Share

Basic consolidated net loss per share ("EPS") is calculated using the Company's share of its subsidiaries earnings/ net loss as well as ATI stand-alone earnings/ net loss and the weighted number of shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted consolidated EPS includes the dilutive effect of vested and unvested stock options of the Company's subsidiaries.

The Company analyzed the calculation of net earnings per share for periods prior to the Business Combination on November 6, 2023 and determined that it resulted in values that would not be meaningful to the users of the consolidated financial statements, as the capital structure completely changed as a result of the Business Combination. Therefore, net earnings per share information has not been presented for periods prior to the Business Combination. The basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to Class A ordinary shareholders for the year ended March 31, 2024, as presented on the consolidated statements of operations, represents only the period after the Business Combination to March 31, 2024.

The Company's Class V ordinary shares do not participate in the earnings or losses of the Company and are therefore not participating securities. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted net earnings per Class V ordinary share under the two-class method has not been presented.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income/loss per share for the period from November 6, 2023 through March 31, 2024 (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

Numerator:		
Net income attributable to controlling interest for the period from November 6, 2023 through March 31, 2024	\$	14,154
Denominator:		
Weighted average shares outstanding of Class A ordinary shares, basic and diluted for the period from November 6, 2023 through		
March 31, 2024		15,532,382
Net earnings per share Ordinary Shares		
Basic	\$	0.91
Diluted	\$	0.91
Basic	\$ \$	

#### Note 22 - Subsequent Events

#### **Equity financing**

On April 08, 2024, the Company entered into a private placement transaction (the "Private Placement"), pursuant to a Share Subscription Agreement (the "Subscription Agreement") with an institutional accredited investor (the "Investor") for aggregate gross proceeds of \$5,000,000. The Private Placement closed on April 23, 2024. As part of the Private Placement, the Company agreed to sell an aggregate of 2,261,778 Class A ordinary shares, \$0.0001 par value per share, at a purchase price of \$2.21 per share subject to Beneficial Ownership Limitation. The "Beneficial Ownership Limitation" shall be 4.99% (or, at the election of the Investor at the closing of the Private Placement, 9.99%) of the number of Class A ordinary shares outstanding immediately after giving effect to the issuance of the Class A ordinary shares to the Investor.

The Subscription Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants of the parties, and the closing was subject to customary closing conditions. The Company intends to use the net proceeds of approximately \$4.68 million from the Private Placement, following a deduction of a 6.5% commission paid to a placement agent, for general corporate and working capital purposes.

The company has issued an aggregate of 2,211,778 Class A ordinary shares at a purchase price of \$2.21 per share. The Company reserved 50,000 Class A ordinary shares in adherence to the Beneficial Ownership Limitation.

#### **Exchange Agreement**

Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the holders of AARK ordinary shares and Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Pvt Ltd. ("ATGBA") ordinary shares each entered into the Exchange Agreements. Pursuant to the Exchange Agreements, from the date of the Exchange Agreements and after April 1, 2024, and subject to certain exercise condition, each shareholder of AARK ordinary shares shall have the right to require the Company to provide Class A ordinary shares or cash in exchange for up to all of the AARK ordinary share. Each share of AARK may be exchanged for 2,246 Class A ordinary shares the Company subject to certain adjustments.

Pursuant to the Exchange agreement, on April 5, 2024, the prior investor of AARK has exchanged 9,500 ordinary shares of AARK for 21,337,000 Class A ordinary shares of the Company (i.e 2,246 Class A ordinary shares of the Company for 1 ordinary share of AARK).

#### Shares issued to vendors

In December 2023, ATI settled the amounts owed to certain vendors by issuance of Class A ordinary shares. If the VWAP of the Class A ordinary shares over the three trading days immediately preceding the agreement date is higher than the VWAP over the three trading days immediately preceding the sixmonth anniversary from the agreement date, ATI would need to issue additional Class A ordinary shares for the difference.

Pursuant to the abovementioned clause, the Company has issued in total 54,074 Class A ordinary shares to the vendors on May 24, 2024.

# Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan

Pursuant to the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan, Company granted Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery an option to purchase on or prior to the expiration date, June 7, 2034, all or part of 5,151,005 Class A ordinary shares, par value \$0.0001 per share. The option shall be fully vested and exercisable on the grant date, June 08, 2024. The entire option was exercised on June 21, 2024.

#### Notice from The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

On September 5, 2024, the Company received a notice (the "Notice") from The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ("Nasdaq") notifying the Company that, because the Company is delinquent in filing its quarterly report on Form 10-Q and for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2024 and remains delinquent in filing its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 (the "Fiscal 2024 Form 10-K"), the Company does not comply with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5250(c)(1), which requires companies with securities listed on Nasdaq to timely file all required periodic reports with the SEC. The Notice has no immediate effect on the listing or trading of the Company's Class A ordinary shares or publicly traded warrants on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

In accordance with the Notice, the Company has until September 30, 2024 to submit a plan of compliance to Nasdaq addressing how the Company intends to regain compliance with Nasdaq's listing rules with respect to the delinquent reports, and Nasdaq has the discretion to grant the Company up to 180 calendar days from the due date of the Fiscal 2024 Form 10-K, or January 13, 2025, to regain compliance.

### DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OF AERIES TECHNOLOGY INC. REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of March 31, 2024, Aeries Technology Inc. (the "Company," "we," "us" and "our") had two classes of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"): Class A ordinary share, par value \$0.0001, and warrants. The following description of our securities summarizes certain provisions of our amended and restated memorandum and articles of association ("Memorandum and Articles of Association"). The description is intended as a summary, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to our Articles, a copy of which has been filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Defined terms used herein, but otherwise not defined, shall have the meaning ascribed to them in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We are a Cayman Islands exempted company and our affairs are governed by our Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Companies Act (As Revised) (the "Companies Act") and common law of the Cayman Islands. Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of Association, we are authorized to issue 500,000,000 Class A ordinary shares, \$0.0001 par value each, one Class V ordinary share, \$0.0001 par value each, and 5,000,000 preference shares, \$0.0001 par value each. The following description summarizes the material terms of our shares as set out more particularly in the Memorandum and Articles of Association. Because it is only a summary, it may not contain all the information that is important to you.

#### **Ordinary Shares**

Class A ordinary shareholders of record are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters to be voted on by shareholders and vote together as a single class, except as required by law. Unless specified in the Companies Act, our Memorandum and Articles of Association or applicable stock exchange rules, the affirmative vote of a majority of our ordinary shares that are voted is required to approve any such matter voted on by our shareholders. Approval of certain actions will require a special resolution under Cayman Islands law and pursuant to our Memorandum and Articles of Association such actions include amending our Memorandum and Articles of Association and approving a statutory merger or consolidation with another company. Directors are appointed for a term of two years. There is no cumulative voting with respect to the appointment of directors, with the result that the holders of more than 50% of the ordinary shares voted for the appointment of directors can appoint all of the directors. Holders of Class A ordinary shares are entitled to receive ratable dividends when, as and if declared by the board of directors out of funds legally available therefor.

In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the company, our holders of Class A ordinary shares at such time will be entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining available for distribution to them after payment of liabilities and after provision is made for each class of shares, if any, having preference over the Class A ordinary shares. Our ordinary shareholders have no preemptive or other subscription rights.

There are no sinking fund provisions applicable to the ordinary shares.

The Class V ordinary share was issued to NewGen Advisors and Consultants DWC-LLC, a company incorporated in Dubai, United Arab Emirates with limited liability under registration No. 8754 (the "Class V Shareholder"). The Class V Shareholder may not transfer such share to any transferee and any attempted transfer of the Class V ordinary share will be void. The Class V Shareholder will vote together as a single class with holders of our Class A ordinary shares on all matters properly submitted to a vote of the shareholders. The Class V ordinary share has voting rights equal to (1) 26.0% of the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a single class (subject to a proportionate reduction in voting power in connection with the exchange by Mr. Kumar of the AARK ordinary shares for Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the applicable Exchange Agreement); provided, however, that such proportionate reduction will not affect the voting rights of the Class V ordinary share in the event of (i) a threatened or actual Hostile Change of Control (as defined in the Business Combination Agreement) and/or (ii) the appointment and removal of a director on the Board (collectively, the "Extraordinary shares and Class V ordinary share voting together as a class. In addition, after the Business Combination, the Class V Shareholder, voting as a separate class, is entitled to approve any amendment, alteration or repeal of any provision of our Memorandum and Articles of Association that would alter or change the powers, preferences or relative, participating, optional or other or special rights of the Class V ordinary share. The Class V Shareholder is not entitled to any dividends from us and is not entitled to receive any of our assets in the event of any voluntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs.

As a result of the exchange of certain AARK ordinary shares by Mr. Kumar of AARK ordinary shares for Class A ordinary shares, the number of votes represented by the sole Class V ordinary share was reduced from 51.0% to 1.3% of all votes attached to the total issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares and the Class V ordinary share; however, this reduction will not affect the voting rights of the Class V ordinary share in the Extraordinary Events as described above.

### **Register of Members**

Under Cayman Islands law, we must keep a register of members and there shall be entered therein:

- 1. the names and addresses of the members, a statement of the shares held by each member, and of the amount paid or agreed to be considered as paid, on the shares of each member and the voting rights of the shares of each member;
- 2. whether voting rights are attached to the share in issue;
- 3. the date on which the name of any person was entered on the register as a member; and
- 4. the date on which any person ceased to be a member.

Under Cayman Islands law, the register of members of our company is prima facie evidence of the matters set out therein (i.e., the register of members will raise a presumption of fact on the matters referred to above unless rebutted) and a member registered in the register of members shall be deemed as a matter of Cayman Islands law to have legal title to the shares as set against its name in the register of members. The shareholders recorded in the register of members shall be deemed to have legal title to the shares set against their name. However, there are certain limited circumstances where an application may be made to a Cayman Islands court for a determination on whether the register of members reflects the correct legal position. Further, the Cayman Islands court has the power to order that the register of members maintained by a company should be rectified where it considers that the register of members does not reflect the correct legal position. If an application for an order for rectification of the register of members were made in respect of our ordinary shares, then the validity of such shares may be subject to re-examination by a Cayman Islands court.

### **Preference Shares**

Our Memorandum and Articles of Association authorizes 5,000,000 preference shares and provides that preference shares may be issued from time to time in one or more series. Our board of directors is authorized to fix the voting rights, if any, designations, powers, preferences, the relative, participating, optional or other special rights and any qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, applicable to the shares of each series. Our board of directors is able to, without shareholder approval, issue preference shares with voting and other rights that could adversely affect the voting power and other rights of the holders of the ordinary shares and could have anti-takeover effects. The ability of our board of directors to issue preference shares without shareholder approval could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us or the removal of existing management. We have no preference shares issued and outstanding at the date hereof. Although we do not currently intend to issue any preference shares, we cannot assure you that we will not do so in the future.

### **Redeemable Warrants**

### **Public Warrants**

Each whole warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one Class A ordinary share at a price of \$11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as discussed below, at any time commencing on 30 days after the completion of the Business Combination, except as described below. Pursuant to the warrant agreement, a warrant holder may exercise its warrants only for a whole number of Class A ordinary shares. This means only a whole warrant may be exercised at a given time by a warrant holder. The warrants will expire five years after the completion of the Business Combination, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

We will not be obligated to deliver any Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of a warrant and will have no obligation to settle such warrant exercise unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the Class A ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating thereto is available, subject to our satisfying our obligations with respect to registration, or a valid exemption from registration is available, including in connection with a cashless exercise permitted as a result of a notice of redemption described below under "*Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$10.00.*" No warrant will be exercisable for cash or on a cashless basis, and we will not be obligated to issue any shares to holders seeking to exercise their warrants, unless the issuance of the shares upon such exercise is registered or qualified under the securities laws of the state of the exercising holder, or an exemption is available. In the event that the conditions in the two immediately preceding sentences are not satisfied with respect to a warrant, the holder of such warrant will not be entitled to exercise such warrant and such warrant may have no value and expire worthless.

During any period when we fail to have maintained an effective registration statement covering the issuance of the Class A ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants, holders of the warrants will have the right to exercise such warrants on a "cashless basis." Notwithstanding the above, if our Class A ordinary shares are, at the time of any exercise of a warrant, not listed on a national securities exchange such that they satisfy the definition of a "covered security" under Section 18(b)(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our option, require holders of public warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a "cashless basis" in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, but will use our commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available. In the case of a cashless exercise, each holder would pay the exercise price by surrendering the warrants for that number of Class A ordinary shares equal to the lesser of (A) the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of Class A ordinary shares per warrant. The "fair market value" (defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (y) the fair market value and (B) 0.361 Class A ordinary shares per warrant. The "fair market value" as used in the preceding sentence shall mean the volume weighted average price of the Class A ordinary shares for the 10 trading days ending on the trading day prior to the date on which the notice of exercise is received by the warrant agent.

Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$18.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, we may redeem the outstanding warrants (except as described herein with respect to the private placement warrants):

- in whole and not in part;
- at a price of \$0.01 per warrant;
- upon not less than 30 days' prior written notice of redemption to each warrant holder; and
- if, and only if, the last reported sale price of the Class A ordinary shares for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders (which we refer to as the *"Reference Value"*) equals or exceeds \$18.00 per share.

We will not redeem the warrants as described above unless a registration statement under the Securities Act covering the issuance of the Class A ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants is then effective and a current prospectus relating to those Class A ordinary shares is available throughout the 30-day redemption period. If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may exercise our redemption right even if we are unable to register or qualify the underlying securities for sale under all applicable state securities laws.

We have established the last of the redemption criterion discussed above to prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a significant premium to the warrant exercise price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and we issue a notice of redemption of the warrants, each warrant holder will be entitled to exercise his, her or its warrant prior to the scheduled redemption date. However, the price of the Class A ordinary shares may fall below the \$18.00 redemption trigger price (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant) as well as the \$11.50 (for whole shares) warrant exercise price after the redemption notice is issued.

Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$10.00. Once the warrants become exercisable, we may redeem the outstanding warrants:

- in whole and not in part;
- at \$0.10 per warrant upon a minimum of 30 days' prior written notice of redemption provided that holders will be able to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis prior to redemption and receive that number of shares determined by reference to the table below, based on the redemption date and the "fair market value" of our Class A ordinary shares (as defined below) except as otherwise described below;
- if, and only if, the Reference Value (as defined above under "*Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$18.00*") equals or exceeds \$10.00 per share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant); and
- if the Reference Value is less than \$18.00 per share (as adjusted for adjustments to the number of shares issuable upon exercise or the exercise price of a warrant), the private placement warrants must also be concurrently called for redemption on the same terms as the outstanding public warrants, as described above.

During the period beginning on the date the notice of redemption is given, holders may elect to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis. The numbers in the table below represent the number of Class A ordinary shares that a warrant holder will receive upon such cashless exercise in connection with a redemption by us pursuant to this redemption feature, based on the "fair market value" of our Class A ordinary shares on the corresponding redemption date (assuming holders elect to exercise their warrants and such warrants are not redeemed for \$0.10 per warrant), determined for these purposes based on volume weighted average price of our Class A ordinary shares during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants, and the number of months that the corresponding redemption date precedes the expiration date of the warrants, each as set forth in the table below. We will provide our warrant holders with the final fair market value no later than one business day after the 10-trading day period described above ends.

The share prices set forth in the column headings of the table below will be adjusted as of any date on which the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant or the exercise price of a warrant is adjusted as set forth under the heading "*—Anti-dilution Adjustments*" below. If the number of shares issuable upon exercise of a warrant is adjusted, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the share prices immediately prior to such adjustment, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant immediately prior to such adjustment and the denominator of which is the number of shares deliverable upon exercise of a warrant. If the exercise price of a warrant is adjusted, (a) in the case of an adjustment pursuant to the fifth paragraph under the heading "*—Anti-dilution Adjustments*" below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted share price multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares price multiplied by a fraction, the number of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price as set forth under the heading "*—Anti-dilution Adjustments*" and the denominator of which is the heading "*Market Value adjustment* pursuant to the second paragraph under the heading "*—Anti-dilution Adjustments*" below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted share price multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price as set forth under the heading "*—Anti-dilution Adjustments*" and the denominator of which is \$10.00 and (b) in the case of an adjustment pursuant to the second paragraph under the heading "*—Anti-dilution Adjustments*" below, the adjusted share prices in the column headings will equal the unadjusted the exercise price of a warrant pursuant to such exercise price less the decrease in the exercise price of a warrant pursuant to such exercise price adjustment.

<b>Redemption Date (period</b>	Fair Market Value of Class A Ordinary Shares								
to expiration of warrants)	<b>≤10.00</b>	11.00	12.00	13.00	14.00	15.00	16.00	17.00	≥18.00
60 months	0.261	0.281	0.297	0.311	0.324	0.337	0.348	0.358	0.361
57 months	0.257	0.277	0.294	0.310	0.324	0.337	0.348	0.358	0.361
54 months	0.252	0.272	0.291	0.307	0.322	0.335	0.347	0.357	0.361
51 months	0.246	0.268	0.287	0.304	0.320	0.333	0.346	0.357	0.361
48 months	0.241	0.263	0.283	0.301	0.317	0.332	0.344	0.356	0.361
45 months	0.235	0.258	0.279	0.298	0.315	0.330	0.343	0.356	0.361
42 months	0.228	0.252	0.274	0.294	0.312	0.328	0.342	0.355	0.361
39 months	0.221	0.246	0.269	0.290	0.309	0.325	0.340	0.354	0.361
36 months	0.213	0.239	0.263	0.285	0.305	0.323	0.339	0.353	0.361
33 months	0.205	0.232	0.257	0.280	0.301	0.320	0.337	0.352	0.361
30 months	0.196	0.224	0.250	0.274	0.297	0.316	0.335	0.351	0.361
27 months	0.185	0.214	0.242	0.268	0.291	0.313	0.332	0.350	0.361
24 months	0.173	0.204	0.233	0.260	0.285	0.308	0.329	0.348	0.361
21 months	0.161	0.193	0.223	0.252	0.279	0.304	0.326	0.347	0.361
18 months	0.146	0.179	0.211	0.242	0.271	0.298	0.322	0.345	0.361
15 months	0.130	0.164	0.197	0.230	0.262	0.291	0.317	0.342	0.361
12 months	0.111	0.146	0.181	0.216	0.250	0.282	0.312	0.339	0.361
9 months	0.090	0.125	0.162	0.199	0.237	0.272	0.305	0.336	0.361
6 months	0.065	0.099	0.137	0.178	0.219	0.259	0.296	0.331	0.361
3 months	0.034	0.065	0.104	0.150	0.197	0.243	0.286	0.326	0.361
0 months	-	-	0.042	0.115	0.179	0.233	0.281	0.323	0.361

The exact fair market value and redemption date may not be set forth in the table above, in which case, if the fair market value is between two values in the table or the redemption date is between two redemption dates in the table, the number of Class A ordinary shares to be issued for each warrant exercised will be determined by a straight-line interpolation between the number of shares set forth for the higher and lower fair market values and the earlier and later redemption dates, as applicable, based on a 365 or 366-day year, as applicable. For example, if the volume weighted average price of our Class A ordinary shares during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is \$11.00 per share, and at such time there are 57 months until the expiration of the warrants, holders may choose to, in connection with this redemption date are not as set forth in the table above, if the volume weighted average price of our Class A ordinary shares during the date on which the notice of redemption the table above, if the volume weighted average price of our Class A ordinary shares for 0.277 Class A ordinary shares for each whole warrant. For an example where the exact fair market value and redemption date are not as set forth in the table above, if the volume weighted average price of our Class A ordinary shares during the 10 trading days immediately following the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of the warrants is \$13.50 per share, and at such time there are 38 months until the expiration feature, exercise their warrants for 0.298 Class A ordinary shares for each whole warrant. In no event will the warrants be exercisable in connection with this redemption feature for more than 0.361 Class A ordinary shares per warrant (subject to adjustment). Finally, as reflected in the table above, if the warrants are out of the money and about to expire, they cannot be exercised on a cashless basis in connection with a redempt

This redemption feature is structured to allow for all of the outstanding warrants to be redeemed when the Class A ordinary shares are trading at or above \$10.00 per share, which may be at a time when the trading price of our Class A ordinary shares is below the exercise price of the warrants. We have established this redemption feature to provide us with the flexibility to redeem the warrants without the warrants having to reach the \$18.00 per share threshold set forth above under "*Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$18.00.*" Holders choosing to exercise their warrants in connection with a redemption pursuant to this feature will, in effect, receive a number of shares for their warrants based on an option pricing model with a fixed volatility input as of the date of the prospectus relating to our initial public offering. This redemption right provides us with an additional mechanism by which to redeem all of the outstanding warrants, and therefore have certainty as to our capital structure as the warrants would no longer be outstanding and would have been exercised or redeemed. We will be required to pay the applicable redemption price to warrant holders if we choose to exercise this redemption right and it will allow us to quickly proceed with a redemption of the warrants if we determine it is in our best interest to do so. As such, we would redeem the warrants in this manner when we believe it is in our best interest to update our capital structure to remove the warrants and pay the redemption price to the warrant holders.

As stated above, we can redeem the warrants when the Class A ordinary shares are trading at a price starting at \$10.00, which is below the exercise price of \$11.50, because it will provide certainty with respect to our capital structure and cash position while providing warrant holders with the opportunity to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis for the applicable number of shares. If we choose to redeem the warrants when the Class A ordinary shares are trading at a price below the exercise price of the warrants, this could result in the warrant holders receiving fewer Class A ordinary shares than they would have received if they had chosen to wait to exercise their warrants for Class A ordinary shares if and when such Class A ordinary shares were trading at a price higher than the exercise price of \$11.50.

No fractional Class A ordinary shares will be issued upon exercise. If, upon exercise, a holder would be entitled to receive a fractional interest in a share, we will round down to the nearest whole number of the number of Class A ordinary shares to be issued to the holder. If, at the time of redemption, the warrants are exercisable for a security other than the Class A ordinary shares pursuant to the warrant agreement, the warrants may be exercised for such security. At such time as the warrants become exercisable for a security other than the Class A ordinary shares, the company (or surviving company) will use its commercially reasonable efforts to register under the Securities Act the security issuable upon the exercise of the warrants.

*Redemption procedures.* A holder of a warrant may notify us in writing in the event it elects to be subject to a requirement that such holder will not have the right to exercise such warrant, to the extent that after giving effect to such exercise, such person (together with such person's affiliates), to the warrant agent's actual knowledge, would beneficially own in excess of 9.8% (or such other amount as a holder may specify) of the Class A ordinary shares issued and outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise.

Anti-dilution Adjustments. If the number of issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares is increased by a capitalization or share dividend payable in Class A ordinary shares, or by a split-up of Class A ordinary shares or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such capitalization or share dividend, split-up or similar event, the number of Class A ordinary shares issuable on exercise of each warrant will be increased in proportion to such increase in the issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares. A rights offering made to all or substantially all holders of Class A ordinary shares entitling holders to purchase Class A ordinary shares at a price less than the "historical fair market value" (as defined below) will be deemed a share dividend of a number of Class A ordinary shares equal to the product of (1) the number of Class A ordinary shares actually sold in such rights offering (or issuable under any other equity securities sold in such rights offering that are convertible into or exercisable for Class A ordinary shares) and (2) one minus the quotient of (x) the price per Class A ordinary share paid in such rights offering and (y) the historical fair market value. For these purposes, (1) if the rights offering is for securities convertible into or exercisable for Class A ordinary shares, there will be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional amount payable upon exercise or conversion and (2) "historical fair market value" means the volume weighted average price of Class A ordinary shares during the price payable for class A ordinary shares trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without the right to receive such rights.

In addition, if we, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pay to all or substantially all of the holders of Class A ordinary shares a dividend or make a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of Class A ordinary shares on account of such Class A ordinary shares (or other securities into which the warrants are convertible), other than (a) as described above, (b) any cash dividends or cash distributions which, when combined on a per share basis with all other cash dividends and cash distributions paid on the Class A ordinary shares during the 365-day period ending on the date of declaration of such dividend or distribution does not exceed \$0.50 (as adjusted for share sub-divisions, share dividends, rights issuances, consolidations, reorganizations, recapitalizations and other similar transactions) but only with respect to the amount of the aggregate cash dividends or cash distributions equal to or less than \$0.50 per share, or (c) to satisfy the redemption rights of the holders of Class A ordinary shares in connection with the Business Combination, then the warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective date of such event, by the amount of cash and/or the fair market value of any securities or other assets paid on each Class A ordinary share in respect of such event.

If the number of issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse share sub-division or reclassification of Class A ordinary shares or other similar event, then, on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse share sub-division, reclassification or similar event, the number of Class A ordinary shares issuable on exercise of each warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares.

Whenever the number of Class A ordinary shares purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant exercise price will be adjusted by multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a fraction (x) the numerator of which will be the number of Class A ordinary shares purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants immediately prior to such adjustment and (y) the denominator of which will be the number of Class A ordinary shares so purchasable immediately thereafter.

In addition, if (x) we issue additional ordinary shares or equity-linked securities for capital raising purposes in connection with the closing of the Business Combination at an issue price or effective issue price of less than \$9.20 per ordinary share (with such issue price or effective issue price to be determined in good faith by our board of directors and, in the case of any such issuance to Sponsor or its affiliates, without taking into account any founder shares held by Sponsor or such affiliates, as applicable, prior to such issuance) (the "Newly Issued Price"), (y) the aggregate gross proceeds from such issuances represent more than 60% of the total equity proceeds, and interest thereon, available for the funding of the Business Combination on the closing date (net of redemptions), and (z) the volume weighted average trading price of our Class A ordinary shares during the 20 trading day period starting on the trading day prior to the day on which we consummated the Business Combination (such price, the "Market Value") is below \$9.20 per share, the exercise price of the warrants will be adjusted (to the nearest cent) to be equal to 115% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, the \$18.00 per share redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$10.00" will be adjusted (to the nearest cent) to be equal to 180% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, and the \$10.00 per share redemption trigger price described above under "—*Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$10.00*" will be adjusted (to the nearest cent) to be equal to 180% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, and the \$10.00" will be adjusted (to the nearest cent) to be equal to 180% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, and the \$10.00" will be adjusted (to the nearest cent) to be equal to 180% of the higher of the Market Value and the Newly Issued Price, and the \$10.00" will be adj

In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares (other than those described above or that solely affects the par value of such Class A ordinary shares), or in the case of any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation (other than a merger or consolidation in which we are the continuing corporation and that does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of our issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the assets or other property of us as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which we are dissolved, the holders of the warrants will thereafter have the right to purchase and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified in the warrants and in lieu of our Class A ordinary shares immediately theretofore purchasable and receivable upon the exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind and amount of shares, stock or other equity securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have received if such holder had exercised their warrants immediately prior to such event. However, if such holders were entitled to exercise a right of election as to the kind or amount of securities, cash or other assets receivable upon such merger or consolidation, then the kind and amount of securities, cash or other assets for which each warrant will become exercisable will be deemed to be the weighted average of the kind and amount received per share by such holders in such merger or consolidation that affirmatively make such election, and if a tender, exchange or redemption offer has been made to and accepted by such holders (other than a tender, exchange or redemption offer made by the company in connection with redemption rights held by the public shareholders) under circumstances in which, upon completion of such tender or exchange offer, the maker thereof, together with members of any group (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act) of which such maker is a part, and together with any affiliate or associate of such maker (within the meaning of Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act) and any members of any such group of which any such affiliate or associate is a part, own beneficially (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) more than 50% of the issued and outstanding Class A ordinary shares, the holder of a warrant will be entitled to receive the highest amount of cash, securities or other property to which such holder would actually have been entitled as a shareholder if such warrant holder had exercised the warrant prior to the expiration of such tender or exchange offer, accepted such offer and all of the Class A ordinary shares held by such holder had been purchased pursuant to such tender or exchange offer, subject to adjustment (from and after the consummation of such tender or exchange offer) as nearly equivalent as possible to the adjustments provided for in the warrant agreement. Additionally, if less than 70% of the consideration receivable by the holders of Class A ordinary shares in such a transaction is payable in the form of ordinary shares in the successor entity that is listed for trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an established over-the-counter market, or is to be so listed for trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly exercises the warrant within 30 days following public disclosure of such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as specified in the warrant agreement based on the per share consideration minus Black-Scholes Warrant Value (as defined in the warrant agreement) of the warrant.

The warrants are issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and us. You should review a copy of the warrant agreement, which has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, for a complete description of the terms and conditions applicable to the warrants. The warrant agreement provides that (a) the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder for the purpose of (i) curing any ambiguity or correct any mistake, including to conform the provisions of the warrant agreement to the description of the terms of the warrants and the warrant agreement set forth in the prospectus relating to our initial public offering, or defective provision or (ii) adding or changing any provisions with respect to matters or questions arising under the warrant agreement as the parties to the warrant agreement may deem necessary or desirable and that the parties deem to not adversely affect the rights of the registered holders of the warrants under the warrant agreement and (b) all other modifications or amendments require the vote or written consent of at least a majority of the then outstanding public warrants; provided that any amendment that solely affects the terms of the private placement warrants.

The warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of ordinary shares and any voting rights until they exercise their warrants and receive Class A ordinary shares. After the issuance of Class A ordinary shares upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters to be voted on by shareholders.

#### **Exclusive Forum for Warrant Disputes**

Our warrant agreement will provide that, subject to applicable law, (i) any action, proceeding or claim against us arising out of or relating in any way to the warrant agreement, including under the Securities Act, will be brought and enforced in the courts of the State of New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, and (ii) that we irrevocably submit to such jurisdiction, which jurisdiction shall be the exclusive forum for any such action, proceeding or claim. We will waive any objection to such exclusive jurisdiction and that such courts represent an inconvenient forum.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, these provisions of the warrant agreement will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal district courts of the United States of America are the sole and exclusive forum. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our warrants shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the forum provisions in our warrant agreement. If any action, the subject matter of which is within the scope of the forum provisions of the warrant agreement, is filed in a court of the State of New York or the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (a "foreign action") in the name of any holder of our warrants, such holder shall be deemed to have consented to: (x) the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in the State of New York in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the forum provisions (an "enforcement action"), and (y) having service of process made upon such warrant holder in any such enforcement action by service upon such warrant holder.

#### **Private Placement Warrants**

The private placement warrants (including the Class A ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the private placement warrants) will not be transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the completion of the Business Combination (except, among other limited exceptions to our directors and officers and other persons or entities affiliated with Sponsor) and they will not be redeemable by us (except as described under the section entitled *"Description of Shares—Redeemable Warrants—Public Warrants—Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$10.00"*) so long as they are held by Sponsor or its permitted transferees. Sponsor, or its permitted transferees, has the option to exercise the private placement warrants on a cashless basis and have certain registration rights described herein. Otherwise, the private placement warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the public warrants. If the private placement warrants are held by holders other than Sponsor or its permitted transferees, the private placement warrants will be redeemable by us in all redemption scenarios and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the public warrants.

Except as described under the section entitled "Description of Shares—Redeemable Warrants—Public Warrants—Redemption of warrants when the price per Class A ordinary share equals or exceeds \$10.00," if holders of the private placement warrants elect to exercise them on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering his, her or its warrants for that number of Class A ordinary shares equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of Class A ordinary shares underlying the warrants, multiplied by the excess of the Sponsor Fair Market Value (defined below) less the exercise price of the warrants by (y) Sponsor Fair Market Value. For these purposes, the "Sponsor Fair Market Value" shall mean the average last reported sale price of the Class A ordinary shares for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant agent.

#### Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares to date and do not intend to pay cash dividends for the medium term following the Business Combination. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the discretion of our board of directors at such time. Further, if we incur any indebtedness, our ability to declare dividends may be limited by restrictive covenants we may agree to in connection therewith.

### Our Transfer Agent and Warrant Agent

The transfer agent for our ordinary shares and warrant agent for our warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. We have agreed to indemnify Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company in its roles as transfer agent and warrant agent, its agents and each of its shareholders, directors, officers and employees against all liabilities, including judgments, costs and reasonable counsel fees that may arise out of acts performed or omitted for its activities in that capacity, except for any liability due to any gross negligence, willful misconduct or bad faith of the indemnified person or entity.

#### **Certain Differences in Corporate Law**

#### **Cayman Islands**

Cayman Islands companies are governed by the Companies Act. The Companies Act is modeled on English law but does not follow recent English law statutory enactments, and differs from laws applicable to United States corporations and their shareholders. Set forth below is a summary of the material differences between the provisions of the Companies Act applicable to us and the laws applicable to companies incorporated in the United States and their shareholders.

Mergers and Similar Arrangements. In certain circumstances, the Companies Act allows for mergers or consolidations between two Cayman Islands companies, or between a Cayman Islands exempted company and a company incorporated in another jurisdiction (provided that is facilitated by the laws of that other jurisdiction).

Where the merger or consolidation is between two Cayman Islands companies, the directors of each company must approve a written plan of merger or consolidation containing certain prescribed information. That plan of merger or consolidation must then be authorized by either (a) a special resolution (usually a majority of 66 2/3% in value who attend and vote at a general meeting) of the shareholders of each company; and (b) such other authorization, if any, as may be specified in such constituent company's articles of association. No shareholder resolution is required for a merger between a parent company (i.e., a company that owns at least 90% of the issued shares of each class in a subsidiary company) and its subsidiary company. The consent of each holder of a fixed or floating security interest of a constituent company must be obtained, unless the court waives such requirement. If the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies is satisfied that the requirements of the Companies Act (which includes certain other formalities) have been complied with, the Registrar of Companies will register the plan of merger or consolidation.

Where the merger or consolidation involves a foreign company, the procedure is similar, save that with respect to the foreign company, the directors of the Cayman Islands exempted company are required to make a declaration to the effect that, having made due enquiry, they are of the opinion that the requirements set out below have been met: (1) that the merger or consolidation is permitted or not prohibited by the constitutional documents of the foreign company and by the laws of the jurisdiction in which the foreign company is incorporated, and that those laws and any requirements of those constitutional documents have been or will be complied with; (2) that no petition or other similar proceeding has been filed and remains outstanding or order made or resolution adopted to wind up or liquidate the foreign company in any jurisdictions; (3) that no receiver, trustee, administrator or other similar person has been appointed in any jurisdiction and is acting in respect of the foreign company, its affairs or its property or any part thereof; and (4) that no scheme, order, compromise or other similar arrangement has been entered into or made in any jurisdiction whereby the rights of creditors of the foreign company are and continue to be suspended or restricted.

Where the surviving company is the Cayman Islands exempted company, the directors of the Cayman Islands exempted company are further required to make a declaration to the effect that, having made due enquiry, they are of the opinion that the requirements set out below have been met: (1) that the foreign company is able to pay its debts as they fall due and that the merger or consolidated is bona fide and not intended to defraud unsecured creditors of the foreign company; (2) that in respect of the transfer of any security interest granted by the foreign company to the surviving or consolidated company (a) consent or approval to the transfer has been obtained, released or waived; (b) the transfer is permitted by and has been approved in accordance with the constitutional documents of the foreign company; and (c) the laws of the jurisdiction of the foreign company with respect to the transfer have been or will be complied with; (3) that the foreign company will, upon the merger or consolidation becoming effective, cease to be incorporated, registered or exist under the laws of the relevant foreign jurisdiction; and (4) that there is no other reason why it would be against the public interest to permit the merger or consolidation.

Where the above procedures are adopted, the Companies Act provides for a right of dissenting shareholders to be paid a payment of the fair value of his or her shares upon their dissenting to the merger or consolidation if they follow a prescribed procedure. In essence, that procedure is as follows: (a) the shareholder must give his or her written objection to the merger or consolidation to the constituent company before the vote on the merger or consolidation, including a statement that the shareholder proposes to demand payment for his or her shares if the merger or consolidation is authorized by the vote; (b) within 20 days following the date on which the merger or consolidation is approved by the shareholders, the constituent company must give written notice to each shareholder who made a written objection; (c) a shareholder must within 20 days following receipt of such notice from the constituent company, give the constituent company a written notice of his or her intention to dissent including, among other details, a demand for payment of the fair value of his or her shares; (d) within seven days following the date of the expiration of the period set out in paragraph (b) above or seven days following the date on which the plan of merger or consolidation is filed, whichever is later, the constituent company, the surviving company or the consolidated company must make a written offer to each dissenting shareholder to purchase his or her shares at a price that the company determines is the fair value and if the company and the shareholder agrees to the price within 30 days following the date on which the offer was made, the company must pay the shareholder such amount; and (e) if the company and the shareholder fails to agree to a price within such 30-day period, within 20 days following the date on which such 30-day period expires, the company (and any dissenting shareholder) must file a petition with the Cayman Islands Grand Court to determine the fair value and such petition must be accompanied by a list of the names and addresses of the dissenting shareholders with whom agreements as to the fair value of their shares have not been reached by the company. At the hearing of that petition, the court has the power to determine the fair value of the shares together with a fair rate of interest, if any, to be paid by the company upon the amount determined to be the fair value. Any dissenting shareholder whose name appears on the list filed by the company may participate fully in all proceedings until the determination of fair value is reached. These rights of a dissenting shareholder are not to be available in certain circumstances, for example, to dissenters holding shares of any class in respect of which an open market exists on a recognized stock exchange or recognized interdealer quotation system at the relevant date or where the consideration for such shares to be contributed are shares of any company listed on a national securities exchange or shares of the surviving or consolidated company.

Moreover, Cayman Islands law also has separate statutory provisions that facilitate the reconstruction or amalgamation of companies in certain circumstances, such schemes of arrangement will generally be more suited for complex mergers or other transactions involving widely held companies, commonly referred to in the Cayman Islands as a "scheme of arrangement" which may be tantamount to a merger. In the event that a merger was sought pursuant to a scheme of arrangement (the procedures of which are more rigorous and take longer to complete than the procedures typically required to consummate a merger in the United States), the arrangement in question must be approved by (a) in respect of creditor compromises or arrangements, a majority in number of each class of creditors with whom the arrangement is to be made and who must in addition represent three-fourths in value of each such class of creditors that are present and voting either in person or by proxy at an annual general meeting, or an extraordinary general meeting, summoned for that purpose or (b) in respect of shareholder compromises or arrangement, shareholders representing three-fourths in value of each such class of shareholders that are present and voting either in person or by proxy at an annual general meeting, or an extraordinary general meeting, summoned for that purpose. The convening of the meetings and subsequently the terms of the arrangement must be sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. While a dissenting shareholder would have the right to express to the court the view that the transaction should not be approved, the court can be expected to approve the arrangement if it is satisfied that:

- we are not proposing to act illegally or beyond the scope of our corporate authority and we have complied with the statutory provisions as to majority vote;
- the shareholders have been fairly represented at the meeting in question;
- the arrangement is such as a business-person would reasonably approve; and
- the arrangement is not one that would more properly be sanctioned under some other provision of the Companies Act or that would amount to a "fraud on the minority."

If a scheme of arrangement or takeover offer (as described below) is approved, any dissenting shareholder would have no rights comparable to appraisal rights, which would otherwise ordinarily be available to dissenting shareholders of U.S. corporations, providing rights to receive payment in cash for the judicially determined value of the shares.

*Squeeze-out Provisions.* When a takeover offer is made and accepted by holders of 90% of the shares to whom the offer relates within four months, the offeror may, within a two-month period, require the holders of the remaining shares to transfer such shares on the terms of the offer. An objection can be made to the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands, but this is unlikely to succeed unless there is evidence of fraud, bad faith, collusion or inequitable treatment of the shareholders.

Further, transactions similar to a merger, reconstruction and/or an amalgamation may in some circumstances be achieved through other means to these statutory provisions, such as a share capital exchange, asset acquisition or control, through contractual arrangements, of an operating business.

Shareholders' Suits. Walkers (Cayman) LLP, our Cayman Islands legal counsel, is not aware of any reported class action having been brought in a Cayman Islands court. Derivative actions have been brought in the Cayman Islands courts, and the Cayman Islands courts have confirmed the availability of such actions. In most cases, we will be the proper plaintiff in any claim based on a breach of duty owed to us, and a claim against (for example) our directors or officers usually may not be brought by a shareholder. However, based both on Cayman Islands authorities and on English authorities, which would in all likelihood be of persuasive authority and applied by a court in the Cayman Islands, exceptions to the foregoing principle apply in circumstances in which:

• a company is acting, or proposing to act, illegally or beyond the scope of its authority;

- the act complained of, although not beyond the scope of the authority, could be effected if duly authorized by more than the number of votes that have actually been obtained; or
- those who control the company are perpetrating a "fraud on the minority."

A shareholder may have a direct right of action against us where the individual rights of that shareholder have been infringed or are about to be infringed.

*Enforcement of Civil Liabilities.* The Cayman Islands has a different body of securities laws as compared to the United States and provides less protection to investors. Additionally, Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to sue before the federal courts of the United States.

We have been advised by Walkers (Cayman) LLP, our Cayman Islands legal counsel, that the courts of the Cayman Islands are unlikely (1) to recognize or enforce against us judgments of courts of the United States predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or any state and (2) in original actions brought in the Cayman Islands, to impose liabilities against us predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States or any state, so far as the liabilities imposed by those provisions are penal in nature. In those circumstances, although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the United States, the courts of the Cayman Islands will recognize and enforce a foreign money judgment of a foreign court of competent jurisdiction without retrial on the merits based on the principle that a judgment of a competent foreign court imposes upon the judgment debtor an obligation to pay the sum for which judgment has been given provided certain conditions are met. For a foreign judgment to be enforced in the Cayman Islands, such judgment must be final and conclusive and for a liquidated sum, and must not be in respect of taxes or a fine or penalty, inconsistent with a Cayman Islands judgment in respect of the same matter, impeachable on the grounds of fraud or obtained in a manner, and or be of a kind the enforcement of which is, contrary to natural justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands (awards of punitive or multiple damages may well be held to be contrary to public policy). A Cayman Islands Court may stay enforcement proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought elsewhere.

It may be difficult for investors to effect service of process within the United States upon Aeries's officers or directors, or enforce judgments obtained in the United States courts against Aeries's officers or directors. Aeries's corporate affairs are governed by the Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Companies Act and the common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take action against the directors, actions by minority shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of Aeries's directors to Aeries under Cayman Islands law will be, to a large extent, governed by the common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as from English common law, the decisions of whose courts are of persuasive authority, but are not binding on a court in the Cayman Islands. Aeries's directors under Cayman Islands law will be different from what they would be under statutes or judicial precedent in some jurisdictions in the United States. In particular, the Cayman Islands has a different body of securities laws as compared to the United States, and certain states, such as Delaware, may have more fully-developed and judicially-interpreted bodies of corporate law. In addition, Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to initiate a shareholders derivative action in a federal court of the United States.

### **Classification of Board**

Our Memorandum and Articles of Association provides that the board of directors is divided into three classes, as nearly equal in size as possible, with one class elected each year to serve for a term of three years. This classification of the Board may discourage a takeover of Aeries because a shareholder with the requisite voting power would generally have to wait for at least two consecutive annual meetings of shareholders to elect a majority of the members of our Board.

#### Amendments to our Memorandum and Articles of Association

Undertaking any action to alter, amend and/or restate our Memorandum and Articles of Association will require the prior approval by a special resolution of Aeries.

#### Anti-Money Laundering—Cayman Islands

If any person in the Cayman Islands knows or suspects or has reasonable grounds for knowing or suspecting that another person is engaged in criminal conduct or money laundering or is involved with terrorism or terrorist financing and property and the information for that knowledge or suspicion came to their attention in the course of business in the regulated sector, or other trade, profession, business or employment, the person will be required to report such knowledge or suspicion to (1) the Financial Reporting Authority of the Cayman Islands, pursuant to the Proceeds of Crime Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands if the disclosure relates to criminal conduct or money laundering or (2) a police officer of the rank of constable or higher, or the Financial Reporting Authority, pursuant to the Terrorism Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands, if the disclosure relates to involvement with terrorism or terrorist financing and property. Such a report shall not be treated as a breach of confidence or of any restriction upon the disclosure of information imposed by any enactment or otherwise.

#### **Data Protection—Cayman Islands**

We have certain duties under the Data Protection Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands (the "Data Protection Act") based on internationally accepted principles of data privacy.

In this subsection, "we", "us," "our" and the "Company" refers to Aeries Technology Inc. or our affiliates and/or delegates, except where the context requires otherwise.

#### **Privacy** Notice

#### Introduction

This privacy notice puts our shareholders on notice that through your investment in the Company you will provide us with certain personal information which constitutes personal data within the meaning of the Data Protection Act ("*personal data*").

#### Investor Data

We will collect, use, disclose, retain and secure personal data to the extent reasonably required only and within the parameters that could be reasonably expected during the normal course of business. We will only process, disclose, transfer or retain personal data to the extent legitimately required to conduct our activities on an ongoing basis or to comply with legal and regulatory obligations to which we are subject. We will only transfer personal data in accordance with the requirements of the Data Protection Act, and will apply appropriate technical and organizational information security measures designed to protect against unauthorized or unlawful processing of the personal data and against the accidental loss, destruction or damage to the personal data.

In our use of this personal data, we will be characterized as a "data controller" for the purposes of the Data Protection Act, while our affiliates and service providers who may receive this personal data from us in the conduct of our activities may either act as our "data processors" for the purposes of the Data Protection Act may process personal information for their own lawful purposes in connection with services provided to us.

We may also obtain personal data from other public sources. Personal data includes, without limitation, the following information relating to a shareholder and/or any individuals connected with a shareholder as an investor: name, residential address, email address, contact details, corporate contact information, signature, nationality, place of birth, date of birth, tax identification, credit history, correspondence records, passport number, bank account details, source of funds details and details relating to the shareholder's investment activity.

### Who this Affects

If you are a natural person, this will affect you directly. If you are a corporate investor (including, for these purposes, legal arrangements such as trusts or exempted limited partnerships) that provides us with personal data on individuals connected to you for any reason in relation your investment in the Company, this will be relevant for those individuals and you should transmit the content of this Privacy Notice to such individuals or otherwise advise them of its content.



### How the Company May Use a Shareholder's Personal Data

The Company, as the data controller, may collect, store and use personal data for lawful purposes, including, in particular:

- where this is necessary for the performance of our rights and obligations under any purchase agreements;
- where this is necessary for compliance with a legal and regulatory obligation to which we are subject (such as compliance with antimoney laundering and FATCA/CRS requirements); and/or
- where this is necessary for the purposes of our legitimate interests and such interests are not overridden by your interests, fundamental rights or freedoms.

Should we wish to use personal data for other specific purposes (including, if applicable, any purpose that requires your consent), we will contact you.

# Why We May Transfer Your Personal Data

In certain circumstances we may be legally obliged to share personal data and other information with respect to your shareholding with the relevant regulatory authorities such as the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority or the Tax Information Authority. They, in turn, may exchange this information with foreign authorities, including tax authorities.

We anticipate disclosing personal data to persons who provide services to us and their respective affiliates (which may include certain entities located outside the United States, the Cayman Islands or the European Economic Area), who will process your personal data on our behalf.

#### The Data Protection Measures We Take

Any transfer of personal data by us or our duly authorized affiliates and/or delegates outside of the Cayman Islands shall be in accordance with the requirements of the Data Protection Act.

We and our duly authorized affiliates and/or delegates shall apply appropriate technical and organizational information security measures designed to protect against unauthorized or unlawful processing of personal data, and against accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, personal data.

We shall notify you of any personal data breach that is reasonably likely to result in a risk to your interests, fundamental rights or freedoms or those data subjects to whom the relevant personal data relates.

### Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of Our Memorandum and Articles of Association

Our authorized but unissued ordinary shares and preference shares will be available for future issuances without shareholder approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to raise additional capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved ordinary shares and preference shares could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise. See also the discussion of the Class V ordinary share and the classification of our Board above, which would have a similar effect.

### Listing of Securities

The Class A ordinary shares and warrants are listed on Nasdaq under the symbols "AERT" and "AERTW," respectively.



# AERIES TECHNOLOGY MIDDLE EAST LTD

(the "Company")

and

# SUDHIR APPUKUTTAN PANIKASSERY

(the "Employee")

Date 13 June 2024

### THIS CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT ("Contract") is made on 13 June 2024 ("Commencement Date")

### BETWEEN:

- 1. AERIES TECHNOLOGY MIDDLE EAST LTD, a private limited company duly registered with the Registration Authority of Abu Dhabi Global Market ("ADGM") and licensed under commercial licence number 17260, having its registered office at CW01\_019 & CW01\_020, 9, Al Khatem Tower, Abu Dhabi Global Market Square, Al Maryah Island, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (the "Company"); and
- 2. SUDHIR APPUKUTTAN PANIKASSERY, an Indian national, holder of passport no. Z6343288, residing at Apartment no 410, La Rive Building 4, Port de la Mer, Jumeirah 1, Dubai, UAE (the "Employee").

For the purposes of this Contract, each of the Company and the Employee shall be a "Party", and together, the "Parties".

### WHEREAS:

- a) The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Aeries Technology Singapore Pte Ltd, a Singapore private company limited by shares with registration number, 202347507R ("**Parent**"), a company whose 100% shareholding is owned by Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., a private company limited by shares with company registration number 200602001D ("**Aark Singapore**")
- b) Pursuant to an amalgamation process completed on November 2, 2023, an amalgamation of Aark Singapore and WWAC Amalgamation Sub Pte. LTD., a Singapore private company limited by shares ("**Amalgamation Sub**") occurred, with Aark Singapore being the surviving entity;
- c) Consequent to the amalgamation, Aeries Technology, Inc, a Cayman Islands exempted company limited by shares ("Group Parent") with NASDAQ ticker number: AERT and previously known as Worldwide Webb Acquisition Corp, became a shareholder of Aark Singapore, with the Group Parent holding shares in excess of 20% of the issued capital of Aark Singapore;
- d) The Employee previously held employment with the Group Parent, however, due to geographical convenience, his employment was assigned to, and assumed by the Company on the same terms and conditions as he had with the Group Parent. To align the legal terms of his employment with the applicable laws of ADGM, the Parties have entered into this Contract to formalise the employment arrangement between the Employee and the Company on the same commercial terms as he held with the Group Parent.

# THE PARTIES AGREE as follows:

# 1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1. In this Contract, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

"ADGM Employment Regulations" means the Abu Dhabi Global Market Employment Regulations 2019 enacted by Abu Dhabi Global Market on the 1 January 2020, as amended;

"Board" means the board of directors of the Group Parent;

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a public holiday in the UAE;

"Cause" means an action or inaction by the Employee or other conduct, which in Employer's reasonable assessment warrant termination of this Contract, including but not limited to:

- (a) the Employee's conviction of, or plea of no contest to, a felony or other crime involving moral turpitude or the Employee's commission of any crime involving misappropriation, embezzlement, conversion of any property (including confidential or proprietary information) or business opportunities, or fraud with respect to any member of the Company Group or any of its customers or suppliers;
- (b) material conduct by the Employee causing any member of the Company Group public disgrace or disrepute or economic harm;
- (c) failure of the Employee to perform duties assigned by the Board or a Supervisory Authority (other than as a result of death or Disability) that is not cured to the satisfaction of the Company within 10 (ten) days after written notice to the Employee specifying the failure;
- (d) any act or knowing omission of the Employee aiding or abetting a competitor or supplier of any member of the Company Group to the disadvantage or detriment of any member of the Company Group;
- (e) the Employee's breach of fiduciary duty, gross negligence or wilful misconduct with respect to any member of the Company Group;
- (f) a material violation by the Employee of any policy of any member of the Company Group applicable to the Employee that has been communicated to the Employee in writing (including through posting on the website of any member of the Company Group), including gross insubordination;
- (g) any attempt by the Employee to secure any personal profit (other than through his indirect ownership of equity in the Company) in connection with the business of any member of the Company Group (for example, without limitation, using the Company Group's assets to pursue other interests, diverting any business opportunity belonging to the Company Group to himself or to a third party, insider trading or taking bribes or kickbacks); or
- (h) any other material breach by the Employee of this Contract or any other agreement between the Employee and any member of the Company Group which is incurable or not cured to the Company's reasonable satisfaction within 10 (ten) days after written notice thereof to the Employee.

For all purposes hereunder, no act or omission to act by the Employee shall be "wilful" if conducted in good faith or with a reasonable belief that such act or omission was in the best interests of the Company.

"Change in Control" means (i) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; (ii) the acquisition of all or substantially all (excluding shares that are part of a management roll over into the buyer entity) of the voting power of the outstanding securities of the Company by another Entity by means of any transaction or series of related transactions (including, without limitation, reorganization, merger or consolidation) unless the Company's shareholders on record as constituted immediately prior to such acquisition will, immediately after such acquisition (by virtue of their continuing to hold such shares and/or their receipt in exchange therefor of securities issued as consideration for the Company's outstanding shares) hold at least 50% (fifty per cent) of the voting power of the surviving or acquiring Entity; or (iii) any reorganization, merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving entity, excluding any merger effected exclusively for the purpose of changing the domicile of the Company;

"Company Group" means the Company and any Entities that are under common Control with the Company including any subsidiaries, parent Entities, or affiliates of the Company collectively. For the purposes of clarity, Company Group shall include the Parent, the Group Parent and Aark Singapore;

"Compensation Committee" means the compensation committee of the Board.

"Competitive Position" shall mean any ownership, investment, employment, consulting, advisory, directorship, agency, promotional or independent contractor arrangement between the Employee and any person or entity that is engaged anywhere within the Territory (defined below), wholly or in material part, or that is an investor or prospective investor in a person or Entity that is engaged anywhere within the Territory, wholly or in material part, in the primary business of the Company at any point in time, including, but not limited to, tech enabled outsourcing services (the "Restricted Business"). Nothing herein shall prohibit the Employee from being a passive owner of not more than 1% (one per cent) of the outstanding stock of any class of a corporation that is publicly traded, so long as the Employee has no active participation in the business of such corporation.

"Confidential Information" shall mean the proprietary or confidential data, information, documents or materials (whether oral, written, electronic or otherwise) belonging to or pertaining to the Company Group, other than "Trade Secrets" (as defined below), which is of tangible or intangible value to the Company Group and the details of which are not generally known to the general public, including but not limited to:

(a) any items that the Company Group has marked "CONFIDENTIAL" or some similar designation or are otherwise identified as being confidential;

(b) all information not generally known to the public, in spoken, printed, electronic, or any other form or medium, relating directly or indirectly to: business processes, practices, methods, policies, plans, publications, documents, research, operations, services, strategies, techniques, agreements, contracts, terms of agreements, transactions, potential transactions, negotiations, pending negotiations, know-how, trade secrets, computer programs, computer software, applications, operating systems, software design, web design, work-in-process, databases, device configurations, embedded data, compilations, metadata, technologies, manuals, records, articles, systems, material, sources of material, supplier information, vendor information, financial information, results, accounting information, accounting records, legal information, marketing information, advertising information, pricing information, credit information, design information, payroll information, staffing information, personnel information, employee lists, supplier lists, vendor lists, developments, reports, internal controls, security procedures, graphics, drawings, sketches, market studies, sales information, revenue, costs, formulae, notes, communications, algorithms, product plans, designs, styles, models, ideas, audiovisual programs, inventions, unpublished patent applications, original works of authorship, discoveries, experimental processes, experimental results, specifications, customer information, customer lists, client information, client lists, manufacturing information, factory lists, distributor lists, buyer lists of the Company Group.

"**Control**" or "control" (and the terms "controlling", "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of an Entity whether through the ownership of voting shares, by contract or otherwise;

**"Disability"** shall mean: (A) a long-term disability entitling the Employee to receive benefits under the Company's long-term disability plan as then in effect; or (B) if no such plan is then in effect or the plan does not apply to the Employee the inability of the Employee, as determined by the Company, to perform the essential functions of his regular duties and responsibilities hereunder, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a medically determinable physical or mental illness which has lasted (or can reasonably be expected to last) for a period of at least 12 (twelve) consecutive months. At the request of the Employee or his personal representative, the Company's determination that the Disability of the Employee has occurred shall be certified by a physician mutually agreed upon by the Employee or his personal representative and the Company, the choice of such physician not to be unreasonably withheld by the Employee or his personal representative. Without such physician certification (if it is requested by the Employee or his personal representative), the Employee's termination shall be deemed a termination by the Company without Cause and not a termination by reason of Disability;

"Entity" or "Entities" shall mean any business, individual, partnership, joint venture, agency, governmental agency, body or subdivision, association, firm, corporation, limited liability company or other entity of any kind.

**"Fiscal Year"** means the fiscal year as followed by the Group Parent, which currently commences on April 1<sup>st</sup> of every year and ends on March 31<sup>st</sup> the following calendar year.

"Good Reason" shall mean (i) following a Change in Control, a material reduction in the nature or scope of the Employee's aggregate duties and responsibilities or (ii) failure of the Company to pay or cause to paid Employee's Annual Salary or Annual Incentive, if earned, unless agreed by the Employee;

"Registration Authority" means the Registration Authority of the ADGM;

**"Restricted Period"** shall mean for the purpose of clause 10 (*Non-Compete*), 1 (one) year following the termination of the Employee's employment and, for all other purposes, 2 (two) years following the termination of the Employee's employment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Period shall be extended for a period of time equal to any period(s) of time that the Employee is determined by a final non-appealable judgment from a court of competent jurisdiction to have engaged in any conduct that violates any provision of this Contract. In the event that any court determines that this restriction constitutes an unreasonable restriction against Employee, Employee and the Company agree that the restriction shall not be rendered void but shall apply as to time, territory or to such other extent as such court may determine or indicate constitutes a reasonable restriction under the circumstances involved;

"Supervisory Authority" shall mean together, the chairman of the Parent and / or the Group Parent, the board of directors of the Parent and the Board;

**"Trade Secrets**" shall mean information or data of or about any member of the Company Group, including, but not limited to, technical or nontechnical data, recipes, formulas, patterns, compilations, programs, devices, methods, techniques, drawings, processes, financial data, financial plans, product plans or lists of actual or potential suppliers that: (i) derives economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to, and not being readily ascertainable by proper means by, other persons who can obtain economic value from its disclosure or use; (ii) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy; and (iii) any other information which is defined as a "trade secret" under applicable law;

**"Territory"** shall mean the geographic boundaries of UAE and each state within the United States of America and of each foreign country in which the Company Group owns or operates a Restricted Business located in such state or country (in the event that the Employee's employment has terminated, determined at the time of the termination of the Employee's employment), or in which the Company Group has purchased land or executed a lease to establish a Restricted Business (in the event that the Employee's employment has terminated, determined at the time of the termination of the Employee's employment has terminated, determined at the time of the termination of the Employee's employment has terminated, determined at the time of the termination of the Employee's employment. In the event that any court determines that this restriction constitutes an unreasonable restriction against Employee, Employee and the Company agree that the restriction shall not be rendered void but shall apply as to time, territory or to such other extent as such court may determine or indicate constitutes a reasonable restriction under the circumstances involved;

"UAE" means the United Arab Emirates;

**"Work Product**" shall mean all tangible work product, property, data, documentation, "know-how," concepts or plans, inventions, improvements, techniques and processes relating to any member of the Company Group that were conceived, discovered, created, written, revised or developed by the Employee during the term of his employment with the Company Group; and

"Year" means the period of 12 (twelve) months in a Gregorian calendar starting on 1 January and ending on 31 December.

- 1.2. In this Contract, unless otherwise specified, a reference to:
  - a) "includes" and "including" shall mean including without limitation;
  - b) "recitals", "clauses", "paragraphs" or "schedules" are to recitals, clauses and paragraphs of and schedules to this Contract;
  - c) words importing the singular include the plural and vice-versa and words importing a gender include any gender; and
  - d) the time of day, unless otherwise stated, is a reference to time in the UAE.
- 1.3. The recitals and schedules form part of the operative provisions of this Contract and references to this Contract shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include references to the recitals and schedules.

# 2. EMPLOYMENT, POSITION, DUTIES, REPORTING, FULL TIME STATUS AND TERM

- 2.1. The Company shall employ the Employee as its Chief Executive Officer ("**CEO**") and the Employee shall serve the Company in such a position in accordance with the terms of this Contract and the Employee shall serve as the CEO of the Entities in the Company Group. To the extent necessary to execute such functions, the Employee may enter into additional contractual agreements, as deemed necessary.
- 2.2. Duties. The Employee shall report to, perform and discharge faithfully the duties and responsibilities which may be assigned by the Supervisory Authority from time to time in connection with the conduct of the business of the Company Group; provided in each case that such duties and responsibilities are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities of persons in similar capacities in similarly sized companies. The Employee agrees that, as a senior executive of various Entities in the Company Group, the Supervisory Authority may instruct the Employee to perform and discharge faithfully duties and responsibilities with respect to the Company Group outside of just the Company. The Employee hereby agrees that he shall at all times comply with and abide by all terms and conditions set forth in this Contract and all applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company (including policies, procedures and rules of the Company Group). The Employee also agrees that he shall comply with all federal, state and local statutes, regulations and public ordinances governing the performance of his duties hereunder.

- 2.3. <u>Full-Time Status</u>. In addition to the duties and responsibilities specifically assigned to the Employee pursuant to clause 2.2 hereinabove, the Employee shall:
  - (a) subject to clause 2.4 hereinbelow, devote substantially all of his business time, energy and skill to the performance of the duties of his employment (reasonable vacations and reasonable absences due to illness excepted) and faithfully and industriously perform such duties; and
  - (b) diligently follow and implement all lawful management policies and decisions communicated to the Employee by the Board or any other Supervisory Authority, as applicable.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is expressly clarified that the Employee shall not accept any advisory, consultancy or directorial roles or positions with any third-party Entities, or other federal or state government or governmental subdivision or agency without the prior written approval from the Company.

- 2.4. <u>Permitted Activities</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained in clause 2.3 hereinabove, as long as the following activities do not, individually or in the aggregate, interfere with the Employee's obligations to the Company Group or otherwise do not violate clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*) below or any applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company, nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the Employee from:
  - (a) managing his personal passive investments; or
  - (b) participating in civic and professional affairs and organizations and conferences.

The Employee is required to disclose all board appointments and ownership interests above 5% (five per cent) in any other Entity. The Company will review any such activities and approve them for conflict of interest purposes. The Company agrees that the activities that the Employee is conducting on the Commencement Date, as disclosed in accordance with this clause 2.4 and as set forth on Schedule 4 hereto, are permitted for purposes of this clause. The Employee is required to duly and promptly inform the Company in writing if the Employee joins the board of any company or obtains an ownership interest above 5% (five per cent) during the period of this Contract.

- 2.5. The Employee's employment with the Company shall begin on 1 June 2024 and continue until terminated in accordance with this Contract (the "**Term**").
- 2.6. The Company shall comply with all applicable laws associated with employing the Employee in the UAE, including procuring the relevant workpermit for the Employee.

### 3. HOURS OF EMPLOYMENT

- 3.1. Subject to the provisions of the ADGM Employment Regulations, the Employee is required to be flexible in working hours and work such additional hours as may be necessary for efficient performance of his duties and powers under this Contract.
- 3.2. The Employee shall not be entitled to receive any additional or overtime payment for work performed outside his normal working hours.

#### 4. PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT

- 4.1. The Employee's place of employment shall be in the Emirate of Abu Dhabi, but the Employee may be required to work remotely, from home, or at such other places whether in the UAE or elsewhere as the Company may from time to time determine.
- 4.2. The Employee will be required to travel both inside and outside UAE on the business of the Company in the proper performance of your duties from time to time.

# 5. REMUNERATION, BONUSES, BENEFITS AND INCENTIVES

- 5.1. The Employee shall be paid an annual salary as set out hereinbelow, subject to such deductions as are permitted by the ADGM Employment Regulations (the **"Total Remuneration"**).
- 5.2. The Total Remuneration is inclusive of allowances and allocated as follows:
  - (a) Annual Salary of USD 650,000.00 (United States Dollars Six Hundred and Fifty Thousand) per year, which shall be payable in 12 equal monthly instalments (the "Annual Salary") The Annual Salary is inclusive of allowances and allocated as follows;
    - (i) Basic Salary of USD 325,000 (United States Dollars Three Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand) (the "Basic Salary"); and
    - (ii) Special Allowance of USD 325,000 (United States Dollars Three Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand)

The Annual Salary shall be paid equivalent to the local currency, in accordance with the Company's normal payroll practices and may be increased from time to time at the sole discretion of the Board; In addition to, the Total Remuneration, the Employee shall also be entitled to the following benefits, bonuses and incentives:

(b) <u>Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plans</u>. During the Term, the Employee shall be eligible to participate in all incentive (including, without limitation, long term incentive), savings and retirement plans, practices, policies and programs generally available to senior employee officers of the Group Parent ("Peer Employees"), on terms and conditions similar to such Peer Employees, except as to benefits that are specifically applicable to the Employee pursuant to this Contract and which will be commensurate with the position held and the responsibilities under this Contract. Without limiting the foregoing, the following provisions shall apply with respect to the Employee:

- (i) Annual Incentive Award: For the 2023 2024 Fiscal Year, the Employee shall be entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as the Employee is entitled based on the Company Group's policies in effect immediately prior to the date hereof, payable in accordance with such policies. For the purposes of clarity, in this clause, the Company Group's policies for annual bonus shall be the policies adopted by the Group Parent, as applicable. Commencing with the 2024-2025 Fiscal Year, the provisions of this clause 5.2(b)(i) shall govern and the Employee shall be entitled to an annual bonus opportunity up to 300% of his Annual Salary, the exact amount of which shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee and shall be payable in accordance with the terms set forth on Schedule 3. The amount of and performance criteria with respect to any such bonus for any Fiscal Year commencing on or after the 2024 -2025 Fiscal Year shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Any bonus determined by the Board or Compensation Committee to have been earned by the Employee will be due to the Employee no later than the 90th day after the Board's or Compensation Committee's determination. The Employee must be actively employed by the Company on the last day of the Fiscal Year to receive a bonus for such Fiscal Year. See Schedule 3 for additional information.
- (c) <u>Options</u>. Employee will be eligible for a grant of up to 6,651,005 options, subject to Employee's continued service with the Company Group through the applicable grant date and approval by the Compensation Committee. The options will be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan of Group Parent (the "2023 Plan"), the applicable form of award agreement thereunder, and the terms and conditions set forth below.
  - (i) Employee will be eligible to receive a Nonstatutory Share Option (as defined in the 2023 Plan) to purchase 5,151,005 Class A ordinary shares of Group Parent (the "Initial Option"), at an exercise price equal to the par value per share. The Initial Option will be fully vested as of the grant date and may be exercised over a period of 10 (ten) years from the grant date.
  - (ii) In the discretion of the Compensation Committee, and subject to achievement of certain performance criteria related to inorganic growth of the Company Group prior to grant, Employee will be eligible to receive an additional Nonstatutory Share Option (as defined in the 2023 Plan) to purchase up to 1,500,000 Class A ordinary shares of Group Parent (the "Subsequent Option"), with the actual number of shares subject to the Subsequent Option to be determined by the Compensation Committee. The Subsequent Option will (i) have an exercise price of not less than Fair Market Value (as defined in the 2023 Plan), (ii) vest over a period of 5 (five) years, based on service-based vesting criteria (with vesting to occur in five approximately equal instalments) and performance-based vesting criteria related to accretive inorganic growth of the Company Group to be established by the Compensation Committee, and subject to Employee's continued service with the Company Group through the applicable vesting date, and (iii) be exercisable over a period of 10 (ten) years from the grant date.

- (d) Welfare Benefit Plans. In addition to the medical insurance which will be provided to the Employee by the Company, during the Term, the Employee and the Employee's eligible dependents shall be eligible to participate under the welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company Group (including, without limitation, medical, prescription, dental, disability, Employee life, group life, accidental death and travel accident insurance plans and programs) to the extent applicable generally to Peer Employees. For the purposes of clarity, in this clause, the welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs provided by the Company Group shall be the welfare benefit plans, practices, policies and programs adopted by the Group Parent, as applicable. Nothing in this Contract shall preclude the Group Parent from amending or terminating any employee benefit plan, practice, policy or program applicable to Peer Employees as long as such amendment or termination is applicable to all Peer Employees on a consistent basis; and
- 5.3. <u>Business Expenses</u>. During the Term, the Company shall reimburse the Employee for all expenses reasonably incurred by the Employee in the performance of the Employee's duties, and in accordance with the Company's policies on business expense reimbursement.
- 5.4. <u>Reimbursements</u>: The Employee shall also be eligible to reimbursement of all expenses reasonably incurred by the Employee towards accommodation, travel, telephone, internet costs on an actual basis, for performance of the Employee's duties in UAE, and in accordance with the Company's policies.
- 5.5. <u>Taxes</u>: All compensation payable to the Employee hereunder shall be subject to all applicable taxes.

# 6. VACATION LEAVE

- 6.1. Subject to clause 6.3, the Employee shall be entitled to 20 (twenty) Business Days vacation leave in each Year in addition to the UAE national holidays declared as public holidays, during which the Employee will receive his Total Remuneration.
- 6.2. Vacation leave shall be taken at such time or times as may be approved in advance by the Company. During the Term, the Employee will be subject to the Company's vacation policy.
- 6.3. During the period in which the Employee's employment commences and terminates, the Employee shall be entitled to such proportion of his vacation leave entitlement as shall have accrued on a *pro rata* basis.

### 6.4. On termination of this Contract:

- (a) the Employee shall be entitled to receive payment in lieu of any vacation leave entitlement which has accrued prior to the date of termination but is unused; or
- (b) the Company shall be entitled to make deductions from the Employee's Total Remuneration in respect of any vacation leave taken in excess of the entitlement accrued prior to the date of termination.

# 7. SICK LEAVE AND SICK PAY

7.1. Subject to the ADGM Employment Regulations, the Employee shall be entitled to sick leave in accordance with the Company's policies for sick leave and entitlements for salary during the sick leave period.

### 8. COMPANY POLICIES

- 8.1. The Employee agrees to comply with the employment policies, practices, rules and instructions of the Company currently in force or which hereafter may be amended, revised or adopted in the sole discretion of the Company from time to time.
- 8.2. The Employee agrees to comply at all times with the ADGM Employment Regulations, any other legislation of the ADGM and any other legislation that is applicable within the ADGM.
- 8.3. The Employee shall comply at all times with such additional duties and obligations as are set out in Schedule 1 or as may be agreed between the Employee and the Supervisory Authority from time to time. In the event of a conflict between this Contract and the said Employee handbook, the provisions of this Contract shall prevail.

### 9. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

- 9.1. The Employee agrees to disclose immediately to the Company all inventions, discoveries, intellectual property, ideas, innovations, developments, improvements, and all processes relating to the operations or business of the Company made or conceived by the Employee alone or with others during the Term, whether made or conceived within or outside normal business hours.
- 9.2. All Work Product shall be owned exclusively by the Company. To the greatest extent possible, any Work Product shall be deemed to be "work made for hire", and the Employee hereby unconditionally and irrevocably transfers and assigns to the Company all right, title and interest the Employee currently has or may have by operation of law or otherwise in or to any Work Product, including, without limitation, all patents, copyrights, trademarks (and the goodwill associated therewith), trade secrets, service marks (and the goodwill associated therewith) and other intellectual property rights.
- 9.3. At the request of the Company, whether made during or upon the termination of the Employee's employment, the Employee agrees to execute and deliver to the applicable member of the Company Group any transfers, assignments, documents or other instruments which such member of the Company Group may deem necessary or appropriate, from time to time, to protect the rights granted herein or to vest complete title and ownership of any and all Work Product, and all associated intellectual property and other rights therein, exclusively in the Company Group.



9.4. The Employee agrees to make no claim against the Company with respect to the matters referred to above in clauses 9.1, 9.2 and 9.3 hereof.

# **10.** NON-COMPETE

- 10.1. As a material inducement to the Company to enter into this Contract and to provide the Employee with the compensation and benefits described herein, and the Company's recognition of the valuable experience, knowledge and receipt of proprietary information the Employee has gained and will gain from his employment with the Company, the Employee warrants and agrees that he will abide by and adhere to the requirements under clause 10 of this Contract.
- 10.2. The Employee covenants and agrees to not obtain or engage in a Competitive Position during the Term and during the Restricted Period. The Employee and the Company recognize and acknowledge that the scope, area and time limitations contained in this Contract are reasonable and are properly required for the protection of the business interests of the Company due to the Employee's status and reputation in the industry and the knowledge to be acquired by the Employee through his association with the Company's business and the public's close identification of the Employee with the Company and the Company with the Employee. Further, the Employee acknowledges that his skills are such that he could easily find alternative, commensurate employment or consulting work in his field that would not violate any of the provisions of this Contract. The Employee acknowledges and understands that, as consideration for his execution of this Contract and his agreement with the terms of this covenant not to compete, the Employee will receive employment with and other benefits from the Company in accordance with this Contract. In the event that any court determines that this restriction constitutes an unreasonable restriction against Employee, Employee and the Company agree that the restriction shall not be rendered void but shall apply as to time, territory or to such other extent as such court may determine or indicate constitutes a reasonable restriction under the circumstances involved.

### 11. NON-SOLICITATION

11.1. As a material inducement to the Company to enter into this Contract and to provide the Employee with the compensation and benefits described herein, and the Company's recognition of the valuable experience, knowledge and receipt of proprietary information the Employee has gained and will gain from his employment with the Company, the Employee warrants and agrees that he will abide by and adhere to the requirements under clause 11 in this Contract.

- 11.2. The Employee recognizes and acknowledges that, as a result of his employment by the Company and his engagements with the Company Group, he will become familiar with and acquire knowledge of Confidential Information and certain other information regarding the other employees, consultants and employees of the Company Group, and the suppliers, customers and other business partners of the Company Group. Therefore, the Employee covenants and agrees that, during the Restricted Period, the Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, encourage, solicit or otherwise attempt to persuade any person in the employment or service of any member of the Company Group to terminate or reduce his or her employment or service with the Company or to violate any confidentiality, non-competition agreement that such person may have with the Company. Furthermore, neither the Employee nor any person acting in concert with the Employee of the Company unless that person has ceased to be an employee of the Company for at least 12 (twelve) months. In the event that any court determines that this restriction constitutes an unreasonable restriction against Employee, Employee and the Company agree that the restriction shall not be rendered void but shall apply as to time, territory or to such other extent as such court may determine or indicate constitutes a reasonable restriction under the circumstances involved.
- 11.3. The Employee further covenants and agrees that during the Restricted Period, the Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, in any manner in any way interfere with the relationship between any member of the Company Group and any supplier, franchisee, licensee or other business relation (or any prospective supplier, franchisee, licensee or other business relationship) of any member of the Company Group (including, without limitation, by making any negative or disparaging statements or communications regarding any member of the Company Group or any of their respective operations, officers, directors or investors). In the event that any court determines that this restriction constitutes an unreasonable restriction against Employee, Employee and the Company agree that the restriction shall not be rendered void but shall apply as to time, territory or to such other extent as such court may determine or indicate constitutes a reasonable restriction under the circumstances involved.

### 12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND NON-DISCLOSURE

- 12.1. In recognition of the need of the Company Group to protect its legitimate business interests, Confidential Information and Trade Secrets, the Employee hereby covenants and agrees that, during the Term and at all times thereafter, the Employee shall regard and treat Trade Secrets and all Confidential Information as strictly confidential and wholly-owned by the Company Group and shall not, for any reason, in any fashion, either directly or indirectly, use, sell, lend, lease, distribute, license, give, transfer, assign, show, disclose, disseminate, reproduce, copy, misappropriate or otherwise communicate any such item or information to any third party or Entity for any purpose other than in accordance with this Contract or as required by applicable law, court order or other legal process: (A) with regard to each item constituting a Trade Secret, at all times such information remains a "trade secret" under applicable law, and (B) with regard to any Confidential Information, for the Restricted Period.
- 12.2. The Employee shall exercise best efforts to ensure the continued confidentiality of all Trade Secrets and Confidential Information, and he shall immediately notify the Company of any unauthorized disclosure or use of any Trade Secrets or Confidential Information of which the Employee becomes aware. The Employee shall assist the Company, to the extent necessary, in the protection of or procurement of any intellectual property protection or other rights in any of the Trade Secrets or Confidential Information.

12.3. Clause 12 shall survive the termination of this Contract and the termination of the Employee's employment.

# **13. RESTRICTIVE COVENANTS**

- 13.1. The Employee and the Company agree that, having regard to the facts and matters aforesaid the restrictive covenants in clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*) are reasonable and necessary for the protection of the Company and its respective business and that, having regard to those circumstances, these covenants are fair and reasonable, and the Employee waives all defences to the enforcement thereof.
- 13.2. The Employee understands and acknowledges that his violation of any provision of clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*) hereinabove will cause irreparable harm to the Company and the Company will be entitled to an injunction by any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and restraining the Employee from any employment, service, or other act prohibited by this Contract. The Parties agree that nothing in this Contract shall be construed as prohibiting the Company from pursuing any remedies available to it for any breach or threatened breach of any provision of clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*), including, without limitation, the recovery of damages from the Employee or any person or entity acting in concert with the Employee. The Company shall receive injunctive relief without the necessity of posting bond or other security, such bond or other security being hereby waived by the Employee, or the burden of proving actual damages which is also hereby waived by the Employee.
- 13.3. If any part of any provision of clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*), 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*), 13 (*Restrictive Covenants*) is found to be unreasonable, then it may be amended by appropriate order of a court of competent jurisdiction to the extent deemed reasonable.
- 13.4. Furthermore and in recognition that certain Severance Payments are being agreed to in reliance upon the Employee's compliance with clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*) after termination of his employment, in the event the Employee breaches any of such business protection provisions or other provisions of this Contract, any unpaid amounts (e.g., those provided under clause 14 (*Termination*) shall be forfeited, and the Company shall not be obligated to make any further payments or provide any further benefits to the Employee following any such breach. Additionally, if the Employee breaches any of such business protection provisions or other provisions of this Contract or such provisions are declared unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, any lump sum payment made pursuant to clause 14.4(b) or (c) hereinbelow shall be refunded by the Employee to the Company on a *pro-rata* basis based upon the number of months during the Restricted Period during which he violated the provisions of clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*) or, in the event any such provisions are declared unenforceable, the number of months during the Restricted Period that the Company did not receive their benefit as a result of the actions of the Employee. The Employee agrees and acknowledges that the opportunity to receive the severance benefits described in clause 14.2, 14.3, 14.4 and/or 14.5, conditioned upon his ongoing fulfilment of his obligations in this Contract, constitute sufficient consideration for his release of claims against the Company contained within the release form, regardless of whether the Employee's entitlement to the Severance Payments or other benefits is forfeited in accordance with this clause 13.4.

13.5. The Company and the Employee agree that the terms of clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*) shall continue to apply notwithstanding the manner or reasons for the termination of the Employee's employment and regardless of whether the employment of the Employee is terminated with or without notice.

### 14. TERMINATION

- 14.1. <u>General</u>. The Company may, at any time and in its sole discretion, terminate the Employee's employment, and thereby this Contract, with Cause, subject to any prior notice requirements of clause 14.2, or without Cause, and the Employee may, at any time and in his sole discretion, resign from his employment with the Company, and thereby terminate this Contract, subject to any prior notice requirements and cure opportunities contained in clause 14.3, if applicable (any such date of termination, the "**Termination Date**").
- 14.2. <u>Effects of Termination with Cause</u>: If the Employee's employment with the Company shall be terminated by the Company with Cause during the Term the Employee shall be entitled to receive the following:
  - (a) any unpaid Annual Salary earned through the Termination Date, to be paid in a cash lump sum in the next payroll cycle following the Termination Date; and
  - (b) any compensation previously deferred by the Employee at the times provided in the applicable plans under which the deferral was made, if and to the extent payable to the Employee under the terms of the applicable plans and which has not been paid as of the Termination Date.
- 14.3. <u>Resignation by the Employee</u>:
  - (a) <u>Without Good Reason</u>. If the Employee resigns without Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Employee any other accrued amounts or accrued benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Employee is eligible to receive under any plan, program, policy, practice, contract or agreement of the Company at the times provided under the applicable plan, program, policy, practice, contract or agreement of the Company (collectively the "Accrued Amounts") and the Company shall not have any further obligations to the Employee under this Contract except those required to be provided by applicable law or by this clause 14.3(a). The Employee is required to provide 6 (six) months' written notice to the Company prior to resigning ("Notice Period"). After receipt of the Employee's notice of resignation, the Company in its sole discretion can elect to accept Employee's separation at an earlier date, require continued employment through the Notice Period, or elect to place the Employee on Garden Leave pursuant to clause 14.7.

- (b) With Good Reason. For the Employee to resign with Good Reason pursuant to this clause, the Employee is required to provide written notice of their claimed Good Reason event within 45 (forty-five) days of the Good Reason event to the Board. The Company will then have 45 (forty-five) days to remedy the condition giving rise to the claimed Good Reason event. If the Company fails to remedy the condition giving rise to the claimed Good Reason event, the Employee must terminate his employment within 180 (one hundred and eighty) days of the Good Reason event to collect any payments stated in this clause 14.3(b). If the Board determines that the Employee has resigned with Good Reason, the Company shall pay to the Employee any Accrued Amounts and the Severance Payment stated in clause 14.4(c) hereinbelow. The Board shall have the sole right to determine whether or not a Good Reason event has occurred in accordance with this clause, and the determination of the Board shall be binding on Employee. Payment of the Accrued Amounts and Severance Payment will follow the payment timeline set forth in clause 14.4(c) hereinbelow. To receive any payments under this clause, the Employee must comply with clauses 10 (*Non-Compete*), 11 (*Non-Solicitation*) and 12 (*Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure*).
- 14.4. Effect of Termination without Cause: If the Employee's employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause:
  - (a) the Company will provide the Employee with 6 (six) months' notice prior to terminating the Employee's employment. The Company can
    elect at its sole discretion to provide the Employee with payment in lieu of notice or to place Employee on Garden Leave pursuant to clause
    14.7 hereinbelow;
  - (b) the Company shall pay to the Employee the Accrued Amounts;
  - (c) so long as the Employee complies with clauses 10 (Non-Compete), 11 (Non-Solicitation) and 12 (Confidentiality And Non-Disclosure) of this Contract, the Company shall pay to the Employee an amount (the "Severance Payment") equal to 18 (eighteen) months of the Employee's Annual Salary, an amount equivalent to Employee's annual benefits (excluding clause 5.4) and an equivalent of amount of bonus / incentive received during the immediate preceding 2 (two) years as in effect on the Termination Date, which amount shall be payable in equal instalments (less applicable withholdings and deductions) over a period of 12 (twelve) months following the Termination Date (the "Severance Payment Period"), and commencing on the first payroll period (the "Initial Payment") occurring on or after the 60th day following the Termination Date (the "Severance Delay Period"); provided, that the Initial Payment shall include payment for any payroll periods which occur during the Severance Delay Period, and the remaining payments shall continue for the remainder of the Severance Payment Period with the same frequency as the Employee's Annual Salary was paid prior to such termination;

- (d) Payments pursuant to this clause 14.4 shall be in lieu of any other severance benefits that the Employee may be eligible to receive under the Company's or any of the Company Group's benefit plans or programs.
- (e) As a condition to receiving the payments or benefits provided for hereinabove, the Employee agrees to sign and deliver to the Company a release in a form attached hereto as Schedule 2 and delivered to the Company within 5 (five) Business Days of the Termination Date, which must become effective within 60 (sixty) days following the Termination Date.
- 14.5. <u>Termination Upon Death</u>. This Contract shall terminate immediately upon the Employee's death, and the Employee or his beneficiaries shall be entitled to no further payments or benefits hereunder, other than the payment of the Accrued Amounts, including, without limitation, benefits under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating to death benefits, if any, as are applicable to the Employee on the date of his death. The rights of the Employee's estate with respect to any benefit plans shall be determined in accordance with the specific terms, conditions and provisions of the applicable award agreements and benefit plans.
- 14.6. <u>Disability</u>. If the Company determines in good faith that the Disability of the Employee has occurred during the Term, it may give to the Employee written notice of its intention to terminate the Employee's employment. In such event, the Employee's employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such written notice by the Employee (the "**Disability Effective Date**"), provided, that, within the 30-day period after such receipt, the Employee shall not have returned to full-time performance of the Employee's duties. If the Employee's employment is terminated by reason of his Disability, this Contract shall terminate, and the Employee shall be entitled to no further payments or benefits hereunder, other than payment of Accrued Amounts, including, without limitation, benefits under such plans, programs, practices and policies relating to disability benefits, if any, as are applicable to the Employee on the Disability Effective Date. The rights of the Employee with respect to any benefit plans shall be determined in accordance with the specific terms, conditions and provisions of the applicable award agreements and benefit plans.
- 14.7. <u>Garden Leave</u>. So long as the Company continues to pay the Employee remuneration, the Company is entitled at its absolute discretion to require the Employee during any period of notice (or any part of such Notice Period) to do any one or more of the following: (i) not to carry out any work; or (ii) to carry out only some portion of work at Company's sole discretion; or (iii) not attend the office premises of the Company during all or any part of the Notice Period; and "Garden Leave" refers to any such period. Unless the Company agrees otherwise, the Employee will not, during Garden Leave:
  - (a) do any work, whether paid or unpaid, for any third party;
  - (b) hold himself out as a partner, director or other officer of the Company or any Company Group;

- (c) make any comment to any person about the change to his duties, roles, responsibilities or designation, except to confirm that he is on Garden Leave and that he has been given notice of termination or resigned as the case may be;
- (d) make contact with any employee, agent, customer or client of the Company or any Company Group;
- (e) The Employee acknowledges that during Garden Leave he will remain employed by the Company and that his obligations and duties (including, without limitation, those of good faith, fidelity and exclusive service) continue to apply. As indicated above, he may be required to render services to the Company during Employee's Garden Leave, as and when required by the Company;
- (f) The Company reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to cancel the Employee's Garden Leave at any time during the Notice Period and require him to resume work in the usual course.
- 14.8. On termination of the employment under this Contract, the Employee shall:
  - a) co-operate in the cancellation, without claim for payment except as provided in this Contract or in the ADGM Employment Regulations, of his residence visa and work permit;
  - b) deliver to the Company all electronic devices and IT assets provided to him for the performance of his duties, all keys (physical and electronic), access cards, corporate credit cards, cheque books, all documents made, compiled or acquired by him which are in his possession, custody, care or control as a direct result of his employment, including (but not limited to) business cards, credit and charge cards, security and computer passes, or other media on which information is held in his possession relating to the business or affairs of the Company; and
  - c) not at any time represent himself to be connected with the Company.
- 14.9. The Company shall be entitled, at its sole discretion, to give the Employee payment in lieu of any notice of termination given to him or require the Employee not to attend work during any period of such notice.

# **15. END OF SERVICE BENEFITS**

- 15.1. On termination of this Contract as provided for in clause 14.1 above, the Company shall pay the Employee such end of service gratuity as may be payable in accordance with the ADGM Employment Regulations.
- 15.2. If this Contract is terminated in accordance with clause 14.2, the Employee shall not be entitled to end of service gratuity.
- 15.3. For the avoidance of doubt, only the Basic Salary referred to in clause 5.2(a)(i) above shall be used for the calculation of any end of service gratuity payable under the ADGM Employment Regulations.

### 16. **REPATRIATION**

- 16.1. On termination of the employee's employment, the Company shall provide the Employee with a one-way repatriation flight to the employee's country of origin, or any other destination as agreed by the parties.
- 16.2. Clause 16.1 above will not apply if the Employee:
  - a) obtains alternative employment or visa sponsorship in the UAE within 30 (thirty) days from the date of termination; or
  - b) has been dismissed for Cause in accordance with clause 14.2 of this Contract.

### 17. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

The Company shall indemnify and hold the Employee harmless to the maximum extent permitted by law against judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement and reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees (collectively, "**Losses**"), incurred by the Employee, in connection with the defence of, or as a result of any action or proceeding (or any appeal from any action or proceeding) in which the Employee is made or is threatened to be made a party by reason of the fact that he is or was an officer of the Company or any of its affiliates. Pursuant thereto, the Company shall advance to the Employee all attorneys' fees and expenses which the Employee may reasonably incur as a result of any such threatened or actual action or proceeding (or appeal therefrom), subject to his written undertaking to refund any such advances that are determined by a final non-appealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction that the Employee is not entitled to be indemnified for such amounts. In addition, the Company agrees that the Employee is and shall continue to be covered and insured up to the maximum limits provided by all insurance which the Company maintains from time to time to indemnify its director and officers (and to indemnify the Company for any obligations which it incurs as a result of its undertaking to indemnify its officers and directors) and that the Company will exert its commercially reasonable effort to maintain such insurance, in not less than its present limits, in effect at all times (including tail coverage with respect to the Employee's employment. The indemnification obligations in this clause do not cover or extend to Losses due to Employee's gross negligence or intentional misconduct.

# 18. NOTICES

All notices, consents, waivers, and other communications under this Contract must be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given when (a) delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) sent by electronic mail with confirmation of transmission by the transmitting equipment, (c) received by the addressee, if sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, or (d) received by the addressee, if sent by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service, return receipt requested, in the case of the Employee, to the address or facsimile number set forth on the signature page hereto, and in the case of the Company, to the address or facsimile number set forth below (or in either case to such other addresses or facsimile numbers as a Party may designate by notice to the other Parties):

If to the Company, to:

Aeries Technology Middle East. [\*\*\*]

With a copy to Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, which will not constitute notice under this Contract:

[\*\*\*]

If to the Employee:

[\*\*\*]

# **19. NO EFFECT ON OTHER ARRANGEMENTS**

It is expressly understood and agreed that the payments made in accordance with this Contract are in addition to any other benefits or compensation to which the Employee may be entitled or for which he may be eligible, whether funded or unfunded, by reason of his employment with the company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the provisions in clause 14 (*Termination*) regarding benefits that the Employee will receive upon his employment being terminated supersede and are expressly in lieu of any other severance program or policy that may be offered by the Company.

# 20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Contract contains the entire agreement of the Parties relating to the subject matter herein and supersedes in full and in all respects any prior oral or written agreement, arrangement or understanding between the Parties with respect to the Employee's employment with the Company.

### 21. AMENDMENTS

No modification, variation or amendment to this Contract shall be effective unless such modification, variation or amendment is in writing and has been signed by or on behalf of both Parties.

# 22. SEVERABILITY AND SURVIVAL

- 22.1. If it is determined, by a court of competent jurisdiction, that any part of this Contract is invalid or unenforceable it will be deemed to be severed from the remainder of this Contract for the purpose only of that particular proceeding. This Contract will, in every other respect, continue in full force and effect.
- 22.2. If any provision or part of a provision of this Contract shall be or become void or unenforceable for any reason, this shall not affect the validity of that provision or any remaining provisions of this Contract in this or any other jurisdiction and the provision may be severable and if any provision would be treated as valid and effective if part of the wording was deleted, it shall apply with such modifications as necessary to make it valid and effective.
- 22.3. The parties agree that those provisions that by their nature are intended to survive the termination of this Contract shall survive the termination notwithstanding the cause of termination.

### 23. WAIVER

The waiver by any Party of any provision of this Contract shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach by any other Party. No waiver of any provision of this Contract shall be implied from any course of dealing between the Parties or from any failure by any Party hereto to assert any rights hereunder on any occasion or series of occasions.

### 24. ASSIGNMENT

The rights and obligations of the Company under this Contract shall inure to the benefit of and shall be binding upon their successors and assigns. The Company may assign its rights and obligations under this Contract to any Affiliate of the Company. "Affiliate" shall mean any entity which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with another entity. The Employee acknowledges that the services to be rendered by him are unique and personal, and the Employee may not assign any of his rights or delegate any of his duties or obligations under this Contract.

### 25. GOVERNING LAW AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

25.1. This Contract is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws, regulations and rules applicable in the ADGM.

- 25.2. In the event that the Parties are unable to resolve any controversy or claim arising out of or in connection with this Contract or breach thereof, any Party may refer the dispute to binding arbitration. Such arbitration will be administered by the ADGM Arbitration Centre ("AAC") and the seat (the legal place) of the arbitration shall be the ADGM and the Arbitration Regulations of the ADGM in force at the date of the reference to arbitration shall apply. The arbitration will be conducted by a single arbitrator selected by the Employee and the Company according to the rules of the. In the event that the Parties fail to agree on the selection of the arbitration proceeding will commence on a mutually agreeable date within 90 (ninety) days after the request for arbitration. The venue for arbitration will be agreed on by the Parties or, in the absence of any agreement, will be in a venue located in the ADGM.
- 25.3. Notwithstanding anything contained in this clause 25, nothing shall exclude the jurisdiction of the ADGM courts from resolving any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Contract, or the employment of the Employees.

## [Signature page to follow]

/s/ Venu Raman Kumar Signed by Venu Raman Kumar, Director

/s/ Biswajit Dasgupta Signed by Biswajit Dasgupta, Director

for and on behalf of AERIES TECHNOLOGY MIDDLE EAST LTD

#### **SCHEDULE 1**

#### Key Roles & Responsibilities of Executive

- Set and Drive the Short term, Medium term and Long term Strategy for the Company Group and define and execute the Company Group's strategic goals and vision.
- Oversee the financial health of the Company Group, making important decisions related to budgets, investments, capital allocation and financial reporting. Guide & Collaborate with the Chief Financial Officer to prepare annual budgets, complete risk analysis on potential investments, and advise the Board with regard to investment risk and return.
- Work closely with the Board to define Company Group goals, collaborate on major decisions and ensure regular reporting to the board about the Company Group's performance.
- Drive innovation and growth strategies to keep the company competitive in the market. Ensure awareness of the Company Group's marketing landscape, industry developments and expansion opportunities.
- Heads the Corporate Strategy to consider major decisions including acquisitions, mergers, joint ventures, large-scale service area expansion or collaboration.
- Build and provide leadership to the executive team and the organization as a whole, setting the tone for the Company Group's culture and values and to ensure they produce results aligned to the overall strategy and mission of the Company Group.
- Responsible to perform a supervisory & governance role to identify and manage risks that may impact Company Group's performance. Ensure companywide risk framework is prepared and reviewed and monitored regularly to ensure minimal risks.
- Responsible for Public dealings and Company Group image, communicating with shareholders, official bodies, regulatory authorities and the public.
- Ensure the Company Group complies with all relevant laws and regulations, especially those governing publicly traded companies.
- Drive sustainability initiatives, highest level of corporate governance and Social Responsibility efforts.

#### **SCHEDULE 2**

#### Form of Release

THIS RELEASE (this "<u>Release</u>") is made and entered into by and between Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery ("<u>Executive</u>") and Aeries Technology Middle East Ltd. and its successors or assigns (the "<u>Company</u>"). The Company and Executive are collectively referred to herein as the "<u>Parties</u>."

WHEREAS, Executive and the Company have agreed that Executive's employment with Company shall terminate on [INSERT TERMINATION DATE];

WHEREAS, Executive and the Company have previously entered into that certain Employment Agreement, dated June 1, 2024 (the "Agreement"), and this Release is incorporated therein by reference;

WHEREAS, Executive and the Company desire to delineate their respective rights, duties and obligations attendant to such termination and desire to reach an accord and satisfaction of all claims arising from Executive's employment, and his termination of employment, with appropriate releases, in accordance with the Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Company desires to compensate Executive in accordance with the Agreement for service he has or will provide for the Company;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the agreements of the Parties set forth in this Release, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby covenant and agree as follows:

1. <u>Claims Released Under This Agreement</u>. In exchange for the opportunity to receive the severance benefits described in <u>Section 14.3(b)</u>, <u>Section 14.4(b) or (c)</u> or <u>Section 14.5</u> of the Agreement and except as provided in <u>Paragraph 2</u> below, subject to his fulfillment of his ongoing obligations under the Agreement, Executive hereby voluntarily and irrevocably waives, releases, dismisses with prejudice, and withdraws all claims, complaints, suits or demands of any kind whatsoever (whether known or unknown) which Executive ever had or now has against the Company and other current or former subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company and their past, present and future officers, directors, employees, agents, insurers and attorneys (collectively, the "<u>Released Parties</u>"), arising out of or relating to (directly or indirectly) Executive's employment or the termination of his employment with the Company, or any other event occurring prior to the execution of this Release, including, but not limited to:

(a) any and all claims under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Civil Rights Act of 1866, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, the Older Workers' Benefit Protection Act of 1990, the Americans With Disabilities Act, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the National Labor Relations Act, the Labor Management Relations Act, Executive Order 11246, Executive Order 11141, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, or the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, Section 1981 of U.S.C. Title 42, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA), the Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA), all including any amendments and their respective implementing regulations, and any other federal, state, local, or foreign law (statutory, regulatory, or otherwise) that may be legally waived and released; however, the identification of specific statutes is for purposes of example only, and the omission of any specific statute or law shall not limit the scope of this general release in any manner;



(b) claims for violations of any other federal or state statute or regulation or local ordinance whether in the UAE or any other applicable jurisdiction to the extent permitted by UAE law or the law of another applicable jurisdiction;

(c) claims for lost or unpaid wages, compensation or benefits, defamation, intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, assault, battery, wrongful or constructive discharge, negligent hiring, retention or supervision, misrepresentation, conversion, tortious interference, breach of contract or breach of fiduciary duty;

(d) claims to benefits under any bonus, severance, workforce reduction, early retirement, outplacement or any other similar type plan sponsored by the Company; or

(e) any other claims under applicable law arising in tort or contract.

2. <u>Claims Not Released Under This Agreement</u>. In signing this Release, Executive is not releasing any claims that (a) enforce his rights under the Agreement, (b) arise out of events occurring after the date Executive executes this Release, (c) arise under any written non-employment related contractual obligations between the Company or its affiliates and Executive which have not terminated as of the execution date of this Release by their express terms, (d) arise under a policy or policies of insurance (including director and officer liability insurance) maintained by the Company or its affiliates on behalf of Executive, (e) relate to any indemnification obligations to Executive under the Company's constitution, articles, regulations, or otherwise. However, Executive understands and acknowledges that nothing herein is intended to or shall be construed to require the Company to institute or continue in effect any particular plan or benefit sponsored by the Company, and the Company hereby reserves the right to amend or terminate any of its benefit programs at any time in accordance with the procedures set forth in such plans. Nothing in this Release shall prohibit Executive from engaging in protected activities under applicable law or from communicating, either voluntarily or otherwise, with any governmental agency concerning any potential violation of law.

3. No Assignment of Claim. Executive hereby represents that he has not assigned or transferred, or purported to assign or transfer, any claims or any portion thereof or interest therein to any Party prior to the date of this Release.

4. <u>No Admission Of Liability</u>. This Release shall not in any way be construed as an admission by the Company or Executive of any improper actions or liability whatsoever as to one another, and each specifically disclaims any liability to or improper actions against the other or any other person, on the part of itself or himself, its or his representatives, employees or agents.

5. <u>No Current Claims</u>. Executive represents and warrants that Executive has not filed any complaint(s) or charge(s) against the Company or the other Released Parties with the any local, state, or federal agency or court or that Executive has disclosed in writing to the Company any such complaint(s) or charge(s).

6. <u>Disclosure</u>. Executive acknowledges and warrants that, that except as previously discussed (whether orally or in writing) with the Board or internal or external Company counsel, the Executive is not aware of any matters for which the Executive was responsible or which came to the Executive's attention as an employee of the Company that might give rise to, evidence or support any claim of illegal conduct, regulatory violation, unlawful discrimination, retaliation or other cause of action against the Company.

7. <u>Company Property</u>. All records, files, lists, including computer generated lists, data, drawings, documents, equipment and similar items relating to the Company's business that Executive generated or received from the Company remains the Company's sole and exclusive property. Executive agrees to promptly return to the Company all property of the Company in his possession. Executive further represents that he has not copied or caused to be copied, printed out, or caused to be printed out any documents or other material originating with or belonging to the Company. Executive additionally represents that he will not retain in his possession any such documents or other materials.

8. Cooperation. The Executive will provide reasonable cooperation to the Company, all Released Parties and their respective counsel at all times in any internal or external claims, charges, audits, investigations, and/or lawsuits involving the Company and/or any other Released Party of which the Executive may have knowledge or in which the Executive may be a witness, it being understood that requests for reasonable cooperation shall not unreasonably interfere with Executive's personal or other professional responsibilities. Such reasonable cooperation includes meeting with the Company representatives and counsel to disclose such facts as the Executive may know; preparing with the Company's counsel for any deposition, trial, hearing, or other proceeding; attending any deposition, trial, hearing or other proceeding to provide truthful testimony. The Company agrees to reimburse the Executive for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Executive in the course of complying with this obligation and pay Executive at a rate of  $[\bullet]$  an hour for time spent in the course of complying with this obligation. Nothing in this Section 8 should be construed in any way as prohibiting or discouraging the Executive from testifying truthfully under oath as part of, or in connection with, any such proceeding.

9. <u>Severability</u>. All provisions of this Release are intended to be severable. In the event any provision or restriction contained herein is held to be invalid or unenforceable in any respect, in whole or in part, such finding shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Release. The Parties further agree that any such invalid or unenforceable provision shall be deemed modified so that it shall be enforced to the greatest extent permissible under law, and to the extent that any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction determines any restriction herein to be unreasonable in any respect, such court or arbitrator may limit this Release to render it reasonable in the light of the circumstances in which it was entered into and specifically enforce this Release as limited.

10. <u>Specific Performance</u>. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that Executive has breached or failed to perform any part of this Release, the Executive agrees that Company shall be entitled to seek injunctive relief to enforce this Release, to the extent permitted by applicable law. The Company will not be required to post bond or other security, and will not have the burden of proving actual damages.

11. <u>Restrictive Covenants</u>. Executive acknowledges that he entered into restrictive covenants in <u>Sections 9, 10, 11 and 12</u> of the Agreement, and that in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, he is subject to those obligations as they remain in full force and effect following Executive's separation of employment with the Company.

12. <u>No Waiver</u>. Should the Company fail to require strict compliance with any term or condition of the Agreement or this Release, such failure shall not be deemed a waiver of such terms or conditions, nor shall the Company's failure to enforce any right it may have preclude it from thereafter enforcing its rights under the Agreement or this Release. Waiver of any one breach shall not be deemed a waiver of any other breach of the same or any other provision of the Agreement or this Release.

13. <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Release constitutes the entire understanding of the Parties regarding the subject matter of this Release, supersedes all prior oral or written agreements on the subject matter of this Release and cannot be modified except by a writing signed by all Parties in accordance with <u>Section 17</u> below.

14. Binding Effect. This Release inures to the benefit of, and is binding upon, the Parties and their respective successors and assigns.

15. Captions. The captions to the various sections of this Release are for convenience only and are not part of this Release.

16. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Release may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute the same agreement.

17. <u>Amendments</u>. Any amendment to this Release must be in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of each of the Parties hereto and must expressly state that it is the intention of each of the Parties hereto to amend the Release.

18. <u>Governing Law</u>. All issues and questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Release shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Abu Dhabi Global Markets without giving effect to any choice of law or conflict of law rules or provisions (whether of the ADGM or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the ADGM. All disputes arising out of or relating to this Release shall be resolved in the ADGM courts. The Executive and the Company hereby consent to the jurisdiction and venue of such courts and irrevocably waive the necessity of personal service of process and consent to service of process by First Class mail (return receipt requested), UPS next day delivery or a comparable delivery service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will be entitled to an injunction by any court of competent jurisdiction enjoining and restraining the Executive from any employment, service, or other act prohibited by this Release.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Release as of the day and year first written above.

Acknowledged and Agreed to:

## "COMPANY"

Aeries Technology Middle East Ltd

By:

Name:	
Title:	

# I UNDERSTAND THAT BY SIGNING THIS RELEASE, I AM GIVING UP RIGHTS I MAY HAVE. I UNDERSTAND THAT I DO NOT HAVE TO SIGN THIS RELEASE.

## "EXECUTIVE"

Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery

2	Δ
2	υ

#### **SCHEDULE 3**

#### **ANNUAL INCENTIVE AW ARD:**

The Executive will be eligible to receive an Annual Incentive as per below matrix, to be populated following agreement with the Board as set forth in clause 4 below, capped to the maximum of 300% of Annual Salary, provided the fulfilment of criteria as defined below.

#### Criteria

1. Company Performance: Achievement of 85% of set target for Revenue and EBIDTA

			Target		
	Threshold	Weightage	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3
Revenue	85%				
EBIDTA	85%				

2. The Executive will also receive annual equity and similar long term incentive plans, grants, from the anniversary of the closing date and linked to the achievement of growth objectives and the quoted share price reaching the initial targets of USD 11.5, USD 15, USD 20, and USD 25.

3. The above metrices shall be evaluated on every anniversary of the closing of the Transaction.

4. The targets in the current schedule shall be mutually agreed with the Board and the Compensation Committee and indicated in writing to the employee in the format specified in Criteria 1 above.



# **SCHEDULE 4**

# **Existing Other Activities**

Sr. No.	Name of Company/LLP	Shareholding
1.	Spark Associates LLP	50%
2.	Aeries Technology Products and Strategies Private Limited	5.12%
3.	Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited	7.59%
4.	Novo Technology and Trading Private Limited (Dormant co.)	10%
5.	Efulfilment Market Services Private Limited	80%

#### AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2024 (the "Amendment"), between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc., a North Carolina corporation (the "Company") and Bhisham Khare (the "Executive" and together with the Company, the "Parties," and each, a "Party").

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain Employment Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its provisions, the "Existing Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Existing Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings assigned to them in the Existing Agreement.

2. <u>Amendments to the Existing Agreement</u>. As of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 3), the Existing Agreement is hereby amended or modified as follows:

(a) Section 1(b) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Executive shall perform and discharge faithfully the duties and responsibilities which may be assigned by the Parent's Chief Executive Officer (the "<u>CEO</u>"), the Parent's Board of Directors (the "<u>Board</u>"), or other competent authority of the Company Group (collectively, the "<u>Supervisory Authority</u>"), including those set forth on <u>Schedule 1</u>, to the Executive from time to time in connection with the conduct of the Company's and Parent's business; provided in each case that such duties and responsibilities are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities of persons in similar capacities in similarly sized companies. The Executive shall report to the Supervisory Authority. The Executive hereby agrees that he shall at all times comply with and abide by all terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and all applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company and/or Parent. The Executive also agrees that he shall comply with all federal, state and local statutes, regulations and public ordinances governing the performance of his duties hereunder.

(b) Section 3(b)(i) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Annual Incentive Award</u>. For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024, the Executive shall be entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as the Executive is entitled based on the Company's policies in effect immediately prior to the date hereof, payable in accordance with such policies. Commencing with the fiscal year beginning April 1, 2024, the provisions of this <u>Section 3(b)(i)</u> shall govern and the Executive shall be entitled to an annual bonus opportunity up to 200% of his annual Base Salary, the exact amount of which shall be determined by the Board or the Board's compensation committee (the "<u>Compensation Committee</u>"), payable in accordance with the terms set forth on <u>Schedule 2</u>. The amount of and performance criteria with respect to any such bonus for any fiscal year commencing on or after April 1, 2024 shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Any bonus determined by the Board or Compensation Committee to have been earned by the Executive will be due to the Executive no later than the 90th day after the Board's or Compensation Committee's determination. The Executive must be actively employed by the Company on the last day of the fiscal year to receive a bonus for such fiscal year.

(c) Section 3(c) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Post-Transaction Award</u>. Executive will be eligible for a grant of 2,471,360 Restricted Share Units (as defined in Parent's 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2023 Plan")), subject to Executive's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through such grant date and approval by the Board or the Compensation Committee, as applicable. The Restricted Share Units will be fully vested on the grant date and will be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Plan and the applicable form of award agreement thereunder.

(d) Schedule 3 of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.

3. Date of Effectiveness; Limited Effect. This Amendment will be deemed effective as of the date first written above (the "Effective Date"). Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Existing Agreement are and will remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained herein will not be construed as an amendment to or waiver of any other provision of the Existing Agreement or as a waiver of or consent to any further or future action on the part of either Party that would require the waiver or consent of the other Party. On and after the Effective Date, each reference in the Existing Agreement to "this Agreement," "the Agreement," "hereonf," "hereonf," "herein," or words of like import, and each reference to the Existing Agreement in any other agreements, documents, or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, the Existing Agreement, will mean and be a reference to the Existing Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

# 4. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Amendment is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions of such State.

(b) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their respective permitted successors and assigns.

(c) The headings in this Amendment are for reference only and do not affect the interpretation of this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which is deemed an original, but all of which constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment electronically shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(e) This Amendment constitutes the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.

[Signature Page to Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: /s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Name: /sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery

Title: Chief Executive Officer

# BHISHAM KHARE

/s/ Bhisham Khare

#### AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2024 (the "Amendment"), between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc., a North Carolina corporation (the "Company") and Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair (the "Executive" and together with the Company, the "Parties," and each, a "Party").

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain Employment Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its provisions, the "Existing Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Existing Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings assigned to them in the Existing Agreement.

2. <u>Amendments to the Existing Agreement</u>. As of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 3), the Existing Agreement is hereby amended or modified as follows:

(a) Section 1(b) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Executive shall perform and discharge faithfully the duties and responsibilities which may be assigned by the Parent's Chief Executive Officer (the "<u>CEO</u>"), the Parent's Board of Directors (the "<u>Board</u>"), or other competent authority of the Company Group (collectively, the "<u>Supervisory Authority</u>"), including those set forth on Schedule 1, to the Executive from time to time in connection with the conduct of the Company's and Parent's business; provided in each case that such duties and responsibilities are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities of persons in similar capacities in similarly sized companies. The Executive shall report to the Supervisory Authority. The Executive hereby agrees that he shall at all times comply with and abide by all terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and all applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company and/or Parent. The Executive also agrees that he shall comply with all federal, state and local statutes, regulations and public ordinances governing the performance of his duties hereunder.

(b) Section 3(b)(i) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Annual Incentive Award</u>. Commencing with the Effective Date of this Agreement, the provisions of this <u>Section 3(b)(i)</u> shall govern and the Executive shall be entitled to an annual bonus opportunity up to 50% of his annual Base Salary, the exact amount of which shall be determined by the Board or the Board's compensation committee (the "<u>Compensation Committee</u>"). The amount of and performance criteria (which includes overall Parent performance and the achievement of objectives under this Agreement as defined by the Board or Compensation Committee) with respect to any such bonus for any fiscal year commencing on or after April 1, 2024 shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Any bonus determined by the Board or Compensation Committee to have been earned by the Executive will be due to the Executive no later than the 90th day after the Board's or Compensation Committee's determination. The Executive must be actively employed by the Company on the last day of the fiscal year to receive a bonus for such fiscal year.

(c) Section 3(c) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Post-Transaction Options</u>. Executive will be eligible to receive a grant of 350,000 Incentive Stock Options (as defined in Parent's 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2023 Plan"), subject to Executive's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through such grant date and approval by the Board or Compensation Committee, as applicable, and stockholder approval of an amendment to the 2023 Plan. The Incentive Stock Options will (i) have an exercise price of not less than Fair Market Value (as defined in the 2023 Plan), (ii) vest over a period of 5 years, based on time and performance criteria to be established by the Compensation Committee, and subject to Employee's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through the applicable vesting date, (iii) be exercisable over a period of 10 years from the grant date and (iv) be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Plan and the applicable form of award agreement thereunder.

3. Date of Effectiveness; Limited Effect. This Amendment will be deemed effective as of the date first written above (the "Effective Date"). Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Existing Agreement are and will remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained herein will not be construed as an amendment to or waiver of any other provision of the Existing Agreement or as a waiver of or consent to any further or future action on the part of either Party that would require the waiver or consent of the other Party. On and after the Effective Date, each reference in the Existing Agreement to "this Agreement," "the Agreement," "hereonf," "hereonf," "herein," or words of like import, and each reference to the Existing Agreement in any other agreements, documents, or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, the Existing Agreement, will mean and be a reference to the Existing Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

# 4. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Amendment is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions of such State.

(b) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their respective permitted successors and assigns.

(c) The headings in this Amendment are for reference only and do not affect the interpretation of this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which is deemed an original, but all of which constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment electronically shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(e) This Amendment constitutes the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.

[Signature Page to Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.

# **AERIES TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS, INC.**

By: /s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Name: Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Title: Chief Executive Officer

## **RAJEEV GOPALA KRISHNA NAIR**

/s/ Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair

#### AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2024 (the "Amendment"), between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc., a North Carolina corporation (the "Company") and Unnikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar (the "Executive" and together with the Company, the "Parties," and each, a "Party").

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain Employment Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its provisions, the "Existing Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Existing Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings assigned to them in the Existing Agreement.

2. <u>Amendments to the Existing Agreement</u>. As of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 3), the Existing Agreement is hereby amended or modified as follows:

(a) Section 1(b) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Executive shall perform and discharge faithfully the duties and responsibilities which may be assigned by the Parent's Chief Executive Officer (the "<u>CEO</u>"), the Parent's Board of Directors (the "<u>Board</u>"), or other competent authority of the Company Group (collectively, the "<u>Supervisory Authority</u>"), including those set forth on <u>Schedule 1</u>, to the Executive from time to time in connection with the conduct of the Company's and Parent's business; provided in each case that such duties and responsibilities are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities of persons in similar capacities in similarly sized companies. The Executive shall report to the Supervisory Authority. The Executive hereby agrees that he shall at all times comply with and abide by all terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and all applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company and/or Parent. The Executive also agrees that he shall comply with all federal, state and local statutes, regulations and public ordinances governing the performance of his duties hereunder.

(b) Section 3(b)(i) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Annual Incentive Award</u>. For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024, the Executive shall be entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as the Executive is entitled based on the Company's policies in effect immediately prior to the date hereof, payable in accordance with such policies. Commencing with the fiscal year beginning April 1, 2024, the provisions of this <u>Section 3(b)(i)</u> shall govern and the Executive shall be entitled to an annual bonus opportunity up to 200% of his annual Base Salary, the exact amount of which shall be determined by the Board or the Board's compensation committee (the "<u>Compensation Committee</u>"), payable in accordance with the terms set forth on <u>Schedule 2</u>. The amount of and performance criteria with respect to any such bonus for any fiscal year commencing on or after April 1, 2024 shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Any bonus determined by the Board or Compensation Committee to have been earned by the Executive will be due to the Executive no later than the 90th day after the Board's or Compensation Committee's determination. The Executive must be actively employed by the Company on the last day of the fiscal year to receive a bonus for such fiscal year.

(c) Section 3(c) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Post-Transaction Awards</u>. Executive will be eligible to receive the following equity awards under Parent's 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2023 Plan"), subject to Executive's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through such grant date and approval by the Board or Compensation Committee, as applicable:

(i) an initial award of 660,847 Restricted Share Units (as defined in the 2023 Plan) which shall be fully vested on the grant date; and

(ii) subject to stockholder approval of an amendment to the 2023 Plan, a subsequent award of 400,000 Options (as defined in the 2023 Plan), which will (A) have an exercise price of not less than Fair Market Value (as defined in the 2023 Plan), (B) vest over a period of 5 years, based on time and performance criteria to be established by Compensation Committee, and subject to Employee's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through the applicable vesting date, and (C) be exercisable over a period of 10 years from the grant date.

All such equity awards will be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Plan and the applicable form of award agreement thereunder.

(d) Schedule 3 of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.

3. Date of Effectiveness; Limited Effect. This Amendment will be deemed effective as of the date first written above (the "Effective Date"). Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Existing Agreement are and will remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained herein will not be construed as an amendment to or waiver of any other provision of the Existing Agreement or as a waiver of or consent to any further or future action on the part of either Party that would require the waiver or consent of the other Party. On and after the Effective Date, each reference in the Existing Agreement to "this Agreement," "the Agreement," "hereonf," "hereonf," or words of like import, and each reference to the Existing Agreement in any other agreements, documents, or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, the Existing Agreement, will mean and be a reference to the Existing Agreement as amendment.

#### 4. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Amendment is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions of such State.

(b) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their respective permitted successors and assigns.

(c) The headings in this Amendment are for reference only and do not affect the interpretation of this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which is deemed an original, but all of which constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment electronically shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(e) This Amendment constitutes the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.

[Signature Page to Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.

# **AERIES TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS, INC.**

By: /s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Name: /sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery

Title: Chief Executive Officer

## UNNIKRISHNAN BALAKRISHNAN NAMBIAR

/s/ Unnikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar

#### AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2024 (the "Amendment"), between Aeries Technology Solutions, Inc., a North Carolina corporation (the "Company") and Daniel Webb (the "Executive" and together with the Company, the "Parties," and each, a "Party").

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain Employment Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its provisions, the "Existing Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Existing Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings assigned to them in the Existing Agreement.

2. <u>Amendments to the Existing Agreement</u>. As of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 3), the Existing Agreement is hereby amended or modified as follows:

(a) Section 1(b) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

The Executive shall perform and discharge faithfully the duties and responsibilities which may be assigned by the Parent's Chief Executive Officer (the "<u>CEO</u>"), the Parent's Board of Directors (the "<u>Board</u>"), or other competent authority of the Company Group (collectively, the "<u>Supervisory Authority</u>"), including those set forth on <u>Schedule 1</u>, to the Executive from time to time in connection with the conduct of the Company's and Parent's business; provided in each case that such duties and responsibilities are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities of persons in similar capacities in similarly sized companies. The Executive shall report to the Supervisory Authority. The Executive hereby agrees that he shall at all times comply with and abide by all terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and all applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company and/or Parent. The Executive also agrees that he shall comply with all federal, state and local statutes, regulations and public ordinances governing the performance of his duties hereunder.

(b) Section 3(b)(i) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Annual Incentive Award</u>. Commencing with the Effective Date of this Agreement, the provisions of this <u>Section 3(b)(i)</u> shall govern and the Executive shall be entitled to an annual bonus opportunity up to 40% of the Executive's annual Base Salary, the amount of which shall be determined by the Board or the Board's compensation committee (the "<u>Compensation Committee</u>"). The amount of and performance criteria (which includes overall Parent performance and the achievement of objectives under this Agreement as defined by the Board or the Compensation Committee) with respect to any such bonus for any fiscal year commencing on or after April 1, 2024 shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Any bonus determined by the Board or Compensation Committee to have been earned by the Executive will be due to the Executive no later than the 90th day after the Board's or Compensation Committee's determination. The Executive must be actively employed by the Company on the last day of the fiscal year to receive a bonus for such fiscal year.

(c) Section 3(c) of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

<u>Post-Transaction Awards</u>. Executive will be eligible for a grant of (i) 1,000,000 Restricted Share Units (as defined in Parent's 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "<u>2023 Plan</u>")) (the "<u>Initial RSUs</u>") and (ii) annual subsequent awards of 200,000 Restricted Share Units (as defined in the 2023 Plan), which Executive will be eligible for on each November 6 (the "<u>Annual RSUs</u>"), subject to Executive's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through such grant date and approval by the Board or the Compensation Committee, as applicable. The Initial RSUs and the Annual RSUs will be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Plan and the applicable form of award agreement thereunder, and, with respect to the Annual RSUs and 252,185 of the Initial RSUs, stockholder approval of an amendment to the 2023 Plan. The Initial RSUs will be fully vested on the applicable grant date. The Annual RSUs will vest over a period of three (3) years based on service-based vesting criteria (with vesting to occur in three approximately equal installments) and performance-based vesting criteria determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee, as applicable, subject to Executive's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through such grant date. The Annual RSUs will vest over a period of three (3) years based on service-based vesting criteria (with vesting to occur in three approximately equal installments) and performance-based vesting criteria determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee, as applicable, subject to Executive's continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through the applicable vesting date.

(d) Schedule 2 of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety.

3. Date of Effectiveness; Limited Effect. This Amendment will be deemed effective as of the date first written above (the "Effective Date"). Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Existing Agreement are and will remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained herein will not be construed as an amendment to or waiver of any other provision of the Existing Agreement or as a waiver of or consent to any further or future action on the part of either Party that would require the waiver or consent of the other Party. On and after the Effective Date, each reference in the Existing Agreement to "this Agreement," "the Agreement," "hereunder," "herein," or words of like import, and each reference to the Existing Agreement in any other agreements, documents, or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, the Existing Agreement, will mean and be a reference to the Existing Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

# 4. Miscellaneous.

(a) This Amendment is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions of such State.

(b) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their respective permitted successors and assigns.

(c) The headings in this Amendment are for reference only and do not affect the interpretation of this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which is deemed an original, but all of which constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment electronically shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(e) This Amendment constitutes the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.

[Signature Page to Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By:/s/ Sudhir Appukuttan PanikasseryName:Sudhir Appukuttan PanikasseryTitle:Chief Executive Officer

## DANIEL WEBB

/s/ Daniel Webb

#### AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2024 (the "Amendment"), is by and between ATG Business Solutions Private Limited (the "Company") and Narayan Shetkar (the "Executive" and together with the Company, the "Parties," and each, a "Party").

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain Appointment Letter, dated as of April 6, 2021, as amended by that certain addenda dated July 6, 2021 and January 19, 2024 (as amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its provisions, the "Existing Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Existing Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used and not defined in this Amendment have the respective meanings assigned to them in the Existing Agreement.

2. <u>Amendments to the Existing Agreement</u>. As of the Effective Date (as defined in Section 3), the Existing Agreement is hereby amended or modified as follows:

(a) Section 1.2 of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

You shall perform and discharge faithfully the duties and responsibilities which may be assigned by the Chief Executive Officer (the "<u>CEO</u>") of Aeries Technology, Inc. ("<u>Parent</u>"), Parent's Board of Directors (the "<u>Board</u>"), or other competent authority of Parent and its subsidiaries (the "Company Group", and the CEO of Parent, the Board or other competent authority of the Company Group, collectively, the "<u>Supervisory Authority</u>"), to you from time to time in connection with the conduct of the Company's and Parent's business; provided in each case that such duties and responsibilities are commensurate with the duties and responsibilities of persons in similar capacities in similarly sized companies. You shall report to the Supervisory Authority. You hereby agree that you shall at all times comply with and abide by all terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and all applicable work policies, procedures and rules as may be issued by the Company and/or Parent. You also agree that you shall comply with all federal, state and local statutes, regulations and public ordinances governing the performance of your duties hereunder.

following:

(b) The paragraph entitled "Bonus" in Annexure 1 of the Existing Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the

Annual Incentive Award. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024, you shall be entitled to such annual bonus opportunity as you are entitled based on the Company's and Parent's policies in effect immediately prior to the date hereof, payable in accordance with such policies.

Commencing with the fiscal year beginning April 1, 2024, the provisions of this <u>paragraph</u> shall govern and you shall be entitled to an annual bonus opportunity up to 50% of your annual fixed CTC, the exact amount of which shall be determined by the Board or the Board's compensation committee (the "<u>Compensation Committee</u>"). The amount of and performance criteria (which includes overall Parent performance and the achievement of objectives under this Agreement as defined by the Board or Compensation Committee) with respect to any such bonus for any fiscal year commencing on or after April 1, 2024 shall be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Any bonus determined by the Board or Compensation Committee to have been earned by you will be due to you no later than the 90th day after the Board's or Compensation Committee's determination. You must be actively employed by the Company on the last day of the fiscal year to receive a bonus for such fiscal year.

(c) The following paragraph shall be added to Annexure 1 of the Existing Agreement:

<u>Post-Transaction Options</u>. You will be eligible to receive a grant of 350,000 Nonstatutory Share Options (as defined in Parent's 2023 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2023 Plan"), subject to your continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through such grant date and approval by the Board or Compensation Committee, as applicable, and stockholder approval of an amendment to the 2023 Plan. The Nonstatutory Share Options will (i) have an exercise price of not less than Fair Market Value (as defined in the 2023 Plan), (ii) vest over a period of 5 years, based on time and performance criteria to be established by the Compensation Committee, and subject to your continued service with the Company, Parent or one of their respective subsidiaries through the applicable vesting date, (iii) be exercisable over a period of 10 years from the grant date and (iv) be subject to the terms and conditions of the 2023 Plan and the applicable form of award agreement thereunder.

3. <u>Date of Effectiveness; Limited Effect</u>. This Amendment will be deemed effective as of the date first written above (the "**Effective Date**"). Except as expressly provided in this Amendment, all of the terms and provisions of the Existing Agreement are and will remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the amendments contained herein will not be construed as an amendment to or waiver of any other provision of the Existing Agreement or as a waiver of or consent to any further or future action on the part of either Party that would require the waiver or consent of the other Party. On and after the Effective Date, each reference in the Existing Agreement to "this Agreement," "the Agreement," "hereunder," "herein," or words of like import, and each reference to the Existing Agreement in any other agreements, documents, or instruments executed and delivered pursuant to, or in connection with, the Existing Agreement, will mean and be a reference to the Existing Agreement as amended by this Amendment.

## 4. Miscellaneous.

India.

(a) This Amendment is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of India, without regard to conflict of laws provisions of

(b) This Amendment shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the Parties and each of their respective permitted successors and assigns.

(c) The headings in this Amendment are for reference only and do not affect the interpretation of this Amendment.

(d) This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which is deemed an original, but all of which constitute one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment electronically shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

(e) This Amendment constitutes the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, representations, and warranties, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter.

[Signature Page to Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.

# ATG BUSINESS SOLUTIONS PRIVATE LIMITED

By: /s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Name: Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery

Title: Chief Executive Officer

# NARAYAN SHETKAR

/s/ Narayan Shetkar

#### RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT UNDER THE AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. 2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Name of Grantee:	
No. of Restricted Share Units:	
Grant Date:	

Pursuant to the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through the date hereof (the "Plan") and subject to the Company's filing of a Form S-8 Registration Statement (the "Form S-8") with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "Company") hereby grants an award of the number of Restricted Share Units listed above (an "Award") to the Grantee named above. Each Restricted Share Unit shall relate to one Class A ordinary share, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Shares"), of the Company.

1. <u>Restrictions on Transfer of Award</u>. This Award may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise encumbered or disposed of by the Grantee, and any Shares issuable with respect to the Award may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned or otherwise encumbered or disposed of until (i) the Restricted Share Units have vested as provided in Paragraph 2 of this Agreement and (ii) Shares have been issued to the Grantee in accordance with the terms of the Plan and this Agreement. The Restricted Share Units constitute an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company. The Participant shall not have any rights of a shareholder of the Company with respect to the Shares underlying the Restricted Share Units unless and until the Restricted Share Units become vested and are settled by the issuance of Shares.

2. <u>Vesting of Restricted Share Units</u>. The restrictions and conditions of Paragraph 1 of this Agreement shall lapse on the vesting dates (each such date, a "Vesting Date") specified in the following schedule so long as the Grantee remains a Service Provider through the applicable Vesting Date. If a series of Vesting Dates is specified, then the restrictions and conditions in Paragraph 1 shall lapse only with respect to the number of Restricted Share Units specified as vested on such Vesting Date.

Incremental Number of Restricted Share Units Vested	Vesting Date
$ \begin{array}{c} ( \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	

The Administrator may at any time accelerate the vesting schedule specified in this Paragraph 2.

3. <u>Termination of Service Relationship</u>. If the Grantee ceases to be a Service Provider for any reason (including death or Disability) prior to the satisfaction of the vesting conditions set forth in Paragraph 2 above, any Restricted Share Units that have not vested as of such date shall automatically and without notice terminate and be forfeited, and neither the Grantee nor any of his or her successors, heirs, assigns or personal representatives will thereafter have any further rights or interests in such unvested Restricted Share Units.

4. <u>Issuance of Shares</u>. As soon as practicable following each Vesting Date (but in no event later than two and one-half months after the end of the year in which the Vesting Date occurs), the Company shall issue to the Grantee the number of Shares equal to the aggregate number of Restricted Share Units that have vested pursuant to Paragraph 2 of this Agreement on such Vesting Date and the Grantee shall thereafter have all the rights of a shareholder of the Company with respect to such Shares; provided that the Administrator reserves the right to settle any such Restricted Share Units, in whole or in part, in cash in accordance with Section 9(d) of the Plan. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Compensation Committee of the Board, in its sole discretion, shall have the authority to direct the Company to issue the Shares that vest on each Vesting Date (or to make the corresponding cash payment) in a number of substantially equal monthly installments between the Vesting Date (or such later date as a Form S-8 is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission)<sup>1</sup> and the date that is two and one-half months after the end of the year in which the Vesting Date occurs.

5. <u>Incorporation of Plan</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement shall be subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan, including, without limitation, the powers of the Administrator set forth in Section 4(c) of the Plan and the conditions set forth in Section 20 of the Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the meanings specified in the Plan, unless a different meaning is specified herein.

6. <u>Tax Withholding</u>. The Grantee shall, not later than the date as of which this Award becomes includable in the gross income of the Grantee for income tax purposes, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, pay to the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group), or make arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of, any U.S. federal, state or local, and non-U.S. or other taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld by the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group) with respect to the Award. The Administrator may require that the Company's (or applicable member of the Company Group) is a withholding obligation be satisfied, in whole or in part, by (i) the Company withholding from Shares to be issued (or cash to be paid) pursuant to this Award a number of Shares with an aggregate Fair Market Value (as of the date the withholding is effected) (or the corresponding amount of cash) that would satisfy the withholding amount due, provided, however, that the amount withheld does not exceed the maximum statutory tax rate or such lesser amount as is necessary to avoid adverse accounting consequences; or (ii) an arrangement whereby a certain number of Shares subject to the Award are immediately sold and proceeds from such sale are remitted to the Company in an amount that would satisfy the withholding amount due.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note to Draft: Parenthetical to be used prior to the filing of Form S-8 with the SEC.

<sup>2</sup> 

7. Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement shall be interpreted in such a manner that all provisions relating to the settlement of the Award are exempt from the requirements of Section 409A as "short-term deferrals" as described in Section 409A.

8. <u>No Obligation to Continue Service Relationship</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is obligated by or as a result of the Plan or this Agreement to continue the Grantee's service relationship and neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Grantee's service relationship at any time.

9. Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to this Award and supersedes all prior agreements and discussions between the parties concerning such subject matter.

10. <u>Data Privacy Consent</u>. In order to administer the Plan and this Agreement and to implement or structure future equity grants, the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates and certain agents thereof (together, the "Relevant Companies") may process any and all personal or professional data, including but not limited to Social Security or other identification number, home address and telephone number, date of birth and other information that is necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan and/or this Agreement (the "Relevant Information"). By entering into this Agreement, the Grantee (i) authorizes the Company to collect, process, register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information; (ii) waives any privacy rights the Grantee may have with respect to the Relevant Information; (iii) authorizes the Relevant Companies to store and transmit such information in electronic form; and (iv) authorizes the transfer of the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction that the Relevant Companies consider appropriate. The Grantee shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information. Relevant Information will only be used in accordance with applicable law. The Grantee acknowledges that this Paragraph 10 is subject to Section 24 of the Plan.

11. Notices. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Grantee at the address on file with the Company or, in either case, at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing.

12. <u>Clawback Acknowledgement</u>. The Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee may become subject to the Aeries Technology, Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted pursuant to Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and Nasdaq Rule 5608, or any successor rule (the "Clawback Policy"). The Grantee understands that if the Grantee is or becomes subject to the Clawback Policy, the Company and/or the Board shall be entitled to recover all Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Clawback Policy) from the Grantee pursuant to such means as the Company and/or the Board may elect. The Grantee agrees that the Grantee shall take all required action to enable such recovery. The Grantee understands that such recovery may be sought and occur after the Grantee's employment or service with the Company terminates. The Grantee further agrees that the Grantee is not entitled to indemnification for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation or for any claim or losses arising out of or in any way related to Erroneously Awarded Compensation recovered pursuant to the Clawback Policy and, to the extent any agreement or organizational document purports to provide otherwise, the Grantee hereby irrevocably agrees to forgo such indemnification. The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the Grantee has received and has had an opportunity to review the Clawback Policy. Any action by the Company to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation under the Clawback Policy from the Grantee shall not, whether alone or in combination with any other action, event or condition, be deemed (i) an event giving rise to a right to resign for "good reason" or other similar term under any agreement between the Grantee and the Company (or any other member of the Company Group) or serve as a basis for a claim of constructive termination under any benefits or compensation arrangement applicable to the Grantee, or (ii) to constitute a breach of a contract or other arrangement to which the Grantee is a party. This Paragraph 12 is a materi

<sup>3</sup> 

13. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. Reference is made to: (i) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "AARK Exchange Agreement"), by and among the Company, Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares, with company registration number 200602001D and Mr. Venu Raman Kumar, and (ii) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Aeries Exchange Agreement" and, together with the AARK Exchange Agreement, the "Exchange Agreements"), by and among the Company, Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited, the Aeries Employee Stock Option Trust, Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, Mr. Bhisham Khare and Mr. Unikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar. For the avoidance of doubt, any acquisition or disposition of Shares or other transactions arising from, in connection with or contemplated by, one or both of the Exchange Agreements, including, without limitation, any "Proportionate Reduction" (as defined in the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company), shall be deemed to be a transaction contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement and shall be deemed not to be a "Change in Control" under the Plan or this Agreement.

14. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Award shall be administered, interpreted, and enforced under the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to conflicts of laws thereof or of any other jurisdiction.

15. Electronic Delivery of Documents. The Grantee authorizes the Company to deliver electronically any prospectuses or other documentation related to the Award or the Shares thereunder and any other compensation or benefit plan or arrangement in effect from time to time (including, without limitation, reports, proxy statements, or other documents that are required to be delivered to participants in such arrangements pursuant to federal or state laws, rules, or regulations). For this purpose, electronic delivery will include, without limitation, delivery by means of e-mail or e-mail notification that such documentation is available on the Company's intranet site or the website of a third-party administrator designated by the Company. Upon written request, the Company will provide to the Grantee a paper copy of any document also delivered to the Grantee electronically. The authorization described in this paragraph may be revoked by the Grantee at any time by written notice to the Company.

16. [Unregistered Shares. The Grantee understands that the Shares underlying this Award are not registered under the Exchange Act (it being understood that the Shares are being issued and sold in reliance on the exemption provided under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act) or any applicable state securities or "blue sky" laws and may not be sold or otherwise transferred or disposed of in the absence of an effective registration statement under the Exchange Act and under any applicable state securities or "blue sky" laws (or exemptions from the registration requirements thereof). The Grantee further acknowledges that certificates representing the Shares will bear restrictive legends reflecting the foregoing and/or that book entries for uncertificated Shares will include similar restrictive notations.]<sup>2</sup>

<sup>2</sup> Note to Draft: Provision to be included solely for grants of unregistered shares made prior to the filing of a Form S-8 with the SEC.

## AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: Title:

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby agreed to by the undersigned. Electronic acceptance of this Agreement pursuant to the Company's instructions to the Grantee (including through an online acceptance process) is acceptable.

Dated:	
	Grantee's Signature
	Grantee's name and address:
	5

#### RESTRICTED SHARES AWARD AGREEMENT UNDER THE AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. 2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Name of Grantee:	
No. of Shares:	 _

Grant Date:

Pursuant to the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan as amended through the date hereof (the "Plan"), Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "Company") hereby grants a Restricted Shares Award (an "Award") to the Grantee named above. Upon acceptance of this Award, the Grantee shall receive the number of Class A ordinary shares, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Restricted Shares"), of the Company specified above, subject to the restrictions and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan.

1. <u>Award</u>. The Restricted Shares awarded hereunder shall be issued and held by the Company's transfer agent in book entry form, and the Grantee's name shall be entered as the shareholder of record on the books of the Company. Thereupon, the Grantee shall have all the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares, including voting and dividend rights, subject, however, to the restrictions and conditions specified in Paragraph 2 below. The Grantee shall (i) sign and deliver to the Company a copy of this Award Agreement and (ii) deliver to the Company a share power in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A endorsed in blank.

#### 2. Restrictions and Conditions.

(a) Any book entries for the Restricted Shares granted herein shall bear an appropriate legend, as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, to the effect that such shares are subject to restrictions as set forth herein and in the Plan.

(b) Restricted Shares granted herein may not be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, charged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of by the Grantee prior to vesting.

(c) If the Grantee ceases to be a Service Provider for any reason (including due to death or Disability) prior to vesting of Restricted Shares granted herein, all Restricted Shares shall immediately and automatically be surrendered to the Company and cancelled.

3. <u>Vesting of Restricted Shares</u>. The restrictions and conditions in Paragraph 2 of this Agreement shall lapse on the vesting dates (each such date, a "Vesting Date") specified in the following schedule so long as the Grantee remains a Service Provider through the applicable Vesting Date. If a series of Vesting Dates is specified, then the restrictions and conditions in Paragraph 2 shall lapse only with respect to the number of Restricted Shares specified as vested on such Vesting Date.

of Shares Vested	Vesting Date
(%) (%) (_%)	
(%) (%)	

Incremental Number

Subsequent to such Vesting Date or Dates, the Shares on which all restrictions and conditions have lapsed shall no longer be deemed Restricted Shares. The Administrator may at any time accelerate the vesting schedule specified in this Paragraph 3.

4. Dividends. Dividends on Restricted Shares shall be paid currently to the Grantee.

5. <u>Incorporation of Plan</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Agreement shall be subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan, including, without limitation, the powers of the Administrator set forth in Section 4(c) of the Plan and the conditions of Section 20 of the Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, unless a different meaning is specified herein.

6. <u>Transferability</u>. This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, is non-assignable and is not transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

7. <u>Tax Withholding</u>. The Grantee shall, not later than the date as of which this Award becomes includable in the gross income of the Grantee for income tax purposes, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, pay to the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group), or make arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of, any U.S. federal, state or local, and non-U.S. or other taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld by the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group) with respect to the Award. Except in the case where an election is made pursuant to Paragraph 8 below, the Administrator may require that the Company's (or applicable member of the Company Group's) tax withholding obligation be satisfied, in whole or in part, by (i) the Company withholding from Restricted Shares that vest pursuant to this Award a number of Restricted Shares with an aggregate Fair Market Value (as of the date the withholding is effected) that would satisfy the withholding amount due, provided, however, that the amount withheld does not exceed the maximum statutory tax rate or such lesser amount as is necessary to avoid adverse accounting consequences, or (ii) an arrangement whereby a certain number of Restricted Shares subject to the Award are immediately sold and proceeds from such sale are remitted to the Company in an amount that would satisfy the withholding amount due. If the Grantee makes an election pursuant to Paragraph 8 below, then the Company (or any Affiliate) shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the Grantee any federal, state, local, or other applicable taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to the Restricted Shares.

8. <u>Election Under Section 83(b)</u>. The Grantee and the Company hereby agree that the Grantee may, within 30 days following the Grant Date of this Award, file with the Internal Revenue Service and the Company an election under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. In the event the Grantee makes such an election, he or she agrees to provide a copy of the election to the Company. The Grantee acknowledges that he or she is responsible for obtaining the advice of his or her tax advisors with regard to making the Section 83(b) election and the tax consequences thereof, and that he or she is relying solely on such advisors and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents with regard to such election.

9. <u>Code Section 409A</u>. The grant of Restricted Shares is intended to be exempt from Code Section 409A and should be interpreted accordingly. Nonetheless, the Company does not guarantee the tax treatment of the Restricted Shares.

10. <u>No Obligation to Continue Service Relationship</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is obligated by or as a result of the Plan or this Agreement to continue the Grantee's service relationship and neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Grantee's service relationship at any time.

11. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to this Award and supersedes all prior agreements and discussions between the parties concerning such subject matter.

12. Data Privacy Consent. In order to administer the Plan and this Agreement and to implement or structure future equity grants, the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates and certain agents thereof (together, the "Relevant Companies") may process any and all personal or professional data, including but not limited to Social Security or other identification number, home address and telephone number, date of birth and other information that is necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan and/or this Agreement (the "Relevant Information"). By entering into this Agreement, the Grantee (i) authorizes the Company to collect, process, register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information; (ii) waives any privacy rights the Grantee may have with respect to the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction that the Relevant Companies consider appropriate. The Grantee shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information. Relevant Information will only be used in accordance with applicable law. The Grantee acknowledges that this Paragraph 12 is subject to Section 24 of the Plan.

13. <u>Notices</u>. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Grantee at the address on file with the Company or, in either case, at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing.

14. <u>Clawback Acknowledgement</u>. The Grantee acknowledges that the Grantee may become subject to the Aeries Technology, Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted pursuant to Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and Nasdaq Rule 5608, or any successor rule (the "Clawback Policy"). The Grantee understands that if the Grantee is or becomes subject to the Clawback Policy, the Company and/or the Board shall be entitled to recover all Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Clawback Policy) from the Grantee pursuant to such means as the Company and/or the Board may elect. The Grantee agrees that the Grantee shall take all required action to enable such recovery. The Grantee understands that such recovery may be sought and occur after the Grantee's employment or service with the Company terminates. The Grantee further agrees that the Grantee is not entitled to indemnification for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation or for any claim or losses arising out of or in any way related to Erroneously Awarded Compensation recovered pursuant to the Clawback Policy and, to the extent any agreement or organizational document purports to provide otherwise, the Grantee hereby irrevocably agrees to forgo such indemnification. The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the Grantee has received and has had an opportunity to review the Clawback Policy. Any action by the Company to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation under the Clawback Policy from the Grantee shall not, whether alone or in combination with any other action, event or condition, be deemed (i) an event giving rise to a right to resign for "good reason" or other similar term under any agreement between the Grantee and the Company (or any other member of the Company Group) or serve as a basis for a claim of constructive termination under any benefits or compensation arrangement applicable to the Grantee, or (ii) to constitute a breach of a contract or other arrangement to which the Grantee is a party. This Paragraph 14 is a materi

15. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. Reference is made to: (i) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "AARK Exchange Agreement"), by and among the Company, Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares, with company registration number 200602001D and Mr. Venu Raman Kumar, and (ii) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Aeries Exchange Agreement" and, together with the AARK Exchange Agreement, the "Exchange Agreements"), by and among the Company, Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited, the Aeries Employee Stock Option Trust, Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, Mr. Bhisham Khare and Mr. Unikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar. For the avoidance of doubt, any acquisition or disposition of Shares or other transactions arising from, in connection with or contemplated by, one or both of the Exchange Agreements, including, without limitation, any "Proportionate Reduction" (as defined in the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company), shall be deemed to be a transaction contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement and shall be deemed not to be a "Change in Control" under the Plan or this Agreement.

16. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Award shall be administered, interpreted, and enforced under the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to conflicts of laws thereof or of any other jurisdiction.

17. Electronic Delivery of Documents. The Grantee authorizes the Company to deliver electronically any prospectuses or other documentation related to the Restricted Shares and any other compensation or benefit plan or arrangement in effect from time to time (including, without limitation, reports, proxy statements, or other documents that are required to be delivered to participants in such arrangements pursuant to federal or state laws, rules, or regulations). For this purpose, electronic delivery will include, without limitation, delivery by means of e-mail or e-mail notification that such documentation is available on the Company's intranet site or the website of a third-party administrator designated by the Company. Upon written request, the Company will provide to the Grantee a paper copy of any document also delivered to the Grantee electronically. The authorization described in this paragraph may be revoked by the Grantee at any time by written notice to the Company.

18. [Unregistered Shares. The Grantee understands that the Shares are not registered under the Exchange Act (it being understood that the Shares are being issued and sold in reliance on the exemption provided under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act) or any applicable state securities or "blue sky" laws and may not be sold or otherwise transferred or disposed of in the absence of an effective registration statement under the Exchange Act and under any applicable state securities or "blue sky" laws (or exemptions from the registration requirements thereof). The Grantee further acknowledges that certificates representing the Shares will bear restrictive legends reflecting the foregoing and/or that book entries for uncertificated Shares will include similar restrictive notations.]<sup>1</sup>

AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By:

Title:

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby agreed to by the undersigned. Electronic acceptance of this Agreement pursuant to the Company's instructions to the Grantee (including through an online acceptance process) is acceptable.

Dated:

Grantee's Signature

Grantee's name and address:

1 Note to Draft: Provision to be included solely for grants of unregistered shares made prior to the filing of Form S-8 with the SEC.

# Exhibit A

## STOCK POWER

Dated: .....

By:	
Name:	[NAME]
Title:	[TITLE]

## NONSTATUTORY SHARE OPTION AGREEMENT UNDER THE AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. 2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Name of Optionee:		
No. of Option Shares:		
Option Exercise Price per Share:	\$	
Grant Date:		
Expiration Date:	[No more than 10 years]	

Pursuant to the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through the date hereof (the "Plan"), Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "Company") hereby grants to the Optionee named above an option (the "Option") to purchase on or prior to the Expiration Date specified above all or part of the number of Class A ordinary shares, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Option Shares"), of the Company specified above at the Option Exercise Price per Share specified above subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan. This Option is not intended to be an "incentive stock option" under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

1. <u>Exercisability Schedule</u>. No portion of this Option may be exercised until such portion has become exercisable. Except as set forth below, and subject to the discretion of the Administrator (as defined in Section 2 of the Plan) to accelerate the exercisability schedule hereunder, this Option shall be exercisable with respect to the following number of Option Shares on the dates indicated below so long as the Optionee remains a Service Provider through the applicable date:

Incremental Number of Option Shares Exercisable	Exercisability Date
(%) (%) (%) (%)	

Once exercisable, this Option shall continue to be exercisable at any time or times prior to the close of business on the Expiration Date, subject to the provisions hereof and of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the conditions set forth in Section 20 of the Plan.

#### 2. Manner of Exercise.

(a) The Optionee may exercise this Option only in the following manner: from time to time on or prior to the Expiration Date of this Option, the Optionee must give written notice to the Administrator of the Optionee's election to purchase some or all of the Option Shares purchasable at the time of such notice. This notice shall specify the number of Option Shares to be purchased.

Payment of the purchase price for the Option Shares may be made by one or more of the following methods, subject to Section 6 of the Plan: (i) in cash, by certified or bank check or other instrument acceptable to the Administrator; (ii) through the delivery (or attestation to the ownership) of Shares that have been purchased by the Optionee on the open market or that are beneficially owned by the Optionee and are not then subject to any restrictions under any Company plan and that otherwise satisfy any holding periods as may be required by the Administrator; (iii) by the Optionee delivering to the Company a properly executed exercise notice together with irrevocable instructions to a broker acceptable to the Company to promptly deliver to the Company cash or a check payable and to pay the option purchase price, provided that in the event the Optionee chooses to pay the option purchase price as so provided, the Optionee and the broker shall comply with such procedures and enter into such agreements of indemnity and other agreements as the Administrator shall prescribe as a condition of such payment procedure; (iv) by a "net exercise" arrangement pursuant to which the Company will reduce the number of Shares issuable upon exercise by the largest whole number of shares with a Fair Market Value that does not exceed the aggregate exercise price; or (v) a combination of (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above. Payment instruments will be received subject to collection.

The transfer to the Optionee on the records of the Company or of the transfer agent of the Option Shares will be contingent upon (i) the Company's receipt from the Optionee of the full purchase price for the Option Shares, as set forth above, (ii) the fulfillment of any other requirements contained herein or in the Plan or in any other agreement or provision of laws, and (iii) the receipt by the Company of any agreement, statement or other evidence that the Company may require to satisfy itself that the issuance of Option Shares to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of Options under the Plan and any subsequent resale of the Option Shares will be in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In the event the Optionee chooses to pay the purchase price by previously-owned Shares through the attestation method, the number of Shares transferred to the Optionee upon the exercise of the Option shall be net of the Shares attested to.

(b) The Option Shares purchased upon exercise of this Option shall be transferred to the Optionee on the records of the Company or of the transfer agent upon compliance to the satisfaction of the Administrator with all requirements under applicable laws or regulations in connection with such transfer and with the requirements hereof and of the Plan. The determination of the Administrator as to such compliance shall be final and binding on the Optionee. The Optionee shall not be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to, any Option Shares subject to this Option unless and until this Option has been exercised pursuant to the terms hereof, the Company or the transfer agent has transferred the Optione Shares to the Optionee, and the Optionee's name has been entered as the shareholder of record on the books of the Company. Thereupon, the Optionee shall have full voting, dividend and other ownership rights with respect to such Option Shares.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof or of the Plan, no portion of this Option shall be exercisable after the Expiration Date

hereof.

3. <u>Termination of Service Relationship</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider, the period within which to exercise the Option may be subject to earlier termination as set forth below.

(a) <u>Termination Due to Death</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider by reason of the Optionee's death, any portion of this Option outstanding on such date, to the extent exercisable on the date of death, may thereafter be exercised by the Optionee's legal representative or legatee for a period of 12 months from the date of death or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of this Option that is not exercisable on the date of death shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect.

(b) <u>Termination Due to Disability</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider by reason of the Optionee's Disability (as determined by the Administrator), any portion of this Option outstanding on such date, to the extent exercisable on the date of such termination, may thereafter be exercised by the Optionee for a period of 12 months from the date of termination or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of this Option that is not exercisable on the date of termination shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect.

(c) <u>Termination for Cause</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider by reason of the Company's or a Subsidiary's termination for Cause, any portion of this Option outstanding on such date (whether or not then exercisable) shall terminate immediately and be of no further force and effect.

(d) <u>Other Termination</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider for any reason other than the Optionee's death, the Optionee's Disability, or termination for Cause, and unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, any portion of this Option outstanding on such date may be exercised, to the extent exercisable on the date of termination, for a period of three months from the date of termination or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of this Option that is not exercisable on the date of termination shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect.

The Administrator's determination of the reason the Optionee ceased to be a Service Provider shall be conclusive and binding on the Optionee and the Optionee's representatives or legatees.

4. <u>Incorporation of Plan</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Option shall be subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the powers of the Administrator set forth in Section 4(c) of the Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, unless a different meaning is specified herein.

5. <u>Transferability</u>. This Agreement is personal to the Optionee, is non-assignable and is not transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Option is exercisable, during the Optionee's lifetime, only by the Optionee, and thereafter, only by the Optionee's legal representative or legatee.

6. <u>Tax Withholding</u>. The Optionee shall, not later than the date as of which amounts with respect to this Option become includable in the gross income of the Optionee for income tax purposes, pay to the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group), or make arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of, any U.S. federal, state or local, and non-U.S. or other taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld by the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group) with respect to the Option or the Option Shares. The Administrator may require that the Company's (or applicable member of the Company Group)'s) tax withholding obligation be satisfied, in whole or in part, by (i) the Company withholding from the Option Shares to be issued pursuant to this Option a number of Shares with an aggregate Fair Market Value (as of the date the withholding is effected) that would satisfy the withholding amount due (provided, however, that the amount withheld does not exceed the maximum statutory tax rate or such lesser amount as is necessary to avoid adverse accounting consequences); or (ii) an arrangement whereby a certain number of Shares subject to this Option are immediately sold and proceeds from such sale are remitted to the Company in an amount that would satisfy the withholding amount due.

7. <u>No Obligation to Continue Service Relationship</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is obligated by or as a result of the Plan or this Agreement to continue the Optionee's service relationship and neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Optionee's service relationship at any time.

8. Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to this Option and supersedes all prior agreements and discussions between the parties concerning such subject matter.

9. Data Privacy Consent. In order to administer the Plan and this Agreement and to implement or structure future equity grants, the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates and certain agents thereof (together, the "Relevant Companies") may process any and all personal or professional data, including but not limited to Social Security or other identification number, home address and telephone number, date of birth and other information that is necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan and/or this Agreement (the "Relevant Information"). By entering into this Agreement, the Optionee (i) authorizes the Company to collect, process, register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information; (ii) waives any privacy rights the Optionee may have with respect to the Relevant Information; (iii) authorizes the Relevant Companies to store and transmit such information in electronic form; and (iv) authorizes the transfer of the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction that the Relevant Companies consider appropriate. The Optionee shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information. Relevant Information will only be used in accordance with applicable law. The Optionee acknowledges that this Section 9 is subject to Section 24 of the Plan.

10. Notices. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Optionee at the address on file with the Company or, in either case, at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing.

11. <u>Clawback Acknowledgement</u>. The Optionee acknowledges that the Optionee may become subject to the Aeries Technology, Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted pursuant to Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and Nasdaq Rule 5608, or any successor rule (the "Clawback Policy"). The Optionee understands that if the Optionee is or becomes subject to the Clawback Policy, the Company and/or the Board shall be entitled to recover all Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Clawback Policy) from the Optionee pursuant to such means as the Company and/or the Board may elect. The Optionee agrees that the Optionee shall take all required action to enable such recovery. The Optionee understands that such recovery may be sought and occur after the Optionee's employment or service with the Company terminates. The Optionee further agrees that the Optionee is not entitled to indemnification for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation or for any claim or losses arising out of or in any way related to Erroneously Awarded Compensation recovered pursuant to the Clawback Policy and, to the extent any agreement or organizational document purports to provide otherwise, the Optionee hereby irrevocably agrees to forgo such indemnification. The Optionee acknowledges and agrees that the Optionee has received and has had an opportunity to review the Clawback Policy. Any action by the Company to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation under the Clawback Policy from the Optionee shall not, whether alone or in combination with any other action, event or condition, be deemed (i) an event giving rise to a right to resign for "good reason" or other similar term under any agreement between the Optionee and the Company (or any other member of the Company Group) or serve as a basis for a claim of constructive termination under any benefits or compensation 11 is a material term of this Agreement.

12. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Option shall be administered, interpreted, and enforced under the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to conflicts of laws thereof or of any other jurisdiction.

13. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. Reference is made to: (i) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "AARK Exchange Agreement"), by and among the Company, Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares, with company registration number 200602001D and Mr. Venu Raman Kumar, and (ii) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Aeries Exchange Agreement" and, together with the AARK Exchange Agreement, the "Exchange Agreements"), by and among the Company, Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited, the Aeries Employee Stock Option Trust, Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, Mr. Bhisham Khare and Mr. Unikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar. For the avoidance of doubt, any acquisition or disposition of Shares or other transactions arising from, in connection with or contemplated by, one or both of the Exchange Agreements, including, without limitation, any "Proportionate Reduction" (as defined in the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company), shall be deemed to be a transaction contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement and shall be deemed not to be a "Change in Control" under the Plan or this Agreement.

14. Electronic Delivery of Documents. The Optionee authorizes the Company to deliver electronically any prospectuses or other documentation related to the Options and any other compensation or benefit plan or arrangement in effect from time to time (including, without limitation, reports, proxy statements, or other documents that are required to be delivered to participants in such arrangements pursuant to federal or state laws, rules, or regulations). For this purpose, electronic delivery will include, without limitation, delivery by means of e-mail or e-mail notification that such documentation is available on the Company's intranet site or the website of a third-party administrator designated by the Company. Upon written request, the Company will provide to the Optionee a paper copy of any document also delivered to the Optionee electronically. The authorization described in this paragraph may be revoked by the Optionee at any time by written notice to the Company.

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By:

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby agreed to by the undersigned. Electronic acceptance of this Agreement pursuant to the Company's instructions to the Optionee (including through an online acceptance process) is acceptable.

Dated:

Optionee's Signature

Title:

Optionee's name and address:

## INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT UNDER THE AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC. 2023 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

Name of Optionee:		
No. of Option Shares:		
Option Exercise Price per Share:	\$ [FMV on Grant Date (110% of FMV if a 10% owner)]	
Grant Date:		
Expiration Date:	[No more than 10 years (5 years if a 10% owner)]	

Pursuant to the Aeries Technology, Inc. 2023 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended through the date hereof (the "Plan"), Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "Company") hereby grants to the Optionee named above an option (the "Option") to purchase on or prior to the Expiration Date specified above all or part of the number of Class A ordinary shares, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "Option Shares"), of the Company specified above at the Option Exercise Price per Share specified above subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan.

1. <u>Exercisability Schedule</u>. No portion of this Option may be exercised until such portion has become exercisable. Except as set forth below, and subject to the discretion of the Administrator (as defined in Section 2 of the Plan) to accelerate the exercisability schedule hereunder, this Option shall be exercisable with respect to the following number of Option Shares on the dates indicated below so long as the Optionee remains a Service Provider through the applicable date:

Incremental Number of Option Shares Exercisable	Exercisability Date
(%) (%) (%) (%) (%)	

Once exercisable, this Option shall continue to be exercisable at any time or times prior to the close of business on the Expiration Date, subject to the provisions hereof and of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the conditions set forth in Section 20 of the Plan.

#### 2. Manner of Exercise.

(a) The Optionee may exercise this Option only in the following manner: from time to time on or prior to the Expiration Date of this Option, the Optionee must give written notice to the Administrator of the Optionee's election to purchase some or all of the Option Shares purchasable at the time of such notice. This notice shall specify the number of Option Shares to be purchased.

Payment of the purchase price for the Option Shares may be made by one or more of the following methods, subject to Section 6 of the Plan: (i) in cash, by certified or bank check or other instrument acceptable to the Administrator; (ii) through the delivery (or attestation to the ownership) of Shares that have been purchased by the Optionee on the open market or that are beneficially owned by the Optionee and are not then subject to any restrictions under any Company plan and that otherwise satisfy any holding periods as may be required by the Administrator; (iii) by the Optionee delivering to the Company a properly executed exercise notice together with irrevocable instructions to a broker acceptable to the Company to promptly deliver to the Company cash or a check payable and to pay the option purchase price, provided that in the event the Optionee chooses to pay the option purchase price as so provided, the Optionee and the broker shall comply with such procedures and enter into such agreements of indemnity and other agreements as the Administrator shall prescribe as a condition of such payment procedure; or (iv) a combination of (i), (ii) and (iii) above. Payment instruments will be received subject to collection.

The transfer to the Optionee on the records of the Company or of the transfer agent of the Option Shares will be contingent upon (i) the Company's receipt from the Optionee of the full purchase price for the Option Shares, as set forth above, (ii) the fulfillment of any other requirements contained herein or in the Plan or in any other agreement or provision of laws, and (iii) the receipt by the Company of any agreement, statement or other evidence that the Company may require to satisfy itself that the issuance of Option Shares to be purchased pursuant to the exercise of Options under the Plan and any subsequent resale of the Option Shares will be in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. In the event the Optionee chooses to pay the purchase price by previously-owned Shares through the attestation method, the number of Shares transferred to the Optionee upon the exercise of the Option shall be net of the Shares attested to.

(b) The Option Shares purchased upon exercise of this Option shall be transferred to the Optionee on the records of the Company or of the transfer agent upon compliance to the satisfaction of the Administrator with all requirements under applicable laws or regulations in connection with such transfer and with the requirements hereof and of the Plan. The determination of the Administrator as to such compliance shall be final and binding on the Optionee. The Optionee shall not be deemed to be the holder of, or to have any of the rights of a holder with respect to, any Option Shares subject to this Option unless and until this Option has been exercised pursuant to the terms hereof, the Company or the transfer agent has transferred the Optione Shares to the Optionee, and the Optionee's name has been entered as the shareholder of record on the books of the Company. Thereupon, the Optionee shall have full voting, dividend and other ownership rights with respect to such Option Shares.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision hereof or of the Plan, no portion of this Option shall be exercisable after the Expiration Date

hereof.

3. <u>Termination of Service Relationship</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider, the period within which to exercise the Option may be subject to earlier termination as set forth below.

(a) <u>Termination Due to Death</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider by reason of the Optionee's death, any portion of this Option outstanding on such date, to the extent exercisable on the date of death, may thereafter be exercised by the Optionee's legal representative or legatee for a period of 12 months from the date of death or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of this Option that is not exercisable on the date of death shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect.

(b) <u>Termination Due to Disability</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider by reason of the Optionee's Disability (as determined by the Administrator), any portion of this Option outstanding on such date, to the extent exercisable on the date of such termination, may thereafter be exercised by the Optionee for a period of 12 months from the date of termination or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of this Option that is not exercisable on the date of termination shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect.

(c) <u>Termination for Cause</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider by reason of the Company's or a Subsidiary's termination for Cause, any portion of this Option outstanding on such date (whether or not then exercisable) shall terminate immediately and be of no further force and effect.

(d) <u>Other Termination</u>. If the Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider for any reason other than the Optionee's death, the Optionee's Disability, or termination for Cause, and unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, any portion of this Option outstanding on such date may be exercised, to the extent exercisable on the date of termination, for a period of three months from the date of termination or until the Expiration Date, if earlier. Any portion of this Option that is not exercisable on the date of termination shall terminate immediately and be of no further force or effect.

The Administrator's determination of the reason the Optionee ceased to be a Service Provider shall be conclusive and binding on the Optionee and the Optionee's representatives or legatees.

4. <u>Incorporation of Plan</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, this Option shall be subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the powers of the Administrator set forth in Section 4(c) of the Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, unless a different meaning is specified herein.

5. <u>Transferability</u>. This Agreement is personal to the Optionee, is non-assignable and is not transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. This Option is exercisable, during the Optionee's lifetime, only by the Optionee, and thereafter, only by the Optionee's legal representative or legatee.

6. Status of the Option. This Option is intended to qualify as an "incentive stock option" under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), but the Company does not represent or warrant that this Option qualifies as such. To the extent that the aggregate fair market value of the Shares (determined on the Grant Date) with respect to which incentive stock options are exercisable for the first time by the Optionee during any calendar year exceeds \$100,000, the Options or the portion thereof that exceeds such limit (according to the order in which they were granted) shall be treated as Nonstatutory Share Options. The Optionee should consult with the Optionee's own tax advisors regarding the tax effects of this Option and the requirements necessary to obtain favorable income tax treatment under Section 422 of the Code, including, but not limited to, holding period requirements and that *this Option must be exercised within three months after termination of employment as an employee (or within 12 months in the case of termination due to death or disability of the employee) to qualify as an "incentive stock option."* To the extent any portion of this Option does not so qualify as an "incentive stock option. If the Optionee intends to dispose or does dispose (whether by sale, gift, transfer or otherwise) of any Option Shares within the one-year period beginning on the date after the transfer of such shares to him or her, or within the two-year period beginning on the day after the grant of this Option, then, in accordance with Section 6(f)(vi) of the Plan, the Optionee will so notify the Company within 30 days after such disposition.

7. <u>Tax Withholding</u>. The Optionee shall, not later than the date as of which amounts with respect to this Option become includable in the gross income of the Optionee for income tax purposes, pay to the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group), or make arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of, any U.S. federal, state or local, and non-U.S. or other taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld by the Company (or applicable member of the Company Group) with respect to the Option or the Option Shares. The Administrator may require that the Company's (or applicable member of the Company Group)'s tax withholding obligation be satisfied, in whole or in part, by (i) the Company withholding from the Option Shares to be issued pursuant to this Option a number of Shares with an aggregate Fair Market Value (as of the date the withholding is effected) that would satisfy the withholding amount due (provided, however, that the amount withheld does not exceed the maximum statutory tax rate or such lesser amount as is necessary to avoid adverse accounting consequences); or (ii) an arrangement whereby a certain number of Shares subject to this Option are immediately sold and proceeds from such sale are remitted to the Company in an amount that would satisfy the withholding amount due.

8. <u>No Obligation to Continue Service Relationship</u>. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is obligated by or as a result of the Plan or this Agreement to continue the Optionee's service relationship and neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the Optionee's service relationship at any time.

9. <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to this Option and supersedes all prior agreements and discussions between the parties concerning such subject matter.

10. <u>Data Privacy Consent</u>. In order to administer the Plan and this Agreement and to implement or structure future equity grants, the Company, its subsidiaries and affiliates and certain agents thereof (together, the "Relevant Companies") may process any and all personal or professional data, including but not limited to Social Security or other identification number, home address and telephone number, date of birth and other information that is necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan and/or this Agreement (the "Relevant Information"). By entering into this Agreement, the Optionee (i) authorizes the Company to collect, process, register and transfer to the Relevant Companies all Relevant Information; (ii) waives any privacy rights the Optionee may have with respect to the Relevant Information; (iii) authorizes the Relevant Companies to store and transmit such information in electronic form; and (iv) authorizes the transfer of the Relevant Information to any jurisdiction that the Relevant Companies consider appropriate. The Optionee shall have access to, and the right to change, the Relevant Information. Relevant Information will only be used in accordance with applicable law. The Optionee acknowledges that this Section 10 is subject to Section 24 of the Plan.

11. <u>Notices</u>. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Optionee at the address on file with the Company or, in either case, at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing.

12. <u>Clawback Acknowledgement</u>. The Optionee acknowledges that the Optionee may become subject to the Aeries Technology, Inc. Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy adopted pursuant to Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act and Nasdaq Rule 5608, or any successor rule (the "Clawback Policy"). The Optionee understands that if the Optionee is or becomes subject to the Clawback Policy, the Company and/or the Board shall be entitled to recover all Erroneously Awarded Compensation (as defined in the Clawback Policy) from the Optionee pursuant to such means as the Company and/or the Board may elect. The Optionee agrees that the Optionee shall take all required action to enable such recovery. The Optionee understands that such recovery may be sought and occur after the Optionee's employment or service with the Company terminates. The Optionee further agrees that the Optionee is not entitled to indemnification for any Erroneously Awarded Compensation or for any claim or losses arising out of or in any way related to Erroneously Awarded Compensation recovered pursuant to the Clawback Policy and, to the extent any agreement or organizational document purports to provide otherwise, the Optionee hereby irrevocably agrees to forgo such indemnification. The Optionee acknowledges and agrees that the Optionee has received and has had an opportunity to review the Clawback Policy. Any action by the Company to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation under the Clawback Policy from the Optionee shall not, whether alone or in combination with any other action, event or comition, be deemed (i) an event giving rise to a right to resign for "good reason" or other similar term under any agreement between the Optionee and the Company (or any other member of the Company Group) or serve as a basis for a claim of constructive termination under any benefits or compensation arrangement applicable to the Optionee, or (ii) to constitute a breach of a contract or other arrangement to which the Optionee is a party. This Section

13. Governing Law. This Option shall be administered, interpreted, and enforced under the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to conflicts of laws thereof or of any other jurisdiction.

14. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. Reference is made to: (i) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "AARK Exchange Agreement"), by and among the Company, Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company limited by shares, with company registration number 200602001D and Mr. Venu Raman Kumar, and (ii) that certain Exchange Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2023 (as it may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the "Aeries Exchange Agreement" and, together with the AARK Exchange Agreement, the "Exchange Agreements"), by and among the Company, Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited, the Aeries Employee Stock Option Trust, Mr. Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, Mr. Bhisham Khare and Mr. Unikrishnan Balakrishnan Nambiar. For the avoidance of doubt, any acquisition or disposition of Shares or other transactions arising from, in connection with or contemplated by, one or both of the Exchange Agreements, including, without limitation, any "Proportionate Reduction" (as defined in the Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company), shall be deemed to be a transaction contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement and shall be deemed not to be a "Change in Control" under the Plan or this Agreement.

15. Electronic Delivery of Documents. The Optionee authorizes the Company to deliver electronically any prospectuses or other documentation related to the Options and any other compensation or benefit plan or arrangement in effect from time to time (including, without limitation, reports, proxy statements, or other documents that are required to be delivered to participants in such arrangements pursuant to federal or state laws, rules, or regulations). For this purpose, electronic delivery will include, without limitation, delivery by means of e-mail or e-mail notification that such documentation is available on the Company's intranet site or the website of a third-party administrator designated by the Company. Upon written request, the Company will provide to the Optionee a paper copy of any document also delivered to the Optionee electronically. The authorization described in this paragraph may be revoked by the Optionee at any time by written notice to the Company.

# AERIES TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By:

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby agreed to by the undersigned. Electronic acceptance of this Agreement pursuant to the Company's instructions to the Optionee (including through an online acceptance process) is acceptable.

Dated:

Optionee's Signature

Title:

Optionee's name and address:

## List of Subsidiaries

The following are significant subsidiaries of Aeries Technology, Inc. as of March 31, 2024 and the jurisdictions in which they are organized. The names of particular subsidiaries have been omitted because, considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, they would not constitute, as of the end of the fiscal year covered by this report, a "significant subsidiary" as that term is defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Subsidiary	Jurisdiction
Aeries Technology Group Business Accelerators Private Limited	India
ATG Business Solutions Private Limited	India
Stratus Technologies Private Limited	India
Aark Singapore Pte. Ltd.	Singapore

# CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of Aeries Technology, Inc. on Form S-8 (File No. 333-279191) of our report dated September 27, 2024, with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Aeries Technology, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 and for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, which report appears in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024.

/s/ Manohar Chowdhry & Associates Manohar Chowdhry & Associates

Chennai, India September 27, 2024

I, Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aeries Technology, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 27, 2024

/s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

I, Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aeries Technology, Inc.;
- Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 27, 2024

/s/ Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

# 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I certify, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: September 27, 2024

/s/ Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Sudhir Appukuttan Panikassery Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

# 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I certify, in the capacity and on the date indicated below, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: September 27, 2024

/s/ Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair Rajeev Gopala Krishna Nair Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

## EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE COMPENSATION RECOUPMENT POLICY

This Executive Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy (as may be amended or restated from time to time, this "**Policy**") was first adopted by the Compensation Committee (the "**Committee**") of the Board of Directors (the "**Board**") of Aeries Technology, Inc. (the "**Company**") on November 6, 2023.

#### 1. **Purpose**

This Policy has been adopted to describe the circumstances in which Executive Officers will be required to repay or return Erroneously Awarded Compensation to members of the Company Group. Each Executive Officer shall be required to sign and return to the Company the Acknowledgement and Certification attached hereto as Exhibit A pursuant to which such Executive Officer will agree to be bound by the terms and comply with this Policy. This Policy shall be administered by the Committee. Any determinations made by the Committee shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

#### 2. Defined Terms

The following capitalized terms used in this Policy have the meanings set forth below:

"Accounting Restatement" shall mean an accounting restatement (i) due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial restatements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (a "Big R" restatement), or (ii) that corrects an error that is not material to previously issued financial misstatement if the error were not corrected the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a "little r" restatement).

"Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation" shall mean, in connection with an Accounting Restatement and with respect to each individual who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the applicable performance period for any Incentive-based Compensation (whether or not such Executive Officer is serving at the time the Erroneously Awarded Compensation is required to be repaid to the Company Group), all Incentive-based Compensation Received by such Executive Officer (i) on or after the Effective Date, (ii) after beginning service as an Executive Officer, (iii) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association, and (iv) during the applicable Clawback Period.

"Clawback Period" shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the three (3) completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the Restatement Date and any transition period (that results from a change in the Company's fiscal year; provided that, a transition period between the last day of the Company's previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine (9) to twelve (12) months would be deemed a completed fiscal year) of less than nine (9) months within or immediately following those three (3) completed fiscal years.

"Company Group" shall mean the Company, together with each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries.

"Effective Date" shall mean November 6, 2023. The Policy shall apply to Incentive-based Compensation that is approved, awarded or granted to Executive Officers on or after the Effective Date.

"Erroneously Awarded Compensation" shall mean, with respect to each Executive Officer in connection with an Accounting Restatement, the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to any taxes paid.

"Executive Officer" shall mean each individual who is or was designated as an "officer" of the Company in accordance with 17 C.F.R. 240.16a-1(f) (Section 16 officers) and such other senior executives/employees who may from time to time be deemed subject to the Policy by the Board. Identification of an executive officer for purposes of this Policy would include at a minimum executive officers identified pursuant to 17 C.F.R. 229.401(b).

"Financial Reporting Measures" shall mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company's financial statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return (and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total shareholder return) shall for purposes of this Policy be considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented in the Company's financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.

"Incentive-based Compensation" shall mean any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

"Nasdaq" shall mean The Nasdaq Stock Market.

"Received" shall, with respect to any Incentive-based Compensation, mean actual or deemed receipt, and Incentive-based Compensation shall be deemed received in the Company's fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-based Compensation award is attained, even if payment or grant of the Incentive-based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

"**Restatement Date**" shall mean the earlier to occur of (i) the date the Board, a committee of the Board or the officers of the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the issuer is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date of court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the issuer to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

"SEC" shall mean the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

#### 3. Recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Compensation

(a) In the event of an Accounting Restatement, the Committee shall promptly (and in all events within ninety (90) days after the Restatement Date) determine the amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation for each Executive Officer in connection with such Accounting Restatement and shall promptly thereafter provide each Executive Officer with a written notice containing the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation and a demand for repayment or return, as applicable. The Company's obligation to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not dependent on if or when the Accounting Restatements are filed. For Incentive-based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total shareholder return where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement, the amount shall be determined by the Committee based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-based Compensation was Received (in which case, the Company shall maintain documentation of such determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to Nasdaq;

(b) The Committee shall have broad discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on all applicable facts and circumstances and taking into account the time value of money and the cost to shareholders of delaying recovery. To the extent that the Committee determines that any method of recovery (other than repayment by the Executive Officer in a lump sum in cash or property) is appropriate, the Company shall offer to enter into a repayment agreement (in a form reasonable acceptable to the Committee) with the Executive Officer. If the Executive Officer accepts such offer and signs the repayment agreement within thirty (30) days after such offer is extended, the Company shall countersign such repayment agreement. If the Executive Officer fails to sign the repayment agreement within thirty (30) days after such offer is extended, the Executive Officer will be required to repay the Erroneously Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in cash (or such property as the Committee agrees to accept with a value equal to such Erroneously Awarded Compensation) on or prior to the date that is one hundred twenty (120) days following the Restatement Date. For the avoidance of doubt, except as set forth in Section 4(d) below, in no event may the Company Group accept an amount that is less than the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation of an Executive Officer's obligations hereunder;

(c) To the extent that an Executive Officer fails to repay all Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company Group when due (as determined in accordance with Section 3(b) above), the Company shall, or shall cause one or more other members of the Company Group to, take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation from the applicable Executive Officer. The applicable Executive Officer shall be required to reimburse the Company Group for any and all expenses reasonably incurred (including legal fees) by the Company Group in recovering such Erroneously Awarded Compensation in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence;

(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to take the actions contemplated by Section 4(b) above if the following conditions are met and the Committee determines that recovery would be impracticable:

- i. The direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy against an Executive Officer would exceed the amount to be recovered, after the Company has made a reasonable attempt to recover the applicable Erroneously Awarded Compensation, documented such attempts and provided such documentation to Nasdaq;
- ii. Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company Group, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

## 4. **Reporting and Disclosure**

The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy in accordance with the requirement of the federal securities laws, including the disclosure required by the applicable SEC filings.

#### 5. **Indemnification Prohibition**

No member of the Company Group shall be permitted to indemnify any Executive Officer against (i) the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation that is repaid, returned or recovered pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the Company Group's enforcement of its rights under this Policy. Further, no member of the Company Group shall enter into any agreement that exempts any Incentive-based Compensation from the application of this Policy or that waives the Company Group's right to recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation and this Policy shall supersede any such agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date).

#### 6. Interpretation

The Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of this Policy. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC or any national securities exchange on which the Company's securities are listed.

#### 7. Effective Date

This Policy shall be effective as of the Effective Date.

#### 8. Amendment; Termination.

The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary, including as and when it determines that it is legally required by any federal securities laws, SEC rule or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company's securities are listed. The Committee may terminate this Policy at any time. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 8 to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this Policy shall be effective if such amendment or termination would (after taking into account any actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with such amendment or termination) cause the Company to violate any federal securities laws, SEC rule or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company's securities laws, SEC rule or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company's securities laws, SEC rule or the rules of any national securities exchange or national securities association on which the Company's securities are listed.

## 9. Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional Payments

The Committee intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Committee may require that any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or any other agreement entered into on or after the Effective Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require an Executive Officer to agree to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company Group under applicable law, regulation or rule or pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company Group.

#### 10. Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Executive Officers and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.